e HOSPITAL AUTHORITY

ANNUAL REPORT
EREERF R

8 b R 2024 -2025

HOSPITAL
AUTHORITY







Roles
1E27%

The Hospital Authority (HA) is a statutory body ZEEERF(BER)AEBISIT
corporate in the Hong Kong Special Administrative B EREEEE HBAEHAEE
Region. Its functions are stipulated in Section 4 of the  EfI5 113 &= (BB BIEM)

Hospital Authority Ordinance (Chapter 113). FEPUG o
The Hospital Authority is responsible for: Bl EE R AVREE
e Managing and controlling public hospitals o BEREENAVER

e Advising the Government of the needs of the public for hospital o MARH NI BRI T KK ER

services and of the resources required to meet those needs ZEFKAFNER  RBTREE
"
e Managing and developing the public hospital system o BEENERANBRAES

e Recommending to the Secretary for Health appropriate policies e MARFERBRRBENNER & [
on fees for the use of hospital services by the public BREERRREZRRENBR

VANV {3

ks

e Establishing public hospitals o

Fl
e
af

e Promoting, assisting and taking part in the education and ¢ {23 - BB R HEE FIRHEERS
training of persons involved in hospital or related services FARBHAL

Roles 7




Vision, Mission and Values
HH = 'fﬁﬁ&*ﬁ’b% 15

The corporate vision, mission and values (VMV) of % REER(BER)NKERE
Hospital Authority reflect aspirations of the Board, the S -F@MEkZOEE RKEBEE
management and staff in fostering a healthy community. BAE€ -EBERREZHE Z’E_
Guided by the mission of “Helping People Stay Healthy”, EJ:ET%E'\J,HHE EHEREBF RE2
the Authority collaborates with community partners ZE |WFEmS|IE T BERM
to strive for continued success and works towards the # EBEEEFESE BAEE

vision of “Healthy People, Happy Staff and Trusted by #EBm | mEEZE -EIHL KR
the Community”. EBINES-

Healthy People

Vision | &zes

= Happy Staff
R ST~ BTN

Trusted by the
Community

RIBIE4E

M Iss I 0 n Helping People Stay Healthy
ﬁi HEEF RERE

People-centred Care

Values | s+

1;? /I\J\1E Professional Service
A B HERK
Committed Staff
Teamwork

BREED

2 Vision, Mission and Values FE§ - {#d Mix O BE



Corporate Strategies

Y EE

The Hospital Authority (HA) aims to achieve its
corporate VMV by adopting four strategic goals as
outlined in the HA Annual Plan 2024-2025:

Provide Smart Care

EREERBER)REM 2024-
2025 FEIT/EFTEIEMMEAIIYIE
REBEZ EZAAMNEBES
Fan MBI :

EHESER Develop Smart Hospitals
BERESER

Nurture Smart Workforce

B E =Bk

The Authority formulated corresponding programme targets
under the above strategic goals with 22 strategies for 2024-25.
Implementation progress of the Annual Plan was reported
quarterly to the Board and available for public access on the
Authority’s website. Overall, while most of the programme targets
in 2024-25 were achieved on schedule or partially achieved, some
programmes were deferred due to manpower limitations and
related works progress. Major achievements made during the year
are set out in the Head Office and Cluster Reports in Chapter 6.

Enhance Service Supply

YN B 755 43¢ FE

BEERRE LSRR B2 22 AR B §
7] 2024-25 FE T 1EFT8) o #1T T1ERT
EMEREBERNEERASER I
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» 2024-25 FEREHD TIEFTEIE 2 H]
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Membership of the
Hospital Authority

BREERKE

Mr Henry FAN Mr Thomas CHAN Mr Lawrence CHAN
Hung-ling, SBS, JP Chung-ching, JP Man-yiu
SRR BRAAE & BRSO IB S
® Appointed as Chairman of the Permanent Secretary for Health * Appointed on 1 April 2023
Authority on 1 December 2018 BRELREIUNER e Director of an international

® Managing director of a o . hotel group
property investment company Appointed on 5 June 2020
¢ Board Member in capacity e N2023F 4 A1 BEZRE
e MNWIOF12 A1 HEZTEA as Permanent Secretary for o B EEES
Befr & S fE Health of HKSAR Government BB S SR B

o« MERANTE BT TS 6. B

o« UEBBTRERITE
BERHENEE S AL
SREIR PR E

Ms Ann CHAN
Wai-yan, JP
BREMRZ L .
Prof CHAN Wai-yee
Deputy Secretary for Financial (3 453 . .
Services and the Treasury RRE&AR Mr CHAN Wing-kai
HEERRERGRIRER * Appointed on 1 April 2019 BRAKERE
e Appointed on 5 August 2024 * Pro-Vice-Chancellor of e Appointed on 1 August 2021
. the Chinese University of . .
® Representing Secretary Hong Kong ® Registered social worker
for Financial Services and
the Treasury of HKSAR 2010 4 4 A 1 AEE(T e RA2021F 8 A 1 HEZRE
Government . é/%qjxj( SR E o FFALT

2024 F 8 A 5 BEZE

0 1&%%%&%% TRIE BT
MEEBREBRRER
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Ms Margaret CHENG
Wai-ching, JP
BESL+

® Appointed on 1 April 2020

® Human Resources Director
of MTR Corporation
Limited

* M20204F 4 A1 REZE
» HAHEARAT]
ANBRBE




The Hon Duncan CHIU
ERER KL

* Appointed on 1 December
2019

® Co-founder of a venture
capital fund and Member
of the Legislative Council
(Technology and Innovation
Functional Constituency)

MW 2019F 12 A 1 BESE

AR EES MBS I A K
EEH B (RHAIF )

Ms Maisy HO Chiu-ha,
BBS, JP

BBzt
® Appointed on 1 December 202
® Executive director of
a listed company
MR2021F 12 A1 AEZRFE
FHARRHITES

ey E

Prof Philip CHIU
Wai-yan, JP
BRI

® Appointed on 27 February
2024

® Dean of the Faculty of
Medicine of the Chinese
University of Hong Kong

e 720244 2 A 21 HEZE
s BRPXASZBERRK

Ms Mary HUEN
Wai-yi, MH, JP
BMEELZET

1 ® Appointed on 1 April 2020

® Executive director and
chief executive officer of
a listed bank

e N20209F 4 A 1 BEERE
o FHIRITMITEEHREE
TTIRAREL

Ms Anita FUNG
Yuen-mei, BBS, JP

BREZ L

* Appointed on 1 December
2022

* Independent non-executive
director of a listed bank and
a listed property
development company

e R2022% 12 A1 BEZE
o LIRITR EMMEER
RAMBILIENITES

Ms Tennessy HUI
Mei-sheung, MH, JP

AR L

* Appointed on 1 December
2024

® Practising solicitor

° 7202412 A1 BEZE
o HEEEHD
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Mr Ambrose HO,
SBS, SC, JP

AR &E

(up to 30.11.2024)
(R 2024 F 11 A 30 A)

* Appointed on 1 December
2018

e Senior Counsel

* M2018F 12 A 1 BEZE
o BRAED

Mr JAT Sew-tong,
SBS, SC, JP

BRExXE
* Appointed on 1 April 2023
* Senior Counsel
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Membership of the
Hospital Authority
BEREERKE

Dr Tony KO Pat-sing, JP
SHREELE

Mr Matthew KWOK Dr Ronald LAM
Chief Executive, HA Pui-ho Man-kin, JP
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® Appointed on 1 August 2019 « Appointed on 1 April 2024 Director of Health
® Board Member in capacity : : o
as Chief Executive of the * Senior Occupational HEEER

Therapist of Pok Oi Hospital

Hospital Authority * Appointed on 21 September 2021
) 7 2024 ¢ 4 A1 BERE e Board Member in capacit
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Government
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Prof LAU Chak-sing,

BBS, JP Mr Aaron LIU
ZEEHIR Kong-cheung, JP
e Appointed on 1 December BREALE Prof David SHUM
2018 Deputy Secretary for Financial Ho-keung
® Dean of Li Ka Shing Faculty Services and the Treasury LIEREIR
of Medicine of the University (up to 4.8.2024) )
of Hong Kong BHEER R SR EE O égfglnted on 1 November

(IEHE 2024 F 8 A 4 H)

® Appointed on 11 July 2022

® Representing Secretary
for Financial Services and
the Treasury of HKSAR
Government

e 20224 7 A 11 BEEFE

o KERBBRHIITTHIREMA
MREHLREBREE

R 20184 12 A 1 BERE
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¢ Dean of the Faculty
of Health and Social
Sciences of the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University
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HERRE
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Mrs Sylvia LAM YU
Ka-wai, SBS

MRRBL L

Appointed on 1 December
2022

e Former Director of
Architectural Services

K202 12 A1 BREE
s FIEEFER

Prof Agnes TIWARI
Fung-yee, MH
EREHR
(up to 30.11.2024)

(1FEIZ 2024 F 11 A 30 AH)
* Appointed on 1 December
2018

® Chairman of the Nursing
Council of Hong Kong
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Mr Henry TONG

Sau-chai, BBS, MH, JP

BIEERE

Appointed on 1 December 2022

Managing director of
an enterprise

M2022912 A1 BEZAE
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Mr WAN Man-yee,
BBS, JP
BXERE

Appointed on 1 December
2021
Registered professional
surveyor
R20214 12 A 1 REZ(E
FMEZRIER

Mr Philip TSAI
Wing-chung, BBS, JP
BKBEE
Appointed on 1 April 2019
Certified public accountant
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Ir Billy WONG
Wing-hoo, BBS, JP
BKAELE

Appointed on 1 December
2019

Registered professional
engineer and director of

a real estate development
company

R 201946 12 A 1 BEZE
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Mr Anthony TSANG
Hin-fun

BRI RE

* Appointed on 1 December
2022

e Certified public accountant

e N20224 12 A1 BERFE
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Prof Janet WONG
Yuen-ha

BEREHR

® Appointed on 1 December
2024

® Dean and Professor of the

School of Nursing and Health

Sciences of Hong Kong
Metropolitan University

e R2024 512 A1 BEZE
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Dr Thomas TSANG
Ho-fai, BBS

BEEELE

* Appointed on 1 December

2020

e Former Controller of the

Centre for Health Protection
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Prof ZHANG
Zhang-jin
IRISEHR

Appointed on 1 April 2024

Professor and Coordinator
of Chinese Medicine Service
for Hospital & Development
of the School of Chinese
Medicine of the University of
Hong Kong
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Chapter 1
F—E

Corporate Governance
HEER

The Hospital Authority (HA) is a statutory
body established under the Hospital
Authority Ordinance (Cap. 113) (the HA
Ordinance) in December 1990, responsible
for managing all public hospitals in Hong
Kong. HA is accountable to the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (HKSAR)
Government through the Secretary for
Health.

EREER(BER)AEEERE RE
(BIREEBEA) (55113 F) ((BERK
PIY)R 1990 F 12 A EEEEEE
MAVER TEBEREERRAREE
BEITHRERFEE
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This Chapter provides an overview of the overarching corporate
governance principles and framework of the HA, as well as major
achievements made by the HA in 2024-25 for further enhancing
corporate governance. The Governance section under the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report in Chapter 7 sets
out further information on the key structure and mechanisms in HA
to facilitate implementation of effective corporate governance, and
elaborates on the related initiatives and achievements in 2024-25.

Principles

Good governance is at the heart of HA and will continue to
be of the highest importance as the Authority continues to
develop. The Board acknowledges its responsibility for and
commitment to corporate governance principles and recognises
that the Authority's stakeholders expect the highest standards of
performance, accountability and conduct.

Hospital Authority Board

Under the HA Ordinance, the Chief Executive of the HKSAR
appoints members to the HA Board. The HA Board membership
is not remunerated. As of 31 March 2025, the Board consisted of
28 members, comprising the Chairman who is not a public officer,
three public officers, one principal officer who is the HA Chief
Executive, and 23 non-public officers. Details of the membership
are listed in Appendix 1.

AEBMEERBNEEBEEERRAM
EZR - UNEERE 2024-25 FEHE—
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A
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In 2024-25, the Board conducted 15 meetings and considered
over 110 agenda items. They covered an array of important
matters in leading and managing HA, including formulation of
policies and strategies; steering and monitoring of the planning,
development and operation of hospital services and facilities;
collaboration projects; resource management; risk management
and internal control; preparedness for contingency and demand
surge; corporate governance, etc. The Board also steered and
monitored organisation-wide risk management in HA across
different functional areas and management structures, covering
both clinical and non-clinical risk management in the Authority.

The year 2024-25 was surrounded by reform initiatives. In
July 2024, the HA Board set up the Review Committee on the
Management of the Public Hospital System in response to
several high-profile medical incidents at our hospitals, with
a view to enhancing patient safety, healthcare management
and organisational effectiveness. The HA Board also set up in
December 2024 a high-level Governance and Structure Reform
Committee which was tasked to provide strategic guidance,
oversight, and reform advice on implementing governance
and structure reforms, so as to drive healthcare sustainability,
enhance service efficiency and patient safety.

The Board also strived to enhance its operational efficiency while
upholding the strict governance in HA. In this regard, the Board
in 2024 implemented a number of initiatives including, amongst
others, updating the Code of Corporate Governance Practices;
streamlining the approval mechanism and workflow for handling
applications for business travel outside Hong Kong and acceptance
of sponsorship by Board Members and Chief Executive; and
streamlining the Board's operation. The Board also continued to
pay dedicated effort in enlarging the talent pool for appointments to
its Hospital Governing Committees (HGCs) and Regional Advisory
Committees (RACs) to tap the community resources for enhancing
governance of hospital services and operation, and succession
management of the Committees, and continued to strengthen
empowerment of the HGCs in the governance of the hospitals.

10 Hospital Authority Annual Report &t &2 B4 2024-2025
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The Task Group on Sustainability (Task Group) formed under the
HA Board in December 2019 continued to examine various major
challenges facing HA amid the constantly changing environment,
and monitor the implementation of the endorsed strategies to drive
for the sustainable development of HA in the public healthcare
system. In 2024-25, the Task Group together with its subgroups
paid specific attention to a wide array of strategies crucial to
HA's sustainability, such as enhancement in performance and
efficiency in various areas including service model and clinical
pathway, fixed costs and variable costs; management of cancer
service; development of clinical research; and strengthening of
patient-centric and telehealth services in addition to enhancement
of staff recruitment and retention; management of waiting time;
development of smart initiatives; etc.

Board Committees

For optimal performance of its roles and exercise of powers, the
HA Board has established various functional committees. As of
31 March 2025, the 12 functional committees established under
the HA Board include: Audit and Risk Committee, Development
and Works Committee, Executive Committee, Emergency
Executive Committee, Finance Committee, Human Resources
Committee, Information Technology Services Committee, Main
Tender Board, Medical Services Development Committee, Public
Complaints Committee, Staff Appeals Committee and Supporting
Services Development Committee. Among all, Executive

Committee continues to advise the Board on changes to the
Board and Functional Committee structure to address the service
evolvement and development. Membership of the committees and
their terms of reference and focus of work in 2024-25 are outlined
in Appendix 3.
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Hospital Governing Committees

To enhance community participation and governance of public
hospitals, HGCs were established in the hospitals and institutions,
and appointments to the HGCs are made by the Board in
accordance with the HA Ordinance. These committees are listed
in Appendix 4. In 2024-25, a total of 132 meetings were conducted
by the 33 HGCs. HGCs received regular management reports
from Hospital Chief Executives, monitored operational and
financial performance of the hospitals, reviewed risk management
issues, provided policy guidance on hospital management, and
participated in human resource and procurement functions, as
well as hospital and community partnership activities.

The Board maintains close connection with HGCs in developing
corporate policies and strategies. During the year, continuous
efforts were made to actively engage HGCs in corporate-wide
issues and two-way communication, such as biannual Meeting of
the Council of Chairmen of HGC cum Forum for HGC Members,
regular briefings by Cluster Chief Executives at HGC meetings,
following-up on and reporting of comments and views of HGCs
to the HA Board and courtesy visits by HA Chairman and Chief
Executive to HGCs. Designated Task Groups on Enhancing
Patient-centric Services established in respective HGCs continued
their sustained efforts in steering the implementation of a wide
range of initiatives to improve patient-centric services and staff
convenience, and enhance experience of patients and visitors.
These initiatives included, amongst others, application and
integration of telehealth in different services; music broadcasts
and wall paintings in patient areas; increase of charging facilities
and provision of wider food choices for inpatients; enhancement
of communication with family members on patients’ operation
status through the HA mobile app “HA Go"; better blood-taking
arrangements; streamlining of patient journey for outpatients;
enhancement of hospital navigation etc. Besides, HGCs also
actively participated in the work on enhancing hospital safety. In
line with the practice adopted by the HA Board and its functional
committees, HGCs also conducted annual self-assessment to
drive continuous improvement.
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Regional Advisory Committees

To provide HA with advice on the healthcare needs for specific
regions of Hong Kong and assist the Authority with better
performance of its functions in relation to the regions, HA has
established three RACs. Appointments to the RACs are made by
the Board in accordance with the HA Ordinance. These committees
and their respective membership are listed in Appendix 5.

In 2024-25, each of the RACs met four times and received reports
on various corporate initiatives. Each RAC was also briefed on
annual plan progress and targets of the respective clusters, as
well as key development of services and programmes.

Executive Management

The executive management team of HA is outlined in
Appendix 2(b). The executives are charged by the HA Board with
the responsibility to manage and administer day-to-day business
and operations of the Authority. To ensure that the management
can discharge duties in an effective and efficient manner, the HA
Board has set out clear delegated authority, policies and codes of
conduct. The Board approved the 2024-25 annual plan prepared
by the executives in accordance with the Board's direction.
Regular executive reports on the progress of agreed performance
indicators and targets were presented to the Board.

Under the powers stipulated in the HA Ordinance, the Authority
determines the remuneration and terms and conditions of
employment for all HA employees. Remuneration packages
of executive directors and other senior managers are devised
to attract, motivate and retain high calibre individuals in a
competitive talent market. Remuneration packages of all senior
executives are considered and approved by the HA Board or its
Executive Committee.
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Chapter 2

N —

Chairman’s Review

= R IE R

Serving as the public healthcare
safety net for all, the Hospital
Authority (HA) is committed to providing
professional, efficient and affordable
healthcare services. Nevertheless, the
public healthcare system is facing
enormous burden brought about by
the soaring service demand. In 2024-
25, HA addressed these challenges
in a pragmatic way to embark on a
comprehensive reform, with a view to
ensuring the provision of high-quality,
safe and effective healthcare services in
the long run.
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The Review Committee on the Management of the Public Hospital
System (Review Committee) was set up by the HA Board in July
2024 to conduct a comprehensive review of the systemic issues
and reform needs in public hospital management. The Review
Committee's report included 31 recommendations, which aim
to assist HA in enhancing risk management, strengthening
governance and reinforcing safety. HA has since been actively
following up and taking forward these recommendations.
All recommendations were implemented by June 2025 as
planned. This is indeed a valuable opportunity for HA to deepen
governance and structure reforms. For this purpose, the HA Board
has established a high-level Governance and Structure Reform
Committee (Reform Committee) in December 2024 to provide
strategic direction to drive the sustainable development of public
healthcare services. The Reform Committee would examine
initiatives to enhance service efficiency and optimise clinical
outcomes, thereby promoting healthcare sustainability.
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Healthcare services are inextricably linked, and the reform of
public healthcare fees and subsidies is an indispensable aspect. In
accordance with the Government's overall healthcare reform, HA
has completed the review of the structure and levels of the fees
and charges of public healthcare services. It is expected that the
fee reform will provide incentive to the public for better use of
healthcare resources, reduce wastage and abuse, and enhance
healthcare protection for “poor, acute, serious, critical” patients on
all fronts, thereby ensuring our precious public resources are put
to good use. My heartfelt gratitude goes to the HKSAR Government
for its strong support for the reform proposal, as well as its
commitment to plough back the additional revenue generated from
the reform into the public healthcare system. This clearly reflects
the HKSAR Government's firm commitment to deepening the
healthcare reform and determination to achieve sustainable public
healthcare services.

The Task Group on Sustainability formed under the HA Board
continued to lead HA examining major sustainability issues and
formulate strategic directions and initiatives to drive HA forward.
We have dedicated ongoing efforts to developing smart hospital
projects with extensive use of Artificial Intelligence and digital
technology across clinical services and daily administrative
operations, significantly enhancing healthcare delivery. Our
flagship mobile app “HA Go" is a key initiative in the development
of smart care, providing patients and their carers with one-stop
convenience in self-care, from appointment management,
telehealth and rehabilitation services, electronic payment and
arranging medication delivery service, etc. At the same time,
we have been actively pursuing the first Hospital Development
Plan to scale up healthcare infrastructure in tandem with the
ever-increasing service demand. The sound and sustainable
development of HA services relies heavily on the strong support
of the HKSAR Government. Under the third triennial funding
cycle, the Government has allocated $93.5 billion of recurrent
subvention to HA in 2024-25. | sincerely thank the Government for
demonstrating its support to public healthcare services despite
facing substantial pressure on public finances.

16 Hospital Authority Annual Report &t &2 B4 2024-2025

BERBRREM
BT ENRERS LN —IR - BE
REARMHESERBERNSE - A

NEBERKBMNE

488 Y U B R A K o S APIER K
BAERHHTRERERAR - 5D

REER  WERHAIMESE (8 -

BB mMARBERRE %ﬁﬁﬁ@
EMNAHEREETEEBER - HROR
HEBFBRBNANIFRERR - I

HEGAR R BRI EINMIA S 2RI
RRNEBRERRL - ERMDRREEBMT

BEHESRCERNENAE  BHERQ
LEBRIREAIFERRAORD

BERASTH [BEXREE/VE] #
B ERERAN I ENARELRS
H - WHETRBARAERE  REEER
BLAA c RMEERESZER - (R
KRR =B EITBEE - WEZERAAL
BREMEBIGREE - KIgiRE BERSK
T BERRBEMAREN [ HAGo ] &
BRESEENETRE  —HANTELY
B EBRDENMERRYE 1K
NE RS FERES - BARARE
RREEEERARE - R - M2 H#E
BE—(ABRERE - HERERERE -
A THRANRSE T K - BERRS
SUBRISERR  BAEBRESFEK
ISR NTH - FHE - EA=-FRFIARE
BT BRBUFR 2024-25 FEREE
B¥EFR 935 BT B REFR o B R RGH
BHRENTEEARMBENT - AR
RN EEERGH I -



Talent is the key to achieving public healthcare sustainability.
While the ongoing recruitment of non-locally trained doctors
from around the world achieved encouraging responses,
vigorous efforts have been made to visit different regions
to recruit suitable non-locally trained nurses, following the
passage of Nurses Registration (Amendment) Ordinance 2024.
Furthermore, multiple channels have been established to attract
non-locally trained doctors to join HA, whilst the depth and
breadth of the Mainland Healthcare Talents Visiting Programmes
have been progressively enhanced, with partners spreading
across cities in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay
Area (GBA), Shanghai and Beijing, etc. In 2024-25, over 80
Mainland and overseas doctors have completed or commenced
exchanges in HA through various programmes. HA also sent
medical professionals of different disciplines to visit hospitals
in Mainland for exchanges. The “Chinese Medicine Enhanced
Inpatient Training Programme with GBA" has commenced in
the year, where Hong Kong Chinese medicine practitioners were
arranged to visit and participate in frontline clinical work in
Chinese medicine hospitals in GBA. HA also sent a healthcare
team comprising experts in infectious diseases, infection control
and microbiology to visit the health authorities and a number of
infectious disease hospitals and healthcare institutions in Beijing
for professional exchanges on infectious diseases management
and infection control. | am deeply grateful to the staunch support
from Mainland authorities and the HKSAR Government in
facilitating these valuable exchange opportunities.
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In addition to talent development, HA has leveraged on the
immense support from our country to forge close partnership
with the Mainland's healthcare professions. HA has been actively
promoting the establishment of chest pain centre and stroke
centre in accordance with national accreditation standards to
streamline the treatment process of critical illnesses. The first
chest pain centre in Hong Kong commenced operation at Queen
Mary Hospital according to national accreditation standards.
Meanwhile, the Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital
and Prince of Wales Hospital were accredited by the China's
International Hospital Accreditation Standards (2021 Version)
in the year, which reaffirms that the management and service
standards of the hospitals have reached international levels and
align with the national healthcare service system.
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I am thankful to all members of the HA Board, Regional Advisory
Committees, Hospital Governing Committees and the co-opted
members of the Functional Committees for their invaluable advice
and guidance to HA over the years. | welcome Mr Matthew Kwok
Pui-ho, Prof Zhang Zhang-jin, Ms Tennessy Hui Mei-sheung and
Prof Janet Wong Yuen-ha for joining the HA Board last year. Their
professionalism and wealth of experience shall bring innovative
ideas to the development of HA. We also thank the outgoing
members, including Mr Ambrose Ho, Prof Agnes Tiwari Fung-
yee, Mr Lawrence Chan Man-yiu, Prof Chan Wai-yee and Mr Philip
Tsai Wing-chung, who rendered significant contribution to HA
with their wise counsel. In addition, we thank all parties including
members of the Legislative Council and District Councils, patient
groups, volunteers and the general public for their unwavering
support and recognition to the works of HA.

My genuine appreciation goes to all members of HA who dedicated
concerted and tireless efforts to the public healthcare system in
Hong Kong in the past year. Now is the opportune time for HA to
set sail to advance reforms and propel. We will all do our utmost
to support the Government's reform direction, with the aim of
realising the sustainable development of our public healthcare
services and progressing into a brighter future.

{2t

Henry Fan Hung-ling
Chairman
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Chapter 3
E=E

Chief Executive's Report
1T AR F E R

In response to the multiple challenges
of an ageing population, the increasing
prevalence of chronic diseases, shortage
of healthcare manpower, and rising
medical costs, the Hospital Authority (HA)
embarked on a journey of reform in the year
of 2024-25 to enhance service efficiency,
whilst maintaining safe and quality
healthcare services for needy patients,
thereby enhancing the sustainability of
the public healthcare system. My deepest
gratitude goes to all members of the HA
who uphold patients’ well-being with their
perseverance and selfless dedication,
notwithstanding the many challenges.
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In order to strengthen protection for citizens and achieve precise
allocation of public healthcare resources to help the persons most
in need, we are committed to implementing the fees and charges
reform. Under the leadership of the Health Bureau, the HA has
completed public healthcare fees and charges reform review, and
published policy recommendations subsequently. The goals of the
measures are to reform the subsidisation structure to rationalise
the relative demands across various public hospital services,
reduce wastage and misuse, and most importantly to enhance
healthcare protection for “poor, acute, serious, critical” patients.
We will press ahead with the implementation of the reform, with a
view to enhancing the quality and efficiency of the public healthcare
system while ensuring its financial sustainability, providing the
public with appropriate healthcare protection in the long run.
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Concurrently, to manifest the HA's commitment to continuous
improvement of public healthcare services, we have implemented
the 31 recommendations proposed by the Review Committee on
the Management of the Public Hospital System as planned, with
the goal of strengthening governance, enhancing accountability,
and fostering a culture of “Safe Care for All". Furthermore, to
drive HA's reform in a positive way, the Governance and Structure
Reform Committee was formed under the HA Board to provide
strategic guidance, oversight, and reform advice on implementing
governance and structure reforms, all aiming to ensure the
sustainable development of the public healthcare system.

A robust and innovative team is essential for driving successful
healthcare reform and achieving sustainability. To this end, the
HA continued to adopt a multi-pronged approach to strengthen
the healthcare workforce. In 2024-25, we recruited over 750
doctors, 2 600 nurses, and 900 allied health professionals, while
continuing to bolster manpower by recruiting part-time healthcare
professionals through the Locum Office. Furthermore, the HA has
always attached great importance to the professional development
of our staff. In addition to providing structured training programmes
through the Hospital Authority Academy, we have sponsored
over 2600 staff members to participate in overseas training
programmes during the year to broaden their horizons.
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With a view to enhancing the overall standard of the healthcare
profession and reinforcing Hong Kong's role as a global hub for
healthcare talent, the HA has been encouraging professional
exchanges between local healthcare professionals and
their counterparts worldwide via various forms of exchange
programmes. We have therefore reached out to various countries
and regions including the United Kingdom, Singapore and
Malaysia in the year to introduce the development opportunities
in our public hospitals, in order to attract eligible non-locally
trained healthcare talent to work in Hong Kong. As of March
2025, about 300 non-locally trained doctors were working or on
exchange with the HA, representing a significant increase of 90%
over last year; while about 110 non-locally trained nurses have
been employed since the enactment of the Nurses Registration
(Amendment) Ordinance 2024.

Leveraging on Hong Kong's strategic advantages, we have
deepened ties and collaborations with the Mainland cities in
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area (GBA) and beyond.
Multiple visits to the healthcare institutions and universities in the
Mainland have been made by the HA delegations to learn about
their latest development in healthcare services, and to promote
the pathways for non-locally trained doctors to exchange and work
in Hong Kong. Moreover, we expanded our Mainland Healthcare
Talents Visiting Programmes, which now include not only the
GBA but also other major cities such as Shanghai and Beijing.
This resulted in an increased number of participating doctors,
nurses, radiographers, and Chinese medicine (CM) experts from a
wider range of specialties. Additionally, we launched a new “CM
Enhanced Inpatient Training Programme with GBA", which enabled
local CM practitioners to receive advanced inpatient clinical training
in GBA CM institutions, fostering exchanges and professional
development among CM professionals in both regions.

Meanwhile, the HA continued to adopt advanced digital technology
and Artificial Intelligence infrastructure to advance smart care
development. We accelerated the development of telehealth
service and applied it in different outpatient, day inpatient, inpatient,
and outreach services. Serving as an important tool for patient
empowerment, the functions of the HA mobile app “HA Go" have
been further upgraded for better patient experience. A new function
“Family Touch" has been rolled out, allowing users to stay updated
on the operation status of their family members. The medication
delivery service was enhanced with the addition of over 100
community collection points, offering more drug collection choices
for patients. Other new features included viewing of radiology
reports, rescheduling of blood-taking appointments, and a new
function under “carer mode” which enables users to remotely
accompany family members during tele-consultations.
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To dovetail with the Government's policy direction to elevate the
healthcare standards of Hong Kong, the HA has implemented a
number of key healthcare projects. During the year, the Pamela
Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital and Prince of Wales Hospital
have been successfully accredited under China's International
Hospital Accreditation Standards (2021 Version). The first chest
pain centre in Hong Kong was set up in accordance with the national
accreditation standards and commenced services in Queen Mary
Hospital (QMH) in November 2024, further improving the diagnosis
process and treatment outcomes for cardiovascular patients. The
Hong Kong Breast Milk Bank was also established in the year,
providing safe and high-quality donor breast milk to premature or
critically ill newborns. In addition, a series of measures have been
in place to promote clinical research development, which included
streamlining the procedures of ethics review of clinical research,
establishing the Central Clinical Research and Innovation Office
to coordinate all clinical research work conducted in HA, as well
as setting up Cluster Clinical Research Support Office in seven
clusters to provide advice and support for frontline staff.

Various hospital redevelopment and expansion projects have been
underway to upgrade healthcare facilities, with good progress
observed in multiple key projects under the Hospital Development
Plan. Among all, the North District Community Health Centre was
completed with the general outpatient services commenced by the
end of 2024; while the HA Supporting Services Centre commenced
operation in phases starting from March 2025. Also, phase 1
redevelopment of QMH was largely completed in the fourth quarter
of 2024. Besides, the main works of the expansion of North District
Hospital (NDH) has commenced in the year of 2024-25.
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Senior appointments in 2024-25 included, in chronology, Dr So
Wing-yee was appointed as Hospital Chief Executive (HCE) of NDH;
Dr Gladys Kwan Wai-man as HCE of Caritas Medical Centre; as
well as Dr Ada Yu Hoi-yan as HCE of Bradbury Hospice, Cheshire
Home, Shatin, and Shatin Hospital.

Over more than three decades, | have served in different positions
within the HA where | have witnessed our colleagues tirelessly
working to ensure the health of the people of Hong Kong, and
propel the HA to new heights, making it one of the most efficient
healthcare systems in the world. | strongly believe that with the
professional care of the HA team, as well as the support from the
HKSAR Government and the society, the health and well-being
of the people of Hong Kong will be better safeguarded, and a
sustainable public healthcare system is on the way.

Tony Ko Pat-sing
Chief Executive
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Hospital Authority
at a Glance 2024-25

BERRESTH I 2024-25 FEHE

Total Manpower of Hospital Authority"

94396 -

No. of Full-time Equivalent Staff
(as at 31 Mar 2025)
BREERAFE
ZRIZBAEHE

(2025 F 3 A 31 B& )

Medical
BE

1,716

Nursing
EIE

43

Number of Hospitals and
Institutions under the Hospital
Authority (as at 31 Mar 2025)

BREERETERREBEE
(BiZ 20253 31 H)

29,684

Allied Health?
ERERE

9,855

Others (including Supporting (Care-related),
Management / Administration, and Others)

Hitb (BIEEEXE - B2 /1THR&EM)

47,141

]
Number of hospital beds?
(as at 31 Mar 2025)

SN A=
(BiZ 2025 3 A 31 1)

49

Clinics (as at 31 Mar 2025)
ERPIZ2AEE
(BIZ2025F 3 A31H)
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Number of Specialist Outpatient

30,824

74

Number of General Outpatient
Clinics (as at 31 Mar 2025)
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Total Specialist Outpatient
(Clinical) attendances®

BRI (R ) B2 AR
8,688,753

Total Allied Health (Outpatient) attendances®

EREE (M2 ) M BN’

3,611,278

Total Inpatient and Day Inpatient
discharges and deaths®

ER R ABERBA LR AR
RETAH’

2,015,933

Remarks:

General Outpatient attendances®
EBFIDHRD AR’

6,249,089

Total Accident and Emergency attendances®

SEERDENR

2,024,269

Family Medicine Specialist Clinic
attendances®

FEEZEMMDHD AR

379,437

Manpower on full-time equivalent basis includes all full-time and part-time staff in Hospital Authority (HA)'s workforce i.e. permanent,
contract and temporary. Individual figures may not add up to the total due to rounding.

HA has established the new grade “Bioinformatician” and “Genetic Counsellor” with effect from April 2024.
For detailed statistics of the services of HA, please refer to Appendix 9 of this Annual Report.
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Chapter 4
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Milestones of the Year
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04 2024

The HA hosted a welcome ceremony for more than 100
healthcare professionals from Guangdong Province
who came to Hong Kong for exchanges under the
"Greater Bay Area (GBA) Healthcare Talents Visiting
Programmes". Meanwhile, HA launched the "Chinese
Medicine Enhanced Inpatient Training Programme
with GBA", which arranged for local Chinese medicine
practitioners to acquire Mainland practicing license
and to conduct inpatient clinical work at the Chinese
medicine hospitals in GBA, with a view to enhancing
their professional skills.
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04 2024

The Hospital Authority (HA) delegation participated
in recruitment activities in London and Manchester,
the United Kingdom, during which they promoted
the working and training pathways in Hong Kong to
overseas healthcare talent, with a view to attracting
more non-locally trained doctors to join the public
healthcare system in Hong Kong.

BReER(BER) KRB RERILSBR
SEPIEEE - RBINERAS HERE TIERE
AR - ARSI B L IE AR IB I B A MARBERE
BEE AR

Milestones of the Year XK= [6lE8 29



04 2024

The HA delegation visited Shanghai and Hangzhou and
met with the Shanghai Municipal Health Commission
to strengthen the mutual exchange of healthcare
talent between Hong Kong and the Mainland. The
delegation also visited universities and hospitals to
understand the latest development of smart care and
Artificial Intelligence, and exchange on the strategies
of developing digital transformation and smart care.
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05 2024

The HA further expanded the Integrated Chinese-
Western Medicine (ICWM) services by gradually piloting
a new ICWM programme in respiratory care at Haven
of Hope Hospital, Kowloon Hospital (KH), Ruttonjee
Hospital and Grantham Hospital starting from April.
Later in May, a brand new integrated clinic service
model was piloted for ICWM in knee osteoarthritis care
at Pok Oi Hospital, Yan Chai Hospital, United Christian
Hospital (UCH) and Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern
Hospital (PYNEH) in phases.
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07 2024

The first batch of two new drugs for treating cancer,
approved for registration in Hong Kong after review
under the new mechanism for registration of New
Drugs (“1+" mechanism), were listed on HA Drug
Formulary. Patients prescribed with these new drugs
under specified clinical application, could have their
medication fees substantially subsidised, which is
expected to benefit about 300 patients each year.
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06 2024

The HA collaborated closely with healthcare
authorities of the Mainland by visiting Wuhan,
Guangdong Province, Beijing and Zhejiang Province
between June to November to share the latest
development of the "Global Healthcare Talent Scheme”
and various exchange programmes carried out by HA in
different Mainland provinces and cities and exchanged
views on various medical and healthcare issues.
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07 2024

The Chairman of HA, Mr Henry Fan Hung-ling, received
the “ESG Leadership” Award in “The 3™ Ml x HSU ESG
Award" for his contribution of leading HA to establish a
sustainable public healthcare system. The award was
also a recognition to HA's commitment in pursuing
sustainability in its corporate development strategies
and daily operations.
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07 2024

The HA was awarded the Stage 7, the highest level
of the Electronic Medical Record Adoption Model, by
the Healthcare Information and Management Systems
Society, marking the first time for a healthcare
organisation in Hong Kong to attain this achievement.
This accomplishment across all 43 HA public hospitals
and institutions recognises HA's effort to integrate
advanced electronic medical records and analytics to
enhance patient services and operational efficiency.
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08 2024

Following the passage of the Nurses Registration
(Amendment) Ordinance 2024, the HA delegation
joined the 35" International Nursing Research
Congress held in Singapore in July, and visited
Malaysia in August, to introduce the latest pathways
for working in Hong Kong to the local nursing
professionals.
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09 2024

Partnering with large chain pharmacies, HA further
enhanced its medication delivery service by adding
over 100 community collection points. Patients
attending hospitals and clinics of HA can choose to
collect the HA-dispensed medications at any of the
community collection points through the “HA Go”
mobile app.
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10 2024

A research team at PYNEH was awarded the 2024
Global Innovation and Tech Excellence Award for
Innovative E-Health Solutions Award (Public Sector)
from the World Innovation, Technology and Services
Alliance, recognising their efforts in developing a new
technology for creating ultrasound-visible anatomical
models with tactile reality, which can enhance
simulation training for healthcare professionals and
continually improve patient safety.
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11 2024

The HA and the Zhongshan Ophthalmic Center
of Sun Yat-Sen University signed a three-year
collaborative agreement to strengthen exchanges and
collaboration and to enhance the standard and quality
of ophthalmology services in both places.
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11 2024

Hong Kong's first chest pain centre commenced
operations at Queen Mary Hospital, aimed at improving
the diagnosis process and treatment outcomes for
cardiovascular patients. The Centre successfully
obtained the national accreditation, becoming the first
accredited chest pain centre in Hong Kong.
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12 2024

The North District Community Health Centre Building
was completed, as one of the key projects in the
first Hospital Development Plan of HA. The North
District Family Medicine Centre commenced services,
which cover not only general outpatient services,
but also multi-disciplinary nursing, allied health,
patient education and support services, offering
comprehensive one-stop primary and community
healthcare services for residents in the North District.

dtmitREREROABEN  RBEERFS —E8kk
LERFEMNEHER - ETHNULERRKEESZT OH
RIRT > BT EBMAIZRGN  TREBEXRE
2 BRER  WAHANIERES  RiLRE
RIFHE2mey —uh VA B Mt m B E R

34 Hospital Authority Annual Report &t &2 B4 2024-2025

11 2024

The HA released the report of the Review Committee
on the Management of the Public Hospital System, and
has gradually been implementing all 31 improvement
recommendations, with a view to strengthening
HA's governance and safety. Later in December, the
Governance and Structure Reform Committee was
formed under the HA Board, aiming to provide strategic
guidance, oversight, and reform advice onimplementing
governance and structural reforms for HA.
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12 2024

Hong Kong's first magnetic resonance-guided
focused ultrasound system was introduced by HA,
and commenced services at Tuen Mun Hospital
Neuroscience Centre, offering non-invasive treatment
option for patients with essential tremor.
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12 2024

The PYNEH and Prince of Wales Hospital have been
accredited under the China's International Hospital
Accreditation Standards (2021 Version) in December
2024 and March 2025 respectively, recognising that
the management and service quality of the hospitals
are on a par with international standards.
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01 2025

In celebration of KH's centenary, a series of “Musical
Journey” activities have been curated. Through the
arts of music, it is aimed to convey a positive energy
to patients, their families, as well as healthcare staff.
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02 2025

Princess Margaret Hospital (PMH) has kicked-off
its golden jubilee celebration in early 2025. Among
the rich array of celebratory events, the "PMH 50
Anniversary  Fundraising  Walkathon”  attracted
participation of over 250 hospital staff and their
friends and families, raising funds to support staff
development activities of the Kowloon West Cluster.
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01 2025

The Hong Kong Breast Milk Bank commenced
services, aiming to provide safe and high-quality donor
breast milk to premature or critically ill newborns. As
of March 2025, over 160 mothers have successfully
registered as breast milk donors, and approximately
550 litres of breast milk have been collected.
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03 2025

The HA has completed the review of public healthcare
fees and charges reform and announced the policy
recommendations considered by the Health Bureau.
The reform aims to strengthen healthcare protection,
rationalise public hospital service subsidies, reduce
wastage and misuse, and enhance the sustainability of
the public healthcare system by reforming the public
healthcare subsidy framework. The new fee schedule
will take effect in January 2026.
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03 2025

The Hospital Authority Supporting Services Centre
(HASSC) has commenced operation in phases,
providing laundry, patient catering, critical personal
protective equipment and key linen storage, and data
centre services. The establishment of the HASSC
enhances patient support services in public hospitals
and strengthens their capability to handle emergencies.
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03 2025

The UCH has begun the preparation work for
accreditation under the China's International Hospital
Accreditation Standards (2021 Version). Experts from
Shenzhen Hospital Accreditation Research Center
were invited for a consultancy visit at UCH in March
2025.
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03 2025

The HA sent healthcare professionals to join the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region Government's
search and rescue team to the earthquake-stricken
areas in Myanmar, assisting in the search and rescue
work. In addition to taking care of the health of other
rescue team members, the HA medical representatives
also joined the national team to another area to
provide free medical consultation and medication to
the victims.
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Chapter 5
FhE

Engagement and Teamwork
REBENE BEREES

The Hospital Authority (HA) prioritises
communication with staff. The
management is committed to exchanging
views with frontline staff on prevailing
policies and new initiatives through
various platforms, including regular
meetings with the staff representatives
of all six Staff Group Consultative
Committees and Central Consultative
Committee, emails and letters to all
staff, etc., so as to strengthen connection
with staff.
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The HA Chairman and Chief Executive also visited hospitals from
time to time to listen to frontline staff's feedback on corporate
matters through staff forums. Staff could also stay up-to-date
with the latest corporate news via staff newsletters HASLink and
various HA social media platforms. At the local level, Cluster Chief
Executives and Hospital Chief Executives engaged staff constantly
through regular staff forums, meetings and newsletters.

HA staff can access and handle HR-related information and
matters at ease with the myHR App. As of 31 March 2025, the
myHR App served over 100 000 appointees, serving staff and
retirees of HA, whilst achieving 100% usage among serving
staff. In 2024-25, the app introduced several new key features
including support for business travel and training approvals;
Duty Request Management for Nursing to streamline duty
requests of nurses, as well as the rollout of Phase Il of the
Electronic Sick Leave Reporting System, which covered all
general sick leave applications, and added iAM Smart+ as a new
feature for digital signature. Also, a new function of Staff Letter
Box was launched to facilitate the reporting of risk-related issues
and enhance the effectiveness of following up on comments to
foster a speak-up culture.

A Focused Staff Survey on staff retention was conducted in the
year, targeting Nursing and Allied Health staff with less than
five years' working experience in HA. Over 8 000 target staff
participated in the survey and provided valuable and constructive
comments, with an overall response rate reaching a record high
of 85%. The survey aimed to understand the intention to stay at
HA of the respondents and the effectiveness of the prevailing staff
retention measures.

In 2024-25, the “My Country, My Family” training series was
launched to enhance HA staff's understanding of Chinese
culture and national development. The training series covered
the Constitution, the Basic Law, the National Security Law, and
introduced national political and legal systems, social culture,
economy and finance, scientific research and environmental
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protection, etc. Diversified training approach was adopted
including lectures and seminars, e-learning courses, mobile quiz
games and inter-team competitions. The series engaged over
47 000 participations in the first year of implementation, and will
be more comprehensively promoted to all levels of staff.

HA has always attached great importance to staff Occupational
Safety and Health (OSH) while promoting trust and harmonious
culture by preventing, reducing and eliminating incidents of
workplace violence (WV). These efforts are supported by media
engagement and regular WV forums to raise awareness among
the public and staff. We have also formulated various prevention
and training programmes for targeted workplace hazards based
on the analysis of Injury on Duty cases. These programmes
covered areas of sharps injury prevention, advanced ergonomics
workshops, de-escalation techniques, and chemical management
to boost safety awareness. Additionally, HA has been
strengthening the effectiveness of OSH risk management through
ongoing enhancement and adoption of OSH Electronic Monitoring
Systems. We have also raised staff awareness in building a safety
culture through regularly disseminating OSH news and smart tips
to employees via the “myOSH" module in myHR App.

HA has endeavoured to enhance staff engagement and promote
a healthy lifestyle to staff. Various sports and recreational
activities were organised regularly to promote work-life balance
such as the “HA Run and Fun”, which was held in a theme park
with over 3 000 participants, including staff and their family
members. At the same time, HA joined the “10 000 Steps a
Day" Walking Challenge organised by the Health Bureau and
Department of Health, and won the Gold Award for Outstanding
Overall Performance with colleagues' enthusiastic participation.
In addition, HA Volunteer Team has been established in the year
to engage staff to actively participate in community services.

To commend staff members with outstanding performance, HA
presents the Outstanding Staff and Teams Award and Young
Achievers Award annually. In 2025, 14 Young Achievers were awarded,
seven staff and six teams won the Outstanding Staff and Teams
Awards. Various promulgation means have been adopted to share
the stories of the awardees with colleagues and the general public.
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Outstanding Teams

Dreams*2Gather (Paediatrics)
Queen Elizabeth Hospital (Kowloon Central Cluster)

GCRS-STAR HKWC Pioneer Team
Queen Mary Hospital (Hong Kong West Cluster)

HKEC Stoma and Wound Care Team
Hong Kong East Cluster

Mind Space
Castle Peak Hospital (New Territories West Cluster)

NTEC Happiness Navigators around You
New Territories East Cluster

Nurturing Our Young Generation (NOYG) Team
Hospital Authority Head Office

Outstanding Staff

Mr KUNG Chak-man, Andy

Senior Manager (Infection, Emergency & Contingency) /
Major Incident Control Centre Coordinator

Hospital Authority Head Office

Dr LEE Kang-yin, Michael
Consultant (Medicine) / Head of Cardiology
Queen Elizabeth Hospital (Kowloon Central Cluster)

Dr LUI Sing-leung

Deputy Hospital Chief Executive /

Consultant (Medicine) [Current Consultant]
Tung Wah Hospital (Hong Kong West Cluster)

Dr TSE Man-li

Medical Director, Hong Kong Poison Control Centre /
Consultant (Hong Kong Poison Information Centre)
[Current Consultant]

United Christian Hospital (Kowloon East Cluster)

Ms WONG Shuk-ching
Senior Nursing Officer (Infection Control Team)
Hong Kong West Cluster

Dr WUN Yiu-chung

Deputy Hospital Chief Executive /

Chief of Service (Orthopaedics & Traumatology)
Tuen Mun Hospital (New Territories West Cluster)

Ms YIU Lai-ping, Alice

Department Operations Manager (Medicine and Therapeutics)

Prince of Wales Hospital (New Territories East Cluster)

Full list of awardees
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HAHO aligns corporate values and directions. It plays a strategic role in leading corporate
development and supporting hospital clusters through interactive collaboration of eight
divisions, namely Cluster Services, Corporate Services, Development & Works, Finance,
Human Resources, Information Technology & Health Informatics, Quality & Safety, and
Strategy & Planning. In 2024-25, HAHO initiated corresponding programme targets under

the four strategic goals outlined in the HA Annual Plan.

BERANSE BANSE)RE/VESNF SRR HESHM TRRAR I
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Strategic goal: Provide smart care

In 2024-25, HA continued to re-orientate service models and
leverage advanced technology to promote smart healthcare,
providing personalised patient-centred care, while enhancing
healthcare efficiency and alleviating the pressure on inpatient
services.

HA has been committed to developing and delivering healthcare
services in more diversified modes. Dedicated efforts have been
made to promote ambulatory care through the provision of
additional urology ambulatory procedures at Hong Kong East
Cluster (HKEC), additional urology day surgeries at Hong Kong
West Cluster (HKWC), additional haematology day inpatient
attendances at Yan Chai Hospital, and additional gynaecology
day inpatient attendances at Pok Oi Hospital. Meanwhile, services
of the Integrated Model of Specialist Outpatient through Nurse
Clinics for cataract surgery, perioperative care, osteoporosis
and inflammatory bowel disease management were enhanced
in multiple clusters with the provision of additional attendances.
Additional nurse clinic attendances were also provided at Kowloon
West Cluster to strengthen care for breast cancer survivors, while
additional nurse clinic and pharmacist clinic attendances were
provided at New Territories West Cluster to implement systemic
anti-cancer therapy.
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Furthermore, we enhanced pharmacist clinic services by
providing additional service attendances across clusters, setting
up a Pharmacist Diabetes Mellitus Clinic at HKEC, as well as
setting up a pharmacist-led clinic at HKWC to manage patients
with suspected penicillin allergy. Besides, designated medical
clinics have been set up in clusters to provide one-off specialist
consultations to patients referred from the Chronic Diseases Co-
Care Pilot Scheme.

HA also continued to apply telehealth extensively in different
outpatient, day inpatient, inpatient and outreach services,
improving both patient experience and service quality. Clinical
staff would arrange suitable patients to receive follow-up
consultations, training and rehabilitation services through
telehealth, while community outreach services for patients
in Residential Care Homes for the Elderly (RCHEs) would
be conducted with the aid of telehealth in accordance with
clinical needs. Moreover, allied health telehealth services have
been implemented in the outpatient departments of Clinical
Psychology, Dietetics, Occupational Therapy, Physiotherapy,
Prosthetic & Orthotic and Speech Therapy to provide patients
with an alternative treatment option. In 2024-25, over 26 000
allied health telehealth attendances, including outpatient and
community services, were provided.

To improve the inborn errors of metabolism (IEM) services, the
database of uncommon disorders has been updated with clinical
information of 11 types of uncommon disorders. We have also
established a diseases-related nursing team at the Hong Kong
Children’s Hospital, and expanded the transferal of adult IEM
patients to receive |IEM service at Princess Margaret Hospital
(PMH). In addition, ovarian tissue cryopreservation services were
commenced at the Prince of Wales Hospital (PWH) to serve
children and adolescents requiring cancer treatment. In line
with the Government's policy direction of supporting assisted
reproductive services, additional in-vitro fertilisation services
were offered at Kwong Wah Hospital (KWH) and PWH.
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To enhance the community psychiatric services, we have recruited
more case managers across clusters to provide additional
psychiatric outreach attendances to better support patients
with mental illness in the community. Also, more allied health
outpatient attendances were provided at Tseung Kwan O Hospital
(TKOH) to render psycho-social rehabilitation for individuals
attending psychiatric outpatient clinic. Besides, multiple clusters
have bolstered support for senior patients residing in RCHEs
through the provision of additional geriatric outreach attendances.

For renal services, patient capacities for automated peritoneal
dialysis were augmented in all clusters. To promote self-care of
renal patients, additional patient capacities for home automated
peritoneal dialysis and haemodialysis were offered at Kowloon
East Cluster (KEC) and New Territories East Cluster (NTEC). As
for the enhanced prevention and control of viral hepatitis, HA
has formulated the action plan and strategies on viral hepatitis
management for 2025-30, and implemented the collaborative
model on chronic hepatitis B management between Internal
Medicine and Family Medicine.

During the year, HA continued to implement various Public-
Private Partnership (PPP) Programmes to alleviate the pressure
on public hospital services and provide patients with more
treatment choices. These programmes included Cataract
Surgeries Programme, Project on Enhancing Radiological
Investigation Services through Collaboration with the Private
Sector, Haemodialysis PPP Programme and more. HA also
launched the Investigation PPP Programme in 2024, under
which laboratory services, including testing of blood, urine and
sputum and electrocardiogram, are provided to the patients of
General Outpatient Clinic PPP Programme by designated private
laboratories.
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Strategic goal: Develop smart hospitals

HA continued to develop and apply innovative technologies and
Artificial Intelligence (Al) to advance smart hospital development.
Currently, Al is widely used in different clinical services, such
as facilitating the analysis of chest X-ray images, detection of
hip fracture and nasogastric tube malposition and more, greatly
enhancing service quality and patient safety. To improve work
efficiency, generative Al technology has been deployed to assist
doctors in drafting medical reports and to automate document
classification. Additionally, the Neurosurgical Outcomes Monitoring
and Improvement Programme has been rolled out to enhance the
efficiency of data analysis with a systemic monitoring system.

We have been striving to promote smart hospital management,
by establishing command centres at Pamela Youde Nethersole
Eastern Hospital (PYNEH) and Ruttonjee & Tang Shiu Kin Hospitals
(RTSKH) and strengthening the manpower of command centre
at HKWC to enhance operational efficiency. Cluster Command
Centre (Patient Transfer) has been implemented in multiple
clusters to facilitate bed management and patient transfer, while
Cluster Command Centre (Situation Awareness) has been piloted
in HA Major Incident Control Centre and Queen Elizabeth Hospital
(QEH), aiming to support timely decision making and resource
management. Furthermore, the eResus service model has been
rolled out to PYNEH, St. John Hospital, QEH and TKOH, and
relevant system enhancement was carried out at North Lantau
Hospital and RTSKH, all aimed to improve workflow efficiency in
resuscitation rooms at the Accident and Emergency Departments
(AEDs). Meanwhile, over 400 smart robots have been adopted in 43
hospitals and institutions across seven clusters to assist in delivery,
cleaning and companion services in support of hospital operation.
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Also, the management of wards and medication has been
improved with the implementation of various smart clinical
systems with the aim to ensure patient safety. While eVitals and
enhanced Smart Panels have been installed in approximately 95%
of wards, over 65 sets of smart cabinets have been set up to offer
a safer and more efficient medication inventory and management
solution, optimising the ward operation. To improve the accuracy
of drug prescription and management, the Inpatient Medication
Order Entry (IPMOE) system and Closed-Loop IPMOE project
were extended to the Intensive Care Unit (ICU) of United Christian
Hospital and Kwai Chung Hospital respectively. Additionally, the
first phase, the “Packing Module”, of the HA “Wound and Packing
Module" has been implemented in all HA hospitals to minimise
recording errors and enhance patient safety.

In addition, various new smart care products have been rolled out
to improve patient experience. These included “oneConsent for
Multiple Procedures” which streamlines the process of obtaining
patient's consent, “Smart Booking” which facilities flexible
reappointment scheduling, the pilot Radiology Appointment
Kiosks and more. To empower patients, the functions of the HA
mobile app “HA Go" have been upgraded continuously. We have
launched the “Family Touch” to help carers keep track of their
family members' latest hospitalisation status. Meanwhile, the
functions of the Medical Fee Assistance App were enhanced
to improve patients’ convenience and expedite the application
process by enabling patients to submit applications of Samaritan
Fund and Community Care Fund Medical Assistance Programmes
for preview by medical social workers. Besides, we have continued
to scale up telehealth and medication delivery services through
“HA Go", and introduced more new health management functions
such as rescheduling of specialist outpatient clinic (SOPC) blood
taking appointments, and chronic disease management features.
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To support HA's new model of digital healthcare, the fourth
generation of Clinical Management System (CMS V) has
undergone further development. In 2024-25, 28 projects were
launched under CMS IV. For examples, the “Integration of “Generic
Clinical Request System - Paperless Label Management with
UPI and Scheduling (GCRS-PLUS)" in AED" ensures correct
patient identification at AEDs; and the “Electronic Ophthalmology
Form" has been implemented in all hospitals with ophthalmic
services to reduce manual processing of paper records. Moreover,
proactive efforts have been made to drive digital workplace,
by incorporating technologies to deliver seamless, efficient,
and paperless workflows across clinical and administrative
operations. Measures included providing staff self-services via
communication tools such as myHR App, as well as deploying
digitalised administrative workflows in over 1 400 wards / units
for works of non-clinical eHandover and ward equipment
management to improve work efficiency.

Strategic goal: Nurture smart workforce

To develop a robust, agile, and innovative smart workforce to
provide high-quality healthcare services for the public, HA has
adopted a multi-faceted approach to attract and retain talents. In
2024-25, we have recruited over 750 doctors, 2 600 nurses and
900 allied health professionals. The implementation of “Policy
of Extending Employment beyond Retirement” was continued to
attract experienced retired staff to take up further employment
in HA. As at 31 March 2025, about 180 doctors, 600 nurses,
120 allied health professionals and 3 010 supporting and other
grades staff were serving in HA on contract full-time terms after
retirement.

We have also made some good progress in our global recruitment
efforts, with about 300 non-locally trained doctors working and
engaging in exchange programmes at HA as of March 2025,
while about 110 non-locally trained nurses have already been
employed. Separately, we have attracted more than 80 visiting
doctors to HA for exchanges through various programmes such
as the “Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area (GBA)
Healthcare Talents Visiting Programmes”, “Global Healthcare
Talent Scheme”, as well as the talent exchange programmes
with healthcare institutes of various Mainland cities such as
Shanghai and Beijing, while facilitating over 20 Macao doctors
to receive specialist training at public hospitals in Hong Kong. In
addition, HA has been collaborating with the Health Commission
of Guangdong Province to launch the “Guangdong Hong Kong
Macao GBA Specialty Nursing Knowledge-exchange Programme”,
under which near 100 Guangdong nurses have completed clinical
exchange at HA during the year.
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Meanwhile, we are committed to improving the career prospects
of all staff grades by providing more development opportunities.
Regarding the doctors, additional promotion opportunities were
continued to provide through the centrally coordinated additional
Associate Consultant (AC) promotion mechanism, enhancing the
promotion prospects of doctors. Moreover, HA upgraded AC posts
to Consultant posts as planned, aiming to enhance development
opportunities of doctors and retain more talents. As at March
2025, about 400 upgraded Consultant posts were created.

In terms of stablising the nursing workforce, efforts have been
made to develop structured succession planning and enhance
career structure for nurses. In addition to continuously increasing
Nurse Consultant and Associate Nurse Consultant posts,
opportunities for Enrolled Nurses (ENs) promoting to Registered
Nurses (RNs) and for RNs promoting to Advanced Practice Nurses
were also enhanced. To encourage and recognise the professional
development of nurses, we continued to offer Specialty Nurse
Allowance to eligible RNs, and training sponsorship to ENs who
undertook RN Conversion Programmes to support their clinical
practicum. Additionally, a training subsidy programme has been
launched to support nurses who have completed post-registration
nursing-related programmes at tertiary institutions.

As for retaining allied health staff and promoting the professional
development of relevant services, more training opportunities
were offered with increased frequency and training places for
Advanced Specialty Programmes, while the implementation
of the time-limited measure of adding an additional pay point
was continued in the year. Besides, starting from April 2024,
Specialty Allied Health Professional Allowance had been granted
to resident allied health professionals who have completed the
New Recruit programme and recognised specialty training, and
have contributed to the related allied health specialty service.
In addition, training subsidies were offered to allied health staff
who participated in recognised service-related post-graduate
programmes in the year.
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To attract and retain supporting staff, we continued to implement
the normalised progression exercise for Patient Care Assistant of
inpatient services on 24-hour shift and Executive Assistant (Ward)
to enhance career development opportunities of relevant staff
groups. The training sponsorship programme for supporting staff
to undergo EN (General) training has also been sustained in the
year. This programme aims to enhance the career development
pathways for supporting staff by offering them the training
opportunity to attain EN (General) qualifications.

HA has always attached great importance to employees' training
and development. Various kinds of training opportunities such as
simulation training programmes, specialty nursing programmes,
competence enhancement programmes were offered for doctors,
nurses and allied health professionals in different specialties. A
wide range of core clinical training series were also provided to
pharmacists and dispensers. Furthermore, midwifery training
programmes were provided to more than 80 trainees in the year to
better address the demand for maternity services in public hospitals.
Mandatory cardiotocography training was also offered to midwives
and obstetricians to enhance their professional knowledge.

Besides, over 270 corporate scholarships for overseas training
were provided to doctors, nurses, and allied health professionals to
keep them abreast of the latest healthcare technology and to lead
the development of clinical services in HA. Training opportunities
were offered to Infection Disease and Infection Control healthcare
professionals, enabling them to participate in attachment
programmes, international conferences or short courses held in
the Mainland and other regions. We also continued to organise
the Executive Partnership Programme for related executives to
enhance their capability on emergency response.

At HA, we prioritise the mental well-being of our staff. We actively
promote a positive and caring culture through a variety of mental
health activities, including mindful self-compassion retreats,
relaxation / mindfulness sessions, and mental health talks. Our
goal is to strengthen our staff's well-being, self-compassion and
resilience through these initiatives.
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Strategic goal: Enhance service supply

To meet the increasing demand brought by the ageing local
population, HA is expanding its service capacity on all fronts. In
2024-25, the capacity of inpatient services was augmented by
adding acute beds, ICU beds and high dependency unit beds in
various hospitals. We have also provided more acute inpatient
beds and acute surgery beds at PMH and KWH respectively,
and added extended care beds at Shatin Hospital. Meanwhile,
we provided additional SOPC new case attendances across
clusters, and increased the attendances at the Nam Cheong
Family Medicine Clinic as well as North District Community
Health Centre to address the public's demand for primary
healthcare services. To improve the standard of care for acute
ischaemic stroke patients, the 24-hour intra-arterial mechanical
thrombectomy service has been further extended to Kowloon
Central Cluster, KEC and NTEC, achieving a territory-wide
service coverage in the year.

We have also strived to enhance the testing capacity of HA
laboratories by increasing polymerase chain reaction tests for
respiratory viruses across clusters; and providing additional
Multi-Drug Resistant Organisms screening at HKEC, with an aim
to enhance both service capacity and infection control service.
The provision of NT-proBNP service has been implemented in all
clusters in phases, providing preliminary diagnostic service for
patients with clinical symptoms of heart failure, facilitating timely
diagnosis and treatment.

For pharmacy services, drug refill services for selected high-risk
elderly patients were provided in SOPCs at Hong Kong Buddhist
Hospital and Kowloon Hospital, enhancing medication safety
while reducing risks of excessive drug storage by patients.
We expanded coverage of drugs in the HA Drug Formulary
for the management of respiratory diseases by repositioning
one self-financed drug as Special Drugs, and extending the
therapeutic application of ten Special Drugs for treating renal,
musculoskeletal and joint, cardiovascular, respiratory diseases,
diabetes mellitus, and cancer. Another drug class for treating
cancer was repositioned as Special Drugs, with therapeutic
application extended. In addition, the Antidote Coordination
Centre and Drug of Abuse Early Warning Centre have been
established under the Hong Kong Poison Control Centre.
The Antidote Coordination Centre is responsible for central
stockpiling and coordinating the application of antidotes, as well
as enhancing collaborations with neighbouring areas. Meanwhile,
the Drug of Abuse Early Warning Centre aims to strengthen
surveillance on the emergence of novel drugs of abuse or new
psychoactive substances to safeguard public health and safety.
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HA has implemented various measures to improve cancer
services. Apart from enhancing chemotherapy services, we also
provided additional SOPC new case attendances and allied health
outpatient attendances at the KEC oncology centre; as well as
additional operations for colorectal cancer and liver cancer at
PYNEH and Queen Mary Hospital (QMH) respectively. Moreover,
additional plasma Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor tests for
newly diagnosed lung cancer patients with metastasis or recurrent
cases were provided at all clusters. Meanwhile, to enhance cancer
treatments using radiotherapy to meet service demand, linear
accelerators at PYNEH and PWH were installed and commenced
operation in the year, while preparation work for installing a linear
accelerator in Tuen Mun Hospital was in progress.

As for ophthalmological services, we have provided additional
allied health outpatient attendances and set up a multi-
disciplinary integrated clinic for providing additional pre-
assessment attendances at Hong Kong Eye Hospital. We have
also provided additional intravitreal injections in HKEC and NTEC
to increase ophthalmology service capacity.

In support of the Government'’s policy direction in the development
of Chinese medicine, HA has progressively expanded the Integrated
Chinese-Western Medicine (ICWM) services to 26 public hospitals,
with the number of hospital sites increased to 65, covering three
designated disease areas, namely stroke care, musculoskeletal
pain management and cancer palliative care. Two new pilot
programmes in respiratory care and knee osteoarthritis care were
commenced in the year, while the cancer care pilot programme
was further extended, benefiting more patients.
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The Government continued its staunch support to sustain the
development of public healthcare. Since 2018-19, subvention to
HA has been increased under the triennium funding arrangement
having regard to population growth and demographic changes.
With the second triennium funding cycle ended in 2023-24, the
Government supported the third triennium funding arrangement
for HA. For the year of 2024-25, HA's total income was $101.2
billion, representing an increase of 2.8% from $98.4 billion in
2023-24. Similar to past years' practice, HA continued to exercise
prudent financial measures to ensure the proper and effective
use of resources. Through the annual planning exercise, resource
allocation was guided by the Government's healthcare priorities,
HA's strategic priorities and service directions as well as the
operational readiness of proposals.

HA's total expenditure for 2024-25 was $100.7 billion, representing
an increase of 3.4% when compared to $97.4 billion in 2023-
24. After setting aside some of the year's funding for meeting
HA's future needs as agreed with the Government, HA recorded
an overall underspending of $0.5 hillion for 2024-25. With this
underspending, the Revenue Reserve increased to $9.9 billion
as at 31 March 2025. Such reserve will serve as an important
safeguard to help maintain financial stability of HA in the event of
unexpected contingency.

To enhance the sustainability of the public healthcare system, HA
finalised the public healthcare fees and charges reform review
during 2024-25, aiming to strengthen healthcare protection,
rationalise public hospital service subsidies and reduce wastage
and misuse. The new fees will take effect on 1 January 2026.

To ensure long term financial viability, HA will continue to critically
review the cost effectiveness of its services, and consider ways to
optimise resources use. HA will also continue to work out a viable
funding arrangement with the Government and exercise extra
prudence in the use of its available financial resources for meeting
the ever-increasing service demands arising from the growing and
ageing population in a sustainable manner.
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Forging national and global connectivity

In line with the Government's direction, HA has actively expanded
its network across the nation and around the world, with a view
to shaping Hong Kong into an important global healthcare hub.
Collaborative endeavours with global healthcare institutions
enable HA to import advanced knowledge to enhance the
quality of public healthcare in Hong Kong, while sharing our
achievements worldwide, stepping up Hong Kong's contribution
to global healthcare advancement. As of March 2025, HA has
established strategic partnership with 15 Mainland and overseas
partners with collaboration agreements signed. The collaborative
framework covers exchange activities in various forms which
include visits, meetings, exchange activities such as clinical
attachments and trainings, focusing on a series of healthcare
issues including manpower and expertise exchanges, service
development, Chinese medicine service development, and clinical
research and innovation.

Sealing ties with the Mainland

In 2024-25, exchange activities and visits involving partners in
the GBA and other Mainland cities were organised with proactive
efforts, so as to learn the latest developments of healthcare
institutions and technology in the Mainland, promoting mutual
medical co-operation and exchanges. These included visits and
meetings with the Beijing Municipal Health Commission, the
Health Commission of Guangdong Province, Zhongshan Hospital
Affiliated to Fudan University and more. We also hosted multiple
visits by prestigious institutes in the Mainland, which included
the delegation from the First Affiliated Hospital of Sun Yat-sen
University, and held a high-level exchange meeting with the
representatives from Peking Union Medical College Hospital.
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The Mainland Healthcare Talents Visiting Programmes have
received positive responses since its launch in 2022. Close to 80
doctors and a total of about 170 nurses from the Mainland have
come to HA on exchange, covering GBA cities as well as other
major cities such as Shanghai and Beijing. Meanwhile, doctors,
nurses, radiographers and medical physicists have also been
arranged by HA to conduct bilateral on-site clinical training and
knowledge exchanges in Mainland institutions. Building on the
success of these exchanges, HA has successfully developed a
bilateral exchange programme for Chinese medicine between
Hong Kong and GBA. In 2024, the Chinese Medicine Enhanced
Inpatient Training Programme with GBA was launched, providing
local Chinese medicine practitioners with opportunities to receive
advanced inpatient clinical training in GBA Chinese medicine
hospitals, promoting the development of the ICWM services.

The deep collaboration with our counterparts in the Mainland has
propelled the continuous improvement of healthcare services.
During the year, the PYNEH and PWH have been successfully
accredited under China's International Hospital Accreditation
Standards (2021 Version), while the first chest pain centre
in Hong Kong was set up in accordance with the national
accreditation standards and commenced operation in QMH.
These signify that the service standards of Hong Kong public
hospitals have reached international levels and are aligned with
the national healthcare service system. In March 2025, HA and
the Shenzhen Hospital Accreditation Research Center signed the
"Memorandum of Understanding on Cooperation of Promoting
International Accreditation for Hong Kong Public Hospitals in
2025", establishing a strong partnership to promote continuous
improvement across the hospitals in the GBA.
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International connectivity

Meanwhile, HA has all along maintained close partnerships
with healthcare authorities around the world. We have had
regular and close communication with Consulate-Generals of
various countries in Hong Kong, including France, Indonesia, the
Philippines and Finland, etc. Among which, the positive experience
of exchanges with representatives from the Consulate-General
of France in Hong Kong and Macao and French counterparts,
have led to the signing of a declaration of intent between HA
and the National Conference of University Hospital General
Managers of France in May 2025. This initiative aims to strengthen
collaborations and exchanges between the two parties in various
areas of hospital management and development.

Additionally, HA visited Singapore in January 2025, where meeting
and exchanges with MOH Holdings Pte Ltd (MOHH) and several
public healthcare institutions were conducted. The trip laid the
groundwork for renewing the Memorandum of Understanding with
MOHH in April 2025, further deepening the cooperation between
both parties.

HA also spared no efforts to recruit healthcare talents globally.
During the year, HA delegation participated in recruitment
activities in London and Manchester, the United Kingdom, to
promote the working and training pathways in Hong Kong to non-
locally trained doctors. Meanwhile, meetings and visits have been
conducted with the Consulate-General of Indonesia in Hong Kong,
while holding recruitment activity in Malaysia and attending the
35" International Nursing Research Conference held in Singapore
to learn about the latest developments of nursing profession,
and introduce to local nursing professionals the latest working
opportunities in Hong Kong.
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Hong Kong East Cluster (HKEC)
AERBREE CBBREH)

HKEC has always prioritised service quality and patient safety. A landmark
achievement was made in this year, with PYNEH being accredited under
the China's International Hospital Accreditation Standards (2021 Version)
and becoming the first hospital in Hong Kong to obtain such accreditation.
This demonstrates that the hospital's management systems, service levels
and healthcare quality meet international standards while aligning with
national systems.

HKEC has continuously adopted a multi-pronged approach to address
the rising service demand. The measures included augmenting capacity
of pharmacist clinics, allied health services and intravitreal injections, as
well as adding operating theatre sessions at PYNEH to support desperate
emergencies, endovascular intervention and intra-arterial mechanical
thrombectomy for acute stroke management. To boost acute and critical
care capacity, acute neurosurgery beds catered for ventilator-assisted
care patients were introduced, while Intensive Care Unit care at PYNEH
was also strengthened. With regard to cancer care, PYNEH expanded its
colorectal cancer surgical services and introduced an additional Linear
Accelerator to improve the precision of radiotherapy. HKEC also fostered
patients’ emotional well-being and social interaction by promoting group
activities for patients at adult psychiatric and psychogeriatric day hospitals,
and establishing the Sensorium Garden, a multisensory therapeutic garden
at PYNEH.

Meanwhile, HKEC is committed to strengthening inter-hospital coordination
and cross-disciplinary collaboration. PYNEH and Ruttonjee Hospital (RH)
established Hospital Command Centres to streamline patient admission and
discharge processes, and improve resource management, leading to efficient
use of hospital beds. At RH, a newly established Pharmacist Diabetes
Mellitus Clinic enhanced medication safety through close collaboration
among multi-disciplinary teams. For chronic disease management, HKEC
set up a designated medical clinic to actively support the Chronic Disease
Co-Care Pilot Scheme by providing one-off specialist consultations.

The PYNEH team continued to apply new technologies to create
3D-printed anatomical models with tactile reality to facilitate healthcare
professionals’ training and surgical rehearsals, ultimately enhancing
patient safety. The PYNEH Robotic Surgery Team has received the 2024
HA Outstanding Team Award for its innovative use of an advanced robotic
surgery system to overcome the limitations of traditional minimally
invasive surgery. The 30" anniversary of the Accident & Emergency
(A&E) Training Centre at Tang Shiu Kin Hospital marked another major
milestone in HKEC for simulation training. Its training target has expanded
from A&E staff to cover various specialties, government departments
and community partners, leveraging its extensive experience to better
respond to community needs.

CCH - Cheshire Home, Chung Hom Kok &l & Z4 X i &%

PYNEH - Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital
RELBXABITEBMHR (REER)

RTSKH - Ruttonjee & Tang Shiu Kin Hospitals 2304 & i8R 8 R

SJH - St. John Hospital & MNE&FR

TWEH - Tung Wah Eastern Hospital RERFR

WCHH - Wong Chuk Hang Hospital Z 11518z
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Hong Kong West Cluster (HKWC)
BAEREREE CEERABA)

HKWC has launched a series of services, in line with HA's direction to provide
patient-centric care. At QMH, a wide range of initiatives were introduced,
spanning across specialist outpatient service, inpatient service, dedicated
geriatric care, patient meal service and nutritional support, etc. to enhance
patients’ experience in a holistic manner. On specialist outpatient service,
renovation project was carried out in 3/F of QMH Hospital Specialist Clinic
to modernise the clinic environment. Smart elements were integrated
into the patients' toilets on each floor, such as installation of occupancy
sensors, indoor air quality sensors, Al life sense alert system, etc. For
inpatient nursing care, pre-admission checklists for patients were prepared
to facilitate their preparation prior to admission. Moreover, better designed
operating theatre gown and obstetric patient dress, forced-air warming
blanket, and special amenity kit for those without family support or
admitted unexpectedly were offered. In addition, QMH has improved the
hospital's catering services by providing modified meal with attractive
food tray for paediatric patients, increasing food varieties, modifying the
soft meals for patients in need, alongside the provision of oral nutritional
supplement, soup, dessert and nourishing drinks.

Hong Kong's first Chest Pain Centre at QMH commenced operation in
November 2024, featuring a Green Channel for expedited investigations
and treatments. It has successfully achieved national accreditation
standards in May 2025, which validates QMH's expertise in acute
cardiac care, emphasising a patient-centred approach that continuously
enhances healthcare quality through multi-disciplinary collaboration,
streamlined processes and innovative technology. The Centre aims
to optimise diagnostic and treatment processes for cardiovascular
patients to improve treatment outcomes and survival rates. QMH's
experience will serve as a valuable reference for developing similar
services across other hospital clusters.

In accordance with the 2022 Policy Address, QMH has been preparing
to set up a stroke centre, which aims to provide integrated services
for stroke patients requiring multi-disciplinary professional support,
streamline treatment flow and improve diagnostic and treatment
processes. The QMH Stroke Centre also features a Green Channel in
the Accident & Emergency Department to facilitate rapid diagnosis
and multi-disciplinary collaboration, thereby seizing the critical time
for patient treatment. QMH experts visited various stroke centres in the
Mainland to learn from their experiences in managing stroke patients,
while Mainland experts were invited to Hong Kong to exchange insights
in preparation for developing operational procedures. QMH will strive to
achieve national accreditation for the Stroke Centre by 2025.

The phase 1 redevelopment of QMH was in good progress, with
the Clinical Block 1 substantially completed in December 2024.
Subsequent to the service commissioning from the fourth quarter of
2025 onwards, a new chapter of modernised and advanced facilities
as well as patient-oriented services would be on provision.
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New Territories West Cluster (NTWC)
AR ()

NTWC serves a population of approximately 1.2 million. To address
the challenges of growing and ageing population, NTWC is committed
to expanding service provision. Acute beds were provided at TMH in
2024-25, while the TMH Operating Theatre Extension Block provided
additional operating theatre sessions for patients.

NTWC is dedicated to developing TMH Neuroscience Centre. TMH
has officially commenced Hong Kong's first Intraoperative Magnetic
Resonance Imaging service. The Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI)
scanning room is adjacent to the operating theatre, allowing patients
to be transferred to the scanning room for imaging examinations during
surgery, thereby enhancing surgical outcomes. Also located at TMH
Neuroscience Centre, the Hong Kong first-ever Magnetic Resonance
guided Focused Ultrasound treatment system was used to provide non-
invasive treatment to patients with essential tremor. The system uses
real-time MRI to monitor patient's temperature in the brain and ensures
the ultrasound beams are precisely focused on the target tremor-causing
brain regions.

NTWC has continued to introduce innovative technology to develop
smart hospitals with the aim of enhancing patient experience and
clinical standard. The inpatient wards in TSWH piloted “Clinical Internet
of Medical Things and Mobile Integration enabling Safe and Efficient
Patient-monitoring in Smart-ward” to connect ventilators, infusion
pumps and other monitoring instruments in wards. The Internet of
Things technology alerts ward staff to abnormal conditions such as
dyspnea or loose tubes and enables timely assistance or treatment.
Moreover, automated Al model has been piloted at POH to detect
possible deterioration of inpatients. The system automatically analyses
clinical data and alerts healthcare teams on deterioration risks. The
cluster also launched the “i-Enquire” self-service enquiry system which
allows patients or their relatives to instantly access information about
patients' consultation process and location.

Apart from providing comprehensive psychiatric treatments to patients,
CPH has also actively promoted mental health education to the
community. CPH organised “Mental Health Day" in 2024, gathering
medical, social and educational sectors to support mental health of
adolescents, and distributed educational kits to over 500 secondary
schools across Hong Kong. The kit was developed by CPH, based on
cognitive behavioural therapy and dialectical behaviour therapy theories
to help students learn to manage their emotions.

NTWC has been taking forward the remaining alternation and expansion
works of the Operating Theatre Block extension project for TMH,
including the second phase of Accident and Emergency Department
extension where urgent patients will be treated, so as to continue to
provide quality patient care to the residents in the district.
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New Territories East Cluster (NTEC)
A RBEBT A (TS REAE)

As the largest cluster of HA in terms of geographic coverage, NTEC
has strived to deliver quality patient-centric services to over 1.3 million
populations, which account for around 18% of the overall Hong Kong
population. Persistent rising service demand derived from the growing
and ageing population has posed pressure on both our inpatient and
outpatient services. In face of the various challenges, unremitted
efforts have been made by NTEC to strengthen its service capacity and
efficiency by introducing new service models and ambulatory care.

In 2024-25, NTEC provided additional acute inpatient beds and
convalescent and rehabilitation inpatient beds to address the inpatient
service demand. Besides, psychiatric rehabilitation beds were upgraded
to admission beds to enhance service capacity and elevate the quality
of care for psychiatric patients. To increase the healthcare capacity
and improve patient accessibility, on-site haematology consultation
sessions were provided at AHNH and NDH. 24-hour intra-arterial
mechanical thrombectomy service for acute ischaemic stroke patients
was also provided to enhance service for stroke patients. Furthermore,
the cluster augmented laboratory services for identifying patients with
potential heart failure, provided plasma Epstein-Barr virus DNA tests, as
well as additional tests for respiratory viruses and lung cancer patients.
Additional specialist outpatient clinic (SOPC) new case attendances
for internal medicine services at PWH and AHNH, as well as Ear, Nose
& Throat and Ophthalmology and Visual Sciences at NTEC were also
provided. Apart from reprovisioning the general outpatient clinics
and mobile medical services in the North District Community Health
Centre, two family medicine specialist clinics have been implemented
to alleviate the demand for medical SOPC services at NTEC.

On providing smart care, PWH provided ovarian tissue cryopreservation
service for young female cancer patients aged below 18, and offered
additional in-vitra fertilisation services. In addition, NTEC enhanced
inflammatory bowel disease care services with additional nurse clinic
attendances in SOPC.

Our dedicated staff are always our most valuable assets. The cluster
has continued to nurture and retain talents by strengthening staff career
structure and prospects. In line with the corporate strategy, NTEC has
implemented smart hospital initiatives and continued to support local IT
operation in NTEC hospitals.

NTEC has continued to coordinate various capital projects including
the PWH redevelopment project, and NDH expansion project. Smart
hospital elements would be integrated into the new designs of these
projects to enhance patients’ experience.
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Kowloon West Cluster (KWC)
NERBEREE (NERABHE)

In view of the ageing population and chronic disease prevalence in the
district, KWC remains unwavering in its commitment to delivering high-
quality, patient-centred care and medical services through continuously
promoting multi-disciplinary collaborations, expanding ambulatory
services, and optimising service integration through our cluster-based
approach, with the aim of increasing service and bed capacity.

In 2024-25, to enhance the capacity of the cluster’s inpatient services,
additional acute inpatient beds and acute day beds were provided at
PMH, while high dependency unit beds and intensive care unit bed were
added at YCH and CMC respectively. The scope of Integrated Chinese-
Western Medicine services has been expanded at YCH with the new “Knee
Osteoarthritis Care Pilot Programme” commenced in July 2024, providing
suitable patients with pain relief and treatment options. The Ventilator
Team Services Centre of PMH Medicine and Geriatrics Department has
been put into service after renovation, providing consultation service
and training of using sleep testing equipment for suspected sleep apnea
patients. In addition, ongoing efforts have been devoted to promote
telehealth of which patients with chronic diseases resided in the Island
District were arranged to receive telehealth consultations and collect
medications via the medication delivery service, bringing patients more
convenience.

In line with the trend of medical-social collaboration, KWC launched
the “CONNECT Hospital-to-Community Cancer Survivor Programme”
in partnership with the Hong Kong Medical Association to strengthen
cancer survivorship care for oncology patients. Additionally, the
medical-community support centre “Genesis Hub"” at PMH commenced
operation in May 2024, providing patients and carers with a variety of
health management resources, facilities and support services. To
promote public awareness on physical and mental well-being, KCH
has organised a series of activities, including sound bathing, a concert
by the inclusive band “Music Buddies", the Recovery Chapter seminar
and more. Besides, in celebration of the 60" anniversary of CMC, a
series of activities were organised to bring together staff members and
community partners to commemorate this remarkable milestone.

With the service commencement of the Hospital Authority Supporting
Services Centre in the first quarter of 2025, the public hospitals' patient
support services and capability to handle emergencies have been
significantly enhanced. Meanwhile, several major capital projects of
KWC are underway, including the expansion of the Lai King Building
at PMH, and the redevelopment of KCH. Automation, smart solutions
and patient-centric design would be integrated into the design of these
capital projects to align with the HA's corporate direction of building
smart hospitals with higher service efficiency.
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Kowloon East Cluster (KEC)
NERBEBR BN (NEREHE)

Faced with an ageing population and rising service demand in the
community, KEC remains steadfastly committed to enhancing smart
and patient-centred care. This commitment is strategically guided by
the “C.A.R.E" (Cancer, Ambulatory, Rehabilitation, and Emergency)
roadmap. Key service enhancements exemplified this approach,
which included bolstering capacity of oncology specialist outpatient
clinics; expanding access to home automated peritoneal dialysis
and home hemodialysis for patients with advanced kidney diseases;
and strengthening community outreach services to ensure timely
assessment and intervention for psychological problems of community
members. Furthermore, to improve recovery for patients with chronic
lung diseases, KEC piloted an Integrated Chinese-Western Medicine
programme in the respiratory wards of HHH starting April 2024.
Building upon the legacy of “Hospital Without Walls", KEC continued
to empower patients and strengthen their self-care and management
skills through collaborations with community partners.

In pursuit of the smart hospital vision, KEC continued to make progress
with wide adoption of technology for optimising workflow, boosting
efficiency as well as ensuring patient safety. Being one of the three
public hospitals designated by the HA for smart hospital development,
TKOH focuses on integrating technological advances into clinical
setting and to achieve administrative enhancement. With the aid of the
Government's Innovation and Technology Fund, TKOH has piloted cross-
building robotic transportation of theatre sterile supplies, of which the
autonomous navigation has been made possible through the concerted
efforts by different departments. TKOH's achievements in promoting
smart healthcare have attracted exchange visits from the Mainland and
overseas healthcare institutions, resulting in fruitful discussions and
exchanges of insights and experience regarding digital solutions.

KEC's major capital projects are in full swing, including the expansion
of UCH and the construction of the new Tseung Kwan O South Family
Medicine Clinic. These projects will not only uplift the overall service
capacity of KEC, but also drive forward smart care centering on patient
needs with enhanced service efficiency and quality.

Besides, to ensure its management and services attaining international
standards, UCH has embarked on the hospital accreditation programme
with the formal assessment scheduled in October 2025. The robust and
collective efforts from all staff in preparing the hospital accreditation has
underscored KEC's dedication to ensure high-quality care, patient safety
and continuous improvement.
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Kowloon Central Cluster (KCC)
NEP BN (NEPEHE)

KCC is facing the challenges posed by a rapid growth in service demand
associated with the ageing population. To address the issue, the cluster
has made every endeavour to enhance its service capacity and quality to
alleviate overcrowding in wards during service surge periods and meet
cross-cluster demand for specialist outpatient (SOP) services.

With the opening of the phase 1 Building of the Kwong Wah Hospital
redevelopment project, KWH enhanced its ambulatory service by
increasing day bed provision, adding new operating theatre sessions,
and providing extra endoscopy services. To bolster inpatient service
capacity, a discharge support team was established at KH to facilitate
early discharge planning for long-stay patients, thereby expediting
hospital bed turnover. For acute services, the cluster provided the
24-hour intra-arterial mechanical thrombectomy service for acute
ischaemic stroke patients, leading to better treatment outcome and
recovery rate.

Adhering to the commitment to providing patient-centred services, KCC
continued to strengthen the services of SOP, pharmacist clinics and allied
health clinics, as well as enhancing collaborations with Family Medicine
Specialist Clinics, so as to offer additional consultation quotas, resulting
in shorter waiting time. Furthermore, a multi-disciplinary integrated
ophthalmology clinic was set up at HKEH to improve pre-assessment
service. The cluster's community services have also been enhanced
through the expanded geriatric outreach to Residential Care Homes for
the Elderly and the establishment of a designated medical clinic at QEH
to provide one-off specialist consultations for patients referred through
the Chronic Disease Co-Care Pilot Scheme.

As a tertiary referral centre, HKCH continues to specialise in complex,
serious, and uncommon paediatric disorders requiring multi-disciplinary
management. To strengthen diagnosis and treatment for patients with
uncommon disorders, a diseases-related nursing team was established
at HKCH and information of 11 uncommon disorders was added to the
database. Furthermore, the Hong Kong Breast Milk Bank (HKBMB) was
established at HKCH in January 2025, marking a milestone in Hong
Kong's neonatal medical service. As of March 2025, the HKBMB has
recruited over 160 donors and collected around 550 liters of breast milk
for premature or critically ill newborns.

Various capital projects of KCC, including the OLMH redevelopment
project, phase 2 of the KWH redevelopment project, and the New Acute
Hospital in the Kai Tak Development Area, are progressing according
to plan. Smart hospital initiatives and patient-centric components are
integrated into these projects' designs to deliver high-quality patient
services.
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Throughput HKEC KCC KEC KWC NTEC NTWC

BRAE BB R NEFEA  hERBE  EEBER  HARBEE HRARSR

Patient discharges*

HBEmABE*

[ 3 )
ﬂ\%
Total A&E
attendances

SEERD
AR 188 950 114 325 325913 268 922 412929 342844 370386

L

Total specialist
outpatient (clinical)
attendances

EMF2 (WK
FREE AR 918141 940044 1600792 1017853 1511143 1460452 1240328

(ﬂot-)

General outpatient
attendances

EEMFIZRZ AR

R

Number of
hospital beds

BimRe e

Number of general
outpatient clinics

LENFD
PDHEE 12 6 13 8 17 10 8

it

Full-time
equivalent staff

e EE
AB#E 9538 8728 19199 10677 14 884 14951 13181

S

* Total inpatient and day inpatient discharges and deaths

{ERR R A EERBA LR ARRIET AS

207368 226449 395959 226785 326510 365219 267 643

560 215 397671 1189489 954681 1132524 1045665 968 844

3336 3079 6 093 3032 5090 5266 4928
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Chapter 7
FtE

Environmental, Social and

Governance Report

RIE -HERERRE

The Hospital Authority (HA) assumes an important
role in providing quality public healthcare services to
the people of Hong Kong and driving the sustainable
development of the healthcare system. Environmental,
Social and Governance (ESG) considerations have
been incorporated into HA's corporate development
strategies and daily operations. HA is determined
to shoulder its social responsibilities, with a view to
creating long-term and sustainable value. To this
end, HA adheres to the highest standard of corporate
governance, and is committed to maintaining a
robust system and good corporate culture in pursuit
of sustainable development. The year 2024-25 was
surrounded by reform initiatives. A Governance and
Structure Reform Committee was formed under the
HA Board to provide strategic guidance, oversight,
and reform advice on implementing governance and
structure reforms, so as to drive public healthcare
sustainability, enhance service efficiency and patient
safety.
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On the environmental and social side, we continue
to implement energy saving and emission reduction
measures for environmental protection; develop
Smart Care for optimisation of patient services, and
maintain close ties with various stakeholders in the
community. Staff is regarded as our most valuable
asset, with multiple measures implemented to protect
their health, safety and well-being. A multi-pronged
approach is also adopted to attract and retain talents
in building a smart, flexible and sustainable workforce
to serve the Hong Kong population. Our effort in the
aspects of ESG in the year of 2024-25 are highlighted
in this chapter.
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Governance

£ 34

B /A

Good governance s at the heart of HA and will continue to
be of the highest importance as the Authority continues
to develop. A robust and rigorous governance structure
and mechanism is in place to guide the development of
corporate strategies and policies, oversee the execution
of relevantinitiatives, and ensure that HA's operations and

practices are in line with the principle of sustainability.
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Robust and effective governance structure

64

The HA adheres to robust corporate governance,
ensuring that the organisation operates ethically and
transparently to safeguard the interests of the general
public and our stakeholders. For optimal performance
of its roles and exercise of powers, the HA Board has
established 12 functional committees for the better
performance of its functions and exercise of its power,
33 Hospital Governing Committees (HGCs) to enhance
governance in the management and operation of hospitals,
and three Regional Advisory Committees (RACs) to advise
on healthcare needs for specific regions. Please refer to
Chapter 1 “Corporate Governance” for details of functional
committees, HGCs, RACs and Task Group on Sustainability
which form an integral part of HA's governance.

HA's Group Internal Audit is established as an integral part
of its governance and control framework. It is operationally
independent of the HA management and functionally reports
direct to the Audit and Risk Committee in accordance with
the best governance practice. In addition to the financial
audit conducted by external auditor, HA is subject to Value
for Money audits by the Director of Audit of the Government,
who submits reports to the Public Accounts Committee of the
Legislative Council. HA works closely with its stakeholders,
including the Government, the Legislative Council, District
Councils, the general public, staff, patients, and a wide range
of organisations and community groups.
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The HA's corporate governance structure and its relationships  FTEIRREE BHKEE ARENRETE

with major stakeholders are illustrated in the following diagram: BHHEMBEER

Director of Audit Hong Kong Government
EEER BBBUT
Approval of
Appointment of | appointment of
Conducting Value for Reporting | Advisin Chairman & | Chief Executive
Money Audits P Eig o ﬁng Members | (an ex-officio
#E TS ERE AR % (E5 ;| member)

RRE | SRR ETBER
(ERAE)

Reporting
FEE 3% Hospital Authority Board

BREERASE

External Auditor
SNERAXELED

Operations of Hospital Authority

B EERAEE

33 3
. 12 . Hospital Governing Regional Advisory
Conducting (2  Functional Committees i N
Audits =SZEE e
e GLELL EETLAEER EORNEAR
HEATERAT
Other
Functional Reporting Monitoring Staiﬁ?ﬁﬁer&
Reporting FE iR R patients,
B aefE ¥R staff,
Legislative
and District
Councillors,
media,
/ general public,
HA Advising ete.
Internal Chief Executive g HihiFp# -
Auditor & Executive BIAEA
AR Management ﬁ%g—‘éf&
E ] EERTHAR BEEEE
RITHEERE e -
DABALTE
® Communicate and Consult
Conducting Reporting Supervision ARRBHAER
Audits & =i ® Monitor and Review
EITBE B LR

e Details of HA's corporate governance structure as well as o HHEBERMNEREE  ULEEE
membership, terms of references and issues discussed at EHKNERE  BHESEMNIES
respective Committees are outlined in Chapter 1 “Corporate R AFRE—E [HET
Governance” and Appendix 1 to 6 of this Annual Report. Bl RMIER1E 6
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e In 2024-25, members of the HA Board (including co-opted o 2024-25 F[E - EQM)%KAFTEZ%

members) continued to participate actively in the discussion of (BPREIGEKE U EBR2EEZE
important matters in leading and managing HA: EREENERTENEESE :

B < 45

@ Number of meetings held . Average attendance rate

. 15 %
BREAERE 132 8%
e i 12 87%

# Note: Please refer to Appendix 1 of this Annual Report for the number of plenary meetings attended by individual Board Members during the year

i AEEREREFALEEBAS REHE2HAFRME 1

S

Board diversity EX AL =
e Membership of the HA Board is appointed by the Chief Executive o 1RiE (EBREEBIEH) ((BEBIF
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (HKSAR) Bl BERRGKEBBAEFER
under the Hospital Authority Ordinance (HA Ordinance). THRETBREEE® o 1 2025 F
As of 31 March 2025, the Board consisted of 28 members, 3A31H  KR&F28EKE B
comprising:
Chairman
(who is not a public officer) ‘..".‘.. Public officers
FE NBE
(TBAKE)
Principal officer
(HA Chief Executive) Non-public officers
FETHAE ES/N 3=
(BE R THER)

e To meet the functional needs of the Board, HA Board o BER/AGKERBETRBEERA -

Members belong to different professions and possess diverse BE\BZ TN BEEE - Kee - RE
expertise, skills, perspectives and experience. There are also Mgk MBRARBIRE KRB
members related to interests and voices of patients and staff TRFNENER KF&E= o
respectively.
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e The HA Board embraces the Government's “six-year rule” in
appointment of members so as to ensure a healthy turnover.
As of 31 March 2025, if taking aside seven position-tied
memberships*, the HA Board achieved 100% compliance
with the “six-year rule”, with 13 out of the 21 members (i.e.
62%) had no more than four years of service in the Board.

As of 31 March 2025, among all 28 members of the HA Board,
if taking aside seven position-tied memberships*, there were
seven female members, achieving 33% in gender diversity.

Female

ogid

<Byears F

M202543A31H BERAE 28
BREF - BT RECBRABA S D
M TR EE BLERIMEKE -
HE I % TTE 33% °

6/7%

Male
B

EERASER/EBMS [NFEH] B
SI(BNEK BEHIUANFEAELER) - N
BIRFRITMKEES - B 2025 F
3A31H ATsthtR2ERUE
SMEEKEE BEERAERER
BETREFEBIES - Mz 21 BK
e EEFE 13 A (B 62%) I F
HATN BB IY4F o

Having regard to the diversified background of Board Members,
induction meetings are organised for newly appointed
Members to provide an overview on healthcare services in
Hong Kong, HA's statutory functions, strategies, operations and
governance and the latest development of the HA, in addition
to briefings on specific areas or topics as and when required.
Members are also invited to join the Chief Executive (CE)'s
visits to public hospitals which enable them to familiarise and
keep up-to-date with public hospital operations and provide

valuable opportunity to interact with frontline staff.

Please refer to pages 4 to 7 of this Annual Report for the
appointment date and profession of each of the 28 Board

Members as of 31 March 2025.
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*Note: Including public officers, HA CE, and Deans of Faculty of Medicine / Faculty of Health and Social Sciences of universities
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Good corporate governance

68

The HA Board has promulgated the “Hospital Authority Board
—Code of Corporate Governance Practices” (the Code) which
sets out a range of principles and best practices for the HA
Board in relation to its authority, accountability, stewardship,
leadership, direction and control exercised in the HA. HA is
committed to attaining the highest standards of conduct in
discharging their duties. The Code is regularly reviewed with
references to the best practices of other organisations and
advice of Independent Commission Against Corruption (ICAC).
In 2024, the Code was updated, taking into consideration the
recommendations from ICAC, following a review of the Code
with reference to the updated version of ICAC's “Sample
Code of Conduct for Members of Public Bodies". A two-tier
declaration of interest reporting system is in place for Board
Members. Regular report of duty visit, entertainment, and
bestowing and receipt of gift of the Board and CE is prepared
for scrutiny by the Audit and Risk Committee. In 2024, for
streamlining purpose while ensuring the integrity of the
internal control process, a corporate approval mechanism and
workflow in handling applications for business travel outside
Hong Kong and acceptance of sponsorship by Board Members
and CE has been introduced.

As a statutory and publicly funded organisation, HA
respects and upholds the constitutional order, and all HA
staff must comply with all laws in force in Hong Kong,
including the requirements of the Basic Law of the HKSAR
of the People’s Republic of China, the Law of the People's
Republic of China on Safeguarding National Security in
the HKSAR, the Safeguarding National Security Ordinance
and other relevant laws for safeguarding national security
in the HKSAR. The HA Code of Conduct is an official
document of the HA, stating its commitment to ensuring the
ethical conduct and standard of its employees. It forms an
integral part of the HA rules and regulations with which an
employee must comply as part of the staff's employment
terms and conditions. It underscores HA staff's obligation to
deliver professional services for all patients equally without
discrimination, through a culture of honesty, integrity and
respect for each other. In conjunction with the codes of practice
of the respective professions guiding and applicable to the
staff, the Code of Conduct serves as the foundation for staff's
performance standards.
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Procedures are also in place to remind staff members to
make conscious effort to declare any actual or perceived
conflict of interests in any situations associated with their
discharge of duties, for instance, personal investments
and personal relationship with any job applicants, staff
members, professional bodies, suppliers or contractors to
ensure integrity. HA also formulates and implements its
whistleblowing policy to enable staff, patients and other
relevant parties, e.g. contractors, suppliers, service providers,
etc. to report their concerns about perceived misconduct,
malpractices or irregularities of a serious nature in HA services
and the activities undertaken by the staff members. The Audit
and Risk Committee and the Human Resources Committee
receive regular reports from the management and advise on
the related matters. HA makes every effort to protect the
whistleblowers from any unfair treatment or retaliation.
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Matters reserved for the Board

The HA Board has developed a formal schedule of matters
reserved for its decision in order to ensure that the direction
and control of the HA is specifically and demonstrably in the
hands of the Board. The “Schedule of Matters Reserved for
the Board” is subject to regular review in light of regulatory
changes applicable and the latest developments in the HA.
Delegated authority to executive management is granted by the
Board on specific functional areas such as human resources,
finance and procurement, taking into account the importance
of relevant policy and implication of decision, ranking of staff
concerned, and volume of operational work involved, etc.

Review of Board operation

The operation of the Board and its committees is reviewed from
time to time to ensure their operations are efficient and effective
whilst maintaining the Board's governance and accountability,
in particular having regard to its fiduciary duties and role as a
managing Board. Upon the review conducted in October 2024,
a basket of streamlining initiatives has been implemented to
enable the Board and its committees to operate in a more
efficient manner, contributing to HA's overall performance and
efficiency.

Self-assessment

70

The HA Board and its functional committees as well as HGCs
conduct annual self-assessment via a standard survey
guestionnaire which will be refined from time to time, having
regard to Members' views and the need to cater for the
evolving changes and the unique operating environment faced
by individual committees.

The Board highly values the self-assessment exercise for
identifying potential opportunities for further enhancing its
effectiveness in the future. Action plans are drawn up to
implement enhancements proposed by Members.
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High-level reforms

Facing the challenges of ageing population, increase of chronic
diseases and rising medical cost, the HA needs to undergo
fundamental reforms to maintain its sustainability to continue
provide high quality services to the community. The HA has
therefore in 2024-25 taken forward various reforms.

In July 2024, the HA Board set up the Review Committee on
the Management of the Public Hospital System in response to
several high-profile medical incidents at our hospitals, with a
view to enhancing patient safety, healthcare management and
organisational effectiveness. The Committee submitted its
report in September 2024 with a total of 31 recommendations
primarily focusing on strengthening governance, enhancing
accountability and fostering a culture of safety. HA management
has since been vigilantly taking forward these recommendations
with full completion by June 2025 as planned.

The HA Board has in December 2024 set up a high-level
Governance and Structure Reform Committee (Reform
Committee). Aside from the Chairman and CE of HA as ex-
official members, the Reform Committee has two high ranking
officials from the Health Bureau and five lay community
members. The Reform Committee is tasked to provide strategic
guidance, oversight, and reform advice on implementing
governance and structure reforms, so as to drive healthcare
sustainability, enhance service efficiency and patient safety.
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Strategic planning and annual planning

72

At the corporate governance level, the HA Board and its
committees, is responsible for giving leadership and strategic
direction, controlling the organisation, supervising the
executive management, and reporting on stewardship and
performance of HA. The HA Board has established systems
and process to direct and control HA's operations. Strategic
planning in HA plays an important role in providing the overall
direction to address key challenges and to ensure that HA's
operations were effective and efficient. Strategic Plan 2022-
2027 of the HA is the overarching document for guiding all
aspects of HA's planning and development within the five-year
period. It sets out the corporate-wide directions and strategies
for the organisation to pursue, and provides the basis on which
clinicians and executives develop and align their programme
initiatives in the annual planning process.

HA prepares an Annual Plan each year to support the strategic
goals and strategies outlined in the Strategic Plan. The Annual
Plan sets out key objectives, service priorities and programme
targets and provides a basis for detailed services, resources
and budget planning. Both the Annual Plan and the associated
budget, which are approved by the HA Board at the beginning
of each financial year, serve as an important management tool
for subsequent performance monitoring.
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Provide Smart Care
RUEESER

® Develop personalised care

BREACEE

® Build up telemedicine and telecare

EDEEERNEEEE

® Promote ambulatory care

HEABEEER

® Enhance community-based care

hnagtt B A A EE

* Empower patients for self-care

RABABRRER-ED

Implement alternative options for
specialist outpatient service

ETERPIRZ N NEBRRTE

Enhance and develop different
Public-Private Partnership options

IEMBREEQLEHIETE

Develop Smart Hospitals
ERESEKR

* Provide Artificial Intelligence
support for data-driven care

RBBETEEBRAEATERRIN

Develop smart ward, smart clinic
and smart pharmacy
BRREERE  EEYNEEHE
=

Roll out “Mobile Patient” initiatives

i [REHEA EE

Automate services via IT tools /
solutions and robotics

PUE SR T B A% A B2 9l
ETREEEL

Establish IT platforms to facilitate
operational efficiency

BYEANRTFEORAEENE

HA Strategic Plan
2022-2027

BEF 2022 & 2027 F

SRR

Planning Framework for 2024-25 (according to the HA Strategic Plan 2022-2027)
2024-25 FETAEETE (4% (2022 F 2027 FHW3 ) HIFE)

Nurture Smart Workforce
EEEEEXK

® Conduct long-term manpower
planning of healthcare staff

ETREBRANRE

e Enhance staff recruitment and
employment options

BEETHRBREBERG

® Foster staff's career prospects

RABFKANR

e Strengthen staff relations,
management and recognition

IRETER EEREF

® Drive Digital Workplace
HEATERE L TIER

® Reinforce staff training
programmes

B8 THIRE

® Facilitate staff to attend training

BN & T2 ML

v
A

Enhance Service Supply

1 INARFE L IE

® Implement Hospital Development
Plans

AT (BB et &)

® Bolster the capability of
healthcare facilities in meeting
demand

RABRRERZREERNED

* Work out a viable funding
arrangement with the Government

SRBUSHIE B TR = B
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Management and control EEREE
e HA has put in place performance management mechanisms ¢ AMERIZE (EERIEH) NETH

to ensure its accountability to the public for the management ERERE %T NUBRRZHEE A i"?’i =|

and control of the public hospitals system as required under E CBERRNY TRIEEEMEE

the HA Ordinance. The three major performance monitoring %)%:IEIKE’JE%—S%EEI,E:@?E :

tools in HA include:

O The Controlling Officer's Report of the annual Estimates of o (EFRIAERE) BREBEER
Expenditure for the Health Bureau, which sets out HA's key MNEAFHYTEE BYEERAR
activity targets and indicators in support of policy objectives LRERGHOBEBIZEM nT_LEI’\JI
related to public healthcare services; ETEREMNIEE

O Quantitative Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) covering O EEWMEERBREEZE O RER
three pillars, namely clinical service, human resources and KIRTE ~ ANWEREG = K&
finance, to identify areas for attention and drive service = - AEREZEE TS0 I H#
improvement; and BRGRE &

O Performance monitoring of funded programmes against o BMEENRBEER KREER
pre-set targets or deliverables formulated through the BAFTEREITERM B ZSKR -
annual planning exercise of the HA. EREBIEA MK o

KPI Monitoring and Reporting
FERRESEERRE

Internal External

Clinical PR B A IMEREEER

Service Corporate Level E&fr B2 f5 e
KPI reports

i PR AR 7%
iéﬁiﬁ#gg Medical Services

Development
Committee
(for Clinical Service KPI)

ERBEBRREESS

3 =z Quarterly
Human (BRRBRHEEERRIEE) Progress

Resources Review
KPI reports Human Resources - . Report
Committee Administrative & (to Health

%j% ;%ﬁ;ﬁ Directors’ (for HR KPI) Operational Meeting* Bureau)
x* == f N N
Mol ArEnzEE | BREZEAR Ak Sl
Prer (o EREERRES) R E

Finance Committee
(for Finance KPI)

Finance K EESY
KPI reports (MEEERBERZ)
B
FERBIEE

Cluster Level B¢48 B HE

Cluster Management Meetings

BREESH

*Note: KPI reports, presented to the Administrative & Operational Meetings, are accessible to the public on HA's website

i IERBESRREABERAGABERATERR & LHEBERBUHHARALEH
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Risk management

HA's Three-Tier Risk Hierarchy
BEERN=-ERREERE

Operational
Risks
EERE

Managing risk is an integral part of HA's overall approach to
good corporate governance. The Organisation-wide Risk
Management (ORM) Policy and Strategy is overseen and
approved by the HA Board. It demonstrates HA's commitment
to managing and continuously improving the risk management
process across HA. It provides a holistic and standardised
approach to risk management, incorporating both clinical
and non-clinical risks across HA, and further promotes risk
awareness across HA. HA adopts a “top down" and “bottom
up” approach in managing risk through HA's Three-Tier Risk
Hierarchy in the ORM framework.

Strategic Risks
REgHERR HA Strategic Plan

BERRMEE

HA Annual Plan
BERRBFI{EsEl
Major Project Plans

FEEAGE
Divisional Annual Plans

MM E R EF TS

Corporate Risks

g E R

Cluster Annual Plans
B EE TEstE
Hospital Annual Plans
B AFIEE
Departmental Annual Plans
BP9 A F TEET &

Top Down Inputs

BETMTER B4 - BRRIE R 8

Communication

AR

HA has established a risk governance structure for
identifying and reporting risks. It has designated the roles and
responsibilities for risk management in HA from the hospital,
Cluster and Head Office level through to the Audit and Risk
Committee and HA Board. Risk profiles are produced annually
by the Head Office and Clusters to identify the top risks across
major functions, both clinical and non-clinical. Based on their
risk profiles, major risks and challenges at the local level are
addressed by risk mitigation measures by Clusters and Head
Office Divisions. Additional resources for risk mitigations will
be sought through the annual planning process as appropriate.

Cluster / Hospital Project Plans

B EEE

REEEeBERENEEIRIBEL
PAISHBRN—IR - BERNEER
REBHNRVNREHEERASGER
Nt - RIREERB S ERAR K
SEUMCEREARBNRRERRE
HEAB RN R A EE RERK &
FEERAR T > HETTREME — R AR
EERN THERREHR -BER
RIFHEERREENERTH=ER
B @@dm [BLEmM N M BT
H] WEEREERR ©

HA Board Level
BERA®

-—>

HA Head Office Level
BERANRSER

Departmental
Project/
Process Level
HEBFIIEE/
BF

Bottom Up Inputs
BTmLEER

BERRY T —ERREARBIAM
7l R BEE g [ B - I 7 TE TR TE AR R
REE TRENACNEL - EPE
Bk BBNERER  UEFES
MEAREREZEGNEBERKNS - &
mERMGEEFEETARBRR -
w5 B EDPITE B AR K SR R R BE B
THORSRERE - WHEEHFIERE
) E B N DB - R BIEEE
HVAE AR TR I © S EBFITRAIEBEF T

YRRt 8| BREINER - SR EIEE ©
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Financial transparency

76

Under Section 10 of the HA Ordinance, annual financial
statements of the HA are prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. To ensure
transparency and accountability on the proper use of public
funds, these audited financial statements, together with the
independent auditor’s report, are submitted to the HA Board
for approval, and incorporated into the Annual Report for
tabling at the Legislative Council via the Secretary for Health
and posted onto the HA's website to be made publicly available.

Independent Auditor's Report and Audited Financial

Statements for this year are set out on pages 115 to 185 of
this Annual Report.
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Environmental
5= 4

The HA is committed to protecting the environment. Adhering to ~ E%E BHRERE » BT H GREEER
the “Environmental Policy Statement”, we strive to achieve thebest &5 ) EE RIiTHE i - BIREEELE
practicable environmental standards and practices throughout — B&AIfTHIIRRIZEMSTE] - BIRER
our operations, so as to contribute to the betterment of the  H{EHBERL - HFTE R BEE BHIRKE
environment. We are committed to reducing HA's carbon and water B « K @85 » A M SS/KMBEIRIE A4 o B8
footprints, as well as sewage and waste generation. In particular,as B BTE 2024 FHREESHEBRAREES
HA's electricity consumption accounted for around 3% of HK's total %7 3% » FIL L FIE SR Z E R A HE
electricity consumption in 2024, a multi-pronged approach has  fiEAE - U N AAFEEE BEHEIR
been adopted to reduce the consumption. The following are the key BRI &3 R 7 Y = BHE M MK »
environmental measures implemented and performance achieved

by the HA to promote environmental sustainability in the year.

Enhancing environmental governance IBREER
o To strengthen environmental management and formulate o AIRIREE ARG FHERENIR
holistic environmental strategies in HA, the Steering REE  BERKNUREEEBEZR
Committee on Environmental Management was formed, B8 HfMBeE:
assuming the below key responsibilities:
O Set out a holistic environmental strategy O HIEZEAIRIRIRAS
O Lead and drive the overall environmental agenda across HA O FENMMBEREBIRIZERE
o Define a framework for environmental management and staff O MEREBEEEREMEISEMESR
engagement
O Establish an organisation-wide mechanism to enhance the O BRVMEBEmAKE - LAmEEE
planning, monitoring and reporting of key environmental RIEEIRRRE - RS
targets
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Striving to achieve our goals

To align with the Government's “Hong Kong's Climate
Action Plan 2050", Carbon Neutrality has been integrated
as a target within the “Energy Management” principle of
HA's “Environmental Policy Statement”. A medium-to-long-
term roadmap has been formulated, targeting to achieve a
reduction of 15% to 20% in electricity consumption by 2035
and 30% to 40% by 2050.

HA signed the Government's 4T Charter in 2016 with a pledge
to cut energy consumption by 5% by 2023 (baseline against
2015). Through implementation of various energy-saving
measures, HA has already achieved 6.1% reduction in energy
consumption by 31 March 2023, exceeding the original target.
As of March 2025, the energy consumption reduction of
around 8% has been achieved.

Building green hospitals

The HA actively promotes environmental sustainability as a
corporate direction. From introducing green elements in daily
operations to adopting environmentally friendly designs in
new hospital projects, we have strived to contribute to carbon
neutrality and develop sustainable healthcare facilities.
Specifically, all Hospital Development Plan projects are
committed to achieving at least second highest rating (Gold)
certification under the Hong Kong Green Building Council's
Hong Kong Building and Environmental Assessment
Method (HK BEAM PLUS). This certification demonstrates
HA's dedication to environmental stewardship through adopting
green building standards and energy efficient building service
systems to create more sustainable and patient-centred
healthcare facilities.

FTVEEZE

EhiBE
AREERFREBNN(EBRRTHE
2050) @ RFPAEHAAEBERD GR
RBREE) P [EEERER] &
REP—EEZ - HMIGIE TH R
4B - B4E 2% 2035 £/ 2050 F£5

Jiﬁfl\ 15% Z 20% 1 30% = 40% HY
HEE&

EERN 2016 FHE T (4THE) -
TS BIZFE 2023 FRIEHAE 5% (M
2015 FREX) ‘%zﬁiﬁﬁ%lﬁﬁﬁ
i BN 2023 F 3 ARDKE
‘éT 6.1% MeERIEFE= ﬁ_iﬂﬁn—fm
BiZ - BZE 202553 A EHAET
#8%MBETRHFEER -

BERiraEh

BERBEEGREETHHESRENFE

BER  RABTEFETRESARR
*E%" maEF B ERER MERR
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Several newly constructed public hospitals have adopted more
energy-efficient water-cooled air-conditioning systems to
achieve around 20% more electricity savings compared to the
current air-cooled air-conditioning systems. While continuing
to implement high-efficiency innovative energy conservation
measures by following the successful deployment of a
renewable landfill gas driven combined heat and power
system at Alice Ho Miu Ling Nethersole Hospital (AHNH), HA
has further capitalised on the use of landfill gas to operate a
combined cooling, heat and power system in the North District
Hospital (NDH) expansion project. The facilities demonstrate
how HA utilises nearby renewable landfill gas through
proactive and innovative energy-saving initiatives to pursue
carbon neutrality. The systems reduce electricity demand
by approximately 2 800 000 kWh for AHNH (about 10 180
typical three-member household's average monthly electricity
consumption*) and projected 7 800 000 kWh for NDH (about
28 360 typical three-member household's average monthly
electricity consumption*) per annum.

*Note: Based on the monthly consumption of 275 kilowatt-hours (kWh) by a three-member household

it M EZARESAREE 275 E5tE

ZEFEAMEREAKIARLERE
ZoMLEBITHRASAES  AIEE
BN HAEE - BERFEHITS
EfRETa b BB NI R AT X
ERKIER [ERBERS] 1% 1t
REEPTIEEIBEMESIA R HE =5
HEL] - B AT HEEES
AHARBHEE WARMEE - HBRE
REERBERERAIFREN AR
BARER BAOBBHRAMMEZ R
HEFASRAEEBRMAYERIITE
Epr At R bR A A E4) 2800000
TEE (410180 B = AKEEAF
HYREE*) B 7800000 TR
(4928360 A= AREEAFHAE

E*> °

==8
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Energy saving

HRRER
4 A

==l=]==During 2024-25, HA has launched the replacement project for 15 chillers. With the
measurement and verification of chiller replacement projects made since 2018, as of
: l : March 2025, the accumulated saving of electricity consumption per annum was around:

7£2024-25FF - BERCRMAER 1SS KEMANTRE - 5 201842 - iR/ /KIgAETRIEE 08
EMRE BE2025F 38 BFENRFEEEN

kKWh About 145 400 typical three-member household's
40 0 0 0 00 0 TR = average monthly electricity consumption*
i 4145 400 A= AXEE A FHAEE*

J

HA continued to install intelligent ALl 43 public hospitals and
LED luminaires in various the HA Building joined the
hospitals and buildings to save Government’s “Energy Saving
energy and reduce replacement Charter 2024" to promote
and maintenance costs. By March energy efficiency and energy saving.
2025, various projects of intelligent
LED luminaires being completed so far have EEHASHRAUBRLBERREMAT K
provided accumulated saving of electricity Jﬁ‘EI’J<<2024 FEHROE) HBERAER
consumption per annum around: BIAIEEIR ©

EERFERSBRMAELKERLLEDE
B UESmEgR ERMEERE - BHE
202553 A - BB EBELED B AR B Rt The Retro-Commissioning (RCx)
BFEHEREEN : Energy Saving studies for HA

hospitals / buildings have been
kWh == commenced progressively and
5 500 000 FRE relevant works were in progress.
By March 2025, the completed RCx works have

provided accumulated saving of electricity
consumption per annum around:

N

About 20 000 typical three-member
= household's average monthly electricity
consumption™

#120000 A=-AREEAFIHEE" " N
BERMEERER / KNEFR EHRRR] 58

MRELEBERBTIE - HE2025F3A ' E
TRH [EFRE] TIREZ2ASFHERE
=4

2 200 000+

About 8 000 typical three-member
= household's average monthly electricity
consumption*

#8000 fE=AXEEAFHREE"

N J

*Note: Based on the monthly consumption of 275 kilowatt-hours (kWh) by a
three-member household

i A E=ARESARER 25 EFE
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HA has installed solar panels across existing and new healthcare facilities, including the
Operating Theatre Block of Tuen Mun Hospital, Kwong Wah Hospital Phase 1 Building, North
District Community Health Centre, and Hospital Authority Supporting Services Centre,
contributing annual electricity generation capacity of approximately:

BERCERARFNEBRRETZRAGRER  EFSRLMBRFTMENE  BEERS -
HIRE - R REES O %F%%TIE)%SE%HH%EPIU BLNGRERBFAIELEEND

kWh About 1 340 typical three-member household's
370 0 0 0 , = average monthly electricity consumption*

(] @, HA has actively participated in other stakeholders' energy saving efforts. HA enrolled
in the Feed-in Tariff (FiT) Scheme for solar photovoltaic systems installed across its
’ hospitals. This scheme allows HA to export a portion of the electricity generated to the
grid, resulting in additional rebates. Moreover, HA actively participated in the Power
Company's Peak Demand Management Scheme, which focuses on reducing electricity consumption
during peak hours—-particularly in air-conditioning and lighting systems. Some hospitals also
conducted energy audits to identify opportunities for energy savings. Additionally, HA has leveraged
CLP Power Hong Kong Limited's Eco Building Fund and The Hongkong Electric Company Limited's
Smart Power Building Fund to implement projects aimed at further improving energy efficiency. HA
has also enrolled in special rebate schemes for gas boilers and special gas tariff for dual-fuel boilers
supported by the Hong Kong and China Gas Company Limited (Towngas) across hospitals.

EERBEEZEHEMIFNENSRIE - BERE TNERES2MTE ARG RASH - BEE
srEl - BB ETE ? TEENESENEREAEEN RBERTREINEEL - thoh BE
BMEGRZ2EENARAN [REFBRER] 8 BEZEMERER FHESEZANMBHRRH
H ABREAESSEFROEER - PO B EGEITRRES AR AIRI AR BE R 7 - BERF
FERPESNAERIAN ERFES | REBERERAAN [EERAEEFES ] #H1T&
BRERUANEER - 3 BAPERRBRATHLOMRRE L ERARERRBAS DS
BT NE B ©
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Green procurement

The HA has laid down the direction and guidance in the
“Procurement and Materials Management Manual” that
hospitals / departments are required to take into account
environmental considerations when procuring goods and
services. When involving in the acquisitions of goods,
equipment, products, materials and services, HA staff are
reminded to make reference to the “Reference Guide on
Green Procurement” which covers the general principles
and practices that should be considered in the procurement
process in order to reduce environmental impact.

In taking forward hospital projects, we design and build the
hospitals as green buildings to the highest level practicable in
a cost-effective and efficient manner.

In assessing tenders, HA has been following the Government's
practice to incorporate the direction of ESG as part of HA's
procurement goals and good practices.

Compliance with environmental regulations

82

HA ensures compliance with Hong Kong's Waste Disposal
(Clinical Waste) (General) Regulation by deploying colour-
coded bins and bags for precise clinical waste segregation,
complemented by secure sharps containers. Collection
rounds are distinctly separated from domestic waste, utilising
dedicated storage areas and licensed collectors who transport
waste to the government-operated Chemical Waste Treatment
Centre. HA hospitals hold valid registered waste producer
licenses and diligently track waste weight for full transparency.
A comprehensive manual guides staff, while regular updates
ensure outreach services comply with regulatory exemptions
for safe waste transport. Through rigorous audits, ongoing
staff training, and regular drills, HA maintains stringent
environmental and public health standards, promoting
sustainable waste management practices across its extensive
network of public hospitals.

HA supports sustainable healthcare practices and reduces
medication waste via introducing staged medication supply
and reducing supply of “as needed” medication in phases since
March 2025. Clinical waste includes medication waste such as
unused or expired medications. Promoting rational use of drugs
and patient education on medication management supports
sustainable healthcare practices, as a key step towards a
sustainable environment and community.
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Waste reduction and recycling initiatives in 2024-25

e Collected over 6 100 tonnes of recyclables, including waste

papers, plastics, metals, glass bottles and food waste

e Delivered over 7.3 tonnes of food waste daily to various
government treatment facilities, including Organic Resources
Recovery Centre Phase 1 and 2 (0-PARK1 and O-PARK2), Food
Waste / Sewage Sludge Anaerobic Co-digestion Trial Scheme
at Sha Tin and Tai Po, in order to raise food waste treatment
capacity and alleviate the pressure of landfills. Meanwhile, the
remaining hospitals continued using decomposers to convert

food waste into liquid fertiliser.

e Piloted innovative “Food TranSmarter” food waste pre-
treatment system, funded by Environment and Conservation
Fund, at Tung Wah Group of Hospitals Wong Tai Sin Hospital
and Tung Wah Group of Hospitals Fung Yiu King Hospital,
liquefying food waste into slurry for more hygienic and

efficient transportation to O-PARKIL.

e Continued to implement source reduction measures and

offered low-carbon menus in multiple hospitals

2024-25 F R EE & B W B T

Elyg 2% 6 100 B - BIEER - 2

BREXE 7.3 WERIZERA
EHRREERE  2iEa%ERRDIK
R0 (FE—HARE —H) (0-PARKLK
O+-PARK2) &AL A B K K& &
& /5 RBREBL AR E - URA
BRIBRIRRAVAE 11 - WORKHEE R A B
7 R4 45 1 T eA M HS B R b
BRI -

RE=TEARNER MRE=ITSE
WMERE (REKBAREES]E
B BT T EHBER] FHREERER
& BREISIRIEIEER 0-PARKL « 12
FHEGRW R R EEIZAE -

B TTIRSROREE RN & B iR it
ERRKE
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Going paperless

BEEMAL

Clinical and patient services

i PR B 8 A BR 7S

“Result Screening” mobile app
[t REGE | EFAE
Doctors could view laboratory and radiology

results on mobile devices, improving the review
processes

BAAERESEE FEFR R EMGTHRE - &
BRERF

Saved over in the year G RN &TA& ¥l

9 400 000

sheets of paper FR4%

“eConsent” mobile app
[FAEFEAZE | EFRER

Patients could sign consent forms on tablets

WARTEFREM L ZERES

Saved about in the year FFETE 4

8 200 000

sheets of paper R 4%

“GCRS-STAR" system
[ EEEXREH (GCRS-STAR) | Z#:

The services eliminate handwritten records to
improve the traceability of specimens through
the use of technology and the integration

of clinical workflows. During the pilot
implementation in Tin Shui Wai Hospital and
Queen Mary Hospital

BEABRBFRAERZHRESBKIERRE I
RFZECE: - RSEZEAN BT - RFSEKX
IKEEE Kﬁﬂi%ﬁﬁ@ﬁm“tﬂﬁ;ﬁﬁ

Saved about &4 47

3 640

sheets of paper 3R4%
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“GCRS-PLUS"” system
[ GCRS-PLUS | ##:
Healthcare staff could arrange blood tests and

laboratory tests on mobile devices, enhancing the
efficiency and accuracy of the processes

BEABERBERE ERPmM R LERIAR - 12
FHERERIZ AR N S

Saved about in the year FFNETE 4

12 400 000

sheets of paper & 4%

“HA Go” mobile app
[HA Go | FEf 2=

Users can now opt out from receiving paper hills

RPIRE R TR WA RRE

“Electronic Medical Certificate”
[EFELFEZ]
Patients could view and save the certificates

via the HA mobile app “HA Go" and save
papers

AR BEERRDEMRRER [HA Gol &
RFEFEXH - B AR

Saved over in the year FF RN &T& %l

86 000

sheets of paper GR4%

Paperless ECG

[ oEE ]

The system automates the upload of ECG images,
enabling the storage and access of ECG records
electronically

FZoaH tELEETG - HOSERLHEAINE
T AFER

Saved over in the year fF N EI&

330 900

sheets of paper 5R#4%



Administrative operation

THEE

“HA eForm” system
[HAREE | 74

Paper request forms in hospitals could be
digitalised with this new product, moving
towards the goal of paperless wards

RERERRBERBERNFTTA -
BB ERREER(C

Saved about in the year FREIE %

232 500

sheets of paper 5R4%

Team collaboration platform “HA Team”
[HA Team | BE % 1EF &

It incorporates various products including
“HA Meeting”, “HA Drive", "HA TeamShare”
and “HA Workgroup”, enabling effective
collaboration, file storage and sharing, thus
reducing the amount of printing. Since piloted
in March 2022

4 [HA Meeting J  [HA Drive ] +

[HA TeamShare | 1 [ HA Workgroup | &%
BEm  REBGE  XHRENLE B
BIED o B 2022 F 3 AFASTIAZR

Stored over B 17 BB

5853000

documents 17X

Saved over in the year FREIEE

Electronic signature solution “HA Sign”
[HA Sign | EF#EZ4

It enables paperless workflow in procurement,
recruitment, payment claims and more

EHERREE - B RN ERIEEA L
Saved about in the year FFEIE 4

158 800

sheets of paper 5R#4%

Digital human resources tools
ADEREFIA

The digital platforms products that have been
developed and launched in 2024-25 have achieved
the following:

Over 19 000 applicants claimed allowance
through “eAllowance” system per month

Over 240 000 electronic sick leave applications
have been processed. “eSick Leave" has
supported over 490 100 electronic sick leave
applications since its launch

Over 90 000 staff members applied leave
through “eLeave” system

Over 2 700 newly joined nurses, doctors, and
serving Executive Assistants, Patient Care
Assistants and Operation Assistants accepted
and signed eContract. “eContract” has supported
over 7 500 electronic contracts since its launch

7 2024-25 FEFZE N ERNE ?I/E:HX SUATRER |
F AR 19000 RETFE A [EF280] ZaE
2BERL
BRIZEBE 240 000 AE TREBEE: [ERER]
EHEH AR ERIE RS 490 100 (AE R RHED
BB 90000 ZETE:E [ETHRE] RFHH
BEE
B8 2700 LT ABELT - BA NIREITIG)
R ARGENIE MBI E R AEIG R EE

WEFEHIER @H‘?i f;';? %)) BHEHAZR
ERIEHEA 7 500 (ETFEH

Saved about &K #

30 800 000 z=-= 3 690 =

*Note: One tree produces about 8 333 sheets of papers. Reference: "Data, Statistics, and Useful Numbers for Environmental Sustainability”.
5 - — AR A RUEL) 8 333 SR - 2E &K} : (Data, Statistics, and Useful Numbers for Environmental Sustainability) ©
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Reducing the water footprint in HA

Following government practice of “Tips for Saving Water”,
HA continuously promotes water saving strategies such as
implementing touchless and water saving devices to reduce
water use while improving hygiene. In terms of facilities
management, smart early water leakage detection system is
being extensively launched for prompt identification of water
leakage. Based on the ongoing water efficiency practices,
HA has achieved 1.7% reduction in water consumption in
2024 when compared to the 2015 basis. More signage will
continue to be posted around hospitals to promote water-
saving practices and encourage engagement from patients and
visitors. The implementation of water conservation practices
will lead to water saving and contribute to a more sustainable
environment in our public healthcare facilities.

Achievements and awards

86

All new public hospital projects are designed according to the
standards of Gold ratings under the BEAM Plus certification of
the Hong Kong Green Building Council, with the goal of attaining
the Gold or higher Platinum rating. The following hospital
projects have achieved Gold or Platinum rating in 2024-25:

North District Community Health Centre
(Provisional Platinum)

bt B
(EESRERA)
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Hospital Authority Supporting Services Centre
(Provisional Platinum)

BB IR BSIRREH O
(EEREEH)

Redevelopment of Queen Mary Hospital (Phase 1)
(Provisional Gold)

Rk EEEE
(BEEZAR)



HA has received several awards in 2024-25 in recognition of o
its outstanding performance in the design and operation of

energy-efficient buildings, which include:

Organiser

Ei T

CLP Power Hong Kong Limited
REBHERLT

The Hong Kong
Management Association

EARAEEEERS

Master Insight (Ml) and
the Research Centre for ESG of
The Hang Seng University (HSU)
of Hong Kong
HNRERREBEEKRE
(184 K2 )ESG FAFEH

American Society of Heating, Refrigerating
and Air-Conditioning Engineers (ASHARE)
Hong Kong Chapter
XERE WLHEZRAIEMES
§,%/'\ﬁ-

American Society of Heating,
Refrigerating and Air-Conditioning
Engineers (ASHARE)
XEHRE WLHRZRAIRMES

- B 75 B &8
ar £ |7
B b 17 5 E e are vl
HOSPITAL -
AUTHORITY o *'““

EQ.—ﬁ

KEZIRREE  URTEBER
EuqurﬂgLﬁﬁﬁE ST EMF MR
I o £ 2024-25 FREBEIARL -

Award Achieved
RIFZIE

Energy Management Grand Award 2024
2024 FERREESMAR

2024 Hong Kong Sustainability Award
Certificate of Excellence (Large Organisation Category)
2024 BEERFEFEERAR
S (KEKEAR)

MI x HSU ESG Award 2024
ESG Leadership Award —
Chairman of HA Mr Henry Fan Hung-ling
HRARxBEKE ESC K 2024
ESC S AER — BERTFEHEREE

ASHARE Region Xlll Technology Award 2024
XERE  WLHETATERMEBEELZ=E
2024 FRE KR

ASHRAE Technology Award 2025:

Society Level — Honorable Mention

KERE - WSHEEFTRRME
2025 FERHE AT — 'ﬁEJ%’ﬁF

Etw

CI“\
BAGUIO
p
wmnn
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e A number of HA hospitals and institutions (including HA Head o
Office) were given the below Green Certificates issued by the
Hong Kong Green Organisation Certification, recognising our BERE  UBERMERRAER
environmental efforts and performances:

O Carbon Reduction Certificate: 36 units

O WastewiSe Certificate: 39 units

FribRe o hg 2
Hong Kong
Gireen Organisation Certification

%
LHREKH -

O FAKEE : 36
o JMEEFEE : 39

P iEHE 0 B2
Hong Kong
Green Organisation Certification

SHBERBRAME(REBER
MER)ESEEREREREN

D& i & N e
WastewiSe Carbon Reduction
—Centificate— Certificate
0 0
B : S A

Green investment

88

To support the Government in consolidating Hong Kong's
position as a green and sustainable finance hub regionally
and internationally, HA has integrated this factor into HA's
investment strategy and continued to make green investment
in 2024-25. In addition to green bonds, investment in green
deposit was also first made during the year. Proceeds of these
green investments are applied by the issuers or the bank to
finance projects including green buildings, renewable energy,
clean transportation, water and wastewater management as
well as other green infrastructures. HA will continue exploring
opportunities in green investment with a view to delivering both
positive environmental impact and investment return.
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Social
e

Carrying the core value of "people-first", HA always places
patients, staff and the community partners at the forefront of all
our endeavours. Through our unwavering dedication to improve
the quality and safety of healthcare services, we leave no stone
unturned in our quest to deliver exceptional care to the public and
safeguard their health. Various major measures were implemented
to fulfill corporate responsibilities and meet the diverse needs of
different stakeholders in the year.

Patient-centric services
LR A & AN AR 7%

Upholding the patient-centred care ethos, HA has
adopted a multi-pronged approach to enhance the
quality and efficiency of healthcare services, so
as to cater the needs of patients and optimise their
healthcare journey.

BEREBUABASTNRGFS  2E8E MESR
BEZMBE - AR m AT EME IR 2
e -

BERET [UARE] W LMEE - &
BA BIRHEBHATENZL - &
B HEABERENERNLE - BE
Free /T RIEHEE 8RR - TEAR
2f - BEREFAR/BITHRELEEME
MimE TRFBNEFE - #1772 HER
=
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Expediting smart care to empower patients in
managing own health

90

By leveraging the HA mobile app “HA Go" as the digital front
door of our services, HA has continued to expedite the use
of smart care throughout the entire patient journey. With the
ongoing development of “HA Go", patients and their carers are
able to manage their own health at fingertips, from managing
appointments, tele-consultation, e-payment, drug delivery to
rehabilitation training, etc.:

O Further enhancing the telehealth services with around
24 000 allied health telehealth attendances, including
outpatient and community services, were provided in 2024-25

O Further enhancing the medication delivery service to provide
a new option of the community collection service from
September 2024. Patients attended specialist outpatient
clinics, general outpatient clinics, discharged from hospitals
and attended Accident and Emergency (A&E) services
of all HA hospitals and clinics can choose to pick up the
HA-dispensed medications at more than 100 community
collection points. Community pharmacists will provide
medication counselling when patients collect their
medications in order to enhance medication safety

O Strengthening support for carers in managing patients’
health by launching “Family Touch” function which keeps
carers updated on patient's operation status, allowing joint
attendance of patients and carers during tele-consultation
and tele-training sessions and facilitating carers’ access to
patient’s laboratory and radiology results

O In support of enhanced patient experience and environmental
protection, HA has implemented various electronic payment
(ePayment) channels for the settlement of fees and charges.
Patients can now pay through the “Pay HA" module in “"HA
Go" or the electronic kiosks which are quicker and more
convenient than making payment at the shroff office. In
particular, payment can be made anywhere anytime for “Pay
HA". Besides, popular ePayment means are provided for
patients’ choice such as credit card, Octopus and electronic
wallets.
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O Starting from January 2025, patients who make payment at
electronic kiosks for hills and discharge payment may select
to receive electronic receipt via “Pay HA" module in “HA Go”
instead of collecting paper receipt. By March 2025, around
90% of HA's fee receipt transactions were settled through
electronic payment, about 50% of which were handled
through “Pay HA" and electronic kiosks.

O Streamlining the registration process so that registration
can be made online via “iAM Smart” and “eHealth”

HA was awarded “The Ombudsman's Awards 2024 -
Information Technology Application and Creativity Award”
by Office of The Ombudsman to recognise its commitment and
efforts in exploring the use of innovative methods and technology
to enhance service quality and improve patient experience. The
Ombudsman commended that HA kept improving the “HA Go"
App and extended the coverage of the medication delivery service
to provide more efficient and convenient services to members
of the public, especially the elderly persons and mobility-
handicapped who can now choose to have the drugs delivered to
their prescribed address.

AWARDS

2 1%

As of March 2025, “HA Go"” was recorded with:
HZ2025F 3 B ' [HAGol B85

over B33

3 800 000

downloads
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Enhancing healthcare efficiency and patient
experience through digital innovation

92

The Hospital Command Centre (HCC) initiative demonstrates
our commitment to operational excellence and high-quality
patient care by leveraging real-time data to optimise resource
allocation and patient flow across our network.

Key achievements (2022 - 2024):

O

Reduced patient waiting times: Streamlined admission
processes through the HCC have significantly improved
patient experience. The proportion of patients waiting over
four hours for admission from emergency departments was
reduced from around 12% (Q4 2022) to around 3% (Q3 2024).

Increased operational efficiency: Enhanced discharge
planning has expedited bed turnover, improving capacity for
new patients. The rate of medical discharges before 1:00 pm
rose from around 19% (Q4 2022) to around 25% (Q3 2024)
across all acute hospitals.

Optimised resource utilisation: The integration of disparate
data into a centralised dashboard provides actionable
insights, allowing for superior management of assets and
personnel. This has led to a 9.5% reduction in Non-emergency
Ambulance Transfer Service vehicles idle time, lowering
emissions and improving service efficiency.

This strategic digital transformation, fully implemented across
all 17 acute hospitals by Q3 2024, underscores our dedication
to responsible governance and creating positive social impact
through innovative, data-driven solutions.
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Governance of data security and privacy:
proactive cyber resilience initiatives

Protecting patients’ privacy and safeguarding sensitive data
are fundamental to HA's operational integrity and public trust.
In response to the evolving cyber threat landscape, HA has
implemented a multi-faceted strategy to reinforce our cyber
resilience and ensure the robust protection of all patient data.

O Enhancing control framework by promulgating and

incorporating “Privacy by design” into system and product
development, and regularly reviewing and strengthening
patient data protection schemes and access control
framework to mitigate privacy risks

Regularly refreshing training updates with a new refresher
e-course published, to promote HA staff's understanding
and abilities to protect patient data privacy, identify emerging
security and privacy risks and respond to incidents

Executing cybersecurity strategy with various security
measures including strengthened internal security controls,
advanced security detection and response for information
technology infrastructure, revamped security management
processes as well as intelligence-led detection and response
capabilities to deal with the ever increasing cyberattacks

BEHRZRIEBEE . BiBRER
HEE

BE RB N RERALEMEBREEIE
ARES, 2 BHERERAREE - |
HTENRENBRLERE  BER
EEMEZ KR - AL ERLE
W HERPTE WA BUR SRR ZHORE

o RAEEER  HH (BRG]

3 1% A FR G E fn B R 3B
12 OEHImE AInsR m A B RHMR
ERRETIIF R G2 - SUREA
LI

EHEFN TR ML LERE
B MEREIAERERAILE
Bl %2 RALFERR - AR EEIEAR
e EIERE 2

BERAKRT2RE  RNZERY
Bt BIEMNEAEREEE B
BRI ERREE TR T E
BN EHRE  RIATRLEERF
AR B R E )RR K T 8

VARE{S B 358 2R R AR T B
~
%

Environmental, Social and Governance Report Zi5 ~ & & GRS 93



Commitment

to patient safety and risk

management excellence

94

HA maintains an unwavering commitment to advancing patient
safety through a proactive, system-wide approach to risk
management. Our initiatives are designed to foster a culture of
continuous learning, transparency, and collaboration, aligning
with our core values of accountability and clinical excellence.

Key initiatives include:

O

Releasing the “Annual Report on Sentinel and Serious
Untoward Events”: This comprehensive report provides an
in-depth analysis of sentinel events (SE) and serious untoward
events (SUE), offering valuable insights and lessons learned.
The findings support healthcare professionals in refining
systems and workflows, ultimately enhancing daily clinical
practices and safety outcomes

Publishing the “Hospital Authority Risk Alert (HARA)":
Published quarterly, HARA highlights SE and key SUE while
offering actionable recommendations for enhancing patient
safety. By sharing this publication with both staff and the
public, we promote transparency and encourage collective
learning across the healthcare system

Engaging staff and stakeholders: In addition to public-facing
initiatives, efforts to engage and empower staff are emphasised
through dedicated forums and targeted training programmes:

o

Staff forums on SE & SUE: These forums provide a bi-annual
platform for frontline colleagues to discuss selected SE and
high-priority SUE in-depth. The sessions focus on sharing
lessons learned, exploring strategies for safety enhancement,
and fostering collaboration among frontline colleagues

Corporate-Wide Root Cause Analysis (RCA) Training: This
intensive training programme is targeted at staff responsible
for investigating clinical incidents. Participants are equipped
with the tools and methodologies needed to identify root
causes, develop effective recommendations, and implement
corrective actions. External RCA experts, human factors
specialists, and patient group representatives are invited
to provide diverse perspectives. The inclusion of patient
feedback and multi-disciplinary approaches reinforces the
importance of addressing systemic issues that contribute to
risks. This ensures that improvements are not only reactive
but also preventive and sustainable.
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Financial assistance to needy patients

To ensure that no one will be denied adequate medical
treatment due to lack of means, financial assistance is
provided to needy HA patients via the medical fee waiver
mechanism, the Samaritan Fund (SF), and the Community
Care Fund Medical Assistance Programmes (CCF). HA has
also continuously strengthened its support to needy patients
through enhancing the above safety nets.

The Government and HA, from time to time, review the
coverage and means test mechanism of SF and CCF, with
the aim of providing financial assistance to needy patients for
specified self-financed items under the safety net coverage.

in 2024-2025

\/

BEREEBEEMEERRS

The scope of the HA Drug Formulary was widened to cover
more drugs with accumulated scientific evidence on clinical
safety and efficacy, so as to benefit more patients. A self-
financed drug was repositioned as Special Drug for managing
respiratory diseases, while the therapeutic applications of ten
Special Drugs were extended for treating renal, musculoskeletal
and joint, cardiovascular, respiratory diseases, diabetes mellitus
and cancer. In addition, another drug class for treating cancer
was repositioned as Special Drug with therapeutic application
extended.

Total SF and CCF approved applications
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Patient engagement and empowerment

96

Collecting patient feedback on HA service development and
Annual Plans through the Patient Advisory Committee

Completion of the 9" batch of Patient Partnership in Action
programme (PPIA) training course and alumni gathering. This
programme is designed for patient groups representatives
to enhance their understanding of HA and local healthcare
system so as to strengthen the relationship between healthcare
professionals and patients. Over 200 PPIA graduates are now
contributing to patients and HA at various fronts

Organising medical social collaboration seminars to foster
collaboration between clinical teams and community partners.
An example included a cross-sectoral end-of-life care seminar
in promulgating dying in place in residential care homes for the
elderly with over 1 000 enrollments
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Launched a new series for patient empowerment seminars -
“Smart Patient Series” to enhance practical knowledge on
disease management and self-care from patients’ perspective.
The first series in 2024-25 comprised four talks themed
“Unveiling Medication Mysteries” covering medication-related
topics including interactions between Chinese and western
medicines, use of antibiotics, Diabetes Mellitus and breast cancer
treatment, reaching over 2 000 participants including over 500
onsite audiences
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Driving service improvement using patients’ feedback:
The result of the “Patient Experience Survey on Inpatient
Service 2023" revealed a positive overall rating with 91%
of the respondents rating 7 or above (along a scoring scale
of 0-10) and an average score of 8.1. For further service
enhancement, HA will prioritise its efforts in strengthening
compassionate care communication and provision of
information to patients / carers for better self-care. New
proactive short surveys via “HA Go" were piloted to timely
collect patients’ experience on their specialist outpatient
attendance and use of functions of "HA Go".
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Enhancing volunteer services with concerted efforts of
Patient Resource Centres (PRCs), volunteers and community
organisations such as supporting stroke patients' rehabilitation
along their patient journey from hospitals to community,
and mobilising volunteering support from corporate staff
via centralised coordination of corporate-wide volunteer
collaboration to support festive concern visits to patients and
various hospital events. The total volunteer service hours in
2024-25 exceeded 405 000 hours

Strengthening mutual support among patients and helping
patients to better understand disease management and
treatment through the collaboration of HA Health InfoWorld
and PRCs with over 200 patient groups.

Conducting Patient Group Forums to engage patient groups on
subjects including the HA Drug Formulary, SF and CCF Medical
Assistance Programmes, with around 100 patient group
representatives joining the forums
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Completed revamp of the HA Smart Patient website
to improve user experience and allow easier access to
information of disease management, caring tips, healthcare
and community and patient empowerment
activities with an aim to empower patients and their carers
on disease management and self-care skills. Since 2009, the
Smart Patient website recorded more than 68 000 000 hit
counts

resources,
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Supportthe medical needs of Hong Kong citizens
residing in the GBA

e Through the Pilot Scheme for Supporting Patients of the

Hospital Authority in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area (GBA), eligible Hong Kong citizens residing in
the GBA are able to receive subsidised consultation services
at the University of Hong Kong-Shenzhen Hospital, sparing
them the tiring journeys between the Mainland and Hong Kong.
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Nurturing smart workforce
EEEEEK

People are at the heart of healthcare. HA therefore
remains steadfast in nurturing and sustaining a
capable smart workforce, with its unfaltering efforts
to attract and retain staff, as well as to strengthen
staff's professional development.

AT REERBEHZL - BE R RS MEEE
A AREEBTHERER  MEFHESNES
Ell

Manpower situation A L EFAR R

 The total manpower of HA (number of full-time equivalent staff) e HE2025F 3 A31H EBERA
is 94 396* as of 31 March 2025. We strive to providing fair, ilm 57 94 396* - RMBHRMEA
equal and inclusive work environments, promoting equal s AFNERNIERE  ThiiE
employment opportunities for all individuals, irrespective of ﬁ% BU%E - MR - F# - REMNR
their race, nationality, gender, age, family status, religion and THEESR  RFMEBARMBIEEIE
other background factors. e -

Manpower distribution*

AF D™
By gender By age
EMER RER
Aged
Aged above 60
below 40 60 BxLA
), 40 AR
Male 5%
43 814 0865
28051 ] persons A persons .
persons A Female %%
66 345
persons A
e
Aged 40-60
40-60 5%
44717
persons A

o For detailed manpower situation of HA, please refer to s BEERMFMAAFMRATERAE R
Appendix 11 of this Annual Report Beéx 11

*Notes:

1. The manpower figures are calculated on full-time equivalent basis including permanent, contract and temporary staff in HA. Individual figures may not
add up to the total due to rounding.

2. Full-time equivalent for temporary part-time staff is calculated based on their actual working hours starting from January 2024,

*i:

1L ATFRIZAZBAR]GF  BEEERFHE  ANKBEREE - ARNELANBER - SREFEMRAIETEREL -
2. B2024F1AE FRZBASNRGREE TATHERROMERD THEHEGE -
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Ensuring manpower sustainability

Sustainable manpower is crucial to the effectiveness of delivering
quality medical services. HA is committed to investing in human
capital through training and development, enhancing staff career
prospects and well-being, ensuring a safe and healthy working
environment and attracting talent across the globe, aiming to build
a robust pool of diversified and competent workforce.

Training and development

e The Hospital Authority Academy was established for
consolidating the current five corporate training institutes
under HA to enhance training programme credentials and
offer appropriate structured training to staff in support of
HA's service and development needs

e Ensuring Mandatory Training compliance: All staff members
were required to complete essential regular training in
critical areas including “Infection Control”, “Fire Safety”,
“Data Privacy and Security”, “Case Sharing on Personal Data
Privacy Protection” and “Cybersecurity Awareness”. The total

attendance in 2024-25 reached over 380 000

¢ Understanding national security, national development and
strategies: HA strengthens staff understanding of national
security, the country's policy objectives and development by
providing structured national education studies, with a view to
enhancing their sense of national identity. These initiatives have
connected with over 250 HA management and senior executives
through seminars and visits, and the total number of participants
in interactive online quizzes and e-learning resources reached
over 47 000

e To enhance staff awareness and understanding of the Code of
Conduct, promotion and trainings on the HA Code of Conduct
were conducted via various channels
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Promoting a culture of inclusiveness: HA cultivates
a respectful and inclusive environment by investing in
comprehensive training on equal opportunities, anti-
discrimination, people of diverse race, harassment prevention
and holistic care.

Empowering staff via digital learning: The HA elearning
Centre offers 1 100 e-courses, marking an increase of 120%
compared to last year. In addition to desktop computers,
mobile learning via myHR App recorded over 100 000 monthly
accesses, providing anywhere, anytime learning. The content
covers professional knowledge, communication skills, language
training, teamwork, medical technologies and more.

Strengthening the training for management staff, including
enriching the training series for Chief of Services, organising
a series of webinars on management, and continuing the
leadership programme by IVEY Business School

o WEHBMNL BEREBEEMMNIE
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Enhancing career pathway

102

Cultivating future leaders: HA strengthens its leadership
pipeline  through targeted succession planning and
comprehensive development initiatives including the Hospital
Authority Executive Leadership Programme, structured local
executive development programmes, and personalised senior
executive coaching.
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¢ Increasing the number of Resident Trainee posts
and enhancing promotion opportunities for
Residents and Associate Consultants

ENERZINEEROLEBE  LARERBELM
BIREHE A EMEAKE

¢ Increasing the number of Nurse Consultants and
Associate Nurse Consultants to strengthen the
career ladder for nursing staff, and continuing the
provision of Specialty Nurse Allowance to eligible
Registered Nurses

188 i B R R A K% U B D G A R 2 B B DA Dok R 2
ANEBOEFER  AREEREERNEMEL
RHUENELER

e Managing career progression for supporting
staff including Patient Care Assistant and Operation
Assistant in inpatient services, and Executive
Assistant (Ward)

AXEBAEBTHTEANE  BEXEER
mERBE R ARBKEBNIE  EEBIE - U KRIT
K B2 (B P )

e Adopting the career ladder review for allied health
grades and implementing other initiatives such as
granting additional pay points to entry rank allied
health staff upon completion of training, Specialty
Allied Health Professional Allowance to eligible
resident allied health staff, as well as increasing
promotion opportunities for selected middle rank
allied health professionals and training places and
frequency of the Advanced Specialty Programme

BRYEREBRASHERS  XHETHMER
BRATHREIRENTABEBRERABRN
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Expanding workforce diversity

104

Recruitment of Non-locally Trained Healthcare
Professionals (NLTPs): HA has been stepping up efforts
to recruit eligible non-locally trained doctors (NLTDs) and
nurses (NLTNs) to beef up its manpower pool, in particular
after the enactment of the Nurses Registration (Amendment)
Ordinance 2024. As at end-March 2025, a total of 296
NLTDs workforce and exchange talents were working in
HA. Moreover, 112 NLTN candidates were interviewed and
recommended for employment, of which three commenced
work in HA in the first quarter of 2025. The recruitment of
NLTPs in HA attracted talents from different parts of the
world to serve the patients.

The "Greater Bay Area Healthcare Talents Visiting
Programmes": Facilitating bilateral on-site clinical training
between healthcare professionals in Hong Kong and GBA.
Over 200 GBA healthcare professionals had commenced
or completed exchange in 2024-25. Reciprocally, over 65
HA healthcare professionals and over 15 Chinese medicine
practitioners also attended mutual exchange or training in the
hospitals in GBA.

Mutual talent exchanges with various Mainland cities: HA
has also actively fostered talent exchange by taking forward
collaboration with various Mainland cities, such as Beijing
and Shanghai. In 2024-25, over ten healthcare professionals
from Beijing and Shanghai came for attachment or exchange.
Reciprocally, about 15 HA healthcare professionals also joined
mutual exchange or training at hospitals in the Mainland.

Greater Bay Area specialty Nursing ©
Knowledge-exch

ange Programme 13
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HA continued to
offer medium-term exchange opportunities to foster talent
exchange and provide opportunities for NLTD specialists, or
those who are close to completing specialist training from
other jurisdictions to join HA for clinical and professional
development. Over 20 NLTDs had commenced or completed
exchange in 2024-25 under the Scheme.

"Global Healthcare Talent Scheme":

Building a better and safer workplace

Continue optimising and implementing intelligent
Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) Management
Monitoring Systems, to foster a safer workplace environment.
The Electronic Chemical Inventory System provides tracking
features and real-time access to chemicals information
such as storage quantities, enhancing chemical hazard
communication and assisting in locating relevant information
for emergency response. With the use of the Sharps Injury
and Mucosal Exposure Surveillance System, timely analysis
on root causes of sharps injuries can be made for devising
appropriate control measures. Additionally, the automated
Electronic Display Screen Equipment Assessment System
strengthens the monitoring of compliance with statutory
risk assessment requirements. These system enhancements
are vital for ongoing monitoring and overall efficiency in OSH
management.

Implementing equal opportunities and anti-sexual
harassment strategies in various ways, such as policy
guidelines, training and support to frontline supervisors and
staff
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Improving mental health of staff through the provision of
diversified mental health activities and professional and
confidential counselling services by HAHO Corporate
Clinical Psychology Service “Oasis — Centre for Personal
Growth and Crisis Intervention”

Enhancing staff engagement and feedback: HA actively
collected staff feedback through comprehensive focused
staff surveys, achieving an 85% response rate with over 8 000
participants and thousands of constructive comments. The
2024 survey results demonstrate improvements across all
areas, reflecting the organisation's commitment to addressing
staff concerns and fostering a positive environment.

Committing to being a “Supportive Family-friendly Good
Employer” through introducing and enhancing employee-
oriented family-friendly benefits such as Marriage and
Compassionate Leaves and Enhanced Home Loan Interest
Subsidy Scheme (HLISS) with 1420 applicants granted
approval-in-principle as of March 2025.

Ongoing staff welfare initiatives such as the Staff Radiology
Programme were in place. In 2024-25, more than 5 400
eligible applications for Staff Radiology Programme were
received, among which over 3 900 from HA employees and
over 1 500 from eligible family members and retirees.

is R 5T El

Stall Radi Frumul
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HA prioritises employee well-being and engagement to build
a resilient and motivated workforce. Wellness and recreation
programmes, including inter-cluster sports competitions,
staycations and interest classes were organised regularly
throughout the year. To further promote family-friendliness
and work-life balance, family members were also invited
to participate in some of the activities. To engage young
generations, we also organised initiatives Llike eSports
Competition. In addition, “Hospital Authority Volunteer Team”
has been formed to benefit both employees and the community.
In 2025, seven outstanding staff members, six outstanding
teams and 14 Young Achievers were honoured with the
Outstanding Staff and Teams and Young Achievers Award
for their significant contributions. These awards signify their
exceptional performance, commitment to quality patient-
centred care, teamwork, and overall operational effectiveness.

Achievements and Awards

HA was awarded the “Good MPF Employer”, “e-Contribution
Award”, and “MPF Support Award” for 2023-24 by Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Authority to honour its efforts on
enhancing retirement protection for employees.

HA received the certificate of Good Employer Charter 2024
from the Labour Department, honouring HA's commitment
to being an employee-oriented employer and adopting good
human resource management practices.
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Building rapport with the community

A RS AL &

HA embraces the value of integrity, openness and
accountability, sparing no effort in engaging with the
public through multiple communicating channels and
supporting different groups in the community, with
the ultimate aim to build a harmonious and caring
community.

BERBENE  ARNMENREE  BRERZT
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Youth empowerment

e HA nparticipated in Strive and Rise programme of the
Government, with mentors and group visits to HA facilities to
support the exposure and development of teenagers.

e HA participated in a youth work experience programme
organised by a non-governmental organisation, the Child
Development Initiative Alliance, and arranged 64 grassroots
youths aged between 16 and 22 to join volunteer services
at HA to gain understanding and exposure in the healthcare
industry. HA provided pre-volunteering briefing, on-the-job
coaching, and supervision to the youth. Upon completion
of the volunteer service, Cluster HR coordinated to offer
employment opportunities in HA to those aged 18 or above
for consideration.
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Responsible procurement to encourage
employment of people with disabilities

e Following the Government's practice to incorporate the
direction of ESG as part of HA's procurement goals and good
practices

e Adopting a marking scheme weighting distinctly for
assessment of ESG measures, with scores allocated for
bidders committing to employ staff with disability in tender
evaluation to encourage outsourced service providers to hire
disabled employees

Support services for people of diverse race and
persons with disabilities

¢ A dedicated website for people of diverse race provides
the essential service information on HA website including
information about the A&E Department and general outpatient
clinic services in eight languages

e A disease information webpage with content in multiple
languages has been set up on Smart Patient website. The
revamped version further enhances search function, which
facilitates easier access to disease information by people
of diverse race

e Providing interpretation service for 17 languages (Arabic,
Bahasa (Indonesian), Bengali, etc.), including sign language,
in public hospitals and clinics

¢ Providing sign language interpretation service in HA's Open
Board Meeting press briefing, which is broadcast live on social
media, to promote inclusive communication
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Enhancing public healthcare services through
donation

110

HA would like to express its sincere gratitude for the strong
support received from all sectors of the community all
along, including donation support in the form of both cash
and in-kind donations, which has significantly helped ease
the financial strain posed by rising medical costs. Donations
received are carefully allocated to support HA in enhancing
public hospital services and fulfilling our vision of "Helping
People Stay Healthy". We are committed to ensuring that
these contributions make a meaningful impact on advancing
healthcare for the community.

Generous donations from the public have enabled HA to fund
essential initiatives aimed at advancing our services. These
initiatives include the procurement of cutting-edge medical
equipment and the subsidisation of patient support groups
to facilitate empowerment programmes, among others. The
following donation projects have been gradually put into
service during 2024-25:

Service enhancement for psychiatric
patients (Sensorium Garden Project) in
PYNEH

KRB BB RGECEE — BESZRE
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Acquisition of Next Generation Sequencing
equipment for the Molecular
Laboratory of Hong Kong East Cluster in
Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital
(PYNEH)
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Acquisition of a Laser, Femtosecond Pulse
surgical unit in Hong Kong Eye Hospital for
improving the surgical outcome for complex
cornea and cataract cases

BERMBHBEIL RUREGFHEE
PABREEFERR £ 58 I 3 RS Tl T RUR

Acquisition of one set of Power Wheelchair
Simulator in Kowloon Central Cluster for
enhanced assessment and training for patients
with potential needs in using power wheelchair

BETE Bmﬂﬁ WEE [EPmEERS] AR
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Jockey Club Smart Geriatric Day Hospital Project
in Pok Oi Hospital

BEER —BEFSESEANMARERKS

Adoption of Artificial Intelligence in diagnostic
imaging in the A&E Departments of 17 public
hospitals in HA

BER 17 AV BRIEERAATERESN
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Responding to emergencies, disasters and
crisis in the community

112

As one of the public service agencies, HA has devised a
structured emergency and crisis management system to
respond to emergencies, disasters and crises in the community.
It ensures continuity of care, minimises risk to patients
and staff, and maintains operational stability during major
incidents. Below are the pillar components of the framework:

O Emergency preparedness and planning with regular risk
assessments (e.g. natural disasters, pandemics, terrorist
attacks, cyber threats, etc.);

O Contingency and recovery plans, which cover a variety of
response protocols for different situations; for example,
infectious disease outbreaks, civil disasters, radiation
hazards, etc,;

O Resource management to determine the inventory of
essential supplies such as personal protective equipment,
medications, backup power, etc.;

O Incident command structure
roles and responsibilities of incident commanders,
crisis communications spokespersons, logistical and
administrative support, and specialists; etc.; and

with clearly defined

O Regular training and drills to keep employees prepared and
focused on crisis response

HA has been committed to dovetailing the directives of
the Government and fulfilling its social responsibilities by
strengthening preparedness for large-scale adversity and
major incidents. Established in 2023, the Special Duty Cadre
(SDC) comprises more than 120 multi-disciplinary members
to provide special emergency medical services in various
situations as required. The establishment of the SDC not only
demonstrates the competence and professionalism of HA staff,
but also reflects their spirit of solidarity and collaboration,
while providing medical support beyond the walls of hospitals.
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Rescue and disaster relief efforts know no borders. In 2024-25,
the SDC participated in the international search and rescue
mission in the Myanmar earthquake. In response to Myanmar's
formal request for international assistance, the HKSAR
Government quickly dispatched a 51-member Hong Kong
Search and Rescue Team, comprising a dedicated medical
team formed by two doctors and two nurses from HA. This
mission is of particular historic significance, marking a major
step forward in our emergency response capabilities. Within
seven hours of notification, HA managed to mobilise and
assemble the team rapidly and prepare all the necessary
medicines, equipment and logistics. HA's swift response not
only demonstrates the good coordination between the HA
and all relevant organisations, but also demonstrates HA's
contribution beyond the hospital.
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Multi-pronged communications

Using multiple online platforms including HA internet
website, HA Facebook page, YouTube channel, Instagram
page, LinkedIn and mobile app “HA Go" for public information
dissemination

Communicating updates on the latest service arrangements
and healthcare information through various means including
the quarterly Open Board Meeting, press conferences and
media briefings, press releases, contributed articles in various
media platforms, as well as radio and television programmes

Maintaining close communication with members of the
Legislative Council, district councillors and community
members, to provide them with timely updates on latest
developments in HA policies and services

Conducting community focus groups for citizens and
community partners to discuss and express their valuable
viewpoints on specific public healthcare issues

Two-tier complaint handling mechanism

114

HA adopts a two-tier complaint handling mechanism to
provide an easily accessible, efficient and effective avenue
for addressing complaints fairly and impartially, both for the
complainants and those complained against. The first tier is at
the hospital level which covers the handling of all complaints
lodged for the first time. The second tier is for complainant
who is not satisfied with the outcome for appeal to the Public
Complaints Committee of the HA, which comprises members
from different sectors of the community to independently
consider and decide on all appeal cases, to identify room
for improvement in the delivery of service, and to advise on
appropriate follow-up actions.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To The Members of the Hospital Authority

Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of the Hospital Authority (“HA") and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group"”), which are set out on pages 120 to
185, comprise:

e the consolidated and HA balance sheets as at 31 March 2025;

¢ the consolidated statement of income and expenditure for the year then
ended;

¢ the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then
ended;

¢ the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;

¢ the consolidated statement of changes in total funds for the year then
ended; and

¢ the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of HA and the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2025, and of the Group's consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSASs") as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To The Members of the Hospital Authority (Continued)

Basis for Opinion (Continued)
Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code"), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Other Information

HA is responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all of the information included in the annual report other than
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of HA and Those Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

HA is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA, and for such internal control
as HA determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, HA is responsible for
assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless there are events or conditions that have caused
or may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To The Members of the Hospital Authority (Continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 10 of the Hospital Authority Ordinance, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

¢ |dentify and assess therisks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
HA.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of HA's use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To The Members of the Hospital Authority (Continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements (Continued)

e FEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's
report is Chan Sung Lai, Arthur (practicing certificate number: P05714).

/%&Qmwmé?M/

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 25 September 2025

iRk 38

P

B ZHENRE
REREERRE

BRBEAHRBT RSV BRRABENER

(%)
o HELRAMEIMRABEIHT RSB

NE - BREEE ARGEEMEHREREE
BRBRZZHFEIR -

o FTEIMBMITRERE  WERBREEANE

BE ERERAMBHRRTIAE RNE
B-BMBERES EEMBERREERT
BEMAMITR R TE - RPIRET B R A
EEERE-

BrREMEIRIN  HPIRERERB T T EIME
TEE - RREZHE - EARAERE  S7FEHM
FEE TP R BB A B (E (AT B KR ©

HEARBIZHBENHRENETREEBARR
R (MEFBERY PO5T14) o

& ORUKEE ST E R AT
R EFTRD

wwuxbém{%fd/

FE —E-RFAA=-+EA

BEEROKEBEMER EETRAFAET —#
4% - +852 2289 8888 - {E & : +852 2810 9888 * www.pwchk.com

Independent Auditor's Report and Audited Financial Statements Y837t S Bl & K L E B TS5 Rk 119



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
REEERER

At 31 March 2025 At 31 March 2024

Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M=t 202543 A31H 2024%3A31H
BT T BT
Non-Current Assets JE B & E
Property, plant and equipment #12 - #28 X& 15 5 10,097,426 9,420,819
Intangible assets & E 6 711,831 547,472
Right-of-use assets ¥ /& E 7 395,160 529,966
Placements with the Exchange Fund ZMNEE & 175 8 - 13,000,000
Fixed income instruments EFAE LA 9 194,500 134,700
77777777777777 11,398,917 23,632,957
Current Assets REIEE
Inventories 7 & 10 2,944,480 3,431,837
Loans receivable FEUERR 1 132,292 118,425
Accounts receivable FEUZ IR ZX 12 472,031 393,407
Other receivables E b EUR IR X 13 3,650,890 1,604,863
Deposits and prepayments &4 K 81 208 14 403,706 522,291
Placements with the Exchange Fund SN & 173K 8 13,725,471 6,708,813
Fixed income instruments EF A ETE 9 5,244,688 1,969,015
Cash and bank balances I8 & N IR1T45 84 15 57,833,006 51,892,607
84,406,564 66,641,258
Total Assets & 7E 95,805,481 90,274,215
Funds &
Designated fund ¥ E &% 16 5,077,369 5,077,369
Revenue reserve Y A &1 9,895,918 9,287,473
Total Funds E €45 14,973,287 14,364,842
Current Liabilities KB & &
Balance with Samaritan Fund #3570 & 4565 17 - 5,874,525
Creditors and accrued charges &1 A & Bt & 18 48,944,989 40,412,941
Deposits received B ik & 19 701,219 657,071
Lease liabilities FHE & & 7 195,294 258,225
Public-Private Partnership Endowment Fund 20 10,000,000 -
NILEBIEBAES
77777777777 59,841,502 47,202,762
Non-Current Liabilities JEFR B & &
Death and disability liabilities 3t.1- & {55 &F| & 1T 21 239,314 287,100
Deferred income #ELURLES 22 9,743,053 8,193,892
Deferred income - capital subventions and capital donations 23 10,809,257 9,968,291
FEW T — BB R E ARG
Lease liabilities FHE & & 7 199,068 257,328
Public-Private Partnership Endowment Fund 20 - 10,000,000
NILEBIEBAES
20,990,692 28,706,611
Total Liabilities 2 & & 80,832,194 75,909,373
Total Funds and Total Liabilities E€ Rk & E# % 95,805,481 90,274,215
Ms Mary HLFJP(Wai-yi, MH, %%@fii Dr Libby LEE Ha-yun Z=E 884
Chairman, Finance Committ Chief Executive
MBEEEXE TR,
The notes on pages 126 to 185 are an integral part of these %126 = 185 MR R R A M IEHmERN—BH ©

consolidated financial statements.
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BALANCE SHEET
EERER

At 31 March 2025

At 31 March 2024

Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Mt =E 202543 A31H 2024%3A31H
BT T BT T
Non-Current Assets JERENE &
Property, plant and equipment #13% - #28 Xi& 15 5 10,094,457 9,420,819
Intangible assets & & 6 703,640 533,273
Right-of-use assets ¥ FEEE 7 395,160 529,966
Placements with the Exchange Fund ZMEE & 175 8 - 13,000,000
Fixed income instruments EFE A S LA 9 194,500 134,700
11,387,757 23,618,758
Current Assets FREIE &
Inventories 7 & 10 2,944,480 3,431,837
Loans receivable &Y EZK 11 132,292 118,425
Accounts receivable JEUIR 12 472,031 393,407
Other receivables E b FEUR IR X 13 3,650,890 1,604,863
Deposits and prepayments &4 N 81+ 208 14 403,564 522,161
Placements with the Exchange Fund SNEZE £ 175K 8 13,725,471 6,708,813
Fixed income instruments EF A ST E 9 5,244,688 1,969,015
Cash and bank balances IR & K SR1 74554 15 57,833,006 51,892,607
7777777777777777777 84,406,422 66,641,128
Total Assets #BEE 95,794,179 90,259,886
Funds E&
Designated fund ¥8/E &£ 16 5,077,369 5,077,369
Revenue reserve Yg A & 9,895,912 9,287,467
Total Funds E &4 5 14,973,281 14,364,836
Current Liabilities # B & &
Balance with Samaritan Fund #3570 E & 4585 17 - 5,874,525
Creditors and accrued charges &1 A & JEf+H & 18 48,944,853 40,412,817
Deposits received 2 Y% E 19 701,219 657,071
Lease liabilities HE & & 7 195,294 258,225
Public-Private Partnership Endowment Fund 20 10,000,000 -
NIEHIEBAES
59,841,366 47,202,638
Non-Current Liabilities FERE & &
Death and disability liabilities 7t 1- X 8EEFI E T 21 239,314 287,100
Deferred income #EIEUTZS 22 9,743,053 8,193,892
Deferred income - capital subventions and capital donations 23 10,798,097 9,954,092
EEN s — BB R B AR IBR
Lease liabilities FAE & & 7 199,068 257,328
Public-Private Partnership Endowment Fund 20 - 10,000,000
NILEBIEBAES
20,979,532 28,692,412
Total Liabilities 28 & 80,820,898 75,895,050
Total Funds and Total Liabilities E& & & E4 4 95,794,179 90,259,886

fyrey

Dr Libby LEE Ha-yun Z=E 884
Chief Executive
TR AREL

Ms Mary HUE}I’Wai-yi, MH, JP B E L+
Chairman, Finance Committe

MBEREELR

The notes on pages 126 to 185 are an integral part of these %126 £ 185 BRI AR A MISHREN—TBH ©

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE
SmeEBREER

For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B eE BZ2025%F BZE2024%F
3ABLALEE 3ABIALLFE
BT T BT
Income WA
Recurrent Government subvention &% 1% ¥ 8 B 87,533,531 84,773,807
Capital Government subvention for Minor Works Projects 1,280,951 -
NV TARIE B AR BT ED
Hospital / clinic fees and charges 2Fx / 2B TR E 24 6,255,344 5,865,712
Donations 188 - 105
Transfers from B 5 :
Designated donation fund & E R ES 22 125,721 93,585
Minor Works Projects Fund /N TI2IEE & & 22 137,057 2,174,621
Public-Private Partnership Fund 2R & EE S 22 672,885 656,215
Enhanced HLISS B T E % E:12 22 19,175 7515
Capital subventions & ZAN## ) 23 1,764,991 1,581,463
Capital donations & 718 23 137,744 152,762
Investment income & & Ut z5 2,075,570 1,986,817
Other income EA iz 1,246,342 1,086,525
101,249,311 98,379,127
Expenditure X H
Staff costs B TR 25 (65,822,525) (62,414,171)
Drugs Z:%) (12,749,878) (13,126,702)
Medical supplies and equipment /&%) 5 & 2% 18 (5,896,107) (5,387,855)
Utilities charges A FIZ (1,902,485) (2,025,184)
Repairs and maintenance #1& K& {R& (3,703,270) (3,497,285)
Minor works projects funded by the Government (1,418,008) (2,174,621)
HEAE R/ N TIRIER
Depreciation and amortisation #7%5 & # $4 5-7 (2,157,416) (2,042,848)
Finance costs M 75 & A 7 (12,214) (19,319)
Other operating expenses H th 4@ f 57 26 (7,063,408) (6,704,860
(100,725,311) (97,392,845)
Surplus for the year £ AR 4 524,000 986,282
The notes on pages 126 to 185 are an integral part of these %126 = 185 MR R R A M IEHmERN—BH ©

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meaTHWRER

For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B = #Z2025%F HZE20245F
3A3IALEFE 3A3LALFE
BT T BT
Surplus for the year £ A& 4 524,000 986,282
Other comprehensive income £ fth 2 [ W &
[tem that may not be reclassified to income or expenditure:
KU gEFHBEABARTLMIER -
- Remeasurement of death liability 21 84,445 (56,706)
RTRMETENE
Total comprehensive income for the year & 48 2 HE Uk % 608,445 929,576
The notes on pages 126 to 185 are an integral part of these %126 £ 185 BRI AR A MISHREN—TBH ©

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

SLEBRERBEREK

For the year ended

For the year ended

31 March 2025 31 March 2024
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
o = HZ2025% HZ=2024F
3A31ALEE 3A31BIEEFE
BT T BB
Net cash generated from operating activities 29(a) 9,950,625 10,279,500
LEERYMAERSFEE
Investing activities ¥ & & &)
Investment income received & 43% & W25 2,333,037 1,803,430
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 5 (2,305,980) (2,338,455)
BEME  HRERHK
Purchases of intangible assets & & E & & 6 (437,721) (327,191)
Decrease / (increase) in bank deposits with original maturity 9,119,898 (3,934,952)
over three months
JRARFEA A FB38 =1 A HR1TERER D / (3Bhn)
Increase in fixed income instruments & F A B T AL 0 (3,303,109) (751,078)
Partial principal withdrawal from placements with the - 2,000,000
Exchange Fund
WINER S FRTIRROE S A&
Net cash generated from / (used in) investing activities 5,406,125 (3,548,246)
REZSME/ (FFARFEE
Financing activities #i & /& &)
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities 29(b) (263,420) (350,072)
XNHEAGBRESIS
Finance costs paid T8 7% & B (12,214) (19,319)
Net cash used in financing activities & &&HAHRLFE (275,634 | (369,391)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 15,081,116 6,361,863
Re MR EE2FEN
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 8,464,372 2,107,109
FNzHE RREEE
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash (26,164) (4,600)
equivalents
INEIEXRFEHRE MRS SENTE
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 15 23,519,324 8,464,372
FreAekBAEE
Note: %I .

The cash flow on the placements with the Exchange Fund on
behalf of the Samaritan Fund was netted off with the changes on
balance with the Samaritan Fund and the detailed arrangement
is disclosed in note 17.

The notes on pages 126 to 185 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TOTAL FUNDS
SREEERBERBH®MR

Designated fund Revenue reserve Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EEES ONi-] wEt
BT BT T BT
At 31 March 2023 5,077,369 8,357,897 13,435,266
M20234F 3 A31H
Total comprehensive income for the year - 929,576 929,576
FAEPEW R
At 31 March 2024 5,077,369 9,287,473 14,364,842
7202453 A 31 H
Total comprehensive income for the year - 608,445 608,445
FABLEERE
At 31 March 2025 5,077,369 9,895,918 14,973,287
720254 3 A 31 H
The notes on pages 126 to 185 are an integral part of these %126 = 185 BN MR AR A M IEHmERN—BD -

consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a)

126

The Hospital Authority
Background

The Hospital Authority (“HA") and its subsidiaries are collectively referred
to as the “Group” in the consolidated financial statements. HA is a
statutory body established in Hong Kong on 1 December 1990 under the
Hospital Authority Ordinance (Cap.113). The Hospital Authority Ordinance
provides HA with the powers to manage and control the delivery of public
hospital services in Hong Kong. Under the Hospital Authority Ordinance,
HA is responsible amongst other matters for the following:

e  advising the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (the “Government”) of the needs of the public for hospital
services and of the resources required to meet those needs;

®  managing and developing the public hospital system;

e recommending to the Secretary for Health appropriate policies on
fees for the use of hospital services by the public;

e  establishing public hospitals; and

e promoting, assisting and taking part in education and training of
persons involved or to be involved in hospital services or other
services relevant to the health of the public, and research relating
to hospital services.

HA formally took over the management and control of all public
hospitals in December 1991 including the ex-Government hospitals and
ex-subvented hospitals as set out in Schedule 1 and Schedule 2 of the
Hospital Authority Ordinance respectively.

For Schedule 1 hospitals, pursuant to Section 5(a) of the Hospital
Authority Ordinance, an agreement was subsequently entered into
between the Government and HA on 3 June 2011 (“Agreement”), under
which the Government and HA agreed that HA shall be responsible
for managing and controlling the Government lands (including all new
properties built on Government lands) and the hospitals, clinics, facilities,
buildings and premises established thereon (as set out in Annex A of the
Agreement and referred to as “Properties”), as well as the facilities and
amenities (as set out in Annex B of the Agreement) that may be provided
on the Properties. The ownership of the Properties continues to be held
by the Government.

For Schedule 2 hospitals, HA entered into agreements with individual
governing bodies of the ex-subvented hospitals which allowed HA to
assume ownership of some operating assets as at 1 December 1991 and
to manage and control other assets, the ownership of which remains
with the individual governing bodies.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 The Hospital Authority (Continued)

(a) Background (Continued)

As aresult, HA has assumed responsibility for the management of the
public hospital operations since 1 December 1991. Also, all operating
and capital commitments outstanding as at 1 December 1991 were
assumed by HA, except for the capital works projects funded under the
Capital Works Reserve Fund of the Government.

As part of the Government's healthcare reform plan, HA has taken
over the management and operation of all general outpatient clinics
("*GOPCs") from the Department of Health from July 2003. Under
the arrangement, the title and ownership in respect of the related
operating assets of the GOPCs were retrospectively transferred to HA
in July 2003 after receiving formal approval from the Government in
June 2006. These assets were transferred at nil value.

The Government announced in the 2016 Policy Address that HK$200
billion would be used to implement a Ten-year Hospital Development
Plan (HDP). Given the significant number and scale of Schedule 1
hospital projects in the HDP, the Government has entrusted HA
to carry out and complete a number of capital works projects for
Schedule 1 hospitals which are funded by the Government. Similarly,
HA is undertaking the capital works projects for Schedule 2 hospitals
which are funded by the Government and the governing bodies of the
ex-subvented hospitals. As at 31 March 2025, there were 4 major
capital works projects completed and 11 major capital works projects
in progress (of which 9 projects were managed by HA), and the total
funding approved by the Government was HK$191,617,800,000.
Further details of the recognition of Government funding for building
projects are set out in note 2(q)(i).

Through HA's subsidiary, HACM Limited, funding has been provided
to the non-governmental organisations (“NGOs") operators to
enhance the operation of 18 Chinese Medicine Clinics cum Training
and Research Centres (“CMCTRs") in Hong Kong for the provision of
designated Chinese Medicine (CM) initiatives including Government
subsidised CM services at district level and Chinese medicine
practitioner trainee programme. HACM Limited has also provided
funding to participating CMCTRs for the provision of CM services
to HA patients under the Integrated Chinese-Western Medicine
Programme which has been implemented at designated HA hospitals
for designated disease areas. The funding provided by HACM Limited
to NGOs operators is based on each CMCTR's individual service
components and actual deliverables.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1
(a)

128

The Hospital Authority (Continued)
Background (Continued)

For exploration of information technology (“IT") collaborations in Hong
Kong and other regions in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area relating to hospital services or other services relevant to
public health, HA established the EH Plus Digital Technology Limited
(“EHPD") in July 2024. As aHA's subsidiary, EHPD was set up to unlock
healthcare's potential by unleashing digital capabilities to improve
healthcare technology and to better serve HA, citizens of Hong Kong
and regional healthcare as a whole.

In order to develop and support the Government-led Electronic Health
Record Sharing System (eHealth), which is an essential part of the
healthcare reform, HA has been engaged to serve as the technical
agency to the Government, leveraging its experience and know-
how in the Clinical Management System (“CMS"). With this role, HA
undertakes multiple streams of eHealth related projects, which are
funded by the recurrent subvention and other designated funding
from the Government. During the financial year ended 31 March
2025, HA recognised HK$667,482,000 (2024: HK$570,808,000) as
other income to match with the expenditure incurred in relation to the
eHealth related projects.

In order to support Department of Health (“DH") to enhance its IT
system so as to better provide healthcare service to the public, HA was
appointed as the technical agency to deliver the IT systems required
for 19 Clinical Services Improvement projects (“CIMS2") under
Initiative 1 of the First Stage of the Strategic Plan to Re-engineer and
Transform Public Services of DH (“SPRINT-1") as well as to undertake
Maintenance Service for CIMS2, which are funded by the designated
funding from the Government. During the financial year ended 31
March 2025, HA recognised HK$174,044,000 (2024: HK$158,670,000)
as other income to match with the expenditure incurred in relation to
the project.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B8RRIz

1 BREER &)
(b) BEFR R HAnisE
E-E-_FFE=PA=1+—H HREREE

1 The Hospital Authority (Continued)
(b) Hospitals and other institutions

At 31 March 2025, HA had under its management and control the

following hospitals, charitable trusts and institutions:

REENEE SR EELEREENT

Hospitals: BEpx -

Alice Ho Miu Ling Nethersole Hospital B A ERAN T =5
Bradbury Hospice HEREEPL
Caritas Medical Centre HﬂmEQ T

Castle Peak Hospital Sz

Cheshire Home, Chung Hom Kok %ﬁ%ﬂﬁl?’iﬁﬁ €&
Cheshire Home, Shatin W HREEER

The Duchess of Kent Children's Hospital at Sandy Bay AARIBEABEATER
Grantham Hospital B8R

Haven of Hope Hospital EEEM

Hong Kong Buddhist Hospital EBHRER

Hong Kong Children’s Hospital BEETERR

Hong Kong Eye Hospital EERE BT
Kowloon Hospital A==

Kwai Chung Hospital Byt i

Kwong Wah Hospital EEEERT
MacLehose Medical Rehabilitation Centre IR EE B

North District Hospital JblEm e

North Lantau Hospital :U:jiﬂﬁm &f

Our Lady of Maryknoll Hospital EERpEEfT

Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital RELERAIBITEER
Pok Oi Hospital EEEL

Prince of Wales Hospital ERRATIR T 58

Princess Margaret Hospital IR EQFJ‘D

Queen Elizabeth Hospital PR RE

Queen Mary Hospital ISR

Ruttonjee Hospital
Shatin Hospital

EBURER
YWHER

Siu Lam Hospital NMEEPT

St. John Hospital RMNEERT

Tai Po Hospital NI EERT

Tang Shiu Kin Hospital BiEEER B8 F’

Tin Shui Wai Hospital RIKEIEE

Tsan Yuk Hospital %zﬁ%ﬁ%
Tseung Kwan O Hospital 15 REE T
Tuen Mun Hospital g

Tung Wah Eastern Hospital RERPT

Tung Wah Group of Hospitals Fung Yiu King Hospital ?ﬁﬁ_ﬁ?ﬁ%i%ﬁﬁ(
Tung Wah Group of Hospitals Wong Tai Sin Hospital RE=frEmAfLE
Tung Wah Hospital REEERT
United Christian Hospital EEHHAER
Wong Chuk Hang Hospital =11 ﬁ% 5t

Yan Chai Hospital R
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1
(b)

(c)

130

The Hospital Authority (Continued)
Hospitals and other institutions (Continued)

Charitable Trusts:

North District Hospital Charitable Foundation

Prince of Wales Hospital Charitable Foundation

The Hong Kong Children's Hospital Charitable Foundation

The Hospital Authority Charitable Foundation

The Hospital Authority New Territories West Cluster Hospitals
Charitable Trust

The Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital Charitable Trust

The Princess Margaret Hospital Charitable Trust

The Queen Elizabeth Hospital Charitable Trust

Other Institutions:

eHR HK Limited

EH Plus Digital Technology Limited

HACM Limited

Hong Kong Red Cross Blood Transfusion Service
Specialist Outpatient Clinics

General Outpatient Clinics

Other clinics and associated units

Principal office

The address of the principal office of HA is Hospital Authority
Building, 147B Argyle Street, Kowloon, Hong Kong.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

(a)

(b)

Material accounting policies

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") as appropriate to Government
subvented and not-for-profit organisations. They have been prepared
on a going concern basis and under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the revaluation of certain financial assets which are stated
at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
Accounting Standards requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in
the process of applying HA's accounting policies. The areas involving a
higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed
in note 4.

The HKICPA has issued a number of new / revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards, including interpretation, amendments, or improvements to
the existing standards, which has become effective in the current year.

During the year, the Group adopted the following amendment to the
existing standard, which is relevant to the Group's operations:

e Amendment to HKAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current

The adoption of this amendment does not have a significant impact on
the Group's results, financial position and disclosure.

The Group has not early adopted new and amended HKFRS
Accounting Standards and interpretations which may be relevant to
the Group but are not yet effective for the financial year ended 31
March 2025. The Group is in a process of making an assessment but
is not yet in a position to conclude the impact of these new / revised
HKFRS Accounting Standards on its results of operations and financial
position.

Basis of consolidation

The financial statements of the Group include the income and
expenditure of the Head Office, subsidiaries, all Hospitals, Charitable
Trusts, Specialist Outpatient Clinics, General Outpatient Clinics and
other institutions under its management and control made up to 31
March 2025.

The financial statements reflect the recorded book values of those
assets owned and the liabilities assumed by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(c)

132

Subsidiaries

B RS ERAR B EE

2 EREFHEE ©®
(c) MiEHsE

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date that control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that

control ceases.

Intra-group transactions,

balances and unrealised gains on

transactions within the Group have been eliminated on consolidation.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred. The accounting
policies of the subsidiaries are consistent with the accounting policies

adopted by the Group.

Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024

are as follows:

MERESESEAEEENMAER-
EEEREEE2EERAEFMALE
AEFHERAEDBN BRI Wik
MEREENESERNEBMEEX
Fo® BRKREEERE T - E5E
EREMBREZH MERELESENY
BEHNSERAE)  EXEENBEKE
RMEERE L BTEFRa27-

SEARBIENRS HEHEAER
ZRZWa HEAZINEREREK -5
S BRIER BRI ERAMEBNEE
BREE BRIRER 2 BRIERE © i
BB BRRESERANEG K
R—2e

WE#REN T -_RAF=-A=+—A8AKk =%
“ME=ZA=t+—BZFBIN T

Place of Issued Effective percentage
incorporation / share directly held by
operation capital the Group
Name Principal activities MR / 21T SEEEEFEN
=L FEXEWR =gk g BRHE
2025 2024
HACM Limited (limited To steer the development and  Hong Kong Nit 100 100
by guarantee) delivery of Chinese B8 i
BrEERTREERE medicine services
RAT(BRARAR])  REIhEERGEEREEMHE
eHR HK Limited (limited To act as a custodian to hold,  Hong Kong Nit 100 100
by guarantee) maintain and license the B8 i3
eHR HK Limited intellectual property rights
(BERBRALF]) and assets related to
eHealth programme
ERREA B8 - RELF
AR fEARRART BB A
EREE
EH Plus Digital To support the exploration Hong Kong HK$1 100 Not
Technology Limited of IT collaborations in Hong & LT applicable
(Limited by shares) Kong and other regions in NEA
B BIS R AR AT the Guangdong-Hong
(R BRAR]) Kong-Macao Greater Bay

Area relating to hospital
services or other services
relevant to public health

FFRZRH 2 B R K S R ) B8
B R H AN R AR R AR S
BB AR 1E
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(d) Recognition of income

Subventions for recurrent expenditure are recognised on an accruals
basis, except for those subventions for designated programmes
or specific items that are recorded in the current account with the
Government and recognised as income when the related expenditure
is incurred.

Subventions for minor works projects (under Subhead 8096MM) are
recognised as set out in note 2(q)(v).

Inpatient hospital fees and charges, such as inpatient admission
and maintenance fees, itemised charges for private inpatients, are
recognised over time during hospitalisation. Other hospital / clinic fees
and charges such as outpatient attendance fees and drug charges,
sales of self-financed drugs and medical reports and records, are
recognised when services are provided.

Transfers from the designated donation fund and capital donations are
recognised as set out in note 2(e).

Transfers from the capital subventions, Minor Works Projects Fund,
Public-Private Partnership (“PPP") Fund and Enhanced HLISS are
recognised as set out in note 2(q).

Investment income from fixed income instruments is recognised as set
out in note 2(j).

Investment income from bank deposits is recognised on a time
proportion basis using the effective interest method.

BT DI AT < REVSRIENR B 2 S5 E 51 &)
S ERB R MBS R B S B AR E
RN Bt AR M FIST 2 FBh & LARE
BHAEHIRARER

WNEUTR2TER#B) (98 8096MM IE ) %7
BRTEE 2(q) (v) B ZURERR

ERWBWNARRERER HEWED
FLEAEBTARTS - 25 A (E B HAR — R A
WFERR - HA B / 2T E - InPI2 &
REENER BEEYRBERENL
SRR - IRIR RGBS FERR

HERERRBES NERBR 2 EHIRH
iE 2(e) U7 ARERR ©

BB JETRBERES ANLEH
1EES N BTE X G NG 8 2 E Bz
it 2(q) BT A HERR °

KEREE AL TR A LM T 2() 7
FRHER

KERITFRZTRER S FRAERNE X
R RILL AN ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(e) Donations

134

(i)

(ii)

Donated assets

Furniture, fixtures, equipment, motor vehicles and intangible
assets donated to the Group are capitalised initially at fair value
on receipt of assets according to the policy set out in notes 2(f)(ii)
and 2(g) respectively. The amount of the donated assets is
accumulated in deferred income under capital donations. Each
year, an amount equal to the depreciation or amortisation charge
for these assets and the net book value of assets disposed of is
transferred from deferred income to the statement of income and
expenditure. Other donated assets not fulfilling the capitalisation
policy are recorded as expenditure and income in the year of
receipt of the assets.

Cash donations

Cash donations for specific use as prescribed by the donor are
accounted for in the designated donation fund. When the fund is
utilised and spent for expenditure not meeting the capitalisation
policy as set out in note 2(f)(ii) or note 2(g), they are accounted
for as expenditure of the designated donation fund. Cash
donations that are spent on property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets as set out in notes 2(f)(ii) and 2(g) respectively
are accumulated in deferred income under capital donations, and
the corresponding amounts are capitalised as property, plant and
equipment or intangible assets respectively. Each year, an amount
equal to the depreciation or amortisation charge for these assets
and the net book value of assets disposed of is transferred from
deferred income to the statement of income and expenditure.

Non-designated donations for general operating purposes are

recorded as donations in the statement of income and expenditure
upon receipt of cash.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(f) Property, plant and equipment

(9)

(i)

(it

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

Completed building projects transferred from the Government and
individual governing bodies of ex-subvented hospitals are recorded
at nominal value and included in property, plant and equipment.

Property, plant and equipment other than completed building
projects which give rise to future economic benefits are capitalised
and the corresponding amounts are recognised as deferred income -
capital subventions and capital donations for capital expenditure
funded by the Government and donations respectively.

Property, plant and equipment other than completed building
projects are stated at cost less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment. Additions represent new or replacement of specific
components of an asset. An asset’s carrying value is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

The cost of assets acquired and the fair value of donated assets
received by the Group are depreciated using the straight-line
method over the expected useful lives of the assets as follows:

Br RS R MY EE

2 ERSFHHEE @
(H W > BBRRE

(i)

(ih

(i)

(iv)
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Buildings 20 - 50 years F
)

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3-10years F
FE - BEEENERE

Motor vehicles 5-7years F

=

/‘L$

Computer equipment 3-6years F
BHRA

Over the life of the lease to which the improvement relates

The residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed and
adjusted, if appropriate, at each reporting date.

The gain or loss arising from disposal or retirement of an asset
is determined as the difference between the proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the statement
of income and expenditure.

(vii) Capital expenditure in progress is not depreciated until the asset

is placed into commission.

Intangible assets

Computer software and systems including related development
costs, which give rise to future economic benefits are capitalised as
intangible assets and the corresponding amounts are recognised as
deferred income - capital subventions and capital donations for capital
expenditure funded by the Government and donations respectively.
Intangible assets are stated at cost less any accumulated amortisation
and impairment and are amortised on a straight line basis over the
estimated useful lives of one to three years.
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Material accounting policies (Continued)
Leases

Acontract s, or contains, a lease if it conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
A contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset
if the customer has both the right to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from using the identified asset and the right to
direct the use of the identified asset.

As a lessee, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability at the lease commencement date, except for leases with a
lease term of 12 months or less which are recognised as expenses on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(i) Right-of-use assets

At inception, the right-of-use asset comprises the initial lease
liability, initial direct costs and the obligation to restore the asset,
less any incentive granted by the lessor. The right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the lease term of the underlying asset. The right-
of-use asset is subject to impairment review whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable.

(i) Lease liabilities

A lease liability is initially measured at the present value of future
lease payments with reference to an expected lease term, which
includes optional lease periods when the lessee is reasonably
certain to exercise the option to extend or not to terminate the
lease. Future lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease, if this cannot be readily determined, an
incremental borrowing rate that the lessee would have to pay to
borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset. The lease liability
is subsequently measured by increasing its carrying amount to
reflect interest on the lease liability (using the effective interest
rate method) and by reducing its carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made. The lease liability is remeasured
(with a corresponding adjustment made to the related right-of-
use asset) when there is a change in future lease payments in
case of renegotiation, changes of an index or rate or in case of
reassessment of options.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The placements with the Exchange Fund are measured as “financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss" HA determines the
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition, and such
classification depends on HA's business model for managing the
financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows. Financial
assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised
at fair value and transaction costs are expensed to the statement of
income and expenditure. Financial assets are derecognised when the
rights to receive cash flows have expired or have been transferred and
HA has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently
carried at fair value.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Material accounting policies (Continued)
Fixed income instruments

Fixed income instruments are measured at amortised cost based
on HA's business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

Fixed income instruments are recognised on a trade-date basis
and stated at amortised cost, less any impairment loss recognised
to reflect irrecoverable amounts. The annual amortisation of any
discount or premium on the acquisition of fixed income instruments
is aggregated with other investment income receivable over the
term of the instrument using the effective interest method.

The Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that fixed
income instruments are impaired at each reporting date. The amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount
of the fixed income instruments and the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the fixed income instruments is reduced and
the amount of the loss is recognised in the statement of income and
expenditure.

Inventories

Inventories, which comprise drugs, other medical and general
consumable stores, are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method. Where
applicable, provision is made for obsolete and slow-moving items.
Inventories are stated net of such provision in the balance sheet. Net
realisable value is determined with reference to the replacement cost.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less allowance for expected credit losses. HA applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9 - Financial Instruments,
which requires lifetime expected credit losses to be recognised from
initial recognition of the receivables. The carrying amount of the
accounts receivable is reduced through the use of an allowance for
expected credit loss account, and the amount of the expected credit
losses is recognised as an expense in the statement of income and
expenditure. Decrease in the previously recognised expected credit
losses shall be reversed by adjusting the allowance for expected credit
loss account.

To measure the expected credit losses, accounts receivable have
been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days
past due. The expected credit loss rates are determined based on the
debtors’ profiles of accounts receivable over a period of 36 months
rolling historical credit loss experienced. The historical credit loss
rates are adjusted for forward looking estimates that may affect the
ability of debtors to settle the receivables.
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Material accounting policies (Continued)
Accounts receivable (Continued)

When an accounts receivable is uncollectible and eventually written
off, the respective uncollectible amount is offset against the allowance
for expected credit loss account for accounts receivable. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the
current year's expenses in the statement of income and expenditure.
Accounts receivable are written off after all possible debt recovery
actions have been taken by HA and taking into account prevailing
economic conditions.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks,
and bank deposits with original maturity within three months.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation and amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss
is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset'’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a
reliable estimate of the amount can be made.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation
is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. A contingent liability is a possible
obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group.

Employee benefits
(i) Retirement benefits costs

Payments to the Group's defined contribution retirement benefit
plans are charged as expenses as they fall due. Payments
made to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are dealt with
as payments to defined contribution plans where the Group's
obligations under the schemes are equivalent to those arising
in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan. The retirement
benefit costs charged in the statement of income and expenditure
represent the contributions payable in respect of the current year
to the Group's defined contribution retirement benefit plan and
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(p) Employee benefits (Continued)

(if)

(ii)

(iv)

Termination benefits costs

Termination benefits are payable whenever an employee's
employment is terminated before the normal retirement age
or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in
exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises termination
benefits costs when there is an obligation to make such payments
without possibility of withdrawal.

Death and disability benefits costs

The cost of the Group's obligations in respect of death and
disability benefits provided to employees is recognised as staff
costs in the statement of income and expenditure with reference
to annual actuarial valuations performed by an independent
qualified actuary.

The death benefits for eligible employees are accounted for as
post employment defined benefits. Remeasurement of death
liability arising from experience adjustments and changes in
actuarial assumptions are recognised immediately in other
comprehensive income.

The disability benefits are accounted for as other long-term
employee benefits. Remeasurement of disability liability
arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are recognised immediately in the statement of
income and expenditure.

Further details of the death and disability liabilities are set out in
note 21.

Other employee benefits costs

Other employee benefits such as annual leave and contract
gratuity are accounted for as they accrue.

(q) Government subvention

Subvention grants approved for the year other than the following are
classified as recurrent subvention income.

(1)

Government funding for building projects, together with
contributions from the individual governing bodies of ex-
subvented hospitals, are received by HA for undertaking the
capital works on their behalf. Accordingly, the amount incurred
on building projects and the funding received are reflected as
changes in current assets / current liabilities. Any outstanding
reimbursement of project costs incurred by HA is recognised
as current assets, while advance funding received by HA for
meeting the project costs in future periods are recognised as
current liabilities. Further details are set out in note 13.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Material accounting policies (Continued)

(q) Government subvention (Continued)

140

(if)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

Government subventions that are spent on property, plant and
equipment or intangible assets as set out in notes 2(f)(ii)
and 2(g) respectively are accumulated in deferred income
under capital subventions, and the corresponding amounts are
capitalised as property, plant and equipment or intangible assets
respectively. Each year, an amount equal to the depreciation
or amortisation charge for these assets and net book value of
assets disposed of is transferred from deferred income to the
statement of income and expenditure.

The Government allocated HK$10,000,000,000 to HA to establish
an endowment fund for PPP programmes. The investment returns
of the PPP Endowment Fund, together with the remaining balance
of the one-off designated funding for HA's PPP programmes as
at 31 March 2016 are recognised as deferred income — PPP
Fund. Each year, the amount spent on the PPP programmes is
transferred from deferred income to the statement of income
and expenditure or deferred income — capital subventions as
appropriate. Further details of the PPP Fund are set out in note
22(b).

Government funding designated for Enhanced Home Loan Interest
Subsidy Scheme (“HLISS") and related investment returns are
recognised as deferred income — Enhanced HLISS. Each year, the
amount spent on Enhanced HLISS is transferred from deferred
income to the statement of income and expenditure or deferred
income — capital subventions as appropriate. Further details of
Enhanced HLISS are set out in note 22(c).

Subventions for minor works projects (under Subhead 8096MM)
are recognised as capital subvention income in the statement of
income and expenditure or deferred income — capital subventions
as appropriate when the amount spent on minor works projects is
incurred.

The one-off grant received from the Government for minor
works projects (under Subhead 8083MM) together with the
related investment income are recognised as deferred income —
Minor Works Projects Fund. Each year, the amount spent on the
minor works projects is transferred from deferred income to the
statement of income and expenditure or deferred income — capital
subventions as appropriate. Further details of the deferred
income — Minor Works Projects Fund are set out in note 22(a).

Hospital Authority Annual Report 2t &2 B4 i 2024-2025

B RS R AR B AL

2 BAEEE &)
(q) BUF®BN (&)

(if)

(i)

(iv)

FARPH FE2(F) (i) D5 - #=3 R R
B FE2(g) B E EX BRI/ B -
FERENRIE TEAMIRIE - B
BMEBREENML  2RITIRYE - #
BNRBABVEE - 8F ° —FM8
ENRSEENESHENTE M
EEEMNRIFESHETKEEH
W ERR -

BREREER&ERXLBEE
10,000,000,000 TRV EBAES
AT RALE et 8 - DAL W 1
BAESHRED R ERBGET
BERANLE R B —RIEIETE
BN _Z—RF=A=+—RNk&EH
BT W e — AALEBRIEE SR o
T AR HIE SRS R E
ABERATHEERSEH TN EE
RYGELEW 2k — BB - AR
BIERS AFHIEEN MR 22(0) ©

BEREHETEIEXEREN
A 7 % K 4B R 4R & B S A R AT UK
@m— BT EXEFGEER - 84
B T B XEGT &M > H IR RE
RER RN RSB E RS EE R
PR W s —EARME) - BRARTE
EE PGB F BRI 22(c) ©

NAYT 28 B 5 8) (9 B 8096MM I8

T)ZEAR/ N TEEE X HKEE

B mEABR TR EERE

%Wé—ﬁ$ﬁ%$ﬁ%%ﬁ$ﬁ%
]\ °

B/ TR — R EBEZR (DB
8083MM IHE TN ) R B ML B Wz 1
B — /TR E ESHER -
HF  NRTREBEMNS BREEE
BB THEEWSERATR S EE
RFEEW R — BAHE - BEW
@ —/\UTRREEESHFBIN
B5E22(a) °



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2
(r)

(s)

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Translation of foreign currencies

Iltems included in the financial statements of the Group are measured
using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the
Group operates (“the functional currency”). The financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollar, which is the Group's functional
and presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the reporting date.
Exchange gains and losses are dealt with in the statement of income
and expenditure.

Related parties

Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the party has
the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the Group or exercise
significant influence over the Group in making financial and operating
decisions, or vice versa. Related parties also include key management
personnel having authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the Group.

For the purpose of these financial statements, transactions between
the Group and Government departments, agencies or Government
controlled entities, other than those transactions that arise in
the normal dealings between the Government and the Group, are
considered to be related party transactions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3
(a)

142

Financial risk management
Financial risk factors

The Group's activities of providing healthcare services to patients,
the administration of drugs, the employment of a sizeable workforce
and the investment activities are primary areas of financial risks
being mitigated by the Group's financial risk management process.
The Group's underlying principles of financial risk management are
to transfer the cost of financial risks of significant level through
insurance with a diversity of insurers, to self insure for the operational
risks and to comply with regulatory insurance requirements as an
employer and owner of a motor fleet.

With regard to investments, in accordance with the Group's
policies and guidelines, the primary objectives are to meet
liquidity requirements, protect capital and provide a reasonable
investment return. The investment portfolio (“Portfolio”) as at 31
March 2025 consisted of bank deposits, fixed income instruments
and placements with the Exchange Fund. Based on the risk
control measures as summarised below, the risk of default by
the counterparties is considered minimal and the Portfolio has no
significant concentration of credit risk. Besides, the Group has no
significant currency risk since its financial assets and liabilities are
substantially denominated in Hong Kong dollar, which is the Group'’s
functional and presentation currency.

(i) Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is the risk that counterparties may default
on its bank deposits, fixed income instruments and placements
with the Exchange Fund.

Bank deposits are placed with the Group's approved banks which
are of investment grade as determined by Moody's or Standard and
Poor’s. For bank deposits, banks must meet the minimum credit
rating not lower than Moody's Baa3 or equivalent. The impairment
requirements of HKFRS 9 do not have a material impact on the
bank deposits. Credit risk arising from the bank deposits is not
significant to the Group.

All transactions in fixed income instruments are settled or paid for
upon delivery through approved banks and trading agent as well
as safe kept by the approved custodian with high credit ranking.
The credit risks of the issuers are assessed based on the credit
rating determined by Moody's or Standard and Poor's. Investments
in fixed income instruments (i.e. certificates of deposits and
bonds) are with issuers of credit rating not lower than Moody's
A3 or equivalent at the time of investment. Where the maturity is
over three years, the credit rating is not lower than Moody's Aa3
or equivalent.

The placements with the Exchange Fund are entered into
between HA and the Hong Kong Monetary Authority (“HKMA")
and it is expected that HKMA can fulfill its contractual
obligations to HA in respect of the placements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(if)

(i)

(iv)

Interest rate risk

The Portfolio's interest rate risk arises from interest bearing
cash at bank, bank deposits and fixed income instruments. Cash
at bank, which earns interest at variable rates, gives rise to cash
flow interest rate risk. Fixed rate bank deposits and fixed income
instruments expose the Portfolio to fair value interest rate risk.
Sensitivity analyses have been performed by the Group with
regard to interest rate risk as at 31 March 2025. If interest rates
had been increased or decreased by 25 basis points and all other
variables were held constant, the effect on the Group's operating
results and total funds is insignificant.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in
meeting obligations associated with liabilities. The Group's cash
flows are monitored on a regular basis and its investments are
managed with the primary objective of maintaining adequate
liquidity to meet the capital and operational requirements.

In order to meet the Group's liquidity requirements, the Group
has maintained adequate cash and bank balances and banking
facilities. As at 31 March 2025, the Group held cash and bank
balances of HK$57,833,006,000 (2024: HK$51,892,607,000)
as disclosed in note 15 and undrawn banking facilities of
HK$4,450,000,000 (2024: HK$5,450,000,000). As the Group has
a strong liquidity position, it has a very low level of liquidity risk.

Price risk

Fixed income instruments are subject to the price risk caused by
the changes in the perceived credit risks of the issuers and market
interest rates as disclosed in notes 3(a)(i) and 3(a)(ii) respectively.

Currency risk

The Group's financial assets and liabilities are substantially
denominated in Hong Kong dollar, the Group's functional and
presentation currency, and hence will not be exposed to significant
currency risk.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Fair values estimation

144

(i)

Financial assets carried at fair values

The Group's financial instruments that are measured at fair value
are categorised by level of the following fair value measurement
hierarchy:

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) inactive markets foridentical
assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived
from prices).

Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs).

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets
is based on quoted market prices at the reporting date. A market
is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing
service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual
and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm's length
basis. These instruments are included in level 1. None of the
instruments of the Group is included in level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in
an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives)
is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation
technigues maximise the use of observable market data where itis
available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates.
If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are
observable, the instrument is included in level 2. None of the
instruments of the Group is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable
market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments
include:

- Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments.
- The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is
determined using forward exchange rates at the reporting

date, with the resulting value discounted back to present value.

Other technigues, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used
to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Fair values estimation (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(ii)

Financial assets carried at fair values (Continued)

The placements with the Exchange Fund are included in level 3.
The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments
for the financial years ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024:

B RS R AR B AL

3 MBEBRER @)
(b) AABEME (&)
() BOABEIIKRNSREERE)
INERSTFRBRE=IE -TXRZII&
EE-_AF=A=t+—HIEER=Z=

mE= A=t —HILFEE=ELAN
29

The Groupand HA EBEI R EER

For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2025 31 March 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000

HZ2025% EHZE20245F

3A3IELLEE 3A3IBLEEE

BET T BT

At the beginning of the year A5 ] 19,708,813 22,267,203
Withdrawal $2EL (5,600,000) (2,000,000)
Interest earned / accrued interest PRERE. / FEETF 8. 647,233 812,186
Interest withdrawn $2EUFIL& (1,030,575) (1,370,576)
At the end of the year [note 8] AT 4X [Mf7E 8] 13,725,471 19,708,813

Financial assets at amortised cost

Fixed income instruments are carried at amortised cost. The fair
values of fixed income instruments (i.e. certificates of deposits
and bonds) at the reporting date are provided by the approved

(i) FREEERPAT IR G RE E

BlEA B TEREHKAESTIR -
EABITABIGERENER ERE
B AR BEHZERE AR B

custodian. These instruments are summarised below: FlgAR
The Group and HA EE R EER
Carrying Value [Note 9] Fair Value
IREEE [ 9] AREE
At 31 March 2025 At 31 March 2024 At 31 March 2025 At 31 March 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
202543 A31H 20243 A31H 202543 A31H 20243 A31H
BT T BT BET T BT T
Fixed income instruments 5,439,188 2,103,715 5,439,396 2,099,263

BFEABTA

The carrying values of other financial assets and liabilities such as
cash and bank balances, accounts receivable and trade payables
approximate their fair values and accordingly, no disclosure of fair
values for these items is presented.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3
(c)

146

Financial risk management (Continued)
Capital management

Under the Hospital Authority Ordinance, the resources of the Group
consist of the following:

() All money paid by the Government to HA and appropriated for
that purpose by the Legislative Council (“LegCo") and otherwise
provided to HA by the Government; and

(i) All other money and property, including gifts, donations, fees,
rent, interest and accumulations of income received by HA.

In this regard, the capital of the Group comprises revenue reserve,
designated fund and deferred income as shown in the consolidated
balance sheet. At 31 March 2025, the capital of the Group was
HK$35,525,597,000 (2024: HK$32,527,025,000).

The Group's objective for managing capital is to safeguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern to ensure sustainability
of the public healthcare system. The Group has always been prudent
in financial management so as to ensure proper and effective use
of public resources. Through the annual planning exercise, resource
requirement of individual clusters is identified and considered against
the total amount of resources available to the Group, targeting at
maintaining existing levels of services and providing pragmatic
service growth in meeting the pressing demand for public hospital
services. Priority is given to initiatives which aim to improve clinical
effectiveness and align with the strategic directions outlined in HA
Strategic Plan, and those which help address pressure areas, while
taking into account prevailing constraints such as hospital facility /
capacity. To facilitate the delivery of value-for-money services, the
Group regularly monitors a set of performance indicators covering
performance in clinical service, human resources management and
financial management.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4

(@)

(b)

(c)

Critical accounting estimates and judgments

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to
exercise significant judgments in the selection and application of
accounting policies, including making estimates and assumptions.
The following is a review of the more material accounting policies
that are impacted by judgments and uncertainties and for which
different amounts may be reported under a different set of conditions
or using different assumptions.

Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets

The estimate of useful lives and residual values of property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets is made by the management
with reference to the established industry practices, technical
assessments made on the life cycle and durability of the assets, etc.
Management will revise the depreciation and amortisation charge
where useful lives and residual values are different to the previous
estimates, or it will write off or write down technically obsolete
assets that have been abandoned or sold.

Provision for medical malpractice claims

The Group co-insures and retains a designated sum for each medical
malpractice claim. For those professional liability claims in excess
of the retained sum, the claims will be borne by the insurer. In view
of the complex nature and long development period of the claims,
a Claims Review Panel consisting of the participating medical
malpractice insurers, the external panel law firms appointed by the
insurers and HA's in-house experts review the status of potential and
active claims semi-annually and assess the provision required on
each significant case. An independent qualified actuary also assists
the Group on the assessment of the exposure of other reported cases
based on historical development trend of the claims settlement. With
reference to the assessments and the analysis by the Claims Review
Paneland the external actuarial consultant respectively, management
reviews the claims exposure and determines the provision required
to cover the Group's exposure at each reporting date. Such provision
is included in accrued charges and other payables in note 18.

Death and disability liabilities

The Group engages an independent qualified actuary to assess
the present value of obligations for its death and disability scheme
at each reporting date. Major actuarial assumptions include the
discount rate and salary inflation rate which are set out in note 21. The
present value of the Group's obligations is discounted with reference
to market yields on Hong Kong Government Bonds, which have terms
to maturity approximating the terms of the related obligations. The
long-term salary inflation is generally based on the market's long-
term expectation of price inflation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 Property, plant and equipment

B RS R AR B RE

5 ¥ - HBERRE

The Group 58

Furniture,
fixtures and
Buildings and equipment
improvements HK$'000 Motor  Computer
HK$'000 xRE vehicles equipment Total
BEY EEHE HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R#EE E RE BIEE st
BT T BT T BT T BT T BT T
Cost FRZx
At1 April 2024 R 2024 F 4 A1 H 1,123,450 18,056,419 458,799 964,149 20,602,817
Additions 1 i1 14,644 2,091,401 53,419 146,516 2,305,980
Reclassifications E#1 748 - (297) - - (297)
Disposals & (37,286) (742,552) (34,138) (44,462) (858,438)
At 31 March 2025 # 2025 4 3 A 31 A 1,100,808 19404971 478080 1,066,203 22,050,062
Accumulated depreciation & T E
At1 April 2024 1 2024 % 4 A 1 B 614332 9505341 349,305 713,020 11,181,998
Charge for the year N [E 2 T8 26,157 1,446,225 38,141 95,982 1,606,505
Disposals & (37,082) (720,185) (34,138) (44,462)  (835,867)
At 31 March 2025 78 2025 3 A 31 H 603,407 10,231,381 353,308 764,540 11,952,636
Net book value TR F{E
At31March 2025 74 2025 3 A 31 H 497,401 9,173,590 124,772 301,663 10,097,426
HABER
Furniture,
fixtures and
Buildings and equipment
improvements HK$'000 Motor  Computer
HK$'000 xRE vehicles equipment Total
EEY EEEE HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R#EE E RE EIRE et
BT T BT T BT T BT T BT T
Cost A
At1 April 2024 R 2024 F 4 A 1 H 1,123,450 18,056,419 458,799 964,149 20,602,817
Additions 10 11,675 2,091,401 53,419 146,516 2,303,011
Reclassifications #1048 - (297) - - (297)
Disposals & (37,286) (742,552) (34,138) (44,462) (858,438)
At 31 March 2025 7 2025 4F 3 A 31 B 1,097,839 19,404,971 478080 1066203 22,047,093
Accumulated depreciation & T E
At 1 April 2024 % 2024 % 4 A 1 B 614332 9505341 349,305 713,020 11,181,998
Charge for the year "N [E 2 T8 26,157 1,446,225 38,141 95,982 1,606,505
Disposals H& (37,082) (720,185) (34,138) (44,462) (835,867)
At 31 March 2025 # 2025 4F 3 A 31 B 603,407 10231381 353308 764540 11,952,636
Net book value TR E F{E
At 31 March 2025 72 20254 3 A 31 H 494,432 9,173,590 124,772 301,663 10,094,457
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5 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 5 Y% BERRE ©)

The Groupand HA EBI R EE R

Furniture,
fixtures and
Buildings and equipment

improvements HK$'000 Motor  Computer

HK$'000 RE vehicles equipment Total

EZEY EERE HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

R#EE S RE ERE At

BET T BETT BET T BT T BETT

Cost B4

At 1 April2023 M 2023 4 H 1 H 1,107,257 16,842,636 414,528 900,888 19,265,309
Additions 3£ Al 16,193 2,168,527 56,857 96,878 2,338,455
Disposals H & - (954,744) (12,586) (33,617)  (1,000,947)
At 31 March 2024 74 2024 3 A 31 A 1,123,450 18,056,419 458,799 964,149 20,602,817

Accumulated depreciation &1 &

At1 April2023 X 2023 F 4 A 1 H 589,246 9,073,084 321,845 657,072 10,641,247

Charge for the year REE Z & 25,086 1,357,437 40,045 89,418 1,511,986

Disposals & - (925,180) (12,585) (33,470) (971,235)

At31March 2024 7 2024 3 A 31 H 614,332 9,505,341 349,305 713,020 11,181,998
Net book value 1R E E{E

At31March 2024 72 2024 £ 3 A 31 H 509,118 8,551,078 109,494 251,129 9,420,819
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6 Intangible assets

B S R 2R MY
6 BIEE

The Group 58

For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2025 31 March 2024

HK$'000 HKS$'000
HZ2025% EHZE20245F
3A31IALEE 3A31ALFE
BT T BT TT
Cost &K
At the beginning of the year 4] 2,819,558 2,495,511
Additions 211 437,721 327,191
Reclassifications E #1748 297 -
Disposals & (615) (3,144)
Atthe end of the year 5542 3,256,961 2,819,558
Accumulated amortisation 27&
At the beginning of the year 4] 2,272,086 2,082,703
Charge for the year AN [& 7 # 273,659 192,527
Disposals 1% (615) (3,144)
At the end of the year R EF 4% 2,545,130 2,272,086
Net book value ¥R EF{E
At the end of the year RE#L 711,831 547,472

HAEER
For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
HK$'000 HKS$'000
HZ2025%F HE20245F
3A31ALEE 3A3IALFE
BT T BT
Cost &K
At the beginning of the year 4] 2,777,103 2,462,132
Additions &1 430,170 318,115
Reclassifications E #1748 297 -
Disposals H%& (615) (3,144)
At the end of the year IRE4% - 3,206,955 2,777,103
Accumulated amortisation 275 #8
At the beginning of the year A1) 2,243,830 2,059,453
Charge for the year NG [& 7 #$4 260,100 187,521
Disposals H%& (615) (3,144)
At the end of the year A 4% 2,503,315 2,243,830
Net book value 1R EE
At the end of the year FAEF £ 703,640 533,273
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7 Leases

(a)

The Group has leased buildings, mainly for offices, blood donation
centres, clinics, data centres, storerooms and warehouses. Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. To maximise operational flexibility for
the Group's operations, extension and termination options are provided
for a number of leases and are only included in the lease term if the
lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated). At 31
March 2025, the future cash outflows for lease not yet commenced
but committed by the Group amounted to HK$2,859,000 (2024:
HK$7,169,000).

Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet

(i)

(ii)

Right-of-use assets

b E e R
7 HE

EERANYETZRERAE BOF
DR EBEPL HEEREEM
EFHNERNEZ EPREZETRIE
ARG - B INE B L EE T 218
HEHRFBERSKILHAENEERE.
TEAASEMEEERAE (e Rr
) RAFAREFH R _HF=
A=+—8 MAABEEES&AEMNAE
EARKIBE R ABAEY 2859,0007T (=
T N4 ## 7,169,000 7T) °

) EFSEERBERBEANRE

() EREEE

The Groupand HA K BIREBE R/

At 31 March 2025 At 31 March 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000

2025%3A31H 202493 A31H

BET T BT T

Buildings #% 395,160 529,966

Additions to the right-of-use assets for the financial year ended 31
March 2025 were HK$142,446,000 (2024: HK$193,169,000).

Lease liabilities

Contractual maturities of lease liabilities are as follows:

REZE-_T-_AF=_A=+—H1t>
ERFE A EERNIEINAEK
142,446,000 (ZZE P04 : B
193,169,0007T) °

(i) HEARE

HERBENAVIIMIERMT

The Groupand HA K BIREBE R/

Total
Between Between contractual
Within 1and 2 and Over cash flows Carrying
1year 2years b5years 5years HK$'000 amount
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HA#XEE HK$S'000
1R 1-2%F 2-5% S5FLLE REALE REEE
BETT BYETn BT BT BETx B¥Tx
At 31 March 2025 7 2025 4 3 A 31 H 204,305 115,009 91,079 - 410,393 394,362
Less: non-current portion (199,068)
W IEmENER S
Current portion ;R Eh 25 195,294
At 31 March 2024 72 2024 £ 3 A 31 A 270,748 121,537 140,145 7,632 540,062 515,553
Less: non-current portion (257,328)
W FERBEHH
Current portion ;R Eh 25 258,225
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7

Leases (Continued)

(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of income

152

and expenditure

The consolidated statement of income and expenditure shows the
following amounts relating to leases:

BTSRRI RE

7 #HE @)
(b) EHRENZEERERNIE

frENCEER 2 T ERREREE T :

The Group 58

For the year ended
31 March 2025

For the year ended
31 March 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000
HZ2025% EE20245F
3A31ALEE 3A31AIFE
AT BET T
Depreciation #T& 277,252 338,335
Expenses relating to short-term leases (included in other operating 51,323 79,434
expenses)
S A ERERX (REEEMEERA)

Finance costs 8175 & 12,214 19,319
Total cash outflow for leases for the financial year ended 31 March HE-_Z_-_AF=-ZA=+—HB12H
2025 was HK$317,674,000 (2024: HK$445,347,000). fiEgES F il ia B RELBERE

# 317,674,000 T (ZT ZMF : ﬁévﬁ%

Placements with the Exchange Fund

The placements with the Exchange Fund are measured as “financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss”. The valuation technique and
significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurements
are the discounted cash flow and discount rate respectively. The
placements are denominated in Hong Kong dollar. Their fair values are
determined with reference to the estimated rates of investment return
for future years.

The interest on the placements is at a fixed rate determined annually
in January and payable annually in arrears on 31 December. Currently,
the rate of return is calculated on the basis of the average annual
rate of return on certain investment portfolio of the Exchange Fund
over the past six years or the average annual yield of three-year
Government Bond in the previous year (subject to a minimum of zero
percent), whichever is the higher. This rate of return has been fixed
at 3.7% and 4.4% per annum for January to December 2024 and
January to December 2025 respectively. The interest earned but not
yet withdrawn by HA would continue to accrue interest at the same
rate payable for the principal amount.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Placements with the Exchange Fund (Continued)

The placements with the Exchange Fund are analysed as follows:

B REERAR FEE

8 NEEZER @)
HNEESTERATMT

The Group and HA KSBEIRBEF

Custodian for PPP Fund and PPP
Samaritan Fund Endowment Fund HLISS Fund
[Notes 8(a) and 17] [Notes 8(b), 20 and 22(b)] [Notes 8(c) and 16]
EABBANEES DREHEESR BEEXFIS 2
HREA AREGREEEES sHEIES Total
[Htit 8(a) R 17 ] [H1EE 8(b), 20 & 22(b)] [B15 8(c) B 16] HEt
At31March At31March At31March  At31March At31March  At31March At31March  At31March
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
20255 2024 2025 20245 2025 20245 20254 20244
3A31H 3A31H 3A31H 3A31H 3A31H 3A31H 3A31H 3A31H
E¥TT  B%Tr BETT BETRT BT BT BETT BETT
Principal amount A& - 5600000 10,000,000 10000000 3,000,000 3000000 13,000,000 18,600,000
Interest earned but - 220,975 441,001 682,262 137,156 - 578,157 903,237
not withdrawn at
the reporting date
ESRE RFTES
IREREV A S U
Accrued interest - 53,550 113,278 98,271 34,036 53,755 147,314 205,576
FERTF S
- 5874525 10,554,279 10,780,533 3,171,192 3,053,755 13,725,471 19,708,813
Less: non-current - - - (10,000,000) - (3,000,000 - (13,000,000
portion
o FEmENER S
Current portion - 5874525 10,554,279 780,533 3,171,192 53,755 13,725,471 6,708,813
mEE D
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8 Placements with the Exchange Fund (Continued)
(a) Custodian for Samaritan Fund

The placement with the Exchange Fund matured on 8 November
2024, HA withdrew and immediately transferred the principal of
HK$5,600,000,000 (2024: Nil) together with the interest earned
of HK$404,575,000 (2024: Nil) to the Samaritan Fund to meet its
operational needs in future years.

(b) PPP Fund and PPP Endowment Fund

The placement with the Exchange Fund of the principal of
HK$10,000,000,000 was initially fixed for a period of six years
commencing from 12 July 2016. Upon the maturity in July 2022, the
placement with the Exchange Fund was renewed for another six years
until July 2028.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2025, HA withdrew the
interest of HK$626,000,000 (2024: HK$362,000,000) from the
placement with the Exchange Fund to support the operation of the
PPP programmes.

In February 2025, the Government proposed in its 2025-26 Budget to
bring back a portion of the unspent balance from the PPP Fund to the
Government's account in 2025-26. The Finance Committee of LegCo
subsequently approved to bring back HK$8,698,000,000 from the PPP
Fund to the Government's account. In this connection, the Placement
with the Exchange Fund was terminated on 1 August 2025.

(c) HLISS Fund

HK$5,000,000,000 has been placed with the Exchange Fund since
19 August 2019 for a period of six years, of which the principal
of HK$2,000,000,000 together with the interest earned of
HK$1,008,576,000 were withdrawn during the financial year ended
31 March 2024 for meeting the funding requirements for Enhanced
HLISS in future years.

Since HA has not renewed the placement with the Exchange
Fund upon maturity on 19 August 2025, the remaining principal of
HK$3,000,000,000 and interest earned / accrued of HK$171,192,000
as at 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$53,755,000) were classified as current
assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9 Fixed income instruments

The fixed income instruments substantially represent Hong Kong
dollar certificates of deposits and bonds with maturity periods within
five years from the date of purchase. The investment yields at the
reporting date were between 2.70% and 4.81% (2024: between 1.59%
and 5.30%).

At 31 March 2025, the fixed income instruments held by the Group
and HA are as follows:

BTSRRI RE

9 EEAETHA

BEEABTATZERMBEE AR AT
NE BB T RERES  EREE®
BEWENTF270% 2 481% 2B ZZE=
P4 : NF1.59% & 5.30% 2 fE) ©

R-Z_RF=A=+t—RH SERBER
FAMBEEABTEMT

The Group and HA B R EER

At 31 March 2025 At 31 March 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000

20253 H31H 20243 A31H

BT T BB T T

Maturing within one year — & RN Z|HA 5,244,688 1,969,015
Maturing between one and five years —= 1L R ZI|Hj 194,500 134,700
5,439,188 2,103,715

The above financial assets are neither past due nor impaired. The
credit quality of these assets is disclosed in note 3(a) while the
maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value
of these assets as stated in note 3(b)(ii). The Group does not hold any
collateral as security.

FleREEWRERMIRE ELE
ENEEERWNENME 3 ~EHRS
B - & AR{E &R EN 5 3(b)(il) FYIE
LEENAAEE - RELRTAEAE
HmiEEA -
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10

11
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Inventories

BTSRRI RE

10 &

The Groupand HA EE R EBER

At 31 March 2025 At 31 March 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000

202543 A31H 2024%3A31H

BET T BT

Drugs %24 1,953,959 1,934,956
Medical consumables 22 &5 T 960,648 1,458,975
General consumables —#&H & 29,873 37,906
2,944,480 3,431,837

The carrying value of inventories has been adjusted to its net
realisable value by HK$167,502,000 (2024: HK$397,931,000)
during the financial year ended 31 March 2025.

Loans receivable

Enhanced HLISS was launched in late December 2022. Under
Enhanced HLISS, downpayment assistance in the form of a staff
loan with interest subsidy provided by HA will be offered to eligible
employees to assist their ownership of a residential property for self-
occupancy so that employees will effectively be paying interest on the
staff loan at a preferential interest rate. The repayment period of the
staff loan is the shorter of the bank mortgage loan and employee's
benefits entitlement.

Loans receivable as at 31 March 2025 of HK$132,292,000 (2024:
HK$118,425,000) is neither past due nor impaired. According to the
terms and conditions of the scheme, staff loans are secured by second
legal charge or mortgage or equitable mortgage and that monthly
repayment of staff loans are deducted from the employees' wages.
In order to transfer out the credit risk and provide liquidity to cater
for more loan applications from staff, HA has engaged Hong Kong
Mortgage Corporation (“HKMC") as the loan purchasing institution
under which staff loans have been sold to HKMC on a quarterly basis
from October 2023 onwards. On this basis, the loans receivable is
classified as current assets and considered to be fully recoverable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 Accounts receivable

BRI
12 FEUIIR X

The Group and HA EE R EBER

At 31 March 2025 At 31 March 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000
2025%3AH31H 20243 A31H

BT T BETT
Bills receivable [note 12(a)] FEUKIREE [Fi15E 12(a)] 481,732 433,730
Accrued income [note 12(b)] FEFTUA [FI5E 12(b)] 51,868 22,526

533,600 456,256
Less: allowance for expected credit losses [notes 12(c) and 12(d)] (61,569) (62,849)
B FEEME BIBRRE [T 12(c) K 12(d)]

472,031 393,407

(@) Ageing analysis of hills receivable is set out below:

(a) MEMIREAIREE DTN :

The Groupand HA EE R EBER

At 31 March 2025 At 31 March 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000

2025%3H31H 202453 A31H

BT BT T

Within 30 days 30 H A 325,775 302,238
Between 31 and 60 days 31 & 60 H 85,889 55,268
Between 61 and 90 days 61 # 90 H 12,644 14,531
Over 90 days 838 90 A 57,424 61,693
481,732 433,730

The Group's policy in respect of patient billing is as follows:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

Patients attending outpatient and Accident and Emergency
services are required to pay fees before services are performed.

Private patients and non-eligible persons are required to pay
deposit on admission to hospital.

Interim bills are sent to patients during hospitalisation. Final bills
are sent if the outstanding amounts have not been settled on
discharge.

Administrative charge is imposed on late payments of medical
fees and charges for medical services provided on or after 1
July 2007. The administrative charge is imposed at 5% of the
outstanding fees past due for 60 days from issuance of the bills,
subject to a maximum charge of HK$1,000 for each bill. An
additional 10% of the outstanding fees are imposed if the bills
remain outstanding 90 days from issuance of the bills, subject to
a maximum additional charge of HK$10,000 for each bill.

Legal action will be instituted for outstanding bills where
appropriate. Patients who have financial difficulties may be
considered for waiver of fees charged.

KEARBARENBRIT

() WAZIFIZ 2R SEERZARE
X2 RN ER -

(i) MERBARIFFEEBALARRA
BEIE-

Blr2mERmAZLPHRE - R0
RMAEHBREARBNRROER - B
SEHNKIRIREBA

(i

R FL A Bz EmRH
MERRY ERRXNERESH
T E - AR B 1% 60 BHARB
BER @3 IMIRRIK 5% tERTTIR
& SEKRE FRAEE 1,0007T: 0
FEIREEZE 1R 90 R ARBHER - Al
ERIMIRR K 10% 1ERITIRE -
TRIRE FR&%E% 10,000 7T

(iv

5 B2 B HE R B R BRI MBI 1B R SRR
ERTH -ARKEBERBENRA £H
SERTUABRRSE -

=
=H
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(b)

158

Accounts receivable (Continued)

An ageing analysis of bills receivables that are past due but not
impaired is as follows:

BTSRRI RE

12 BIRIRER (&)

B HR1E R B RUE B FE IR B Y iRl D AT AR
T

The Groupand HA EE R EBER

At 31 March 2025 At 31 March 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000

2025%3H31H 2024%3H31H

BT T BETIT

Past due by #18f :

Within 30 days 30 H A 281,130 253,687
Between 31 and 60 days 31 £ 60 H 71,296 36,207
Between 61 and 90 days 61 & 90 H 2,486 3,711
Over 90 days #83@ 90 H 8,352 6,163
363,264 299,768

Bills receivables that are past due but not impaired include
outstanding debts to be settled by Government departments,
charitable organisations and other institutions for whom the credit
risk associated with these receivables is relatively low. The Group
does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Accrued income for hospital fees and charges represent contract
assets, which are recognised when the Group has provided services
before the debtors pay consideration or before payment is due.

At 31 March 2025, bills receivable of HK$118,468,000 (2024:
HK$133,962,000) were impaired by HK$61,569,000 (2024:
HK$62,849,000). The ageing analysis of these receivables is as
follows:

381 HA (B 08 A R 18 /O B W ik B8 B 35 BT B
Fl-ZEEREREMEEBERERNRR

B L RUIRSOS R K E B RS R -

S B W RFFA E AR R A

(b) BERRBENEAABABLSNEE E5H
EEBANRESLE R D HIAEE f AR
BETHER-

) RZE-ZRAF=ZRAR=+—H" &
#118,468,000L (ZZ2 - F : K
133,962,0007T) &Y & U bR B8R (B /5
#61,569,000c (ZE_HF : B
62,849,0007T) ° &L EIIREEAYIRER DAT
PN

The Group and HA B R EER

At 31 March 2025 At 31 March 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000

2025%3H31H 2024%3H31H

BT T BT

Within 30 days 30 H A 44,645 48,551
Between 31 and 60 days 31 & 60 H 14,593 19,061
Between 61 and 90 days 61 2 90 H 10,158 10,820
Over 90 days 838 90 H 49,072 55,530
118,468 133,962
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12 Accounts receivable (Continued)

Movements in the allowance for expected credit loss of bills receivable
are as follows:

BRI
12 BUIRRK ()

FEUIRETRHIE IR R BB EFN T -

The Group and HA B R EER

For the year ended For the year ended

31 March 2025 31 March 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000

H £2025% HE20244F

3A31HLEE 3A31BIFE

BT T BT T

At the beginning of the year A 4] 62,849 61,140
Additional provision B &1 i1 47,723 48,203
Uncollectible amounts written off 5 &5 &9 Ak Uk B 58 (49,003) (46,494)
At the end of the year PAF 4% 61,569 62,849

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair
value of receivable mentioned above. The Group does not hold any
collateral as security.

ERER  RANEESRRE L EKR
RE RS EE - REIL AR AEAEFR
TR -

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide expected d) EEERCEEFBREER)D F 5RA
credit losses as prescribed by HKFRS 9, which requires lifetime EREYFBHERBRGRE  E&T
expected credit losses to be recognised from initial recognition ERERZIERERERFENERIE
of the receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, KB EEBERBA  BURIEREIR
accounts receivable have been grouped based on shared credit risk BARNEERRFEEMEIARE D4 -
characteristics and the days past due. The gross and net carrying FE U IR FX RO 0R E AR (B AR TR (B R B ETF
amounts of the accounts receivable and the lifetime expected credit BHMTERERBRITIT
losses analysis are as follows:
The Group and HA B R EER
Weighted
Lifetime Average
Expected Lifetime
Gross Credit Loss Net Expected
Carrying HK$'000 Carrying Credit Loss
Amount BEFE Amount Rate
HK$'000 HFEH HK$'000 InFEF g
R E 48 (8 EEEES IR E R E EHEA
BT T BET T BET T BRE
At 31 March 2025 5 2025 % 3 A 31 A
Within 6 months 6 {& 8 A 498,100 (34,545) 463,555 7%
Between 6 and 12 months 6 £ 12 @ A 20,840 (12,601) 8,239 60%
Over 12 months #2838 12 {& A 14,660 (14,423) 237 98%
533,600 (61,569) 472,031
At 31 March 2024 A 2024 £ 3 A 31 H
Within 6 months 6 {& A A 431,465 (41,835) 389,630 10%
Between 6 and 12 months 6 £ 12 @ A 14,199 (11,355) 2,844 80%
Over 12 months #2838 12 {& A 10,592 9,659) 933 91%
456,256 (62,849) 393,407

The lifetime expected credit loss balances disclosed above include
HK$38,725,000 (2024: HK$38,781,000) which were related to
receivables individually determined to be impaired. These mainly
related to non-eligible persons, the recoverability of which are
considered to be low after taking all possible debt recovery actions.
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13

(b)

160

Other receivables

Rt 7S R 2R B
13 ELfth FEURIE 3K

The Group and HA B R EBER

At 31 March 2025 At 31 March 2024

HK$'000 HKS$'000

2025%3 A 31H 2024%F3A31H

BETT BT T

Donations receivable FEU B L 44,285 47,722

Interest receivable &Y F.& 410,065 589,922

Receivable from the Government for reimbursement or refund of 2,867,123 692,501

expenditure incurred on capital projects [note 13(a)]

BT i kiR B AR TRRIE B AP RS2 MO FEURGRIE [F97E 13(a)]

Others EAth 329,417 274,718

3,650,890 1,604,863

Other receivables do not contain impaired assets. The balances
mainly represent outstanding debts to be settled by Government
departments, charitable organisations or other institutions for whom
the credit risk associated with these receivables is relatively low. The
maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value
of each class of receivables mentioned above. The Group does not hold
any collateral as security.

HAEUIR RIS BMBEEE SHREIRE
FERERATRPFT - B E B H MR R EE
FIR K 5 L R IR TS & 1 (5 B B 48
HRE EREANKANEERRE

BN IR R A EE - KRB REF
BEMER @R -

Movements in the balance with the Government for funding the (a) Etﬁ}ﬁ?jﬁ%ﬁlﬁﬁﬁ FIT % B ST RO B R A
expenditure incurred on capital projects are as follows: ZEhan T
The Group and HA B R BER
For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
EZ2025%F BELE 20245
3A3LHILEE 3ASIBLEFE
BT T BT T
At the beginning of the year IR #] 692,501 122,190
Government funding received on capital projects (8,732,859) (5,879,522)
AR TIZIE B WE| O BRFREK
Amount incurred on capital projects 278 Ti238 B Frd U8R 10,907,481 6,449,833
At the end of the year IR E 4% 2,867,123 692,501
Movements in the contributions from the governing bodies of ex- (b) RTFEBNEE L B /A B B R TI2 T8 B A e

subvented hospitals for capital projects are as follows:

FRIAZ BT -

The Group and HA £EEREER

For the year ended For the year ended

31 March 2025 31 March 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000

HZ2025% HE2024%F

3B31ALEE 3A31BILFE

BT BETT

At the beginning of the year IR #] - -

Contributions received from the governing bodies of ex-subvented (12,537) (187,517)

hospitals on capital projects

PRSI A B BB BB M St E R TR 1A B B RIE

Amount incurred on capital projects EAN L1218 B ATi# 2008 12,537 187,517

At the end of the year IREF 4
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14 Deposits and prepayments

BTSRRI RE

14 e RFBENFRIE

The Group £E

At 31 March 2025 At 31 March 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
2025%3H31H 20249 3A31H
BT T BB T T
Rental and other deposits F & & E iz & 57,555 65,194
Prepayments to Government departments A BT £8P FE{~ HIFUE 1,963 5,468
Maintenance contracts and other prepayments 344,188 451,629

REALMEAMIENFIA
403,706 522,291

HAEER

At 31 March 2025 At 31 March 2024
HK$'000 HKS$'000
202543 A 31H 2024%3A31H
BT BT T
Rental and other deposits & & Hfbiz4 57,425 65,064
Prepayments to Government departments [A] X fF 2B P9 78 - #9 78 1,963 5,468
Maintenance contracts and other prepayments 344,176 451,629

REAHREMIBNRIE
403,564 522,161
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16
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BTSRRI RE

Cash and bank balances 15 BERBITE
The Groupand HA EE R EBER
At 31 March 2025 At 31 March 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
2025%3 A 31H 202453 A31H
BT T BT
Cash at bank and in hand $R1T/F X R FHRE 1,951,329 2,673,754
Bank deposits with original maturity within three months 21,567,995 5,790,618
FRAR B BB = 8 A B IRTTF K
Cash and cash equivalents 38 & MR & FE 23,519,324 8,464,372
Bank deposits with original maturity over three months 34,313,682 43,428,235
[RIREIEA AR R = & A M IRITIE 5K
57,833,006 51,892,607
The cash and bank balances included amounts designated for HLISS BRE MIRTTA ﬁ?@%ﬁ@:% K BOEREET
and Enhanced HLISS, PPP Fund and Minor Works Projects Fund of EIRBTEXEENE MMTMT’F%%
HK$7,666,079,000 (2024: HK$8,371,102,000), HK$180,656,000 NMANEIVTRRIAR RS WMEETHE - DhlS
(2024: HK$194,102,000) and nil (2024: HK$624,285,000) respectively. /§M§7666l]790007t(4774425fﬁ-/%ﬁg
The effective interest rate on short term bank deposits is between 8,371,102,000 7t ) + #% 180,656,000 7T
1.60% and 4.17% (2024: 2.60% and 4.78%). These deposits have an (ZE 4% - /%ﬁg 194,102,000 7T ) MR
average maturity of 60 days (2024: 64 days). (ZZ= /04 : 3% 624,2850007T) ° 52
HIRITERNERENERLE60%E417%
ZE(ZTZUF : 260%E4.78% 2 [H) -
EEFE mﬁﬁjﬁaﬁm%wf7fm
F  64K)
Designated fund - HLISS 16 EEE® — BEEXF SRR
aT &l

The Group offers eligible employees under HLISS (“the original
scheme”) an interest subsidy to finance the purchase of a residence
in Hong Kong. The original scheme is funded by HA through the
recurrent subvention from the Government. With the implementation
of Enhanced HLISS in late December 2022 (as set out in note 22(c)),
the designated fund previously set aside for the original scheme
will be used to meet the funding requirements for Enhanced HLISS
applications in future years.

As agreed with HKMA, HK$5,000,000,000 has been placed with the
Exchange Fund since 19 August 2019 for a period of six years. As
stated in note 8(c), HA withdrew the principal of HK$2,000,000,000
from the placement during the financial year ended 31 March 2024.
The remaining fund balance, including the amount withdrawn from the
placement with the Exchange Fund, is maintained in designated bank
and investment accounts which are included under cash and bank and
fixed income instruments balances respectively.
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17 Balance with Samaritan Fund

R e Ik
17 HRRITES &

The Groupand HA EE R EBER

At 31 March 2025 At 31 March 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000

2025%3H31H 20243 A31H

BT T BT

Principal amount X% - 5,600,000

Interest earned but not withdrawn at the reporting date - 220,975
S B AR G IRERE A B ULA

Accrued interest FE5HFI & - 53,550

- 5,874,525

During the financial year ended 31 March 2013, the Government
injected HK$10,000,000,000 to support the operation of the
Samaritan Fund, which was established in 1950 by resolution of
the LegCo for the purpose of providing financial assistance to needy
patients. As instructed by the Government, HK$4,000,000,000
was vested immediately in the Samaritan Fund. The balance of
HK$6,000,000,000 not immediately required by the Samaritan
Fund was placed with the Exchange Fund since 8 November 2012
by way of a credit facility entered into between HA and HKMA for
a fixed period of six years. As agreed with HKMA, HA renewed the
principal amount of HK$6,000,000,000 for another six years at
its maturity on 8 November 2018. During the financial year ended
31 March 2023, HA returned principal of HK$400,000,000 and
interest of HK$1,126,915,000 withdrawn from the placement with
the Exchange Fund to the Samaritan Fund. The placement with the
Exchange Fund matured on 8 November 2024. HA withdrew and
immediately transferred the principal of HK$5,600,000,000 together
with the interest earned of HK$404,575,000 to the Samaritan Fund
to meet its operational needs in future years.

#H}yi%ﬁjﬁgiﬁ/\ jlﬂ":ﬁik«i/f)%/%
EKY c ERMRMAAZEZANHEARESE
B REBE_Z—=F=A=+—HI>
BHREE  BAEEEN A BB
10,000,000,000 7T AT I E S HE(E ©
BEBRFER - A8 4,000,000,000
TR FIBRN R IE AR S - MR T JERNR
=T 6,000,000,000 7T ﬂ!@ﬁ*ﬁﬁ
BHESERAMIINEELH BH_-F
“F+—ANBEFEANEES  FH
BEANF REBERESE RN
;;qz -;Zi,%ﬂ% 000,000,000 LY AR & 1A

—NFE+—ANBEHBREFENI
Eﬁ/f BEHRFE REBEE-_ZE_=F=
A=+—HILZHHREE  BERS KN
FEE S 72 PRI 400,000,000 T
H A4 KRB % 1,126,915,000 T F 2 8%
BEFHIBEANTES - HNEESFERER
“E-NE+—ANBEH - BERIR
HU# 8 5,600,000,000 STHY AN €& R
#& 404,575,000 T Ay F) B 30 BN s 82 5 1
BIEMGES  AUNEMNRKREENE
BEE
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18 Creditors and accrued charges

BTSRRI RE

18 EREARENER

The Group £8
At 31 March 2025 At 31 March 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
202543 A31H 20245 3H31H
BT T BT T
Trade payables [note 18(a)] FETE SR [Fi7F 18(a)] 1,823,550 2,243,339
Accrued charges and other payables [note 18(b)] 11,695,402 10,691,193
FEAT B R R EAb R K [T 5E 18(b)]
Current account with the Government [note 18(c)] 35,426,037 27,478,409
BN T < A SRR R B [P 5T 18(c)]
48,944,989 40,412,941

HA BER
At 31 March 2025 At 31 March 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
202553 A31H 20245 3H31H
BT T BT T
Trade payables [note 18(a)] FE{HE SR [MiFE 18(a)] 1,822,604 2,243,256
Accrued charges and other payables [note 18(b)] 11,642,006 10,642,431
FEAT 8 R R EAb R R [P 5E 18(0)]
Current account with the Government [note 18(c)] 35,426,037 27,478,409
EIIS T 2 ) SR AE R B [F5T 18(c)]
Current account with subsidiaries 54,206 48,721
HAM S 2 IR PRI IR B
48,944,853 40,412,817

(@) Anageing analysis of trade payables is set out below:

(a) ENEZRFOIREIIIAT

The Group £E
At 31 March 2025 At 31 March 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
202543 H31H 20243 A31H
BT T BT
Within 30 days 30 HiA 1,770,612 2,065,977
Between 31 and 60 days 31 & 60 H 27,348 66,589
Between 61 and 90 days 61 £ 90 H 10,616 26,432
Over 90 days #23& 90 H 14,974 84,341
1,823,550 2,243,339

HA BER
At 31 March 2025 At 31 March 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
2025%3H31H 20243 A31H
BT T BT
Within 30 days 30 HiA 1,769,666 2,065,894
Between 31 and 60 days 31 & 60 H 27,348 66,589
Between 61 and 90 days 61 £ 90 H 10,616 26,432
Over 90 days #23& 90 H 14,974 84,341
1,822,604 2,243,256

—EoRF=A=t—HNENESRK
FER —F RS

All trade payables as at 31 March 2025 are expected to be settled
within one year.
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18

(b)

19

Creditors and accrued charges (Continued)

B R R M
18 EREAREMSER @)

Accrued charges and other payables of the Group and HA (b) EEREERNENERREMIEREIE
included accrual for annual leave of HK$2,525,576,000 (2024: RIEBRBHE B 2,525,576,000 T (=&
HK$2,561,115,000) and contract gratuity accrual of HK$3,471,536,000 — P4 : A% 2,561,115,000 7T) - LA K FE
(2024: HK$3,034,344,000). SHE LB E B % 3,471,536,000 o (—&F =
PO : E® 3,034,344,0007T) °
The balance mainly included Government funding that was already ) He#rEEFEDWEIWRIEERTN R
received and set aside for designated programmes or specific items for TEREIEE T a8 T T B B AR R A
future uses as agreed with the Government. The unutilised balances B RN E-_hF=HA=1T—HHK
as at 31 March 2025 were as follows: B RMAHRIT
- HK$7,908,187,000 for medical and IT equipment replacement and — /A% 7908,187,000 jT( —Z — /U4 :
maintenance (2024: HK$6,139,000,000); 7515 6,139,000,000 70)  LAVEEE K&
B REERANRE A
- HK$7,354,728,000 for meeting the funding requirements of future — B#7354,728,000 7T( —ZF — P04 :
new / enhanced initiatives (2024: HK$6,468,000,000); 7% 6,468,000,000 7t) B HEHI#T
/RN E R E
- HKS$5,400,000,000 for commissioning of new and re-developed 75# 5,400,000,000 T (ZZ =04 ¢
hospitals (2024: HK$3,000,000,000); and 7513 000,000,000 7T ) R1EE# MK
AR REEER 0 &
- HK$1,994,942,000 for eHealth related initiatives (2024: — A#1,994,942,000C( —ZF -4 ¢
HK$2,000,000,000). 75 2,000,000,000 7T) AR @A
BIEE -
Deposits received 19 EWizE
The Group and HA EEREER
At 31 March 2025 At 31 March 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
2025%3H31H 202453 H31H
BT T BT
Patient deposits [note 19(a)] W AL & [MI5E 19(a)] 53,446 45,572
Other deposits [note 19(b)] EftizE [Fi7F 19(b)] 647,773 611,499
701,219 657,071
Patient deposits represent contract liabilities and mainly consist of (a) MAKREEBRENEE TE2BFEEANL
deposits received from private patients and non-eligible persons on RIRISIRA BOERF & AR AT AP RAT
admission to hospital services. The amounts are recognised before the iR E B BRIEE S B RS A
Group provides services. Except for the amounts overpaid which will Re-BRTERELHBANZARIE UK
be refunded to patients and deposits for privately purchased medical BEEFEENES 2HEHRIREN
items, the full balance is recognised as income in the statement of 7T 2(d) I ETBER R T — (B B E I
income and expenditure in the next financial year according to the THEERPERBIA
accounting policy set out in note 2(d).
Other deposits mainly consist of deposits from contractors which are (b) HiiZeFEREANEIRS  EREDN

held as securities for due performance of the contractors’ warranties,
undertaking and obligations under contracts.
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20 Public-Private Partnership Endowment Fund

21

166

As approved by the Government, the endowment fund of
HK$10,000,000,000 has been placed with the Exchange Fund for
a period of six years since 12 July 2016. As agreed with HKMA, HA
renewed the placement of HK$10,000,000,000 for another six years
upon maturity on 12 July 2022.

In February 2025, the Government proposed in its 2025-26 Budget
to bring back a portion of the unspent balance from the PPP Fund
to the Government's account in 2025-26. The Finance Committee of
LegCo subsequently approved to bring back HK$8,698,000,000 from
the PPP Fund to the Government's account. In this connection, the
Placement with the Exchange Fund was terminated on 1 August 2025.
The endowment fund of HK$10,000,000,000 as at 31 March 2025 was
classified as current liabilities.

Death and disability liabilities
Under their terms of employment, HA employees are entitled to death
and disability benefit cover. This is funded by HA through the recurrent

subvention from the Government.

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:

Rt 7S R 2R B
20 AREBHERRES

B EBEERBH_T—RF+HA+=H
27 # 10,000,000,000 T B A E S
FRIMERES REIAF - RIZEBERHRE
BRI  %E%E%10,000,000,000
THFEFRR_ZE__F+A+-B3HE
BENINERES REIREF-

RIZEZAF A BNEZZS-RAZ%=
NEEVRBEERTPERNZFERLATL
EWMIERESRIE IS KRB BEHZE BT
WRE - Hi& A SBB R B HER QT
B EE S OB 8 698,000,000 TE
BAFIRE - Bt INEESTFRER =T =
AFENA—BRIE-R-ZE-_RAF=F=1
—B - BARELH#%10,000,000,0007T
WE| AREAE-

21 AT REBRBNEE

REBRRBGE BERNERIZFERT
RIGEBRIRE - %t BB ERBEBR
TR E B TIAER) -

BERBRTIABBHENT

The Groupand HA KB R EER

At 31 March 2025 At 31 March 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000

2025%3431H 202443 A31H

BT BT T

Present value of funded obligations ;T & & {T#IIRE 291,956 299,223
Fair value of plan assets T | EEMN QA EE (52,642) (12,123
239,314 287,100

The movement in the present value of funded obligations is as follows:

TEEEZREZSNT:

The Group and HA £E R BER

For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2025 31 March 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000

B E20255 HE2024%F

3A31HLEE 3HA31BIFE

BT T BT T

At the beginning of the year FAF 4] 299,223 233,496
Current service cost B1TARFEFI X 55,085 38,856
Interest cost F| B 5% 10,279 7,870
Benefits paid B 1 1&Fl| (12,375) (10,949)
Remeasurement of disability liability B8NS T EHHE (17,026) 4,850
Remeasurement of death liability e T-t@FIE T EHE (43,230) 25,100
At the end of the year A48 291,956 299,223
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21 Death and disability liabilities (Continued)

The movement in the fair value of plan assets is as follows:

BTSRRI RE

21 AT REREINEE @)

FHEIBEMD

EEEBIT

The Group and HA EBE R BES

For the year ended For the year ended

31 March 2025

31 March 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000

B Z2025%F B E 20245

3HA31IBLEE 3A31BLFE

BT T BB

At the beginning of the year FAF 4] 12,123 42,387

Adjustment on plan assets (excluding interest income) 41,215 (31,606)

FrEIEEMFARCTIBETE HﬂU\)

Employer contributions &3 3k 11,679 12,291

Benefits paid 2~ 4&Fl (12,375) (10,949)

At the end of the year &R 52,642 12,123
The death benefits are insured by a group life insurance policy and the EEREBEBASRRARESRME &Et
current insurance policy covers the period up to 31 July 2027. The fair BRREE - HWATIRE Ani‘iﬂﬁxﬁlﬁﬁi_ ==
value of plan assets was estimated based on the present value of the +E+ A _‘f' A-stE8IEEMAREE
expected death benefits covered by the policy period from 1 April 2025 BER-_T-_AFOA—HE=-ZT_tF

up to 31 July 2027.

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of income and
expenditure and consolidated statement of comprehensive income
have been calculated by reference to an actuarial valuation and are as
follows:

tA=+— EIJJ:E’M% B A MM 2 TR HASE

CRAMERERLE

TIRRERERESHLERAW A
BRNGEEEWRER T AR A

The Group and HA B R EBER

For the year ended For the year ended

31 March 2025

31 March 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000

HZ20255 B ZE20244F

3A31HLLFE  3A3IHLEE

BT T BT

Current service cost 31T R X 55,085 38,856

Interest cost FE8F 10,279 7,870

Remeasurement of disability liability S EF| & EHTE (17,026) 4,850

Total, included in staff costs [note 25] 48,338 51,576
BEH(BBTEE IAAA) [ 25]

Remeasurement of death liability e T-t@ A E T EFHE (43,230) 25,100

Adjustment on plan assets (excluding interest income) (41,215) 31,606
FFEIEENFR(TEEMEMA)

Total, included in other comprehensive income (84,445) 56,706

it (EREREMEERER)
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21 Death and disability liabilities (Continued)

Principal actuarial assumptions used in the actuarial valuation are as
follows:

BTSRRI RE

21 AT REREINEE @)

BEAERBNEZL

BEMBRAT

The Groupand HA SEREER

For the year ended For the year ended

31 March 2025

31 March 2024

HZ2025% HE=20245F

3A31ALEE 3A31AILEFE

% %

Discount rate BYIR & 3.50 3.70
Assumed rate of future salary increases {8 5% 7k 38 £ 4 1% 18 0.00 - 2.00 2.50

The analysis below shows how the present value of the funded
obligations as at 31 March 2025 would have increased / (decreased) as
aresult of the following changes in the principal actuarial assumptions:

FHARRENTEEREBRON
% BU-F-RE- A=+ —ATARE

HEMEMN/ OfD):

The Group and HA B R EBER

Increase in Decrease in

50 basis points 50 basis points

HK$'000 HK$'000

Fl=F 50 B+ FIEFE 50 BT

BET T BT T

Discount rate 8538 % (11,561) 12,589
Assumed rate of future salary increases 2% 7 5K 5 & 1 18 13,518 (12,348)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22 Deferred income

The Groupand HA S BIREBE R/

Designated Minor Works

donation Projects Enhanced
fund Fund PPP Fund HLISS
[Note 2(e)] [Note 22(a)] [Note 22(b)] [Note 22(c)]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EERE NRTRE AFE ETEB% Total
S HEES EE S EXEHEl HK$'000
[HIEE 2(e)] [H1aE 22(a)] [BYEE 22(b)] [H1EF 22(c)] st
BET T BET T BET T BETT BETX
At1 April 2023 X 2023 4 A1 H 697,552 2,279,496 1,063,131 4,687,904 8,728,083
Additions during the year & A0 148,904 - 14,726 1,340,401 1,504,031
Interest earned FTEF| 5 - 73,451 409,078 448661 931,190
Transfers to deferred income - capital - (32,753) - (4,723) (37,476)
subventions and capital donations
ERTIRE W — BARB R ERIBHE
Transfers to consolidated statement of (93,585) (2,174,621) (656,215) (7,515) (2,931,936)
income and expenditure
EREGRE W EER
At 31 March 2024 7% 2024 £ 3 A 31 H 752,871 145,573 830,720 6,464,728 8,193,892
Additions during the year 4 A3 171,493 - 17078 1,410,113 1,598,684
Interest earned FTZ&F 5 - 6,360 414,752 501,857 922,969
Transfers to deferred income - capital - (14,876) - (2,778) (17,654)
subventions and capital donations
ERTREN s — BEARRB R ERIEH
Transfers to consolidated statement of (125,721) (137,057) (672,885) (19,175) (954,838)
income and expenditure
ERAGE M EER
At 31 March 2025 70 2025 4 3 H 31 B 798,643 - 589,665 8,354,745 9,743,053
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22
(a)

(b)

(c)

170

Deferred income (Continued)
Minor Works Projects Fund

During the financial year ended 31 March 2014, the Government
advanced HK$13,000,000,000 (under Subhead 8083MM) to HA
for minor works projects to improve the existing facilities in public
hospitals and clinics. The one-off grant has replaced the annual block
funding allocation under Capital Works Reserve Fund - Improvement
Works Block Vote (Subhead 8100MX) and covers minor works projects
under five planned programmes, with costing not more than
HKS$75 million for each individual item. The five programmes are
facility rejuvenation programme, capacity enhancement programme,
safe engineering programme, universal accessibility programme and
regular maintenance / minor works and preparatory works for major
capital works projects. The approved grant, together with the related
investment income, have been fully used to meet the costs of the
minor works projects since April 2014.

With the depletion of the one-off grant (under Subhead 8083MM) during
the financial year ended 31 March 2025, HK$8,000,000,000 funding
(under Subhead 8096MM) was approved by the Finance Committee of
LegCo on 14 June 2024, to support HA for carrying out minor works
projects for about five years starting from the financial year ended 31
March 2025, subject to a financial ceiling of HK$75 million for each
individual item. The accounting policy for recognition of funding under
Subhead 8096MM is set out in note 2(q)(v).

PPP Fund

The Government allocated to HA a sum of HK$10,000,000,000
on 31 March 2016 as an endowment fund (note 20) to generate
investment returns for regularising and enhancing ongoing clinical
PPP programmes, as well as developing new clinical PPP programmes
in future. HA can make use of the investment returns together with
the remaining balance of the one-off designated funding provided
previously to support the ongoing operation of the PPP programmes
commencing in April 2016.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2025, the Government
provided recurrent subvention of HK$17,078,000 (2024:
HK$14,726,000) to HA for pay adjustment of staff deployed on PPP
programmes. The subvention was transferred to the PPP Fund
and was recognised in the deferred income — PPP Fund when the
subvention was received.

Enhanced HLISS

The HA Board approved in March 2020 to designate the Government
funding contributed for HLISS and related investment income, after
meeting the expenditure for the original scheme, for Enhanced
HLISS from the financial year ended 31 March 2021 onwards. With
the implementation of Enhanced HLISS in late December 2022,
the designated funding will be fully allocated for meeting the cash
outflow for staff loan remittance and interest subsidy payments to
HKMC. The accounting policy for Government funding designated
for Enhanced HLISS and related investment income is set out in
note 2(qg)(iv).
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22

(a)

(b)

(c)

EREW s ()
PRTIREEES

REBEZE-_ZE—NME=A=+—HIL0HK
FEAN HFFEZ B 13,000,000,000
JL( B 8083MMIA N) FEER LA
EIT PR TRER MEAT R K2
IR - EE AU B COREEF
BBEATREFEBES — RSIENE
BEE TR (5 B 8100MX ) » Wik A E4: 5
2ETEIE LR ABE 7500 ETHy/ A
HETR - AE 8B IERIEEBEE - iR
BERTTE 2B s A AL
ERTTRTE] AR EHASEE NV TR R E
BIRFENEE I - ERBEFTERA
BRERSZERAATH T —NEMNA
AN TRBEERY

PEEEE N R (5 E 8083MMIB
TRBE-_E-_AF=A=+—HIt
M BEEANRT LA BEESR
T NENA OB AR K80 EA
(5D E 8096MMIE ) UL HEBER
HITHEBEE-_TE-_RAE=A=1+—81F
BHEEEABHORFEN/ N TIRIER -
EFEEEMPER LR ABE 75008 T
AR DB 8096MM I N M & 51
BER ST EE 2(q) (v) °

RALEHEES

RZE—RFE=ZA=+—HB BNAEE
B %5/ %% 10,000,000,000 JT & 37 BB AR
& (M5E20) MAMAFRERDRAES
SEMBFRBERETORKRALE BIER
g ARIERRIEITHMGTE - BERA
MARERR ERBT A4 T —IK
HRREBRNER FELER T RF
MO ARHEITRRFLE B IERTE

REBEE-_ZT-_RF=A=1t—HIWIKE
B BFMEE B4 E%17,078,0007T
(ZZE 4 814,726,000 7T) & & 14
#Eh - BIEARLE e BB B M 5 BN
B MmN SEAEATLE R

EES UHERR/ELTE RS — RLER
RS -
ETEXENE

BERRER_ZT_TF= A ERE=S
B =A==+ —HIIMNIREER
BRERANREREZRF B R EIA K
FE# 3k R AR RE IR B UR 25 (T2 M a% 2 Bh &t
SR NAREIEEERTE -8
TEXERNER_ZE-_—_F+_AKHE
ToMEERESE2HARETERER
BIR & M AR B F A R A F B2
B F AN ETTE LB ¥ S XT8N
FFBs 3k R A BRI B 25 2 & 5T BUR S Y
F2(0)(iv) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23 Deferred income - capital subventions and

capital donations B g
The Group £E
Capital Capital
subventions donations
[Note 2(q)] [Note 2(e)]
HK$'000 HK$'000 Total
BEXRMHE BEXRBE HK$'000
[H1EE 2(q)] [H17E 2(e)] et
7 JT BT T BT T
At1 April2023 7% 20234 4 A1 H 7,943,894 1,092,976 9,036,870
Additions during the year & P91 A1 2,532,463 95,707 2,628,170
Transfers from Enhanced HLISS 4,723 - 4,723
HRHEBIEXENGTE
Transfers from Minor Works Projects Fund 32,753 - 32,753
ERAA A TRRBEEES
Transfers to consolidated statement of income and (1,581,463) (152,762) (1,734,225)
expenditure
ERAEFE B AEER
At 31 March 2024 7% 2024 £ 3 4 31 H 8,932,370 1,035,921 9,968,291
Additions during the year 4 I3 il 2,657,222 68,825 2,726,047
Transfers from Enhanced HLISS 2,778 - 2,778
ERAABTIEXEHE
Transfers from Minor Works Projects Fund 14,876 - 14,876
EHA N TIEHEEES
Transfers to consolidated statement of income and (1,764,991) (137,744) (1,902,735)
expenditure
ERAFE WS EER
At 31 March 2025 7 2025 % 3 H 31 B 9,842,255 967,002 10,809,257
HABER
Capital Capital
subventions donations
[Note 2(q)] [Note 2(e)]
HK$'000 HK$'000 Total
EXRWE EXRRE HK$'000
[H15 2(q)] [H1EE 2(e)] st
BT BT T BT
At1 April 2023 7 2023 % 4 A1 H 7,933,765 1,092,976 9,026,741
Additions during the year A1 N 2,523,387 95,707 2,619,094
Transfers from Enhanced HLISS 4,723 - 4,723
ERAAETEXEFGE
Transfers from Minor Works Projects Fund 32,753 - 32,753
ERHAVITIEREES
Transfers to statement of income and expenditure (1,576,457) (152,762) (1,729,219)
ERT R EER
At 31 March 2024 72 2024 £ 3 H 31 H 8,918,171 1,035,921 9,954,092
Additions during the year A 1 2,646,702 68,825 2,715,527
Transfers from Enhanced HLISS 2,778 - 2,778
EHAB T EXENE
Transfers from Minor Works Projects Fund 14,876 - 14,876
EEA VI TIEBEEES
Transfers to statement of income and expenditure (1,751,432) (137,744) (1,889,176)
ERTKEZEE
At 31 March 2025 % 2025 3 A 31 H 9,831,095 967,002 10,798,097
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24 Hospital / clinic fees and charges

172

The charges for hospital services provided by the Group are levied in
accordance with those stipulated in the Gazette. Since the Government
has established a set of policies and procedures on granting fee waivers
to the needy patients, the hospital / clinic fees and charges recognised
as income in the consolidated statement of income and expenditure
are stated net of such waivers. The amount of hospital / clinic fees and
charges waived for the financial year ended 31 March 2025 amounted
to HK$1,185,686,000 (2024: HK$1,158,367,000).

Hospital / clinic fees and charges (net of waivers) are derived over time
and at a point in time in the following categories:

Rt 7S R 2R B
2 B %/ BT I

EETIRENBEERE 2R EERTHE
MR ERMEIRER - BRBNE I —
ERTEBEERERAZRRENBERK
B BIEGE BT EERPEREKRA
BT/ ZEFKRE BNk TELRE
ZmE o ERE—_SE-_HE=A=+—8H
2T BEER - ERENER/ 2B
W& A7#%1185686,000 L (=M
4 @ 75#51,158,367,0007T) °

E—BERASER -KHEGN SR

Be/Z BATE (BRI SBER) T -

The Group &
At a point
Over time in time Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
E—BRER EXE KR st
BT T BT T BT T
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZ 2053 A3l BLEEE
Inpatient fees {¥FT & 708,874 - 708,874
Outpatient fees PI2 & - 1,438,956 1,438,956
ltemised charges D IEWE 80,843 3,970,354 4,051,197
Other medical fees H fth B U & 1,600 54,717 56,317
791,317 5,464,027 6,255,344
For the year ended 31 March 2024
BZ2024F 331 AILEE
Inpatient fees {¥FT I & 724,780 - 724,780
Outpatient fees PI2 U & - 1,402,210 1,402,210
ltemised charges D IEWE 87,494 3,595,817 3,683,311
Other medical fees Efh EEE I E 1,510 53,901 55,411
813,784 5,051,928 5,865,712
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25 Staff costs

BTSRRI RE

25 E TR

The Group 58

For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2025 31 March 2024

HK$'000 HK$'000
BZE 2025F = 2024%F
3A31IALLEE 3A3IHILFE
BT T BETT
Basic salaries and other short term employee benefits 61,735,066 58,428,711
EAX#Fe REMEHESRT
Post-employment benefits BB £ & F) :
- Contribution to HA Provident Fund Scheme [note 25(a)] 2,860,510 2,828,930
BRERRAES A [MiE 25()]
- Contribution to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme [note 25(b)] 1,178,611 1,104,954
@M AR S BIMEEK [MEE 25(0)]
Death and disability benefits [note 21] 48,338 51,576
ST RBEEN (M 21]
65,822,525 62,414,171

(a) HA Provident Fund Scheme (“HAPFS”)

The HAPFS is a defined contribution scheme. The current scheme
was established on 1 April 2003 and governed by its Trust Deed and
Rules dated 29 January 2003, and registered under section 18 of the
Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance (“ORSQ").

Most employees who have opted for HA terms of employment are
eligible to join the HAPFS on a non-contributory basis. The HAPFS is
a defined contribution scheme as all benefits are defined in relation to
contributions except that a minimum death benefit equating to twelve
months' salary applies on the death of a member. However, when the
member's account balance is less than his twelve months' scheme
salary, the difference will be contributed by the Death and Disability
Scheme of the Group.

The monthly normal contribution by the Group is currently set at 15%
of each member's monthly basic salary. The percentage of benefit
entitlement, receivable by the employee on resignation or retirement,
increases with the length of service.

At 31 March 2025, the total membership was 24,733 (2024:
25,523). The scheme's net asset value as at 31 March 2025 was
HK$69,992,608,000 (2024: HK$69,809,369,000).

(a) BirEERABETE

(B EERAEEE ] B TAREHNK
B BRITHERBRE_TT=F—A_
TABMGEAROERA R_FT=F
MA—AKRY RZEEE WRIE (BE
RRETEVERDI) F1BAREEM o

REPEEEEBERERKHNEER B
BERSNEFHRN [BREERBARE
&t - [BREERAEERE ] BR
FEHETE] - EABRT RO B At B K
BER+ B AF S REFLTREMIN
PRAE M EB R T R FRE - T8 BB
MR BABRBRERZE T2+ — @A
Fe K ZEREHKENIETR
BERESHRE -

SENEALEREHFER RESERFHA15%
18 B 1 B B SlOR VR B A] ) A 25 tE R BB AR
A -

RZE-_RAF=A=+—H FEH*A
24 733F KB (=ZZE Y4 :25,523%)
HEIEE E/FE AB%69,992,608,0007T
(ZZ /Y4 : #%69,809,369,0007T) ©
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25
(b)

26
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Staff costs (Continued)
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPFS”)

In accordance with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance,
the Group set up a MPFS by participating in master trust schemes. HA
permanent employees can choose between the HAPFS and the MPFS
while contract and temporary employees are required to join the MPFS
unless otherwise exempted.

The Group's contributions to MPFS are determined according to each
member’s terms of employment. Members' mandatory contributions
are fixed at 5% of monthly salary up to a maximum of HK$1,500 per
month.

At 31 March 2025, the total membership was 88,128 (2024: 80,140).
During the financial year ended 31 March 2025, total members’
contributions were HK$1,030,286,000 (2024: HK$960,823,000).
The net asset value as at 31 March 2025, including assets
transferred from members’ previous employment, was
HK$15,532,244,000 (2024: HK$13,132,452,000).

Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses comprise office supplies, hospital supplies,
non-capitalised project expenditure and other administrative expenses.
For the financial year ended 31 March 2025, other operating expenses
included external auditor's remuneration of HK$1,050,000 (2024:
HK$1,050,000).
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Sl -BEREEERE EWMFEH
%ﬁ%@%iﬁaj[ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ i
2] - BIERS %ﬁ,éﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁéﬁ
290 [ AEDE S -

EFY [RFIMELE SR OHF BB
BFE KB/ ERIEEME - KB /58 5 1E
HERETARAEFH 5% LEAB1,5007T
AR

RZE-_RAFE=ZA=+—H :F&8HHA
88128 K B(=Z P4 :80,140%) - FE &
E-T— £¢_ﬂ_+ Bt 2B BREE
A K ERHF i@ﬁéﬁ/%méﬂomzssooo
TT(ZEZ @i #1#.960,823,0007T) ° A
ZE-RF=A=+—H FENEEF
B BEKBABRUEANEE &8
#15,532,244,000 C(—ZE -4 : B
13,132,452,0007T) °

L& B
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B RBA(CHEARE R AT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27 Remuneration of Members of the Board and
Five Highest Paid Executives

(@) No Board members are remunerated for the services provided in the
capacity as Board members.

(b) The remuneration of the five highest paid executives (including the
Chief Executive, Cluster Chief Executives, Directors and other division
heads of the Head Office, and Hospital Chief Executives), which
comprised basic salaries and other short term employee benefits and
post-employment benefits, and is included in the staff costs for the
year, is as follows:

BTSRRI RE

21 RERERAERSHTHAE

YN &

FIEHERERENALERAERMUKE
ot AR M EERE < o

FANBTIRADBEINTUATASR
BFITBAR (BRITHRAE BREEE -
RS AR N B B FI BB T T
HARE) MG - EREFAEARTERE
fib 22 HR R B8 ) K BB IR AR A -

For the year ended
31 March 2025

HK$'000
HZE20255F
Name of Executives / Position 3A31HILEE
THABHR /B BT T
Dr Tony KO Pat-sing &k &4
Chief Executive 1T AEEL 7,071
Dr Theresa LI Tak-lai 2= 5
Cluster Chief Executive (Hong Kong West) /& & TaBi 4848 25 6,366
Dr CHUNG Kin-lai $Z{# & &
Cluster Chief Executive (New Territories East) ¥ 57 B4 48 42 €5 5,707
Dr Deacons YEUNG Tai-kong 5 7% && 4
Cluster Chief Executive (Kowloon East) J1 52 SRE 48 48 B 5,519
Dr Eric CHEUNG Fuk-chi 5R18 f5; 28
Cluster Chief Executive (Kowloon Central) J18E-P B 484285 5,518
30,181

Note:
All executives do not receive any variable remuneration related
to performance.

T
FRBTIRA B0 T ER 8L % 30 5 80 89 N TE
HET
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27 Remuneration of Members of the Board and
Five Highest Paid Executives (Continued)

21 RERERAERSFITHAR

i€ (&)

For the year ended
31 March 2024

HK$'000
B 220245
Name of Executives / Position 3B31HILEE
THAEHR /B BT T
Dr Tony KO Pat-sing Skt 84
Chief Executive 1TEAEEL 6,867
Dr Nelson WAT Ming-sun JE #4524
Hospital Chief Executive (Caritas Medical Centre) BFAE B e 1T AR ES 5,736
Dr Theresa LI Tak-lai Z=/=EE 5
Cluster Chief Executive (Hong Kong West) /& & Pa B 4848 25 5,542
Dr CHUNG Kin-lai $8f212 &
Cluster Chief Executive (New Territories East) ¥ 57 BB 48 42 85 5,373
Dr Deacons YEUNG Tai-kong 15 &% 28 4=
Cluster Chief Executive (Kowloon East) J1 88 R B 48 48 85 5,298
28,816

Note:
All executives do not receive any variable remuneration related
to performance.
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28 Related party transactions

Significant related party transactions entered into by the Group include
the following:

HA has a number of contracts with the Electrical and Mechanical
Services Department (“EMSD") of the Government for providing
biomedical and general electronics engineering services, electrical,
mechanical, air-conditioning, building services and other services
(e.g. capital and improvement works) to the Group. The amounts
incurred for these services for the financial year ended 31 March 2025
amounted to HK$2,280,837,000 (2024: HK$2,481,695,000).

HA has entered into an agreement with the Government to provide
serving and retired civil servants, their eligible dependants and other
eligible persons with the services and facilities at all public hospitals
and clinics free of charge or at the prevailing rates as prescribed in the
Civil Service Regulations. For the financial year ended 31 March 2025,
revenue foregone in respect of medical services provided to these
persons amounted to HK$400,554,000 (2024: HK$366,925,000). The
cost of such services has been taken into account in the Government's
subvention to the Group.

HA has entered into short-term licence agreement with the AsiaWorld-
Expo Management Limited ("AWE"), which is wholly owned by the
Airport Authority Hong Kong, to permit HA on using licensed area
for the operation of Hong Kong Infection Control Centre during the
period from 1 February 2024 to 31 July 2024, and further extended
to the period as agreed with AWE. Total licence fees recognised in the
statement of income and expenditure during the financial year ended
31 March 2025 amounted to HK$24,450,000 (2024: HK$54,000,000).

Under a master mortgage sale and purchase agreement with HKMC,
HA has sold the staff loans offered to its eligible employees under
Enhanced HLISS to HKMC on a quarterly basis from October 2023
onwards (note 11). During the financial year ended 31 March 2025,
total settlement amount received from HKMC, being outstanding
principal balance on staff loans, amounted to HK$314,490,000 (2024:
HK$234,883,000).
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SEEFBMALENERRZEAE:

BEERERNRETRET L TEHDE
4 HZBRASEBIRHEYD SR 5& ke
BT ITRERS - FEH - #w - =582
FHRE M EMARS (EARTRERMHET
B) BE—E-_RE=A=+—AH1I
ZHBREEREBRE S KRB LS
#2,280,837,000 L (ZZE M4 : B
2,481,695,0007T) °

BEREBTRIN T Wi - BEBIMRIK
NIEE - EEBERNRBREMFTESER
AT eBiz (AKEEHRAD Aral i
B IR BB M2 B ATRI RS M AR o
HE-_Z-_AF=-A=t+—HIZHBF
B ALl ALTHRENEBERE SR Z
% Y FIE &7 400,554,000 0 (ZE =
PU4E @ 7B#366,925,0007T) © & L AR TS Y
ERCEEERNGAEENMEEIRA -

BEREDNEKREEEERFRL
18EE) (BB S Eﬁ%iﬁ%ﬁ?mmi
B STEERN_T_MF_A4
—HE_FT_MF+L A=+ —HHEEH
FE T 2 E BB RRIERI PO WiE—
FHEGBEHZERHEAAR - EHE"Z
“HRFE=ZRA=t—BIZFBFE HAS
& P RE R 24,450,000 T(ZF =1
& 8% 54,000,0007T) WEK S AE
FERR ©

RIBERZIBE SRR R WAERTESRE
B ek '%%%Eﬂ_giiiﬂ—ﬂt 74

FRZBESF AR EEETIEXEN
§+2UTWA§$%EI%E1¥EE’JEIE§MMT
+11) EAEIZ:E;?;ﬁﬁ A=+—H
W ZBBRFE  {IRBESF AR W E MR
HESHE (B TERNAEERSHE)
BB ® 314,490,000 L ( — M4 : &
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Related party transactions (Continued)

BTSRRI RE

28 BHRABEA TR F (&)

Remuneration of key management personnel ) =EEZRABHM
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and TEEBABREAENIREERE I5
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of SREREBEHFHAL ERETHRA
the Group. It comprises the Chief Executive, Cluster Chief Executives, O MABRE  BIRER SRR R B A ERRT
Directors and other division heads of the Head Office. FEo
Total remuneration of the key management personnel is shown below: FEETEASNHIERNT
For the year ended  For the year ended
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
EZ2025%F BZE20245F
3A31ALEE 3A31AILFE
BET T BT T
Basic salaries and other short term employee benefits 75,144 69,051
EAXFG S REMEHESEF
Post-employment benefits B8 1% 18 7 7,479 6,766
82,623 75,817
Other significant related party transactions with the Government () HEBFETHEMENBRATRSBE
include annual recurrent grants, capital subventions (note 23) and BEEBMREE - EXRME (M23) %
designated funds (notes 16 and 22). Details of transactions relating to EEE® (iE16 %22) - EESERK
the Group's retirement schemes are included in note 25. FFEINR SEFEERMIEE25 -
Outstanding balances with the Government as at 31 March 2024 and (9 HE2=Z—_NW&=A=+—HBFK=-Z=-H

31 March 2025 are disclosed in notes 8, 13, 14, 17, 18 and 20. The
current account with subsidiaries is disclosed in note 18.
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29 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash
flows

(a) Net cash generated from operating activities

B TSR AR B AL

29 ZERTRBBMKRME

(a) EEEBMERESFHE

The Group £8
For the year ended For the year ended
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000
BZ2025% B ZE 20245
3A31HLSFE  3A3IHLFE
BET T BB TT
Surplus for the year GF R & 4 524,000 986,282
Investment income & & Wz (2,075,570) (1,986,817)
Interest for Minor Works Projects Fund /N T 3218 B E & 8, 8,596 108,315
Income transferred from Minor Works Projects Fund (137,057) (2,174,621)
ERE/NTRBEEES ZIWA
Interest for PPP Fund AL & B IEE & F 8 642,880 382,520
Income transferred from PPP Fund &8 B AFLE 7 1EE S 2 WA (672,885) (656,215)
Interest for Enhanced HLISS B T B ¥ B GTEIF 8 291,155 1,250,116
Income transferrgd from Enhanced HLISS (19,175) (7,515)
EREETEXEREEZWA
Capital subventions for property, plant and equipment and intangible 2,657,222 2,532,463
assets
M WBRLREIBTEEZ EXHE
Capital donations for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 68,825 95,707
ME - WERRERELEE EARBE
Income transferred from capital subventions and capital donations (1,902,735) (1,734,225)
EREEREB RERBR 2 A
Disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 22,571 29,712
HEME  MRRBERELEE
Adjustment of inventories to net realisable value (230,429) (108,316)
FEAREN#RFE
Depreciation and amortisation #7 2 & # 2,157,416 2,042,848
Finance costs 817 & 12,214 19,319
Increase in death and disability liabilities 5£T= & #5542 F| & E1E 11 36,659 39,285
Increase in deferred income FEXE Uz 1E 1N 1,472,963 1,410,446
Decrease in inventories 7 & 4 717,786 1,816,706
Increase in loans receivable fEH & FRIE AN (13,867) (118,425)
(Increase) / decrease in accounts receivable JEUIR 3% (1&40) / 57 (78,624) 49,802
Increase in other receivables E b & Uz iR T8 hn (2,225,884) (625,182)
Decrease / (increase) in deposits and prepayments 118,368 (100,889)
e RIERFRIBER A / (3850)
Increase in creditors and accrued charges &4 A N fE{H & F3 12 hn 8,532,048 6,987,088
Increase in deposits received 2 W IZE 1 N 44,148 40,996
Net cash generated from operating activities 4& & B 1538 & H 50 9,950,625 10,279,500
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29 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash 29 FREBEESREMEMEE @)
flows (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities (b) BEEH EL£HNEaEHIR

The Group 58

Lease liabilities

HK$'000

HEas

BT
At1April2023 742023 4 A1 H 673,032
Cash flow changes IR &/ £ &

Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities (& & EAE 25 (350,072
Non-cash changes 3E38 £ 18 B &

Additions of leases T &1 192,593
At 31 March 2024 7 2024 % 3 A 31 F 515,553
Cash flow changes IR & i E &

Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities XN & & EARE EH (263,420)
Non-cash changes JEIR &I B & &)

Additions of leases T &0 142,229
At 31 March 2025 2 2025 %F 3 A31 H 394,362

30 Donations from the Hong Kong Jockey Club 30 REEREESEZEETES

Charities Trust 1B g

During the financial year ended 31 March 2025, the Hong Kong Jockey HE-_ZT-AF-A=1+—HIHNPK
Club Charities Trust made donations totalling HK$20,214,000 (2024: FEN BEESSREETESHKAT
HK$5,388,000) to the following institutions: DR 78 20,214,000 L (== — /Y

£ : ¥%5,388,0007T) ¢

HK$'000
BT
Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital 3R [& 1=k A A3 =B 15,560
Pok Oi Hospital 8E 2kt 4,654
20,214

The donations were accounted for in the designated donation fund in RIEHIEE 2(e) (i) FTEAIZ FTBCR - IBEES

accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2(e)(ii). AEEREESA -
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31 Net proceeds from fund raising activities under

Public Subscription Permits (“PSP”) granted
by the Social Welfare Department

The net proceeds from fund raising activities under PSP granted by
the Social Welfare Department of the Government during the stated
period are set out below:

BTSRRI RE

3 BHEREANERGLAFBNGT

ARETEREBRFEFRA

Bt ERMNEBR G ARERTAZ
IR AHE#ETETEHAMEFH AL
™

Gross Gross
Income Expenditure Net
Raised Incurred Proceeds
PSP No. Period HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
Institution ARHER Purpose Covered WA xAE  FKA
Hig FF AR AR 5 B REHE B%Tr BETT B¥TR
Alice Ho Miu Ling 2024/037/1  Improving the quality of patient care services 1/4/2024 - 29 0 29
Nethersole Hospital HERARBEE 31/3/2025
HRBAYERIITEER  2024/100/1 30/9/2024 - 4 0 4
31/3/2025
Bradbury Hospice 2023/106/1  To raise funds for patient care 1/11/2023 - 8 0 8
AEBREEPL EFBIERARET 31/10/2024
Caritas Medical Centre 2023/044/1  To raise funds for patient services of Caritas  1/5/2023 - 44 2 42
RE R Medical Centre 30/4/2024
EXAEREBRRARS
Castle Peak Hospital 2023/158/1  To raise funds for supporting the work of the  1/1/2024 - 39 4 35
S1LER Institute of Mental Health, Castle Peak 31/12/2024
Hospital
EXREIRFLRRFHRRESROIE
Cheshire Home, Shatin 2023/064/1  To raise funds for developing patient related  1/7/2023 - 15 0 15
DHEREER services 30/6/2024
EXAERRERR BN RS
Grantham Hospital 2024/007/1  To raise funds for improving patient services of ~ 1/2/2024 - 22 0 22
BEEHERR Grantham Hospital 31/1/2025
EXRERZESLBRAR RS
Haven of Hope Hospital 2024/043/1  To raise funds for services of Haven of Hope 1/4/2024 - 81 0 81
BEERR Hospital 31/3/2025
EXREBERRNRS
Hong Kong Buddhist 2024/011/1  To raise funds for the purchase of medical — 1/2/2024 - 85 1 84
Hospital instruments / equipment and office equipment, ~ 31/1/2025
BAHGHER improvement of hospital premises and
supporting patient related activities
ENBUEREBRERERBFOERE  HF
BRBRERRARDEE
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31 Net proceeds from fund raising activities under

182

BTSRRI RE

31 BHEEABRE MBI

Public Subscription Permits (“PSP”) granted ARETERITHRBRERA
by the Social Welfare Department (Continued) (%)
Gross Gross
Income Expenditure Net
Raised Incurred Proceeds
PSP No. Period HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
Institution YNEE £ Purpose Covered WA#%E EFEt BB
Hig FF AR AR 5 BHEY RERE B¥Tr BETT BT
Hong Kong Eye Hospital ~ 2023/060/1  To raise funds for the Hong Kong Eye Hospital ~ 1/7/2023 - 26 15 11
EEBRRER to improve the hospital environment and  30/6/2024
facilities, purchase equipment and furniture,
promote health education, develop volunteer
services, facilitate staff development and
provide support to staff to enhance the
continuous quality improvement of healthcare
services in Hong Kong Eye Hospital
SHRERSEBRBHRORERRE - B
BRMREE - ERRYE  EEEIR
B REETIEERIEETINRNERAS
BRMNBRNBEREEER
Kowloon Hospital 2023/061/1  To raise funds for the Kowloon Hospital to  1/7/2023 - 73 32 41
NEEERT improve the hospital environment and  30/6/2024
facilities, purchase equipment and furniture,
promote health education, develop volunteer
services, facilitate staff development and
provide support to staff to enhance the
continuous quality improvement of healthcare
services in Kowloon Hospital
EFRERENEBROREREME  BER
MREER  EEREYE #REIRS
REBTERIIEEINFERANEERE
Fre s RS e =
North District Hospital 2023/160/1  To raise funds for North District Hospital — 1/1/2024 - 118 12 106
Charitable Foundation Charitable Foundation so as to support North  31/12/2024
tERERZESETES  2024/023/1 District Hospital in improving the physicaland ~ 1/3/2024 - 3 0 3
mental health of the public in the community  31/12/2024
and to promote health education, medical
education and research
SXAE [EBREEETES] UL
& B EEARRA T S A
B WREREHE - BEHENAE
Our Lady of Maryknoll 2024/038/1  To raise funds for improvement of patient 1/4/2024 - 37 4 33
Hospital services 31/3/2025
ER R EXAEREERANRS
Prince of Wales Hospital ~ 2023/085/1  To raise funds for supporting the services of  1/9/2023 - 1,229 5 1,224
Charitable Foundation the Prince of Wales Hospital, improving the  31/8/2024
BRTRTRRES physical and mental health in the community
ErtEs and promote medical education & research

EXAEXEERHRERERRYE  HER
WARE & DR RIEE BEHE MR

Hospital Authority Annual Report Bz & 12 /54 i 2024-2025



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 Net proceeds from fund raising activities under

A FE #R AR B
31 BHEEAERS

P

NBEER

Public Subscription Permits (“PSP”) granted ARETENVEBREFRA
by the Social Welfare Department (Continued) (48)
Gross Gross
Income Expenditure Net
PSP No. Raised Incurred Proceeds
NEER Period HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Institution A Purpose Covered WA#%E MxaE FhA
Hig Ei E]:y) REHE B¥Tr BT B¥TR
Queen Mary Hospital 2024/045/1  To raise funds for hospital service enhancement  1/4/2024 - 52 0 52
HBEk SHBERARR RS 31/3/2025
Ruttonjee & Tang 2024/046/1 To raise funds for volunteer services, patient  1/4/2024 - 69 4 65
Shiu Kin Hospitals related activities and improvement of hospital ~ 31/3/2025
BRI REPEER R service
SHBERTRY - BATE LSRR RS
Shatin Hospital 2023/127/1  To raise funds for developing patient service 1/12/2023 - 15 0 15
P HEER STAEERRBARS 30/11/2024
St. John Hospital 2023/161/1  To raise funds for enhancing the services of St.  1/1/2024 - 10 2 8
RMNER John Hospital 31/12/2024
EXAERARNSRRBEE X
Tai Po Hospital 2024/039/1  Improving the quality of patient care services — 1/4/2024 - 12 0 12
Rip b HEBARBE R 31/3/2025
2024/099/1 30/9/2024 - 8 0 8
31/3/2025
The Hospital Authority 2024/034/1  To raise funds for The Hospital Authority 1/4/2024 - 832 0 832
Charitable Foundation Charitable Foundation to promote healthy  31/3/2025
BheEBERZEES living, subsidise medical expenses of
needy patients, support activities of patient
groups, promote health education and
develop volunteer services in Hong Kong
EXAEIHEREEREZESNIE 2
HERFRLE BRERBAINEEER -
ERRAEENTEE  HEREYE UARER
ELREG
The Pamela Youde 2023/084/1  To raise funds for enhancing the services of 1/9/2023 - 953 8 945
Nethersole Eastern Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital — 31/8/2024
Hospital Charitable 2024/116/1 or any other non-profit making hospitals / 4/10/2024 - 96 12 84
Trust medical facilities in Hong Kong 23/11/2024
RELERADITZRR ERRERARBLERABITERER KBS
ZEERES Hih e | BREENRBER
The Princess Margaret 2023/098/1  To raise funds for Princess Margaret Hospital for 3/10/2023 - 176 37 139
Hospital Charitable enhancement of patient services quality 31/8/2024
Trust 2023/125/1 EFPIERRUBRAERARBE R 27/11/2023 - 13 2 1
BeilRkEEEe 31/8/2024
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31 Netproceeds from fund raising activities under

Public Subscription Permits (“PSP”) granted

Rt 7S R 2R B
31 EHEBEREREA M

= xp
SNF

T EHOE B R A

by the Social Welfare Department (Continued) (%)
Gross Gross
Income Expenditure Net
Raised Incurred Proceeds
PSP No. Period HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
Institution ANHER Purpose Covered WAMEE xaE FhA
Hig FFRIE AR BHEY REHRE B%TR BETT BT
The Queen Elizabeth 2024/036/1  Toraise funds for supporting hospital services at ~ 1/4/2024 - 599 5 594
Hospital Charitable Queen Elizabeth Hospital 31/3/2025
Trust EXAEFMHBER RS
R ABRESES
He
Tseung Kwan O Hospital ~ 2023/094/1  To raise funds for patients benefit and 25/9/2023 - 16 0 16
1S E R enhancement of hospital services 24/9/2024
SHRERANER RIRA BB RS
Tuen Mun Hospital 2023/055/1  To raise funds for: 6/6/2023 - 16 0 16
P EEpr () Patient benefits / services uses; 31/5/2024
2023/097/1 (1) Health and diseases education; 1/10/2023 - 2 0 2
() Patient Resources Centre; 31/5/2024
(IV) Medical research and development
projects for the betterment of the
community
EXAE:
() WARH /R
Iy BEMERHE
(1) RAERF L
(V) BEREREEAEIUSELE
United Christian Hospital ~ 2024/044/1  To raise funds for patient's benefit and  1/4/2024 - 111 2 109
HEEHHEBR enhancement of hospital services of United ~ 31/3/2025
Christian Hospital
EFRERABFRREAEEHH S BRNE
BIR%
2024/041/1  Toraise funds forimprovement of patientservice ~ 2/4/2024 - 53 1 52
EXAERER AR 31/3/2025
Yan Chai Hospital 2024/012/1  To raise funds for hospital services and hospital ~ 2/2/2024 - 762 13 749
CEER facilities 31/1/2025

LR IEB IR & B R

The net proceeds received from fund raising activities under PSP were
accounted for in the designated donation fund in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in note 2(e)(ii).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32

33

34

35

Capital commitments

At 31 March 2025, the Group and HA had the following capital
commitments:

BTSRRI RE

32 EARAERE

R-Z_RF=A=+—R SEKEERA
ATV EAAGE :

The Group and HA £E R BER

At 31 March 2025 At 31 March 2024
HK$'000 HK$'000

202593 H31H 2024%3A31H

BET T BT

Authorised but not contracted for B &R B AR T4 47,168,428 76,680,463
Contracted for but not provided 2 5] 22 418 R B4 85,003,662 67,563,992
132,172,090 144,244,455

The capital commitments disclosed above include (i) costs to be
capitalised under property, plant and equipment or intangible assets;
(i) expenditure not meeting the capitalisation policy and are to be
charged to the statement of income and expenditure; and (iii) amounts
to be incurred by HA for undertaking the building works projects on
behalf of the Government and governing bodies of ex-subvented
hospitals as set out in the accounting policy note 2(q)(i).

Taxation

No taxation is provided as HA is exempt from taxation under the
Hospital Authority Ordinance.

Contingent liabilities

As adequate provisions have been made in the financial statements
after reviewing the status of outstanding claims and taking into
account legal advice received, the Group has no material contingent
liability as at 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

Approval of financial statements

The financial statements were approved by members of HA on
25 September 2025.

B PRSI E) B A EGE B () K& E AR
YME BEMRELETLEEZA: (i) ©
HAEMEBRE "R AR AE RO
32 B (i) IR IRBTEE 2(a) (i) PRt EY & &I
R BERBRBFRATMFEEREAHE
HITRETIRRBMSNER -

33 Bi1E
55 B (BRI B IR R -
B AL R IR -

4 HAREE
T M R R R AR AR AR IE
FiSsRE R ARG HREDIEL T HH
B ELEME —S-RE=A=1H
WEEARRAE (CB_E: E) -

35 IS MRAIER

KB HRRER_E-_AFNA=-1+HH
EEERKERB -
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APPENDIX 1
Bité% 1

Membership of the Hospital Authority

=~ > =
SEERKRE
No. of plenary
meetings attended
in 2024-25

Name 2024-25FEF  Committee participation in 2024-25*

it HEBAERE 202425 FESHENEZE S

Mr Henry FAN Hung-ling, SBS, JP 15/15 Chairman of plenary meetings, EC and EEC

Chairman, HA FPRAT  THRZEShESEEREZESLF

PR vt

B e EEE

Mr Thomas CHAN Chung-ching, JP 15/15 Member of DWC, EEC, FC, HRC, MSDC and SSDC

Permanent Secretary for Health TRMEZEE  B2EEXRERES HMBKEEE  ANEA

BRAAT S REEE  BERGERZEGIXERBERZESNXE

BB EREINER

Mr Lawrence CHAN Man-yiu 10/15 Member of MTB

BROIB S RRRIELZEENE

Ms Ann CHAN Wai-yan, JP 10/10 Member of FC and MSDC (both from 5.8.2024)

Deputy Secretary for Financial Services PR EEeRBEREBEREZESKE

and the Treasury (967 2024 € 8 H 5 H#E)

(from 5.8.2024)

BRERZ +

EERREKBEINER

(5 2024 F 8 H 5 A#E)

Prof CHAN Wai-yee 11/15 Vice-Chairman of MSDC; Member of HRC and MTB; HGC

FRIE FEHUIR Chairman of North District Hospital
ERBGEREZEEGRIER  ANERZBERTRERS
BgXE  tRERELZEGEE

Mr CHAN Wing-kai 10/15 Chairman of PCC; Member of EC, EEC, ITSC and MSDC;

RRIKIESTAE HGC Member of Kwong Wah Hospital & Tung Wah Group of
Hospitals Wong Tai Sin Hospital
NRRFEZEREF THEEE  BESEEXEZEE -
BErRERFZ B e RERRHERZBEXE | REHEK
MRE=FrEANIBRELRZEGKE

Ms Margaret CHENG Wai-ching, JP 11/15 Chairman of HRC; Member of EC, EEC and SAC; HGC Member

LY =peem of United Christian Hospital
ANBRZEGER  (THEB® RRREREZBEK
BB FREEGKE EEHESBREICEEGKE

The Hon Duncan CHIU 7/15 Chairman of ITSC: Member of ARC, EC, EEC and FC; HGC

ERER A Chairman of Kwai Chung Hospital & Princess Margaret Hospital
BEAMRREZBEEE B REARERZEE  1THESR
g BESREREZESRVKEEGKE  HRERKNIEE
BB GEZERERE

Prof Philip CHIU Wai-yan, JP 1/15 Member of HRC, MSDC and MTB; HGC Member of Prince of

BRI HUR

Wales Hospital
ANBREZEEE  BEBRBKERZEERPRRIZZEGK

8RB IBRELRZE|NE

Appendices Ff£ 187



APPENDIX 1
Bit$% 1

No. of plenary
meetings attended
in 2024-25
Name 2024-25FE  Committee participation in 2024-25*
A HEZEASRE 2024-25 FESHNZER
Ms Anita FUNG Yuen-mei, BBS, JP 9/15 Member of FC, ITSC and MTB
R+ IBEES  BEARBREZEERTRRERZEGKE
Mr Ambrose HO, SBS, SC, JP 7/9 Member of ARC MTB and SAC (all up to 30.11.2024)
(up to 30.11.2024) FikEREEEZE S  PARIEFZESMBE LHFEES
ek sE A B (2#Z 2024 F11 A30H)
(B1Z 2024 F 11 H 30 AH)
Ms Maisy HO Chiu-ha, BBS, JP 11/15 Member of HRC and MTB; HGC Chairman of Shatin Hospital
Cfbze ANEBEREZEGRPREZEZEGKE : PHBRELREES
+F
Ms Mary HUEN Wai-yi, MH, JP 11/15 Member of FC and MTB; HGC Member of United Christian
BEELLT Hospital
MEEESRTRIFFELZEGKE  EEHMEBRERE
BgKE
Ms Tennessy HUI Mei-sheung, MH, JP 5/6 Member of ARC, MTB, SAC (all from 1.12.2024) and MSDC
(from 1.12.2024) (from 20.3.2025)
eSSt FifhERERZE S  PARZEEZESLBE FHFHEE
(12024 F 12 H1HE) G (2H 2024 F 12 A 1 HE)REERGERZEGKE
(g 2025 %F 3 A 20 AE)
Mr JAT Sew-tong, SBS, SC, JP 13/15 Vice-Chairman of PCC; Member of MTB; Chairman of NRAC
BEERE (from 1.12.2024)
NBRFEEGRITE  PRRBZEGKE  FMAREEK
AEEGERE(H 2024 F12 A1 HE)
Dr Tony KO Pat-sing, JP 15/15 Member of DWC, EC, EEC, FC, HRC, ITSC, MSDC, MTB, SSDC, all
Chief Executive, HA RACs and HGCs
SIRpLER TiRmREEE®  (THEES  EEEXREELES UK
BT B T T AR 88 ANBERZEE®  BEARERBZEE® BERY
BREZE® PAREZE® XERBEEREZES  BR
HAAEE g RS BRERZE|NE
Mr Matthew KWOK Pui-ho 13/15 Member of HRC, ITSC, MSDC and MTB (all from 19.4.2024)
FOMRSEAE Aﬁﬁﬁ?%@“ﬂﬂ&%ﬁ?%@‘ BERBERES
Dr Ronald LAM Man-kin, JP 15/15 Member of MSDC
Director of Health BERGERZEGKE
MR
HEEER
Mrs Sylvia LAM YU Ka-wai, SBS 15/15 Chairman of SSDC; Member of DWC, EC, EEC and ITSC; HGC

MRRBL L

Member of Queen Elizabeth Hospital

TERGBERZESER  IEHREZES THEEE -

?{Z%F‘ “*%é,\ 2 REARRRBEEGKE - FRA
BEhER 4=
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APPENDIX 1
Bité% 1

No. of plenary
meetings attended
in 2024-25
Name 2024-25 FE  Committee participation in 2024-25*
HE HEZEBASXRE 202425 FESHENEES
Prof LAU Chak-sing, BBS, JP 6/15 Member of ITSC, MSDC and MTB; HGC Member of Hong Kong
22 EHIR Children’s Hospital
BABERBEZES  BERBERZEGRPRRKIEFES
BXE  BARAREEREAZEGNE
Mr Aaron LIU Kong-cheung, JP 5/5 Member of FC and MSDC (both up to 4.8.2024)
Deputy Secretary for Financial Services B EEeRBERBBEREESKE (B E 2024 F8 A
and the Treasury 4H)
(up to 4.8.2024)
BREMASE
s ERRER BEINER
(A= 2024 F8H4H)
Prof David SHUM Ho-keung 11/15 Chairman of MTB; Member of EC, EEC and MSDC; Chairman
BUERHIR of HRAC; HGC Chairman of Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern
Hospital
RAKRBLZEGER  (THEES  BESEFFEBEZES
BERBEREZEGHKE  BEERFEFAZESER K=
LBRABITRBREREZEGET
Prof Agnes TIWARI Fung-yee, MH 7/9 Vice-Chairman of HRC (up to 30.11.2024); Member of MSDC,
(up to 30.11.2024) MTB and SSDC (all up to 30.11.2024); Chairman of NRAC (up
ERIEHIR to 30.11.2024); HGC Member of Hong Kong Red Cross Blood
(ElZ 2024 F 11 H30H) Transfusion Service
ANEBREZEEGREE (B2 2024 F 11 H30 A) : B&ER
BEREES  PAREZEERIERBERZEGKE
(2ELZ 2024 F 11 A 30 H) : FiAREZERNLZERER (&
F2024F 11 A 30 H) : BEA+FERORBEHOELE
BgXE
Mr Henry TONG Sau-chai, BBS, MH, JP 9/15 Member of ARC, MTB and SAC; Member of NRAC; HGC Chairman
SHETE S E of Tin Shui Wai Hospital
FETNEAREEZE® PAREZEGNEBE FRES K
B ARHEAZEGNKE  KKEBRELRZEGER
Mr Philip TSAI Wing-chung, BBS, JP 15/15 Chairman of FC; Member of ARC, EC, EEC and SSDC; HGC
EOKBE Chairman of Queen Mary Hospital & Tsan Yuk Hospital
MBEZESXR BT RRAREEZE®  THZEE® B
SREFRBLREGRIERBEREZESGNE  BEBRK
BEERREREEEER
Mr Anthony TSANG Hin-fun 7/15 Chairman of ARC; Member of DWC, EC, EEC, FC and SSDC; HGC

BESSE

Member of Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital
Bt hEAREEZEGXIF IiEHREZE® THEER
g BoREREREE  VBLRESRERBERESR
BKE  RELEBRABITEBRELRZEGKE
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No. of plenary
meetings attended
in 2024-25

Name 2024-25FE  Committee participation in 2024-25*

A HERBASRE 202425 FESHENEES*

Dr Thomas TSANG Ho-fai, BBS 15/15 Chairman of MSDC; Member of ARC, DWC, EC and EEC; HGC

AR ER Chairman of Queen Elizabeth Hospital
EERGEEZESXR EMkAREEZEE ITEAR
ZEE THEEEKESRERELZEGKE  FHDAB
REREEGERE

Mr WAN Man-yee, BBS, JP 15/15 Chairman of DWC; Member of EC, EEC, ITSC, MSDC, MTB and

B ESTE SSDC; HGC Member of Tseung Kwan O Hospital
IRMEZESRXR TREEE BE2EERELEE &
AR RGEZEE EBRRGERZEE FRBEZEER
XERGERZEGKE HERBREICEERKE

Ir Billy WONG Wing-hoo, BBS, JP 14/15 Member of DWC, MTB and SSDC; Chairman of KRAC; HGC

EACRITAE Member of Kwai Chung Hospital & Princess Margaret Hospital
TiRMREEE  HRBREZEGRIBERBERZEGK
8 NEREEAZESTE  XRBRLEENBRER
ZEgKE

Prof Janet WONG Yuen-ha 6/6 Member of HRC, MSDC, MTB and SSDC (all from 1.12.2024);

(from 1.12.2024) HGC Member of North Lantau Hospital

HIEHIX ANBREZE® BERKERZES PREEFZEERX

(A 2024 F 12 A 1 A#) EREBRERESNKE (/4 2024 F12 A1 A#E) : L RIE
lLEsfE R B E

Prof ZHANG Zhang-jin 7/15 Member of MSDC and MTB (both from 8.4.2024)

SRIE R EERERBEREZEGRTRRIZZEGKE (FH 2024 F 4 H
8 HitE)

* Note: T

Board Members are not separately remunerated. They discharge the role of R ETEREINNE - KEKEBBATEREERLE
governance of the Authority through formulating policies and directions and BIETHGR / Bm) - SR BB EM TIERRR - LARIESE
overseeing executive performance at Board meetings, as well as taking part in BEEREEZEENTIE  —R2HEBERNES -
steering the work of various committees of the Authority including:

ARC - Audit and Risk Committee

DWC - Development and Works Committee

EC - Executive Committee

EEC - Emergency Executive Committee

FC - Finance Committee

HGC - Hospital Governing Committee

HRAC - Hong Kong Regional Advisory Committee
HRC - Human Resources Committee

ITSC - Information Technology Services Committee
KRAC - Kowloon Regional Advisory Committee
MSDC - Medical Services Development Committee
MTB - Main Tender Board

NRAC - New Territories Regional Advisory Committee
PCC -  Public Complaints Committee

SAC -  Staff Appeals Committee

SSDC -  Supporting Services Development Committee
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APPENDIX 2(a)
B &% 2(a)

Hospital Authority Committee Structure

EBREEREE SRS

Hospital Authority Board
BErEERAE
Regional Advisory Hospital Governing 4 Audit and Risk N[ Information . )
Committees Committees Committee Techr&ology.tsterwces
ommittee
BEEREZEE ELUBFE N Sps e o
e - Haf REBEE EAERRG
=HE EZE®
o L %
a I
Development and Mai
Works Committee ain Tender Board
TRERESS FRIGEEES
N NG _/
Medical Services
Executive Committee Development
Committee

TRZES®

BEREEREZES

Emergency Public Complaints
Executive Committee Committee
BEoRERELREY NPKRHFEEE
\
Finance Committee Staff Appeals
Committee
B8 E S N -
MRS 9= Wi =k
J /
\
Supporting Services
Human Resources Development
Committee Committee
ANERERE || LEREEREZES
J %
Note: 7
Membership lists of various committees are listed in Appendices EREGKEREEHNHIEEI 4 K5
3,4 and 5.
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APPENDIX 2(b)
Ff % 2(b)

Hospital Authority Executive Structure

BREERITHERE

Dr Tony KO Pat-sing, JP, Chief Executive
SREEE THAEE

Clusters

LR

Head Office
BMER

Hong Kong East Cluster
B SR A

Dr Loletta SO Kit-ying, MH
Cluster Chief Executive

REEEL
B e

Dr Simon TANG Yiu-hang
Director (Cluster Services)

HE28t
BEIREHRE

Hong Kong West Cluster
B S B

Dr Theresa LI Tak-lai
Cluster Chief Executive

FREEBE

AR ES

Dr Michael WONG Lap-gate
Director (Quality & Safety)

BEVCELE
BER T PHRE

Kowloon Central Cluster

NEFEREA

Dr Eric CHEUNG Fuk-chi
Cluster Chief Executive

REMEE

AR ES

Dr CHING Wai-kuen
Director (Strategy & Planning)

REEELE
RIS R RAR S

Kowloon East Cluster

NEER B BA

Dr Deacons YEUNG Tai-kong
Cluster Chief Executive

B e
BHERRE:

Ir Kelvin LO Kwok-wah, SBS
Director (Development & Works)

EFEETREM
TERREE

Kowloon West Cluster

NEBBERER

Dr Alexander LAW Chun-bon
Cluster Chief Executive

EiRABE

AR ES

Ms Anita CHAN Shuk-yu
Director (Finance)

RRm Lt
ML

New Territories
East Cluster

MR RER B

Dr CHUNG Kin-lai
Cluster Chief Executive

EReELE

AR ES

Mr Andy LAU Kwok-cheong
Head of Corporate Services

BIEE KL
BEFFETE

Mr David MAK Chi-wai
Head of Human Resources

BERERE
ADERETE

New Territories

Dr WONG Yiu-chung

West Cluster Cluster Chief Executive
TRAEE
3 57 7 R B Bk 4 "yl
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APPENDIX 3
Bié% 3

Membership and Terms of Reference of Functional Committees

EEREENERBEEE

Audit and Risk Committee
ETREAREEZES

Membership List
RERE

Chairman:

£

Members:

ETE

In Attendance:

HIE -

Mr Anthony TSANG Hin-fun
LESEE

The Hon Duncan CHIU
ESZER A

Mr Ambrose HO, SBS, SC, JP (up to 30.11.2024)

fAhak A4 (B2 2024 £ 11 A 30 H)

Ms Tennessy HUI Mei-sheung, MH, JP (from 1.12.2024)

MRSt (B 2024 F 12 H 1 ARE)

Mr Henry TONG Sau-chai, BBS, MH, JP
BIEBRAE

Mr Philip TSAl Wing-chung, BBS, JP
ZOKBIAE

Dr Thomas TSANG Ho-fai, BBS
kIR

Dr Tony KO Pat-sing, JP, Chief Executive
DI BE 7T

Mr Thomas CHAN Chung-ching, JP
Permanent Secretary for Health

BRIRE L
BRHLRRIRER

Appendices [}

193



APPENDIX 3
Bié% 3

Terms of Reference

1

Exercise an active oversight of the internal audit function to ensure

that its:

(a) mandate, resources and organisational status are appropriate;

(b) plans and activities are adequate to provide systematic
coverage of the internal control and risk management systems
put in place by the Management; and

(c) findings are actioned appropriately and timely;

Recommend the appointment of the external auditor and the audit
fee to the Board, endorse any non-audit services to be provided by
the external auditor, and consider any questions of resignation or
dismissal;

Consult with the External Auditor on all relevant matters including the:
(@) nature and scope of the audit;

(b) audited financial statements and the audit opinion;

(c) management letter and management’s response; and

(d) matters of which the External Auditor may wish to draw attention;

Gain reasonable assurance on the completeness, accuracy, and
fairness of audited financial statements, including appropriateness
of accounting policies and standards, adequacy of disclosures and
significant audit adjustments (in collaboration with the Finance
Committee);

Oversee the effectiveness of systems for risk management and

internal control, including to:

(@) monitor the implementation and effectiveness of Hospital
Authority's Organisation-wide Risk Management (ORM) policy
and strategy;

(b) review and approve changes to the components of the ORM
framework;

(c) review reports on the organisation-wide risk profile and
significant risk issues reported to it by the Chief Executive; and

(d) monitor Hospital Authority’s financial and administrative control
processes, including those designed to ensure the safeguarding
of resources and operational efficiency, through the results of
internal and external audit;

Oversee the processes implemented by the Management for
monitoring:

(@) compliance with pertinent statutes and regulations;

b) compliance with Hospital Authority’s Code of Conduct;

c) effectiveness of controls against conflicts of interest and fraud; and
d) effectiveness of Hospital Authority's whistleblowing mechanism.

Note:

Although the functions of the Audit and Risk Committee cover a wide area,
matters that are of a pure clinical nature (such as medical ethics) are not within
its purview.
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APPENDIX 3
Bié% 3

Focus of Work in 2024-25

In 2024-25, the Committee met six times to exercise active oversight
of internal audit function of the Hospital Authority (HA), considered
matters related to the audit of HA's financial statements, and oversaw
the effectiveness of risk management and internal controls at HA.

In regard to HA's internal audit function, the Committee received from the
Chief Internal Auditor quarterly progress reports on audit results over
HA's operational areas, as well as an annual report on audit analytics
of clinical systems. The discussions focused on the audit conclusions,
major audit observations and corresponding follow-up actions. Key
internal audits considered by the Committee in 2024-25 covered various
areas on hospital operation and corporate management, including
eAllowance system, governance, risk management and privacy of HA
telehealth, pharmacist clinic, acceptance of sponsorship, special scheme
for radiologists, agency nursing and supporting staff utilisation, medical
network, HA Chat, Team-Based Piece Rate Remuneration Scheme For
Cataract Operations, Non-Emergency Ambulance Transfer Service,
smart hospital initiative on hospital command centre and security and
controls of remote access to HA systems. The Committee also took part
in prioritising areas for internal audits and approved the focus areas for
internal audits in 2025-26.

On the audit of financial statements, the Committee reviewed and
endorsed HA's draft audited financial statements for 2023-24 and
received HA's external auditor’s report and internal control memorandum
2023-24 at its joint meeting with the Finance Committee. The Committee
also considered report from the external auditor on results of their
preliminary risk assessment of HA and 2024-25 financial statement
audit work plan. Besides, the Committee reviewed the evaluation results
over the performance of external auditor of HA for the financial year of
2023-24 and endorsed the re-appointment of HA's external auditor for
the financial years of 2025-26 and 2026-27.

For risk management, the Committee oversaw implementation of HA's
organisation-wide risk management systems across HA. In February
2025, the Committee examined the annual Key Organisation-wide Risk
Report 2025 and reviewed the planned mitigation actions for the key
risks facing HA, which were consolidated from functional risk reports
reviewed by the respective functional committees during December
2024 to February 2025. During the year, the Committee deliberated
on risk management reports on specific areas, including service
capacity, manpower shortage, data privacy protection, cybersecurity,
Information Technology (IT) resources and skills shortfall, funding for
major IT development, development and works portfolio, infection and
infection control, Clinical Public-Private Partnership Programmes,
and the Electronic Health Record Programme. The Committee also
received respective reports on compliance with HA related ordinances,
management of integrity risk and whistleblowing cases received by HA. In
regard to the handling of whistleblowing cases, the Committee endorsed
the updated Guideline on Arrangements for Handling Whistleblowing
Disclosures in HA and the HA Whistleblowing Policy to emphasise HA's
commitment to maintaining good corporate governance and enable staff
to report their concerns.

The Committee also received implementation progress update on the
recommendations of the Corruption Prevention Department of the
Independent Commission Against Corruption on death documentation
procedures and operation of mortuaries.

2024-25 FEIT/EHIR

£ 2024-25 £ - ZEBEHARNNRER 1B
BERBREER (BER) MAERETBEE
BRAHBEERMBHRRBEANER URE
ZEERERERE MR EEHK

BERAMEBETH ZESWRHER
HREETAE R B AR E R T RIEIEREET S
ROFERE  ARBRERET DN EER
FoRBEEPHWMBRE BIANIE
ERRAARHIRETE - FRRMANIBET
HEREEREFIMEBEEENS @K £
EEREEMBER BEREEBRENER
R ER AL  BEE DA - R EB)
B XERH BRI T R EA
SRER - BEMA HA Chat- AR FTE
BB A Tl B = B IR B2 ol S X AR A
BicEETONEZ 8RN R UREBFR
BERRGHRE REF - BTS2 EHTE
MEREETEV B Kl - WHtiX 2025-26 FER
EEIT RS

OB REAFES A RESEEG K EED
REtfE S L EHEBEER 2023-24 F
EAREBAZN I SRz ERA - WURE] 2023-24 F
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Development and Works Committee

IRHMRZES

Membership List

REHE

Chairman: Mr WAN Man-yee, BBS, JP

xE: BB L

Members: Dr CHAN Man-wai

KE : BRI (EE L
Mr Nelson CHENG Wai-hung
BRI S

Mr Sam HUI Chark-shum, JP

[representing the Permanent Secretary for Health]
AR L

[REBEEEBEANER]

Mr Anthony HUI Tai-shun

AERHFE

Dr Tony KO Pat-sing, JP, Chief Executive
=K A TTIAEE

Mr Daniel LAM Chun, SBS, JP (up to 31.12.2024)
MBS E (B2 2024 F12 A 31 H)

Mrs Sylvia LAM YU Ka-wai, SBS
MRRZBLE

Mr Ricky LEUNG Wing-kee

Ir Vincent TONG Wing-shing, BBS
I ND i

Mr Anthony TSANG Hin-fun
BESEE

Dr Thomas TSANG Ho-fai, BBS
IR

Mr Rick TSUI Hin-fai
REBEEE

Ir Billy WONG Wing-hoo, BBS, JP
BKREEE
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Terms of Reference

1

In the context of the portfolio of capital works under the Hospital
Authority, including the two Hospital Development Plans, advise
on the strategic direction and policies related to the planning, land
matters, design for excellence, standardisation, works-related
tender requirements, forms of contract, cost management and
construction as well as the building operation and maintenance of
Hospital Authority facilities;

Monitor the implementation of works-related facilities management,
including those related actions under The Review Committee on
Medical Equipment and Facility Maintenance (June 2023) and capital
projects in the Hospital Authority, including financial monitoring;

Advise on the adoption of better practices, industry innovations and
environmental protection initiatives of capital projects and works-
related facilities management in the Hospital Authority; and

Consider periodically matters relating to risk, risk management and
risk mitigation relevant to works-related facilities management and
capital projects in the Hospital Authority under the purview of the
Committee.
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Focus of Work in 2024-25

The Development and Works Committee (DWC) serves as a dedicated
platform with construction and development experts to focus on
planning and delivery of major capital and minor works as well as facility
management in Hospital Authority (HA). DWC met for the first time on
29 January 2024 and held five meetings in 2024-25.

The Committee received reports from the management on the annual
situation update on the First Hospital Development Plan (HDP), and
regular updates on the implementation progress and financial position
of major capital works and minor works projects. It kept a close watch
on works-related incidents and related remedial measures; and identified
lessons learnt from ongoing projects to strengthen risk management
and project delivery for future healthcare infrastructure projects. The
Committee also received progress updates of the action plan to implement
the facility maintenance related recommendations of the Review
Committee on Medical Equipment and Facility Maintenance. Moreover,
the Committee reviewed the annual capital expenditure planning for
2024-25 and endorsed the plan for 2025-26, which covered major capital
works projects for the development of public hospital services and minor
works projects for facilities improvement. Furthermore, the Committee
endorsed the annual audited accounts for one-off grants for minor works
projects under the Capital Works Reserve Fund.

To support the effective and efficient operation of DWC, designated
work groups were formed under DWC to focus on specific projects and
initiatives. In 2024-25, 12 work group meetings were held to review the
projects and designs under the First HDP, as well as tender practice
and contract documents to make recommendations for delivery of the
Second HDP. In addition, the Committee had arranged two hospital visits
to gain a better understanding of the ambulatory care services model
and a visit to the Construction Industry Council for gaining insight into
the application of Building Information Modelling and proper Modular
Integrated Construction in the construction industry.

With regard to Electrical, Mechanical, Air-conditioning and Building
Services operation and maintenance, the Committee endorsed the
proposal on consolidating existing maintenance contracts in Schedule 2
hospitals of HA. In relation to industry innovation and environmental
protection, the Committee was updated on the application of smart
engineering systems and environmental management in HA, and their
possible application in HA projects.

In accordance with the HA organisation-wide risk management
framework, the Committee assessed the risks relating to capital works
and minor works projects in 2025, including the effectiveness of risk
mitigation measures taken in 2024, risks anticipated for 2025 and
the planned mitigation actions, covering consultant and contractor
performance, construction safety and in-house capacity and capability.
Besides, the Committee received annual reports on the review of hospital
engineering related incidents and mitigation measures; and on accident
statistics for capital works projects in 2024.
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Executive Committee

ITHEES

Membership List
RERE

Chairman:

E

Members:

RE :

Mr Henry FAN Hung-ling, SBS, JP
SRR

Mr CHAN Wing-kai
BRKIESEE

Ms Margaret CHENG Wai-ching, JP
BEELE

The Hon Duncan CHIU

ERZER KL

Dr Tony KO Pat-sing, JP, Chief Executive
SRR 7T

Mrs Sylvia LAM YU Ka-wai, SBS
MRRZR L

Prof David SHUM Ho-keung

L RIIR

Mr Philip TSAI Wing-chung, BBS, JP
BOKBESE

Mr Anthony TSANG Hin-fun
BESSEE

Dr Thomas TSANG Ho-fai, BBS
kIR

Mr WAN Man-yee, BBS, JP
mXESE
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Terms of Reference

1

Consider key matters and overall policies and directions on long-
term strategy and planning, risk management, corporate governance,
performance management and succession planning, and facilitate the
Board in discharging its responsibilities in this regard.

Advise on Board meeting agenda items proposed by the Management
including an annual forward looking agenda and key matters raised by
Functional Committee Chairmen.

Serve as a forum for the HA Chairman, Functional Committee Chairmen
and the HA Chief Executive to consider major matters relating to the
leadership and oversight of the HA.

Advise on changes to Board and Functional Committee structure and
processes including the respective terms of reference; oversee their
annual self-assessments; and advise the Board on the appointment
of chairmen, vice-chairmen and co-opted members of the Functional
Committees.

Advise the Board on the organisation structure and functions of the HA
Head Office and its Divisions.

Exercise powers delegated by the Board on the following staff

matters:

(a) advise the Board on the appointment, remuneration changes,
contract variation of the Chief Executive;

(b) advise the Board on the appointment of Cluster Chief Executives
and Directors of Divisions;

(c) approve contract renewal, remuneration changes and contract
variation as well as lateral transfer / job rotation of Cluster Chief
Executives and Directors of Divisions;

(d) approve the appointment, contract renewal, remuneration
changes and contract variation as well as lateral transfer / job
rotation of Hospital Chief Executives and Heads of Divisions; and

(e) review the performance of Chief Executive, Directors, Heads of
Division and Cluster Chief Executives.

Convene as the Emergency Executive Committee (EEC) in accordance
with HA's Emergency Contingency Plan (supplemented by a senior
official of the Health Bureau when meeting as EEC).

Focus of Work in 2024-25

In 2024-25, the Executive Committee (EC) met nine times to discuss and
consider various matters of strategic importance as well as policies and
directions of the Hospital Authority (HA). As approved by the HA Board
in December 2019, a Task Group on Sustainability (TG), which was a
dedicated group formed by the HA Board with wide participation from
Board Members, was set up under EC to lead and steer discussions of
HA sustainability issues. In the past year, TG continued to brainstorm
on HA's major sustainability issues, steer and lead the management
to formulate and implement various strategies and initiatives to cope
with the sustainability challenges faced by HA. Specifically, dedicated
efforts were paid on strategies and measures to enhance performance
and efficiency of HA in its use of resources for continuous improvement.
Progress report on the work of TG and implementation of the action plans
were regularly reported to EC for steering and monitoring.

200

Hospital Authority Annual Report Bt &2 /54 ik 2024-2025

s E

1l BRAURERRRE  ERERE #E
R ERERRETRINEEEEN
BRERSH U B BERERR(BER)
REEITEHEHBE

2. REEABEBNEERASEHRRAIER

1/\ =N E/ @%ﬁlfﬁmféuxﬂ%ﬁ:i&ﬁ-, \é =]
BXIFRENEEZESRE -

3. AmAHEASRERBERIIENERSE
Eo

4 RABRBEEZEGNRBLER (B

BRGE)NEPRHER ERHER
Eﬁ? M&E‘J’Eﬁiﬁgir EEUI}%&

5. BLEEE RN S K HAPIMMEMIRE M
Bae - MARRHEER o

6. MATHEBESRE (THEEERAKERT

HIRE ST -

(a) MITHAEHNETE  FI LA LET
EH MAZREER

(b) ?ﬁ?ﬁ ?ﬁ%@%ﬁ&*ﬁ?%@ﬁ*ﬂ’ﬂ%& 1PN
FRHE

(c) FHLEE ?ﬁﬁ@%’?&%?ﬂ“ EEMEA -
B £2 & ?’]“‘”‘@J&H%ﬂﬂa&/ﬂiu%ﬂ

£E
d) BEHERITHRAERHPIEENE
T B4 FHNEANEFSLERA

B/ BamAEE &
m)$ﬁﬁﬁmg mes |
MRS TERIR ©

EURERPIE

7. REBERESEEAEEH [ ZRIEE
REREE] - (12[1 l?-ﬁff%éf‘*“%-%iﬁ
2 AIFEH - E2BEALERNSME

30 )

0 o

\

2024-25 FE T/EHLR

Ezm4%¢ﬁ ﬁﬁ*%@%f?ﬂﬁ
F AR NEEEREER(BER)M
EﬁW$aﬂ¥%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ E%%K@%
2019 & 12 A#ERETBREZE S 2 TR [+
BEREHEE/)E] (FE/NME) BAEKEE
2 %%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%%%ThE%@%
BRI o ERE—F  BRE/NBEERS
E%EEWTF#%E$E'%AEEFmH
MIETRIBRE MG - AEHEE BiFE
RETEERABKE, - Hep - BE/NVASZHITIR
FEE RERE BB S RIS A
W TEkE - TESeTHRMEBESE/MEN
TEREMITE T EIMERRS  WEEKE
RIEEER -



APPENDIX 3
Bié% 3

During the year, EC considered and supported a wide range of strategic
initiatives, which included HA's strategies in attracting and recruiting non-
locally trained professionals and importing supporting staff; formation
of the Review Committee on the Management of Public Hospital System
(the Review Committee) to strengthen patient safety, quality of service
and HA's governance, which included the establishment of a high level
Governance and Structure Reform Committee under EC to steer the
formulation and implementation of the recommendations put forward
by the Review Committee concerning governance and accountability and
other matters relating to remuneration, financial management and clinical
service management; repositioning of HA's primary health services and
transferal of clinical services from the Department of Health to HA; HA's
fees and charges reform; implementation of the recommendations of the
Review Committee on Medical Equipment and Facility Maintenance to
enhance the safety of patients, staff and visitors in hospitals; operation
and maintenance strategy for electrical, mechanical, air-conditioning and
building services systems in HA; further enhancement to the Home Loan
Interest Subsidy Scheme; collaboration with non-local strategic partners
on talent exchange and service development; etc.

Other strategic matters considered by EC included the formulation of HA
Budget and Annual Plan for 2025-26; HA's Action Items under The Chief
Executive's 2022, 2023 and 2024 Policy Addresses; implementation
of Hospital Development Plan; business planning proposals of the HA
body corporate (EH Plus Digital Technology Limited). EC also noted
the progress on the implementation of smart hospital initiatives;
development of the medication delivery service in HA; way forward of
HA Public-Private Partnership programmes, etc.

EC determined a wide range of matters concerning HA's talent
management, including the recruitment of the HA Chief Executive;
appointment and remuneration matters of senior executives at HAHO and
clusters; career posting and succession of senior executives; reports on
staff complaints against senior executives, etc.

Internally for the Board, EC considered and supported the proposed
streamlining of the operation of the Board and its Committees following
a review conducted by the HA Secretariat with a view to identifying
room for further enhancing their operational efficiency. Moreover, EC
regularly reviewed succession planning for the Board's Committees, and
membership matters relating to Hospital Governing Committees (HGCs)
and Regional Advisory Committees. It received annual summary report
on activities and feedbacks of HGCs.

EC regularly advised on agendas of Board meetings as proposed by the
management.
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Emergency Executive Committee

BEEEREEES

Membership List
RERE

Chairman:

£

Members:

HA

Note:

Mr Henry FAN Hung-ling, SBS, JP

(In his absence, the Emergency Executive Committee chairmanship should be elected

among its standing members)

SEMRHR ST A

(ZETER - E2EEREZEEMT/ERE FEKEHEL)

Mr Thomas CHAN Chung-ching, JP
Permanent Secretary for Health

(or his nominated representative)
BRANE S A
BREEREFRER
(XEZEEARE)

Mr CHAN Wing-kai

BRoKfESTA

Ms Margaret CHENG Wai-ching, JP
BEEXL

The Hon Duncan CHIU
ER AR S A

Dr Tony KO Pat-sing, JP, Chief Executive
DI BRE TTH AR

Mrs Sylvia LAM YU Ka-wai, SBS
MRRELL

Prof David SHUM Ho-keung
ZERHIR

Mr Philip TSAI Wing-chung, BBS, JP
BEOKBITE

Mr Anthony TSANG Hin-fun
BESEE

Dr Thomas TSANG Ho-fai, BBS
LIEEE

Mr WAN Man-yee, BBS, JP
B AR

The Emergency Executive Committee will automatically be called into action

when the HA activates the
which is defined as an incid
such as the Serious Level
pandemic.
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Tier-three Strategic Response to a major incident,
ent with prolonged and territory-wide implications,
(S2) or Emergency Level Response to influenza
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Terms of Reference

1

To act for the Hospital Authority Board and exercise its powers and

functions, including:

(a) altering, amending or overriding existing Hospital Authority
policies, standards, guidelines and procedures; and

(b) establishment of sub-committees or task forces to tackle
particular matters at hand;

To identify the objectives and assess the risks facing Hospital
Authority in emergency situation;

To approve the strategies and policies for managing the emergency
formulated by the Hospital Authority Central Command Committee,
and monitor implementation progress in all HA hospitals and
institutions;

To coordinate activities of the other Hospital Authority committees
including Hospital Governing Committees;

To ensure effective communication of clear and concise messages
to key stakeholders, including staff, patients, Government and the
public; and

To be accountable to the Authority Board and the making of regular
reports to Hospital Authority Members as soon as practicable.

Focus of Work in 2024-25

No meeting was convened in 2024-25.
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Finance Committee

BBEES

Membership List
RERE

Chairman:

£

Members:

RE :

Mr Philip TSAI Wing-chung, BBS, JP
BEONBITE

The Hon Duncan CHIU
ERZARSE A

Ms Anita FUNG Yuen-mei, BBS, JP
BBt

Ms Mary HUEN Wai-yi, MH, JP
BREL L

Mr Sam HUI Chark-shum, JP

[representing the Permanent Secretary for Health]
FRERSTE

IRXEBKFEBEEWER]

Dr Tony KO Pat-sing, JP, Chief Executive

SR BE 7T

Mr Aaron LIU Kong-cheung, JP (up to 4.8.2024) /

Ms Ann CHAN Wai-yan, JP (from 5.8.2024) /

Miss Pinky WONG Nga-ping

[representing the Secretary for Financial Services and the Treasury]
BEMSTAE (BZE 2024 F8 A 4H)/

BRERZ L (7 2024 F8 A5 HAE)/

|mIEY LT

(RIS ER R ER fa/mR ]

Mr Anthony TSANG Hin-fun
BRSNE
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Terms of Reference

1. Advise and make recommendations on the financial aspects of the
Hospital Authority Corporate Plan and Annual Plan;

2. Advise and make recommendations on the financial planning,
control, performance, monitoring and reporting aspect of the
Hospital Authority;

3. Advise on policy guidelines for all financial matters, including
investment, business and insurance;

4. Advise and make recommendations on the resource allocation policies;

5. Advise and recommend to the Hospital Authority on the financial
statements (audited and unaudited) of the Hospital Authority;

6. Liaise with the Trustees of the Hospital Authority Provident
Fund Scheme on financial and control related matters and make
recommendations to the Hospital Authority where appropriate;

7. Monitor the financial position of the Hospital Authority; and

8. Consider periodically matters relating to risk, risk management and
risk mitigation relevant to finance operations and other relevant areas
contributing to the financial risk profile of the Hospital Authority.

Focus of Work in 2024-25

In 2024-25, the Committee met six times to assist the Hospital
Authority (HA) Board in ensuring proper stewardship and effective
use of public funds through making recommendations to the Board on
various finance related matters for the Authority.

In support of the corporate strategy and services development of HA,
the Committee reviewed the overarching principles and key focus of the
latest fees and charges review proposal, which was formulated based
on the standing guiding principles for reviewing public hospital fees,
with a view to ensuring sustainability of the public healthcare system
and enhancing healthcare protection. Dovetailed with HA's annual
service and resource planning process, the Committee examined the
proposed 2025-26 HA budget, resource allocation and future financial
arrangement. With due consideration of the tight economic outlook, the
Committee noted that HA would endeavour to exert continuous efforts
in driving overall performance improvement in terms of efficiency
and effectiveness with a view to optimising resource utilisation and
minimising wastage.
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Jointly with the Human Resources Committee (HRC), the Committee
received the 2023-24 Operation Report of the HA Provident Fund Scheme
(HAPES); endorsed the eligibility of extended membership of HAPFS;
and reviewed the enhancements on the extension of the Time Deposit
Fund for extended members and Employee Voluntary Contributions and
the arrangement of cash-out benefits for HAPFS members leaving the
Scheme upon retirement or resignation. At its joint meeting with HRC, the
Committee also noted the progress update on the Enhanced Home Loan
Interest Subsidy Scheme (HLISS), and endorsed various enhancements
to increase the attractiveness of the Scheme to staff, which included
extension of maximum period of entitlement / staff loan tenor and
reduction in qualifying service requirement. In addition, the Committee
supported to keep the existing arrangement for public housing with resale
restrictions under the original HLISS at the current stage.

Regarding monitoring of HA's financial position and financial
performance, the Committee received regular financial reports and
reviewed HA's preliminary financial position for 2023-24 and
mid-year financial outturn for 2024-25, and considered matters
relating to other key financial performance indicators, waivers and
write-off of hospital fees and charges, debt management of HA and
the latest electronic payment initiatives for settlement of hospital fees
of HA. On accountability reporting, the Committee, jointly with the
Audit and Risk Committee, reviewed and endorsed HA's draft audited
financial statements for 2023-24 and received HA's External Auditor’s
Report and Internal Control Memorandum 2023-24. The Committee
also considered and endorsed the 2023-24 audited financial
statements/accounts for a number of designated programmes
undertaken by HA, including the Samaritan Fund, the Community Care
Fund Medical Assistance Programmes, the HA Charitable Foundation,
the HA Public-Private Partnership Fund, the minor works funded
under the Capital Works Reserve Fund and the development of Clinical
Services Improvement Projects for the Department of Health, as well as
the draft audited accounts of the Preparation for Further Enhancement
of Electronic Health Record Sharing System undertaken by HA for the
period from 1 September 2022 to 31 July 2024.

With the assistance of its Treasury Panel (TP), the Committee considered
matters related to HA's treasury management and operations, investment
performance and related initiatives via regular progress update. Key
matters considered by the Committee covered the investment approach
for Enhanced HLISS Fund, arrangement for payroll and collection services
as well as custody services, review of HA's Investment Guidelines and the
corresponding Internal Operational Guidelines, annual review adjustment
of standby overdraft facility, and enhanced membership composition of and
appointments to TP. For financial risk management, the Committee reviewed
and endorsed the 2025-26 insurance renewal approach and direction of HA.
In accordance with HA organisation-wide risk management framework,
the Committee reviewed the effectiveness of risk mitigation actions on
finance matters taken in 2024, and proactively assessed key financial risks
anticipated for 2025 and considered corresponding action plans.
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Human Resources Committee

ANEREES

Membership List

MERE

Chairman: Ms Margaret CHENG Wai-ching, JP

FFE: HEaXt

Vice-Chairman: Prof Agnes TIWARI Fung-yee, MH (up to 30.11.2024)
ElE REUESIR (B2 2024 F 11 H30 H)

Members: Ms Ellen CHAN Sheung-man

KA : [representing the Permanent Secretary for Health]

PR+
[REBEEHERBEANER]

Prof CHAN Wai-yee

PRIBEHIR

Prof Philip CHIU Wai-yan, JP
R

Ms Maisy HO Chiu-ha, BBS, JP
BB+

Dr Tony KO Pat-sing, JP, Chief Executive
SN BRE TTHAEE

Mr Matthew KWOK Pui-ho (from 19.4.2024)
SOTRSCAE (A 2024 4F 4 A 19 HAE)

Prof Janet WONG Yuen-ha (from 1.12.2024)
BIMEHIR (B 2024 F12 A1 HEE)
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Terms of Reference
1. Advise on manpower planning;
2. Advise on staff training and development matters;

3. Advise, review and make recommendations on human resources
policies and related issues;

4. Advise, review and make recommendations to the Hospital Authority
on the terms and conditions of employment for staff;

5. Advise, review and make recommendations to the Hospital Authority
on staff pay awards and overall staffing structure;

6. Advise, review and make recommendations to the Hospital Authority
on any other staff related matters;

7. Consider periodically matters relating to risk, risk management and
risk mitigation relevant to human resources management;

8. Monitor the performance of the Hospital Authority Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes and make recommendations to the Hospital
Authority as and when necessary; and

9. Liaise with the Trustees of the Hospital Authority Provident Fund
Scheme on member and communication related matters and make
recommendations to the Hospital Authority where appropriate.

Focus of Work in 2024-25

In 2024-25, the Committee met seven times (including one joint meeting
with the Finance Committee) to discuss and consider various human
resources (HR) matters of the Hospital Authority (HA).

The Committee considered and advised on a wide range of HR initiatives
for attracting and retaining talents in HA, including the implementation
of enhanced and new measures for improving manpower supply,
retaining and developing doctors, nurses, allied health professionals and
supporting staff in HA; employment package for experienced non-locally
trained doctors; and enhanced measures for supporting non-locally
trained healthcare professionals. The Committee also considered the key
findings of the HA focused staff surveys conducted respectively in March
2024 on supporting staff at entry rank for tapping their intelligence and
deriving feasible measures on staff retention and in November 2024
on attraction and retention of nurses and allied health professionals. In
view of the persistent critical manpower shortage of radiologists, the
Committee endorsed further continuation of the Special Scheme for
Radiologists in 2025-26. In July 2024, the Committee endorsed that HA
should follow the 2024-25 Civil Service Annual Pay Adjustment (APA) for
eligible HA employees, and also endorsed that special cases for APA back
pay should be considered on a case-by-case basis in view of the increase
in types and flexibility in appointments and extended employment after
retirement.
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To dovetail with the Government's future development of the healthcare
system in Hong Kong, and the direction of developing Hong Kong into
a Health and Medical Innovation Hub, the Committee endorsed the
manpower and remuneration arrangements for the transfer of Hospital
Dental Services from the Department of Health to HA and the proposed
enhancements in invention management to promote clinical research
and innovation in HA. The Committee also considered and advised on
the proposed dual track appointment of medical staff involving HA and
the two local Medical Schools. In line with the Government'’s direction
to create a family-friendly working environment for staff and its policy
of encouraging childbirth, the Committee supported the introduction of
childcare leave for HA employees with effect from 1 April 2025.

To meet the evolving circumstances and operational needs of HA and
hence the need to modernise its HR policies, the Committee received
updates on HR digitalisation and the progress in taking forward the
recommendations from the Task Force on Human Resources Policy
Review to modernise HA's Human Resources policies so as to address HA's
evolving needs. The Committee also endorsed the proposed updates on
the Delegation of Authority Manual on HR Functions in the hospitals / Head
Office of HA upon a periodic review.

On staff benefits and well-being, the Committee continued to monitor the
implementation progress of the Enhanced Home Loan Interest Subsidy
Scheme (HLISS), and endorsed the proposed further enhancements to
HLISS to increase its attractiveness to HA staff. On restructuring of the
retirement benefits schemes of HA, the Committee endorsed the proposed
confinement of the eligibility of extended membership of HA Provident Fund
Scheme (HAPFS), and advised on other proposed enhancements to address
HAPFS Members' feedbacks. The Committee also monitored the progress
of engagement of additional service providers for HA Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (HAMPFS), and received the Annual Report on HAMPFS and
HAPFS Annual Operation Report.

In 2024-25, the Committee received the Report on Staff Complaints
Received, the Whistleblowing Report 2023 and the Annual Report
on Occupational Safety and Health and Workplace Violence. In order
to encourage a speak-up culture in HA and facilitate reporting of
whistleblowing cases, patient safety risks and other issues of concern,
the Committee endorsed the proposed HA Whistleblowing Policy and the
updated Guideline on Arrangements for Handling Whistleblowing in HA,
as well as the proposed enhancements on the staff complaint and appeal
procedures. The Committee also endorsed the proposed enhancements
of the current Staff Letter Box to improve the overall staff experience in
the reporting process.

In accordance with the HA organisation-wide risk management framework,
the Committee considered the People Resources Risk Assessment by
reviewing the effectiveness of risk mitigation actions taken on the HR front
in 2024, and proactively assessed the HR risks anticipated for 2025 and
considered the corresponding action plans. In 2024-25, the Committee
continued to adopt training key performance indicators (KPIs) for regular
review along with the quarterly review of other HR KPIs on manpower
situation and staff wellness.
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Information Technology Services Committee

BEMNEREEES

Membership List

RERE

Chairman:

£

Members:

RE :

Note:

The title of Government Chief Information Officer has been changed to

The Hon Duncan CHIU
ERER A

Mr CHAN Wing-kai
PR EESE

Mr Raymond CHENG Siu-hong
/R E

Prof Herbert CHIA Pun-kok, JP
B HIE

Ms Anita FUNG Yuen-mei, BBS, JP
B 22t

Mr Sam HUI Chark-shum, JP

Deputy Secretary for Health 1

PR E

EBEEEEWNER ]

Dr Tony KO Pat-sing, JP, Chief Executive
=K A TTIAEEL

Mr Matthew KWOK Pui-ho (from 19.4.2024)
MR A (2024 F 4 19 H#E)

Mrs Sylvia LAM YU Ka-wai, SBS
MRREL L

Prof LAU Chak-sing, BBS, JP
ZZEHR

Dr Charleston SIN Chiu-shun
SRS E T

Mr WAN Man-yee, BBS, JP
BB E

Ir Tony WONG Chi-kwong, JP
Commissioner for Digital Policy "t

(Formerly known as Government Chief Information Officer)

EEK
HEHREA
(FITBB R AR E)

Commissioner for Digital Policy with effect from 25 July 2024.
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Terms of Reference

1. Advise and make recommendations on IT strategy, IT planning and
enterprise architecture;

2. Endorse, advise and make recommendations on Annual Work Plan
of Hospital Authority Information Technology & Health Informatics
Division, including IT Block Vote submission;

3. Receive performance and progress reports on IT service development
and management, project management and system delivery, and
technical operations;

4. Advise on finance and sourcing, and IT talent management or any
other IT-related matters put forward by the management;

5. Consider matters relating to risk, risk management and risk
mitigation relevant to IT across Hospital Authority; and

6. Receive reports from Information Technology Technical Advisory
Sub-committee.

Focus of Work in 2024-25

In 2024-25, the Committee met four times to discuss issues relating to
the strategic development and implementation of information technology
(IT) systems in the Hospital Authority (HA). During the period, the
Committee received updates on various key IT strategies and initiatives,
including the future development directions of Clinical Management
System (CMS) involving its integration with other HA digital portfolios,
as well as the development roadmap of the fifth generation of CMS
Phase 1; the latest development of generative artificial intelligence
(Al) in HA; the implementation of the Digital Health Platform (DHP) to
enhance HA's digital capabilities; the acceleration of Smart Hospital
implementation through product co-delivery with users, the Levels of
Smart framework for benchmarking product adoption and the Smart
Hospital Portal for sharing of knowledge and resources, as well as the
formulation of the Smart Hospital 2.0 model aiming to enhance the
overall experience of patients and staff by creating connected patient
journeys; the advancements in HA's IT infrastructure and its operational
automation; the strategy to enhance the management of IT services
relating to office productivity; the business planning proposals of the HA
Body Corporate, i.e. EH Plus Digital Technology Limited; the progress
of the agency project on the Government's Electronic Health Record
Sharing System (eHealth) and its next stage development (eHealth+);
HA's continued efforts and future strategies to achieve excellence in
IT operation and resilience; the management of cybersecurity risk and
the future plan for maintaining HA's cyber resilience capability; and the
strategy for maintaining a mission-critical IT system essential for the
operations of the Hong Kong Red Cross Blood Transfusion Service. The
Committee also noted that in July 2024, HA achieved Stage 7 maturity,
which was the highest maturity level, on the Electronic Medical Record
Adoption Model of the Healthcare Information and Management Systems
Society. This achievement underlined HA's commitment to integrating
advanced electronic medical records and analytics to enhance patient-
centred care and operational efficiency.
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On plans to meet the growing demand for IT systems to support the
operation of HA, the Committee endorsed the IT Block Vote Submission
for 2025-26. The Committee also approved the 2025-26 Annual
Work Plan of the IT and Health Informatics Division (IT&HID), which
incorporated the main focus areas to sustain services and achieve key
IT targets, and the resultant budget and manpower requirements.

To fulfil its overseeing functions, the Committee monitored the
implementation of the IT&HID Annual Work Plan by considering,
amongst others, the performance and status reports of respective IT
functions. Among the standing agenda items were regular progress
updates on various IT projects relating to HA's own services, including
projects relating to clinical systems; HA Go; Smart Hospital; Al and
Data Analytics; and DHP; as well as IT projects relating to agency
services for the Government, such as eHealth related projects; Clinical
Information Management System Stage |l projects; and Chinese
Medicine Information System projects. The Committee also endorsed
the draft audited accounts related to the Clinical Services Improvement
Projects for the Department of Health and the preparation for further
enhancement of eHealth in which HA acted as a technical agent. In
addition, in accordance with the HA organisation-wide risk management
framework, the Committee considered the key risks identified in the IT
Operational Risk Assessment 2025 and the management actions taken
during 2024 and planned for 2025 onwards.

The Committee received regular progress reports from the Information
Technology Technical Advisory Sub-committee (ITTASC), a sub-committee
formed under the Committee to advise on major IT initiatives and IT
technical matters proposed for implementation in HA, and approved
appointments of ITTASC membership.
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Main Tender Board

HRREEES

Membership List
RERE

Chairman:

E

Vice-Chairmen:
EES

Ex-officio members:

ERKE :

Members:

A :

Prof David SHUM Ho-keung
ZIEREIR

Mr Gregory LEUNG Wing-lup, SBS
RIKILFHE

Mr Ivan SZE Wing-hang, BBS, JP
TEERIE o

Dr Tony KO Pat-sing, JP, Chief Executive
(or his nominated representative)
IR TTH AR
(TR A ZERRK)

Ms Anita CHAN Shuk-yu, Director (Finance)
(or her nominated representative)
BRI T I A AR EE

(B REXREZERARK)

Two of the following members on rotation:
UTHEAMUBRERS :

Mr Lawrence CHAN Man-yiu
BRI IR S A

Prof CHAN Wai-yee
PR {2 2R

Mr Stanley CHEUNG Tak-kwai

RIEESLE

Ir Patrick CHEUNG Yuen-fong, BBS, JP (from 1.12.2024)
SRIRFS LA (7 2024 €12 A1 H#E)

Prof Philip CHIU Wai-yan, JP

A

Prof Joanne CHUNG Wai-yee

BEEHE

Ms Anita FUNG Yuen-mei, BBS, JP
B 2t

Mr Ambrose HO, SBS, SC, JP (up to 30.11.2024)
sk se A (B = 2024 11 A 30 A)

Ms Maisy HO Chiu-ha, BBS, JP
Al +
Ms Mary HUEN Wai-yi, MH, JP
WEBEL LT

Ms Tennessy Hui Mei-sheung, MH, JP (from 1.12.2024)
MR (2024 F12 A1 H#E)

Mr JAT Sew-tong, SBS, SC, JP
BRESLE

Mr Matthew KWOK Pui-ho (from 19.4.2024)
SRR AE (1 2024 4F 4 A 19 HA#E)
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Prof LAU Chak-sing, BBS, JP
22EHE

Dr LAU Chau-ming

IRk SR+

Dr James LAU Chi-wang, BBS, JP

BT EML

Mr William LEUNG Shu-yin

RIE

Mr Wilson MOK Yu-sang

RS

Prof Agnes TIWARI Fung-yee, MH (up to 30.11.2024)
RRIEHI (B2 2024 F 11 A 30 H)
Mr Alec TONG Chi-chiu

R

Mr Henry TONG Sau-chai, BBS, MH, JP
HIER

Ir Vincent TONG Wing-shing, BBS
SIS

Mr WAN Man-yee, BBS, JP

BB L

Mr David WONG Tat-kee

mEHESE

Ir Billy WONG Wing-hoo, BBS, JP
KRS AE

Prof Janet WONG Yuen-ha (from 1.12.2024)
BIMEHIR (B 2024 F 12 A 1 H#E)

Prof ZHANG Zhang-jin (from 8.4.2024)
SRS (B 2024 &F 4 A 8 H#E)
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Terms of Reference

1. To consider and approve tenders and contract variations in the
Hospital Authority in accordance with the delegation of authority
limits approved by the Board, including:

(@) To review and assess the recommendations made by the
assessment panel;

(b) To review the procedures and criteria adopted by the assessment
panel in the course of its selection; and

(c) To approve the selection made by the assessment panel after
satisfying itself that (a) and (b) are in order and such approval should
be final.

2. To receive management reporting of acceptance of offer approved
in the Head Office by a Director in exercising Special Authority for
Urgent Direct Purchase.

Note:

Under the prevailing Hospital Authority Procurement and Materials Management
Manual approved by the Board, the schedule of authority limits in respect of the
Main Tender Board includes approval of tender exceeding $1.5 million centrally
coordinated by Hospital Authority Head Office, or exceeding $4.5 million for
those arranged by the clusters / hospitals.

Focus of Work in 2024-25

The Main Tender Board (MTB) is organised into two Tender Boards,
each meeting once a month, with MTB (1) mainly focusing on tenders
for pharmaceutical products and medical consumables, while MTB (2)
on tenders of other subjects (e.g. medical equipment, contract services,
information technology (IT), etc.). In 2024-25, MTB considered some 720
papers on procurement of various supplies and services, each at a value
over $1.5 million for the Hospital Authority (HA) Head Office, or over $4.5
million for clusters and hospitals. Tenders for procurement of supplies
mainly covered purchases of pharmaceutical products, medical devices,
medical and laboratory equipment and their consumables, as well as
equipment for hospital redevelopment projects whereas service tenders
were mainly related to hospital supporting services, maintenance of
medical and laboratory equipment, as well as IT systems and services.
Capital works tenders mainly involved minor works improvements for
maintenance of hospital premises.

To strengthen MTB's governance on HA's performance in procurement
related areas, two briefings were held semi-annually in 2024-25 to
provide MTB Members with an overview of HA's procurement policies
and strategies, summary of the work of MTB, as well as analyses of
tenders / contracts approved by MTB in the preceding financial year.
These briefings also served as an orientation to new Members and
learning and sharing platform for Members to exchange views on the
work of MTB.
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Medical Services Development Committee

BERRBEREZEES

Membership List

REHE

Chairman: Dr Thomas TSANG Ho-fai, BBS
xE GIEERE

Vice-Chairman: Prof CHAN Wai-yee

EIERE BRIZEZIX

Members: Mr Thomas CHAN Chung-ching, JP
HE : Permanent Secretary for Health

BRILE Sk
BHEEREFRER
Mr CHAN Wing-kai
BRoKfESTAE

Prof Philip CHIU Wai-yan, JP

HECHRE

Ms Tennessy HUI Mei-sheung, MH, JP (from 20.3.2025)
RSt (B 2025 4 3 A 20 BAE)

Dr Tony KO Pat-sing, JP, Chief Executive
IR BE A TR AR

Mr Matthew KWOK Pui-ho (from 19.4.2024)
RS (F 2024 F 4 F 19 HAE)

Prof LAU Chak-sing, BBS, JP
BIEREHIR

Dr Teresa LI Mun-pik, JP (from 7.5.2024)
[representing the Director of Health]
THEBE (B 2024 F5A7HE)
[REFFHEZFZER]

Mr Aaron LIU Kong-cheung, JP (up to 4.8.2024)

Ms Ann CHAN Wai-yan, JP (from 5.8.2024) /

Miss Pinky WONG Nga-ping

[representing the Secretary for Financial Services and the Treasury]
BEMFSE (BE 2024 F8H 4 H)

BREfRZ =+ (Hy 2024 £ 8 A 5 H#E)

Y

[R RIS E R R JER fa/m R ]

Prof David SHUM Ho-keung
ZIEREIE

Prof Agnes TIWARI Fung-yee, MH (up to 30.11.2024)
RRIEHIE (B2 2024 F 11 A 30 H)

Mr WAN Man-yee, BBS, JP
BMREE

Prof Janet WONG Yuen-ha (from 1.12.2024)
BB (B 2024 F12 A1 A#)

Prof ZHANG Zhang-jin (from 8.4.2024)
SREEESHIR (B 2024 7F 4 A 8 H#E)
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Terms of Reference

(Updated version approved by the HA Board on 27.3.2025)

L

Examine, review and make recommendations on the changing needs
of the community in respect of clinical services provided by public
hospitals and institutions;

Advise and make recommendations on the overall policies, directions
and strategies relating to the provision, planning and development of the
public hospitals and related services, including quality governance and
patient safety, having regard to the availability of technology, staff and
other resources and the need to provide a patient-centred, outcome-
focused quality healthcare service by a knowledge-based organisation;

Consider and make recommendations on the overall priorities for the
planning and development of the public hospitals and related services
in order to ensure an optimal utilisation of available resources;

Consider, review and make recommendations on any other matters
related to the planning and development of the public hospitals and
related services;

Review and oversee clinical quality and safety concerns, including
matters pertaining to risk, risk management and risk mitigation
relevant to medical services development; and

Exercise powers delegated by the Board on the following matters:

(a) approve the scope of coverage of the Samaritan Fund, on
the recommendation of the Management Committee of the
Samaritan Fund;

(b) approve the scope of coverage of the Hospital Authority
Public-Private Partnership Fund, on the recommendation of
the Management Committee for the Hospital Authority Public-
Private Partnership Fund and Clinical Public-Private Partnership
Programmes; and

(c) approve clinical service plans on specialty services and
redevelopment projects, except those involving decisions on
financial provisions.

Focus of Work in 2024-25

In 2024-25, the Committee met six times to discuss and consider matters
relating to the planning, development and management of clinical
services of the Hospital Authority (HA).

Along the corporate strategy and planned future service directions
of HA, the Committee discussed the progress update on formulation
of Clinical Services Plan for Kowloon Central Cluster (Phase 3), in
particular the proposed options for future use of the King's Park site upon
relocation of the Queen Elizabeth Hospital to the new acute hospital in
Kai Tak Area. For clinical services development, the Committee noted
the completion of transferring the genetic and genomic services of the
Clinical Genetic Service under the Department of Health to Hong Kong
Children’s Hospital under HA and received the progress update on the
master implementation plan of the HA Strategic Framework for Genetic
and Genomic Services, and HA's participation in the Hong Kong Genome
Project through partnering arrangement. The Committee also noted the
updates on the establishment of the Integrated Neuroscience Centre and
the setting up of the Stroke Centre for enhancement of care for patients
with neurological and acute stroke diseases.
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In relation to mental health services, the Committee noted the progress
update of various psychiatric service enhancements in HA. During the
period, the Committee considered the plan on repositioning HA's primary
healthcare services. Relating to medications / pharmacy-related services,
the Committee received the implementation progress of the medication
delivery service in the HA, outcomes of service evaluation and the planned
initiative to provide medication collection points in the community for
further convenience to patients in collecting medications. The Committee
deliberated on the proposed optimisation of the roles and functions of drug-
related committees in HA to expedite introduction of new drugs on HA
Drug Formulary and strategies to promote safe, rational and cost-effective
use of drugs. The Committee also considered the proposed strategies of
building collaborative service models with community pharmacies and
pharmacists as well as the interim measures to optimise drug dispensing
within HA. In regard to Chinese medicine, the Committee received the
progress reports of the Subcommittee on Chinese Medicine formed under
the Committee. The Committee also discussed the initiatives for supporting
clinical research and innovation development in HA and received updates
on medical device management in HA, including the enhanced “Medical
Device Classification Framework” and the development of “Medical Device
Formulary”. The Committee deliberated the proposal on the introduction
of the HA Dietary Supplementary Formulary and its implementation with a
two-tier governance structure for the management of dietary supplement
in HA. The Committee noted the progress update on the new operation
mode of the private clinic of Hong Kong Eye Hospital. The Committee also
considered various clinical Public-Private Partnership (PPP) Programmes
and the way forward of HA PPP Programmes in line with the Government's
overall direction to foster integrated healthcare and maximise health
benefits. For clinical manpower, the Committee noted the updated set of
service demand and manpower requirement projection, and the strategies
to improve the workforce situation and address the anticipated manpower
gap for doctors, nurses, allied health and pharmacy professionals.

The Committee considered and deliberated on a wide range of clinical
management issues, including approval of new drugs / indications
and non-drug items to be covered by the Samaritan Fund in 2024-25;
specialist outpatient clinic new case waiting time management; and
2023-24 HA Patient Experience Survey on inpatient service. On risk
management and risk mitigation, the Committee monitored clinical
risk management through considering the report on patient service and
patient care, which assessed the effectiveness of the risk mitigation
actions taken in 2024, and focused on the risks anticipated for 2025
and the planned mitigation actions. For enhancing oversight of quality
and safety issues, the Committee deliberated and endorsed the action
plan for the Recommendation 1 made by the Review Committee on the
Management of Public Hospital System to entrust MSDC to take up a
leading role in advising, overseeing and improving service quality and
patient safety. The Committee also noted the progress of resumption of
hospital accreditation in HA; the incident management mechanism of HA;
and recent significant adverse events and coroner cases; and received
a report on a cluster of Methicillin Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus
Cases in Kwong Wah Hospital Neonatal Intensive Care Unit. Relating to
contingencies, the Committee considered a report on service demand
surge preparation, including various measures to increase the overall
capacity to address the increase in service demand.

The Committee also considered proposals / regular reports on other
matters, including the Controlling Officer's Report in 2024-25 and
development / monitoring / review of clinical service key performance
indicators.
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Public Complaints Committee
ARBRFERE

Membership List

REHE
Chairman: Mr CHAN Wing-kai*
FFE: PRk ST A
Vice-Chairman: Mr JAT Sew-tong, SBS, SC, JP*
BIERE : RIRIE ok
Members: Ms Rebecca CHAN Chui-mi
KE : PR\ L
Mr Raymond CHAN Kwan-tak
PREEEE

Mr CHAN Muk-kwong (from 1.1.2025)
BRANSE ST (B 2025 F 1 A 1 H#E)

Mr Vincent CHAN Wing-shing, MH
BRoK B S A

Rev Dr Andrew CHOI Chung-ho
ZERIRAD

Dr CHUNG Chin-hung*
BRIEE L

Prof Sylvia FUNG Yuk-kuen, BBS
BRI

Mr Herman HUI Chung-shing, GBS, MH, JP (up to 31.12.2024)
RS E (BE 2024 F12 A 31 H)

Mr KOK Che-leung, BBS (from 1.1.2025)
PERILAE (B 2025F1 A1 HFE)

Mr Joe KWOK Jing-keung, SBS, FSDSM (up to 31.12.2024)
BRI (B2 2024 F12 A 31 H)

Mr KWOK Leung-ming, SBS, CSDSM (up to 31.12.2024)
rmBA% L (BIE 2024 F 12 A 31 A)

Mr Stephen LAM Wai-hung (from 1.1.2025)
MEMESTAE (2025 F 1 A 1 HEE)

Mr Daniel LAU Kim-hung
el palyi e

Mr Lothar LEE Hung-sham, BBS, MH (from 1.1.2025)
HREE (B 2025461 A1 B#)

Mr Tony LEUNG Chun-ping (from 1.1.2025)
RURSESE A (202561 A1 HE)

Prof LI Chi-kong, JP*

Mr Daryl LI Kin-yat, SBS, FSDSM (from 1.1.2025)
FEBEE(BH2025F1 A1 )

Mr LIU Sui-biu
BIRTE

Prof Joseph LUI Cho-ze*
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Ms Manbo MAN Bo-lin, MH

NIREL L

Mr Simon MOK Sai-man, MH (up to 31.12.2024)
RittR%&4E (B2 2024 F12 A 31 H)

Mr Raymond NG Kwok-ming, IDS
EIEED S

The Hon TANG Fei, MH

BRZES

Mr Hermes TANG Yi-hoi, SBS, CDSM, CMSM, JP
BLAgSeE

Mr Frederick TONG Kin-sang

FEALE

Prof William TSANG Wai-nam

L& BHIE

Mr Paul WU Wai-keung

TAEREE

Ms Agnes Garman YEH
A

Mr Charlie YIP Wing-tong (passed away in May 2024)

oA (R 2024 F 5 F )

*Panel Chairman /NMEF &

Terms of Reference

1. The Public Complaints Committee (PCC) is the final complaint
redress and appeal body of the Hospital Authority (HA);

2. The PCC shall independently:

(@) consider and decide upon complaints from members of the
public who are dissatisfied with the response of the HA / hospital
to which they have initially directed their complaints;

(b) monitor HA's handling of complaints;

3. Pursuant to Para 2 above, the PCC shall independently advise
and monitor the HA on the PCC's recommendations and their
implementation;

4. Inhandling complaint cases, the PCC shall follow the PCC Complaint
Handling Guidelines (Annex) which may be amended from time to
time; and

5. The PCC shall from time to time and at least once a year, make
reports to the HA Board and public, including statistics or raising
important issues where applicable.

Annex

Guidelines on the handling of complaint cases in the Public Complaints
Committee (PCC)

1

220

The PCC is an appeal body within the Hospital Authority (HA) to
consider appeals made by the public relating to its services. Based
on its Terms of Reference, the following are guidelines set by the
PCC to facilitate the handling of complaints.

Hospital Authority Annual Report Bt &2 /54 ik 2024-2025

8 2 )R BREER
(%%ﬁﬂﬂ%%m&éﬁiﬁtﬁ%ﬂ

2. REQEBYIM

(a) BEEHARBRALHESR - BLE
FEVAES R/ Bfied - BERF
Aﬁﬁf‘%@%Tﬁﬁ : LA&

(h) ERBEDHERFNE

3. AT LAE 2 BFiiEE TEeg

BUEEERIRHER  WEREZN

1T

4, RESHEBRFEZRE //\1121%?5%

TEHERT IR R BRI 45 3] (B F)

5. ZECATHIZLEF—RRAEBERK
GRARATERIIE  BERERIEHEN
Lu“’%%iig iEE °

B 44

ARBRFEER(ZED) EERFERES

1l ZESREREERBER) WA LK

B BEEEARATHEERREN L

o ZE DR EBERE - IR TR

RERIBIED) o



APPENDIX 3
Bié% 3

2. The PCC shall not normally handle a complaint:

(a) if the complaint relates to services provided by the HA more
than 2 years before the date of the lodging of the complaint,
unless the PCC is satisfied that in the particular circumstances
it is proper to conduct an investigation into such complaint not
made within that period;

(b) if the complaint is made anonymously and / or the complainant
cannot be identified or traced;

(c) if the complainant has failed to obtain the proper consent of the
patient, to whom the services were provided, in the lodging of
the complaint (this restriction will not be applicable if the patient
has died or is for any reason unable to act for himself or herself);

(d) if the subject matter of the complaint has been referred to or is
being considered by the coroner;

(e) if the complaint relates to a matter for which a specific statutory
complaint procedure exists;

(f) if legal proceedings have been instituted, or the complainant or
the patient concerned has indicated that he / she will institute
legal proceedings, against the HA, the hospital or any persons
who provided the services (in any event, the Committee shall not
entertain any request for compensation);

(g) if the complaint relates to dispute over the established policies
of HA, for example fees charging policy of the HA in respect of its
services;

(h) if the complaint relates to an assessment made by a medical
staff pursuant to any statutory scheme whereas such scheme
provides for a channel of appeal, for example, the granting of
sick leave under the provisions of the Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance, Cap. 282;

(i) if the complaint relates to personnel matters or contractual
matters and commercial matters;

(j) if the PCC considers that the complaint is frivolous or vexatious
or is not made in good faith; or

(k) if the complaint, or a complaint of a substantially similar nature,
has previously been the subject matter of a complaint which had
been decided upon by the PCC.

3. The PCC considers that its meetings shall not be open to the public
because of the following grounds:
) the disclosure of legal privileged documents in an open hearing;

(a

(b) the disclosure of personal data in an open hearing;

(c) the PCC is not a judicial or quasi-judicial body;

(d) an aggrieved party has other channels to seek redress; and

(e) the PCC should not duplicate the functions of other institutions

such as the courts or the Medical Council.

4. In considering the merits of a complaint, the PCC may from time to
time obtain expert opinion by medical professionals or other experts
relating to the subject matter of the complaint. If the PCC considers
appropriate, it may also invite the complainant, the patient, the
medical staffs or any other relevant persons to attend an interview.

(The above Guidelines on the handling of complaint cases may be
amended from time to time as appropriate.)
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Focus of Work in 2024-25

In 2024-25, the PCC held 15 meetings and concluded 237 cases,
majority of cases were alleged against medical services with adverse
outcome in clinical care. While the Committee found that the subject
matter of most of the complaints had been properly dealt with by the
hospitals concerned, 21 cases were considered partially substantiated.
In addition to the handling of appeal cases, the Committee also advised
on HA's complaint handling with a view to improving the efficiency and
effectiveness of its complaints system, and make recommendations for
system change and improvement of healthcare services. During the year,
the Committee received progress reports from hospitals and / or Head
Office departments concerned on their follow-up actions taken arising
from PCC's recommendations and observations, which covered the
following major areas:

- Clearer information to patients on clinical procedures;

- Better documentation in medical records;

- Enhancing the referral mechanism between General Outpatient

Clinics and Allied Health Department;

- Mitigating patient’s risk of escape from physical restraint;

- Enhanced communication with patients and their relatives;

- Clearer clinical guidance for medical procedures; and

- Strengthening staff training on communication and hospital's

complaints management.

Through its Secretariat, the Committee shared important lessons learnt
for safer and better patient services and organised regular complaint
management training for enhancing the skills of hospital's Patient
Relations Officers (PROs) and clinical staff in conflict resolution. To
strengthen collaboration and communication between hospitals and the
Committee, a partnership programme was launched to engage PROs and
clinical leaders to attend PCC meetings.

The Committee was briefed and discussed on HA's key strategies and
developments in patient relations and complaints management. HA
would adopt a three-pronged approach to proactively collect patients’
experience and views. With the complementary use of independent
comprehensive surveys, short surveys via HA mobile application “HA Go”
and volunteer groups as partner patients, HA could have a timely review
of its services and the effectiveness of corporate new initiatives. Members
also received report on the findings of the 2023 Patient Experience Survey
on Inpatient Service and HA's prioritized areas for service enhancements.

On both internal and external communication, the Committee reported its
work to the HA Board, Regional Advisory Committees and patient groups.
The HA Annual Report on Public Appreciation, Feedback and Complaints
Management was posted on HA website for easy access by the public.

As agood corporate governance practice and for continuous improvement,
the Committee conducted self-assessment exercise to review its
activities in the past year, having regard to its Terms of Reference. It
had also reviewed its role and mode of operation to drive for continuous
improvement in the workflow of handling appeal cases.
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Staff Appeals Committee
BB LREES

Membership List
RERE

Chairman: Mr Lawrence LEE Kam-hung, BBS, JP
FE: TEWiTE

Members: Ms Margaret CHENG Wai-ching, JP
B : BEaXL

Mr Ambrose HO, SBS, SC, JP (up to 30.11.2024)
fApMER A (B2 2024 F 11 A 30 H)

Ms Tennessy HUI Mei-sheung, MH, JP (from 1.12.2024)
SRR (B 2024 F 12 A1 A #)

Mr Henry TONG Sau-chai, BBS, MH, JP
BIEE L

Mr WONG Kwai-huen, SBS, JP
THEAE

Terms of Reference HiEsE
1. To consider and decide upon appeals from staff members who have 1. BEEBFEBIEEAIPRBIELD RFM XM

raised a grievance through the normal internal complaint channels BEAENEE FHRER - EITERLR
and who wish to appeal against the decision made. JE °

WA
m

\

2. The Committee shall: 2, ER
(a) consider whether the appeal cases need further investigation by ERLFEREEFTHERAEIEE
the management; **ﬂﬂg

(b) direct the appeal cases to be investigated:; Y FIRFERETRASE

c) have access to all the relevant information required from the F"J 2 A SRS ﬁﬁﬁ@@ﬁﬂ LAfE

management for making a decision; YEHURTE

5

oT
OO

(d) ensure that appropriate action is taken; and (d) BREXRIEENITE : &
(e) reply to the appellant. (e) EIELEFA o

3. The Committee’s decision shall represent the Hospital Authority's 3. ZEgMRTEAIRBREIERISIINE °
decision and shall be final.

4. The Committee shall make annual reports to the Hospital Authority 4 ZRESASFNERERERAZRIME -
Board.

Focus of Work in 2024-25 2024-25 FETEHR
The Committee serves to consider and decide on appeals from staff ZEENRE SREE LIFER - #1TEZ
members who have raised a grievance and appeal through the normal AE - HRBEEBERERER(BER) T

internal complaint channels established in the Hospital Authority (HA) B A EPR B RR H AR FETmB R EM RS -
and who wish to make further appeal against the decision made. The ZEGMATAREE RHRERTE °
Committee's decision shall represent HA's decision and shall be final.

In 2024-25, the Committee received two new appeal cases. Consideration f£ 2024-25 ¥ - ZE2WEIMREE L3
of these cases was still in progress as of the end of 2024-25. R - EEARFER  FRERDEEEYT
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Supporting Services Development Committee

XERBEREES

Membership List

MERE

Chairman: Mrs Sylvia LAM YU Ka-wai, SBS

FE: MRREBRE

Members: Ms Ellen CHAN Sheung-man

RE : [representing the Permanent Secretary for Health]

PR = 8 £

[REBEEHEEREWER]

Ir Patrick CHEUNG Yuen-fong, BBS (from 1.12.2024)
SRIRFSE (2024 F12 A1 HE)

Dr Tony KO Pat-sing, JP, Chief Executive
SRR [T

Dr James LAU Chi-wang, BBS, JP

BERE L

Prof Agnes TIWARI Fung-yee, MH (up to 30.11.2024)
REBHIE (BIZ 2024 F11 A 30 A)

Ir Vincent TONG Wing-shing, BBS
2K S

Mr Philip TSAI Wing-chung, BBS, JP
Bk B L E

Mr Anthony TSANG Hin-fun
BESERLE

Mr WAN Man-yee, BBS, JP
BXEEE

Ir Billy WONG Wing-hoo, BBS, JP
KRS AE

Prof Janet WONG Yuen-ha (from 1.12.2024)
BIMEHIR (7 2024 F12 A 1 A#E)
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Terms of Reference

1. Advise on the overall procurement policies, strategies and tendering
procedures for the Hospital Authority;

2. Advise on the strategic directions and policies related to the planning,
development and management of business support services in the
Hospital Authority;

3. Advise on the adoption of better practices, industry innovations
and green and sustainable initiatives related to the planning,
development and management of business support services in the
Hospital Authority; and

4. Consider periodically matters relating to risk, risk management and
risk mitigation relevant to business support services in the Hospital
Authority under the purview of the Committee.

Focus of Work in 2024-25

In 2024-25, the Committee met four times to advise on the directions
and policies related to procurement, business support services (BSS)
and pharmaceutical supplies to support clinical service delivery in the
Hospital Authority (HA). To strengthen its governance and advisory roles
in the planning, development and management of procurement and BSS
in HA, an additional co-opted member was enlisted to join the Committee
in November 2024.

The Committee supported the five strategic focus areas for BSS
development in 2024-25, including (a) enhancing cost efficiency in
procurement of medical equipment, (b) rationalising patient catering and
laundry services for higher operational efficiency, (c) strengthening risk
management in medical equipment maintenance, (d) facilities design for
improved operational efficiency of supporting services in new hospitals,
and (e) leveraging smart technology through exploration of Generative
Artificial Intelligence.

Regarding procurement of medical equipment, the Committee noted
HA's initiative to rationalise the procurement strategies to enhance
procurement efficiency and market competition so as to achieve cost
savings. The Committee deliberated on HA's strategies for improving the
cost efficiency and value for money in drug procurement, and practicable
means to maximise the potential cost savings to HA.

The Committee supported the revisions of the HA Procurement and
Materials Management Manual, including those on approval limits and
delegation of authority for approval of the HA Board, following a triennial
review of the Manual. The Committee supported the Health Bureau (HHB)'s
policy direction to accord preference to buy medical devices listed under
the Medical Device Administrative Control System, and was informed of,
inter alia, HA's plan to incorporate the national security provisions into its
procurement as in line with the Government’s practice. The Committee
also provided strategic directions on continuous enhancement of HA's
procurement. Apart from receiving an annual report on contracts with
price adjustments approved by the HA management in 2023 under the
“Authorise and Direct” arrangement as delegated by the Main Tender
Board (MTB), the Committee also advised on HA's procurement issues
in response to MTB Members' feedback, which were reported to the
Committee quarterly.

REEE
1 HEREERNEEREEE « KK KT
SRFRHER

2. BEREERERS ERNMNEBER
SRR ERRES D St MBRRIRHER

3. BBREEREME BREEEXEHX
BERSG ERARAEEME - EXAIF R
RIRETAFFEEREBRRER &

4 THEZBZESHELEAN  AHER
BEREHERFNEAR - BREER
RBEREE -

2024-25 FEIT/EHIR

£ 2024-25 K ZESHBRENASE -
REBREER(BER)ERE £BIERS
ey FERRIRERER - UX
BERARRGEIRGE - BIEEZESEET K
BRESYERENRE - BEKEEFIAEN
ERNZERAR  TEERN 2024 F 11 A
T —RIEKE -

LB FF 2024-25 FEBREBIERK
MAARBEREE - 835 (—)RABES
EREREBHORC A s - () IBIBm AR R X
RIBARRERERE - (=) IR EFERRE
RERER - (70)RIERAT AT BT &
ARISEVEIERM R - UK (R HRREAEKIA
THEENTRIASAERER -

ERBEEBREREIH  ZESRIBERRK
R IR IRER B SRS - DA SR RUE R fR
EMHEHRF  XMBHERKS - RESTRE
BRERBEY T EIREK AR A T
BENRE  ARERELBERAEEEKN
BYRIFTITA ©

AREBERE=FETN(RBEOHNEET
) et - RESXRABER - HPaHER
RigBEERAGHENAREILRBMZE
MIER] - REEXRHEBRERMNBRITEH -
BARBER [BESMITRERFE] TX
S THVE R - TE S WELEE Bt
R R R 2GS AERE TIE - LECA B
HHOE - TESTEMSER(CEE RRE
FEREREE TR - RKHEEREEASE
2023 FITEPRIZITR B S REMBLERE
BRERNEERSI  ZESTAEESRS
RARIEZESGNENBEERFETERLNE
RHFERERERERE -
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Concerning BSS, the Committee noted that, with the service
commencement of the HA Supporting Services Centre (HASSC) in
March 2025, HA would rationalise the overall food production and
laundry services across clusters; and was assured that HA's linen and
laundry services were in good state in terms of sustainability, service
quality, infection control, resilience and cost-effectiveness. To cater
for the projected and long-term demand for essential supporting
services arising from the subsequent Hospital Development Plan(s),
the Committee supported HA to follow up with HHB on earmarking new
sites for establishing additional HASSCs, alongside the development of a
master plan for the long-term development of supporting services in HA.

On medical equipment maintenance, the Committee received the final
report on the action plan to implement the related recommendations
made by the Review Committee on Medical Equipment and
Facility Maintenance. The Committee noted that all action items
were completed, including launch of the new Medical Equipment
Maintenance Management System and strengthening of biomedical
engineering manpower to enhance supervision and monitoring of
outsourced maintenance services, and further enhancements would be
made if such opportunities arise.

In addition, the Committee supported smart applications in strategic BSS
areas in line with the corporate direction of smart hospital development.

The Committee received an annual report on hospital security services in
2023-24 and noted the latest environmental management in HA including
the various environmental management programmes.

In accordance with the HA organisation-wide risk-management
framework, the Committee considered the risks related to BSS and
pharmaceutical supplies, including the effectiveness of risk mitigation
actions taken in 2024, risks anticipated for 2025 and the planned
measures.
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Membership of Hospital Governing Committees
BREREEENE

Alice Ho Miu Ling Nethersole Hospital
MK A AR+T E &P

Chairman: Mr Wilson MOK Yu-sang

EE RWRELE

Ex-officio members: Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative
ERME : Bl B RITRAARS ALK

Hospital Chief Executive
BT TR

Members: Mr Derek CHAN Man-foon

KB : PR B4
Major Minny CHAN TSUI Heung-ying
PRIRERE DR
Mr CHU King-yuen, SBS, MH, JP
KRZEE

Elder Dr Simon FUNG Siu-hung
BOHERZE

Rev Canon the Hon Peter Douglas KOON Ho-ming, SBS, JP
El /|:| u%/ﬁﬂ("ﬂ(ﬁfﬁ

Prof Simon KWAN Shui-man
AT SIS

Sr Dr Stephen LAI Yuk-fai, JP
FEIBEE L

Mr LAM Yick-kuen, MH
RS &

Rev Kenneth LAU Wing-kan
21X EpHaAm

Mr Roger LEE Chee-wah
FEERSE

Ms Joyce LEUNG Kam-ling
RIS H+

Mr John LI Kwok-heem, MH
FEGR S E

Ms Yvette LI Yan-yi
FRMBRL

Mr MAN Chen-fai, BBS, MH
XEBLE

Mr Herman TSOI Hak-chiu
BRMRSTE

Rev WONG Ka-fai
TR AD

Mr Alan YU Kwok-yin
REERE
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Bradbury Hospice
REEEERL

Chairman: Ms Rebecca HUNG Tzu-wei
xE e FELLT

Ex-officio members: Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative
EREE : Bl B8R RITRAA S AENRK
Hospital Chief Executive
Bl TR ES
Members: Mr CHAN Muk-kwong
K& : BRAN SR
Prof Joanne CHUNG Wai-yee
BEREHX
Ms Olive Yvonne LEE On-yee
FEHERT
Mr Paul MAK Chun-nam
EHEmTE

Mr Peter SUEN Yiu-chan
RIS

Mr TSOI Ming-yang
GRS

Dr Royce YUEN Man-chun, JP
RX&EL
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Caritas Medical Centre

BAE B

Chairman:

EE

Ex-officio members:
EAKE :

Members:

KA :

Prof Joseph LUI Cho-ze
BIRTEHIR

Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative

Bl B8R RITRAAR S ANK
Hospital Chief Executive

Bl THAREL

Dr Louis CHOY Chung-wai
HREE

Mr Joseph LEE King-chi, BBS
FEESLE

Dr Vitus LEUNG Wing-hang, BBS, JP
xR+

Dr Albert LIE Kwok-wai
FERBEEE

Mr Willie LUI Pok-shek, JP

= IERE S 4

Rev Dominique MUKONDA Kananga
ZE T E AR AL

Ms Fiona NGAI Shut-ying
REERZ L

Dr Jonathan WAI Heung-on, JP
BERE

Mr Henry WONG Ho-cheong
BEALE

Mr Anthony WONG Luen-kin, JP
AR

Mr Ronald YAM Tak-fai
EEERE

Rev Joseph YIM Tak-lung
RfEEe R

Appendices [}

229



APPENDIX 4
Bt 6% 4

Castle Peak Hospital & Siu Lam Hospital
BBk R/NMEER

Chairman: Dr Peter LEE Kwok-wah
xE TEFEE LT

Ex-officio members: Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative
EREE : Bl e R RITBARHRERRK
Hospital Chief Executive
Bl TR ES
Members: Mr Vincent CHAN Chun-hung
K& : PREEFE T4

Mr Nicholas CHAN Hiu-fung, BBS, MH, JP
PRI 55 A&

Mr Michael CHAN Kee-huen
PRACIE S A&

Mr Kenny CHENG Tsin-ki

B E A

Mr CHOW Kam-cheung, BBS, MH
[ESRTE e A

Mr Lothar LEE Hung-sham, BBS, MH
AR E

Mr Paul WU Wai-keung

HRER ST AE

Mr Boris YEUNG Sau-ming
HHRRAEE
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Cheshire Home, Chung Hom Kok

EHARKEERR
Chairman:
EE:

Ex-officio members:
EARE :

Members:

A :

Dr Albert WONG Chi-chiu
TESBE

Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative
B ERRITHEISAERE
Hospital Chief Executive

BT TR

Mr CHAN Bing-woon, SBS, JP
BRIA MR S A

Mr Raymond CHAN Kwan-tak
BREMELE

Dr Shelley M CHOW
AEREL

Ms Betty KO Lan-fun
SRS

Mr KOK Che-leung, BBS
BERFEE

Dr TONG Hon-kuan, JP
EEEE

Dr WONG Chun-por, JP
TEKRE

Dr Paul YOUNG Tze-kong, JP
HFHIEL
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Cheshire Home, Shatin

DHEKEERR
Chairman: Prof Leonard LI Sheung-wai
£ FEBHIX
Ex-officio members: Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative
EREE : Bl B8R RITRAA S AENRK
Hospital Chief Executive
Bl TR ES
Members: Mr Raymond CHAN Kwan-tak
RE : BREMELE
Dr Shelley M CHOW
AEREL
Mr FONG Cheung-fat, JP
TRERE
Prof Sylvia FUNG Yuk-kuen, BBS
RS E BRI
Ms Janet LAl Keng-chok
R+
Dr Edward LEUNG Man-fuk
RERBLE
Mr Alfred POON Sun-biu
IR EE
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Dr TSE Man-chung (from 25.4.2024)
FIRIE L (B 2024 F4 A 25 A#E)
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Grantham Hospital

EEHER

Chairman:

EE

Ex-officio members:
EAKE :

Members:

A :

Mr Steve LAN Yee-fong, MH
EEFLE

Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative

Bl EIERITRARSERR

Hospital Chief Executive
BT TR

Dr the Hon Eliza C H CHAN, GBS, JP
FRSEE T

Mr William CHAN Fu-keung, BBS
BREREE

Prof Stephen CHENG Wing-keung
BB SRR

Mr Raymond CHOW Wai-kam, JP
g EE

Dr Edmund LAM Wing-wo
MOKFE

Dr Lawrence LAN Chuen-leung

e e
BL{HoT B

Mr William LEUNG Shu-yin

A v

Dr Vitus LEUNG Wing-hang, BBS, JP
Rk EBE+

Mr Colin LO Chor-cheong
BRMEE

Mr Abraham SHEK Lai-him, GBS, JP
AfEsmEE

Mrs Purviz Rusy SHROFF, MH

Prof Sydney TANG Chi-wai
HEEHIX

Prof TSE Hung-fat
BRI
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Haven of Hope Hospital

BEES

Chairman:

EE

Ex-officio members:
EANE !

Members:

TR

Prof Joseph KWAN Kai-cho
AR IR

Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative
Bl B8R RITRAA S AENRK

Hospital Chief Executive

BEhriTi AR

Mr Simon FOK Man-kin

EXfERE

Dr the Hon LAM Ching-choi, GBS, JP
PRIERT 8

Mr LAM Sze-chuen

MBE LA

Prof Diana LEE Tze-fan, JP
TR

Mr Stephen LIU Wing-ting, JP
BEE S E

Mr Gregory LO Chun-hung, SBS, FSDSM
EYRME S E

Dr William LO Tak-lam
EEERE

Dr Tommy LO Yiu

ERET

Mr George NG Sze-fuk, GBS, JP
RIL@ELE
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Hong Kong Buddhist Hospital

BEHAER

Chairman:

EE

Ex-officio members:
EAKE :

Members:

KA :

Mr HO Tak-sum, BBS, MH
A E L

Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative

Bl EIERITRARSERR

Hospital Chief Executive
BT TR

Ms Katherine CHEUNG Shuk-fan

TS E T+

Mr Spencer KWAN Chor-chung
b

Mr Jonathan LAI Ping-wah
FEIREE S

Mr Joseph LAM Boon-wai
VNES a2

Mr Anthony LAM Chi-tat
MEERL

Mr Nelson LAM Hon-wan
WEREL

Ms May LAM Shih-yan
MFFRE L

Mr LI Tak-hong, SBS, MH, JP
PREELE

Ven SIK Hong-ming
FERERERD

Ven SIK Kuan-yun, BBS, MH
BEEEM

Ven SIK Miu-chi

B 2 LR

Ven SIK Ti-lun

TR R ERD

Ven SIK Tsang-chit

TS ROEED

Ven SIK Yin-chi
BERERD

Prof Julia TAO LAI Po-wah
PIRRE EHIX

Mr Richard TSE Kin-pang
EgEdiibte

Ms WAN Kor-wo
mERAE T

Ms WAN Yee-ling
maRE LT
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Hong Kong Children's Hospital

ERREER
Chairman: Mrs Ann KUNG YEUNG Yun-chi, BBS, JP
£ EiGREL T
Ex-officio members: Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative
EREE : Bl B8R RITRAA S AENRK
Hospital Chief Executive
BEPTiTI AR
Members: Dr Ricky CHAN Wai-keung
HE: BRIZREE A
Ms Winnie CHIU Wing-kwan, BBS, JP
il g
Prof FOK Tai-fai, SBS, JP
ERBHIX
Prof LAU Chak-sing, BBS, JP
22 E HIX
Mr Oscar LEE Tsan
FERAE
Mr William LO Chi-chung
EEIRSLSE
Prof Frances WONG Kam-yuet
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Hong Kong Eye Hospital & Kowloon Hospital
ERRBHEERT & L EE BB

Chairman:

EE:

Ex-officio members:
EARE :

Members:

ELE

Mr Daniel LAM Chun, SBS, JP
WELE

Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative

B ERRITHEISAERE
Hospital Chief Executive

BT TR

Dr CHAN Man-wai
BRX(E1E L

Mr CHAN Ping-hung
BRIMIE S &

Ms Jennifer CHEUNG Wai-yin
REARL L

Mr Donald CHOI Wun-hing, BBS, JP
BRI

Mr Victor FONG Tin-chuen
ARESE

Dr Kenny KONG Siu-man
BAAARIEL

Dr Lawrence LAl Fook-ming, BBS, JP
FETREAE L

Mr Benedict SIN Nga-yan

SRR SEE

Mr Johnny WONG Chi-keung, MH
FEEELE

Dr Harry YU Kwok-kuen
REEE L
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Hong Kong Red Cross Blood Transfusion Service

BBAL+ TS8R O

Chairman: Mr Ignatius CHAN Tze-ching, BBS, JP
EE BRFIRSEE
Ex-officio members: Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative
EREE : Bl B8R RITRAA S AENRK
Hospital Chief Executive
BEPTiTI AR
Members: Ms Natalie CHAN Wo-mi
RE : BRANEZ +
Ms Mary Pandora CHEUNG
SRIFFIL L+
Mr Justin LO Chak-tin
ERMREE
Mr Kyrus SIU King-wai
BREEE
Ms Bonnie SO Yuen-han
RO T
Prof Agnes TIWARI Fung-yee, MH
Prof Eric TSE Wai-choi
AR IR
Mr Sunny WONG Sing-long
mEMSESE

Ms Titania WOO Chi-kwan (from 25.4.2024)
tAEE LT (/7 2024 F 4 A 25 HF#E)
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Kwai Chung Hospital & Princess Margaret Hospital

EHBRRBER
Chairman:
EPE

Ex-officio members:
EARE :

Members:

ELE

Bk

The Hon Duncan CHIU
ERER ST AE

Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative
B ERRITHEISAERE

Hospital Chief Executive

BT TR

Mr Davis CHAN Chun-bong Junbon

BRI FB S

Mr Kenny CHAN Ngai-sang, BBS
BRI A SE4E

Prof Linda LAM Chiu-wa
MR

Mr Wilson LEE Hung-wai
BB E

Mr David LUI Yin-tat, BBS
EBELE

Mr TSO Tat-ming
WA

Prof Andrew WONG Ho-yuen, GBS, JP
EV B 65

Mr WONG Wai-kit, MH
EHEGEE

Ms Daisy WONG Wai-yee
FEEzT

Ir Billy WONG Wing-hoo, BBS, JP
TR E
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Kwong Wah Hospital & Tung Wah Group of Hospitals Wong Tai Sin Hospital
EEERRRE=RE LB

Chairman: Ms Mandy TANG Ming-wai, BBS
EE: LR Soan
Ex-officio members: Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative
EREE : Bl B8R RITRAA S AENRK
Hospital Chief Executive
Bl TR ES
Members: Mr CHAN Wing-kai
K& : BRAESR £
Ms Crystal CHOI Ka-yee
gatekt

Mr Orlando HO Yau-kai
fATERRR S A

Mr Jason Joseph LEE Kwong-yee
AL

Mr Philip MA Ching-yeung, BBS
R p e

Ms Ginny MAN, BBS, JP
MR

Mr Arthur MUI

BEZESLE

Mr Jonathan NG

(il =tes

Ms Patricia Joy SHIH
AL

Mr Albert SU Yau-on, MH, JP
BRth

Mr Kazaf TAM Chun-kwok, BBS, JP
EEES A

Mr York TSENG Hing-yip
BERSLE

Dr Ken TSOI Wing-sing, BBS, JP
B2t

Mr Herman WAI Ho-man, BBS
BN A

Ms Queenie YIP Siu-lai
EXBLL

Mr YIU Hung-chi
HBERLE
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MacLehose Medical Rehabilitation Centre

HIEEEER

Chairman:

EE

Ex-officio members:
EAKE :

Members:

A :

Prof Cecilia CHAN Lai-wan, JP

REZSHIR

Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative

Bl EIERITRARSERR

Hospital Chief Executive
BT TR

Prof Henry CHAN Hin-lee
BROT B

Dr Steve CHENG Chun-fai
ESiR RIS £

Mr CHENG Yan-kee, BBS, JP
BRESL A

Dr Eric CHIEN Ping
Mr FUNG Ka-chuen
BRI E

Mr Quinton LAM Chun-ki
MHERSTAE

Mr Weymond LAM Hong-wai
MITE R &

Mr Joseph LO Kin-ching, MH
Dr POON Tak-lun, JP
EIEAE A

Dr Ricky SZETO Wing-fu
AlIfEkEIEL

Mr Benjamin WONG Kam-ming

=i E

Mr George WONG Kwok-cheong

=ESEE
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North District Hospital
L EE&pR

Chairman: Prof CHAN Wai-yee
£ BRIBBHX

Ex-officio members: Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative
ERRE : Bl B8R RITRAA S AENRK
Hospital Chief Executive
BT
Members: Ms Margaret CHAN Ka-man
K& : BRES L
Mr Kenneth CHOW Wah-tat
EEEERE

Mr Clement FUNG Cheuk-nang, MH
IEEREEE

Mr KO Yiu-cheung

SIRE L

Mr Billy LAM Chek-yau, BBS, MH, JP
MARB L

Mr LIU Hing-hung
BEStE L

Mr MA Siu-leung, BBS, MH
BHERESE

Mrs Cherry TSE LING Kit-ching, GBS, JP
WERE L

Mr YIP Yik-shing, MH
Bkt

Ms Annie ZHU Jing
KLt
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North Lantau Hospital

b KU 1L BB

Chairman:

EE:

Ex-officio members:
EARE :

Members:

ELE

Prof Raymond LIANG Hin-suen, SBS, JP

REFRHIR

Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative

B ERRITHEISAERE
Hospital Chief Executive

BT TR

Mr Dennis CHOW Chi-in
BEBLEE

Mr CHOW Yick-hay, BBS, JP
BEFFLE

Ms Carmen FUNG Ka-man
BEX AL

Mr Henry LEE Da-cheng
FREFEE

Ms Deborah WAN Lai-yau, BBS, JP
Y e

Dr WONG Wai-kei

HEER

Prof Janet WONG Yuen-ha
EBIEE AKX

Ms Helen ZEE
wRZ L
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Our Lady of Maryknoll Hospital

ENER

Chairman: Ms June LO Hing-yu

TE: BEIFRL

Ex-officio members: Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative

ERRE : Bl B8R RITRAA S AENRK
Hospital Chief Executive
BT

Members: Mr Daniel AU Tin-che

RE : BRBBEE
Ms Bonnie CHAN Shum-yue, JP
BRI 2 £
Dr Nancy CHEUNG Man-ching
REEEL
Dr Nancy FOK Lai-ling
e
Mr Robin Mark Garvey HUANG
EREMATE
Mr Joseph HUI Kong-yue
FRLERE A
Dr James HWANG Shu-tak, BBS
EfiEEE

Prof LAU Kwok-yu, JP
BIRHHIX

Ms Christina Maisenne LEE, JP
TERLZT

Sister Marilu LIMGENCO
MEURIE

Mr Stephen MA Chak-wa, MH
BRERLE

Mr Rex MOK Chung-fai, BBS, MH, JP
S

Dr Emily NGAN Man-lai

BAXEE L
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Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital

RELERABITEZER

Chairman:

EE

Ex-officio members:
EAKE :

Members:

A :

Prof David SHUM Ho-keung
LIETRHIR

Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative
B ERRITHEISAERE

Hospital Chief Executive

BT TR

Mr Derek CHAN Man-foon

PR ERE

Ms Jessica CHENG

BFE L+

Ms Karen CHEUNG Tih-loh
ORI L

Mr Roland CHOW Kun-chee
B E e

Mr Mico CHOW Man-cheung
BAERELE

Ms Michelle CHOW Yan-wai
AREZL

Mr John LI Kwok-heem, MH
Ms Yvette LI Yan-yi
FRAE T

Mr Wilson MOK Yu-sang
RWRELE

Rt Rev Dr Thomas SOO Yee-po, JP
FRIABR TR

Mr Anthony TSANG Hin-fun
BESLE

Dr Ryan WONG Man-yeung
FXHEBE

Mr Bernard WU Tak-lung
RiEgELLE
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Pok Oi Hospital
28K

Chairman: Mr Danny CHAU Chun-tat, MH
EE: JERESRE
Ex-officio members: Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative
ERRE : Bl B8R RITRAA S AENRK
Hospital Chief Executive
BT
Members: Dr CHAN Kwok-ki, MH, JP
RE : BREUEIE L+

Dr Lily CHAN LI Lei, MH
BREfRiE L

Dr CHAN Shou-ming, MH
PRESEIEL

Ms Veronica HO
a4 22 &

Ms HUANG Xiao-jun
EBAEXL

Mr Stephen LEE Hoi-yin
FHRESLE

Mr Donald MAN Ka-ho, JP (from 27.6.2024)
NESE (2024 F6 A 27 HEE)

Mr PANG Siu-hin, MH
TR E

Mrs Winnie TAM KEUNG May-chu, MH
BEEWL

Mr Simon TSO
EERGLE

Mr Charlie YIP Wing-tong (passed away in May 2024)
BEOKE LA (R 2024 F 5 A #t)

Ms YUEN Man-yee, MH
RESGEZE
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Prince of Wales Hospital

R R i 7 £ B B

Chairman:

EE:

Ex-officio members:
EARE :

Members:

ELE

Ms Priscilla WONG Pui-sze, SBS, JP

Fmarit

Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative

Bl EIERITRARSERR

Hospital Chief Executive
BT TR

Mr CHEUNG Chi-yin
RFESLE

Prof Philip CHIU Wai-yan, JP
HEECHIR

Ms Mimi FUNG Ching-mei
ISR

Ms Wendy FUNG Ching-suet
HEELt

Mr HO Sai-king
faltt R e 4

Prof Enders NG Kwok-wai
REEHH

Mr WONG Fai-fan
=B A
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Queen Elizabeth Hospital

FFDHEER
Chairman: Dr Thomas TSANG Ho-fai, BBS
EE by

Ex-officio members: Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative
EARKE B ERRITREISERE
Hospital Chief Executive
BEhriTi AR
Members: Mrs Diana CHAN TONG Chee-ching, JP
RE : BRETEE T
Mrs Sylvia LAM YU Ka-wai, SBS
MRRBL L
Dr John LEE Sam-yuen, BBS
=i+
The Hon Kenneth LEUNG Yuk-wai, MH, JP
REIESLE

Prof LI Chi-kong, JP
FERBR

Mr Bernard MAN, SC
NN A

Ms Nikki NG Mien-hua, BBS
G ES

Mr Alec TONG Chi-chiu
oy e

Mr Felix TSENG Hing-fai
LEESES

Prof WOO King-hang, JP
[ESNEES €5
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Queen Mary Hospital & Tsan Yuk Hospital

REBREREEER

Chairman:

EE:

Ex-officio members:
EARE :

Members:

ELE

Mr Philip TSAI Wing-chung, BBS, JP
EoKBLEE

Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative

B ERRITHEISAERE
Hospital Chief Executive

BT TR

Mr Adam KWOK Kai-fai, SBS
FESB L

Ms Sandra LEE Suk-yee, GBS, JP
FRER L

Mr Lincoln LEONG Kwok-kuen, JP
REE ST

Ms Eva SIT Yat-wah, SC
EHELL

Prof Grace TANG Wai-king, SBS, JP
BEIEHIE

Ms Jacqueline TONG Chun-ling
iR

Dr Victoria WONG Wing-yee
EERBE

Ms Wendy YUNG Wen-yee
REBERL
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Ruttonjee & Tang Shiu Kin Hospitals

EBER HEZ B
Chairman: Dr Vitus LEUNG Wing-hang, BBS, JP
IE: kBB L
Ex-officio members: Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative
ERARE : Bl B8R RITRAA S AENRK
Hospital Chief Executive
BEhriTi AR
Members: Prof Johnnie Casire CHAN Chi-kau, SBS, JP
RE : BRAEIRHIR
Prof Louis CHENG Tsz-wan
BF =R
Mr David FUNG Kai-man
R4
Dr Henry KONG Wing-ming
JLKEAER
Prof Peggy LAM, GBS, JP
MEERHIK
Mr Steve LAN Yee-fong, MH
ERHEE
Dr Carl LEUNG Ka-kui
AREE
Mr Terry NG Sze-yuen
RETESE
Dr Jeffrey PONG Chiu-fai, MH
BEFAIE R

Mr Burji S SHROFF

Mr Neville S SHROFF, JP
[EsmELE

Mr Noshir N SHROFF
Mrs Purviz Rusy SHROFF, MH

Mr Robert SHUM Kai-kee
SRELE

Mr Richard TANG Yat-sun, GBS, JP
B H 45 A4
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Shatin Hospital
DHER

Chairman:

EE:

Ex-officio members:
ERKE :

Members:

RE :

Ms Maisy HO Chiu-ha, BBS, JP
BBt

Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative

B ERRITHEISAERE

Hospital Chief Executive

BT TR

Mr AU Chi-fai

BRI S A

Mr Derek LEE Ho-yin
IR

Mr Kenneth LEUNG Ka-keung

REBTHE

Ir Peter MOK Kwok-woo

SRR AE

Dr David NG Tai-chiu

RAREE+

Ms WONG Kam-fung
BBzt

Mrs Linda WONG LEUNG Kit-wah
TRRELL

Mr Elvin YU Tin-yau
RAMBELE
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Tai Po Hospital
KIFER

Chairman: Mr Wilson MOK Yu-sang
EE: BEaExE
Ex-officio members: Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative
ERRE : Bl B8R RITRAA S AENRK
Hospital Chief Executive
BT TR
Members: Mr Derek CHAN Man-foon
BB : PR ERHE
Mr Ali FUNG Wai-cheong
HEERE

Prof Simon KWAN Shui-man
28 3 SO

Mr Roger LEE Chee-wah
HELE

Ms Jeanne LEE Sai-yin, BBS, JP
FHFLL

Mr Horace NIP Yun-wing
mEREE
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The Duchess of Kent Children’s Hospital at Sandy Bay

RORBEABRAAZERR

Chairman:

EE:

Ex-officio members:
ERKE :

Members:

RE :

Mr CHEUNG Tat-tong, BBS, JP
SRERSE

Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative

B ERRITHEISAERE
Hospital Chief Executive

BT TR

Mr Boris BONG Ding-yue
REFRE

Mr Anthony CHENG Kwok-bo
HEE L

Mr CHENG Ping-chuen
Bt

Prof Jason CHEUNG Pui-yin
I T

Dr CHOW Chun-bong, BBS, JP
EHEBEE

Mr Renny LIE

FERKSE

Mr NG Wai-yan

RERSLSE

Ir Dr Derrick PANG Yat-bond, JP
TZ—HEL

Ms Bernadette TSUI Wing-suen
kB
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Tin Shui Wai Hospital

RKE BB
Chairman: Mr Henry TONG Sau-chai, BBS, MH, JP
IE: BB L

Ex-officio members: Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative
ERKE : Bl e R RITBARHRERRK

Hospital Chief Executive
BEhriTi AR

Members: Mr CHAN How-chi, MH
RE : e

Mr Kenny CHIEN Kwok-keung
R A

Dr FOK Mei-ling
ERERIELT

Mr Jacob LEE Chi-hin
TEHFLAE

Mr Robert LUI Chi-wang
BEATE

Mr Calvin SZE TO Chun-hin
AEBRET S A&

Mr lvan WONG Siu-kei, JP
FHRELE

Ms Vicky WONG Wai-kei
EREHZL

=TSN

Ms Lina YAN Hau-yee, MH, JP
BRIR L+t

Dr YUEN Yin-fun
[ as
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Tseung Kwan O Hospital

& R B

Chairman:

EE

Ex-officio members:
EARE :

Members:

A :

Ms Lisa LAU Man-man, BBS, MH, JP

S¢S s

Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative

B ERRITHEISAERE
Hospital Chief Executive

BT TR

Dr Lily CHAN LI Lei, MH
BRZJB1E +

Mr Paul FAN Chor-ho, SBS, JP
BERE

Dr the Hon David LAM Tzit-yuen
MEZEE

Mr Marthy LI Chak-kwan
FERSLSE

Dr Desmond NG Tai-wing
RFKIEL

Mr WAN Man-yee, BBS, JP
BXEEE

Ms Frandia WONG Yuk-king
BRRA L

Mr Henry YEUNG Mun-kin
e et

Dr Frederick YIP Yeung-fai
EpEE L
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Tuen Mun Hospital

P9 &b

Chairman:

EE

Ex-officio members:
EARE !

Members:

BKE :

Mr lvan SZE Wing-hang, BBS, JP
SRR S

Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative
Bl B8R RITRAA S AENRK

Hospital Chief Executive

BEhriTi AR

Mr Daniel CHAM Ka-hung, BBS, MH, JP

TR

The Hon Judy CHAN Kapui, MH, JP
PR IM L L+

Dr Eugene CHAN Kin-keung, SBS, JP
PREEIREE 4

Dr Ben FONG Yuk-fai, MH
FEREBEE

Dr LAU Chau-ming

IksaiE L

Ir Sr Jonathan LEE Man-kwong
FXEE

Mr Andrew LEUNG Chun-keung
BRI SE

Ms Alice TAl Yuen-ying, GBS, JP
Bmert

Ms Daisy YEUNG

st

Mr YUEN Siu-lam

RAOMEE
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Tung Wah Hospital & Tung Wah Eastern Hospital & Tung Wah Group of Hospitals

Fung Yiu King Hospital
REBRERRERGERRE= B EZNER

Chairman:

EE:

Ex-officio members:
ERE :

Members:

RE :

Ms Mandy TANG Ming-wai, BBS
RS2+

Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative

B EERITREHSAEREK
Hospital Chief Executive

BB TR

Mr Charles CHAN Wai-dune

ReR 4t o 55 A

Ms Crystal CHOI Ka-yee
Zmart

Mr CHOW Chiu-sheung, BBS, JP
R E L

Mr Orlando HO Yau-kai

Al R S5 A

Dr Kevin LAU Chung-hang, MH
2P EEE

Mr Jason Joseph LEE Kwong-yee
FREIREE

Mr Philip MA Ching-yeung, BBS
Skt

Ms Ginny MAN, BBS, JP
MRt

Mr Jonathan NG

=y

Ms Winnie NG, JP

it liEo

Mr SIN Yat-kin, SBS, CSDSM, JP
BHEREA

Mr Albert SU Yau-on, MH, JP
R

Mr Kazaf TAM Chun-kwok, BBS, JP
B S &

Mr York TSENG Hing-yip
BEESE

Dr Homer TSO Wei-kwok, SBS, JP
TREEE

Dr Ken TSOI Wing-sing, BBS, JP
BB T

Mr Herman WAI Ho-man, BBS
BN A
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United Christian Hospital

EEYHSER

Chairman: Mr John LI Kwok-heem, MH

X FEREE

Ex-officio members: Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative

ERKE : Bl B8R mITRAAR S ANE
Hospital Chief Executive
BT

Members: Mr Derek CHAN Man-foon

RE : PR ERHE
Dr CHAN Sai-kwing
PRt B8
Ms Margaret CHENG Wai-ching, JP
BEaLt

Major Norris CHEUNG Yuen-mei (passed away in June 2024)
SRBIGR AR (R 2024 F 6 A Ftt)

Ms Margot CHOW Yan-tse
ARZELZ L

Ms Esther CHOW Yin-yung
GRS e

Ms Mary HUEN Wai-yi, MH, JP
WEERL

Rev Paul KAN Kei-piu
RS LEN

Prof KEUNG Sau-ho
EFBRHIR

Rt Rev Dr Timothy KWOK Chi-pei
LEREHK

Mr Michael LI Man-toa
FRERE

Rev PO Kam-cheong

S S HAD

Mr David SUN Tak-kei, GBS, JP
RIERESE

Rev TEO Yun-sarm (up to 3.9.2024)
SRI6OMARD (B2 2024 £ 9 A 3 H)

The Hon Paul TSE Wai-chun, JP
MEERTE

Mr Herbert TSOI Hak-kong, BBS, JP
2w il &

Sr Dr James TSUI Siu-lung, MH
(EUN- S

Mr David WONG Tat-kee
mEBSELE

Ms Grace WONG Yuen-ling
ELisc g

Bishop Jackson YEUNG Yau-chi
BEEEER

Rev YUNG Chuen-hung
SIEEED
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Yan Chai Hospital
{Z &R

Chairman:

xE

Ex-officio members:
EARE :

Members:

A :

Dr Marcella CHEUNG Man-ka, MH
RN T

Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative

B EERITHEISERE
Hospital Chief Executive

BT TR

Mr CHAN Shing-jee
FRAGE S AE

Mr Stanley CHEUNG Tak-kwai
REE L

Mr Anthony CHOI Po-kin
2EREE

Mr Gary CHU Tak-wing, MH
REBERSESE

Mr HO Wai-ming

falfZER % &

Ms Wendy LAW Wing-yee

‘ML

Mr Jason LEUNG Wai-kwong
RENFTE

Miss Linda SO Hoi-yan

#SR/NE

Mr William WONG Kuen-wai, BBS, MH
EIERSEE

Mr Charles YANG Chuen-liang, SBS, JP
BEsEE

Miss Carmen YIM Kei-man
[SE N Gl
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Membership of Regional Advisory Committees

BEHAHZEEKE

Hong Kong Regional Advisory Committee

EBEEHAAEES

Chairman: Prof David SHUM Ho-keung
FE: LIERBUX

Ex-officio members: Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative

ERRE : Bl EERITRASERR

Director of Health or his representative

BEBERFIHRRK

Members: Deputy Hospital Chief Executive, St. John Hospital (up to 2.6.2024)
RE : RN Rl BT TINARES (B1 2 2024 F6 H 2 H)

Ms CHAN Hang, MH, JP

BRE 2+

Prof Cecilia CHAN Lai-wan, JP

PREEEHIX

Mr CHEUNG Tat-tong, BBS, JP
RERSTE

Mr HUNG Lin-cham, MH, JP
HoE A

Ms LAM Yuk-chun, BBS, MH
MEZ L+

Mr Steve LAN Yee-fong, MH
EERHkE

Ms LAN Yim-hung (from 3.6.2024)
BMAT & (Fh 2024 F6 A 3 H#E)
Ms Yvette LI Yan-yi

FREHT

Dr LIAO Shu-hang

BEEE L

Dr Jeffrey PONG Chiu-fai, MH
EEFAIE RS

Prof Walter SETO Wai-kay
AITEREEHIR

Ms Eva SIT Yat-wah, SC
BHELL

Dr Loletta SO Kit-ying, MH
FOREEE

Ms Jac %Jelme TONG Chun-ling
RIS

Mr York TSENG Hing-yip
LEXEE

Dr Albert WONG Chi-chiu
THEEBE

Ms YAU Chit-yee, MH
ERfER 2+
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Kowloon Regional Advisory Committee

NEEHAEAEES

Chairman:

xE

Ex-officio members:
EARE :

Members:

A :

Ir Billy WONG Wing-hoo, BBS, JP
AR E

Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative

Bl EIERITRARSERR

Director of Health or his representative

BEBERIHRRK

Mr CHAN Kwok-wai, MH
PR B {2 50 A

Mr Kenny CHAN Ngai-sang, BBS
PRERE e
Mr Gary CHU Tak-wing, MH

RIELRGE

Mr Simon FOK Man-kin
EXEEE

Ms Carmen FUNG Ka-man
5 X T+

Mr HO Hon-man, MH, JP
EES s

Mr Leo HO Kwan-chau
T3 S A

Mr Orlando HO Yau-kai
fATERER ST A

Mr KAl Ping-chung, MH
EIRE A

Ms Sophia LEE Shuk-woon, MH
FRER LT

Mr Marthy LI Chak-kwan
TERLE

Mr Norman LIN Wei-giao
WER &

Mr William LO Chi-chung
FEEIASE

Prof Joseph LUI Cho-ze
BIREHIX

Mr Stﬁphen MA Chak-wa, MH
BEESSE

Mr Rex MOK Chung-fai, BBS, MH, JP
B A

Ven SIK Ti-lun

TR ERERD

Mr Kyrus SIU King-wai
BREE

Mr Simon SIU Miu-man, MH

B Ak

Mr Alec TONG Chi-chiu
BRI

Nlr Herbert TSOI Hak-kong, BBS, JP
i Pt

Mr WONG Tsz-shing, MH
EFREL

Ms Rabi YIM Chor-pik
mEELt

Dr Harry YU Kwok-kuen
REIEE L
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New Territories Regional Advisory Committee
FREHBREES

Chairman: Prof Agnes TIWARI Fung-yee, MH (up to 30.11.2024)
EE: BREGEHR (B2 2024 F11 A30H)

Mr JAT Sew-tong, SBS, SC, JP (from 1.12.2024)
BIRRERE(H 2024 F12 A1 HE)

Ex-officio members:  Hospital Authority Chief Executive or his representative

ERKE : B EERITRASEERRE

Director of Health or his representative

FEZERFHERRK

Members: Dr Lily CHAN LI Lei, MH
K& : BRZ=gETE +
Mr Danny CHAU Chun-tat
A= E
Dr Ben FONG Yuk-fai, MH
FEBEYE
Mr Ali FUNG Wai-cheong
BEELSE
Dr Raymond HO Shu-kwong
falfst e fE £

Ms Rebecca HUNG Tzu-wei
e TR

Ms IP Shun-hing, SBS, MH, JP
RIgE 2z +

Dr Patrick LAM Hak-chung
MR EL

Ms LAM Pik-chu, MH
MERLZ

Mr Rgger LEE Chee-wah
FEERSE
Mr Derek LEE Ho-yin

YERE A
Mr Lothar LEE Hung-sham, BBS, MH
THREE
Dr+li+qlxvard LEUNG Man-fuk
RERBELE
Mr Edwin LIU Chi-hin
BEH

Mr Jimmy LIU Tsee-ming
Bl ARE

Mr MA Siu-leung, BBS, MH
BAEREE

Prof Enders NG Kwok-wai
REEHI

Mr Almon POON Chin-hung, JP
EREBEAE

Mr PUN Kwok-shan, BBS, MH, JP
BB KL

Mr Henry TONG Sau-chai, BBS, MH, JP
HIEE

Mr WONG Fai-fan

mIBNEE
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Membership of the Board of Trustees of the Hospital Authority

Provident Fund Scheme 2024-25
2024-25 FEEREER A AEEFEGEEEENE

Chairman:

EE

Trustees:

HELE

Mr Philip TSAI Wing-chung, BBS, JP

BB SEE

Ms Anita CHAN Shuk-yu
BRI 2+

Ms Margaret CHENG Wai-ching, JP

BwEER+

Mr Alex CHU Wing-yiu
KRBT

Ms Antonia LEE Yuen-chee
=T

Mr David MAK Chi-wai
BEEKLE

Mr Dave NGAN Man-kit, CFA
BERESEE

Mr WONG Kwai-huen, SBS, JP
FHIEEAE

Mr WONG Kwok-chiu
EEBE

Mr WONG Yiu-lun
=R E

Mr Jason YEUNG Chi-wai
BERSTE

Dr YIM Tsz-kin

B FIREA
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Public Feedback Statistics
ARERGE

Complaint / Feedback / Appreciation Received (1.4.2024 — 31.3.2025)
Rk /| BR | BBYT (2024 F 4 18- 2025543 A31H)

Public Complaints Committee X RRFEE R

Nature of cases

Number of appeal cases

BREE LEHREREF
Medical services /& fR7% 185
Staff attitude BB &E 18
Administrative procedure 1T FE 7 29
Others E A 5
Total number of appeal cases handled BRI FFEREH 237
Complaint / Feedback / Appreciation Statistics (Hospitals and GOPCs*)
R/ BR / BBATH(BRREBERMDDHM)

Complaint Feedback Appreciation
Nature of complaint / feedback / appreciation cases received received received
KRRk /| BR BEEARMEE RFEF EREF BT
Medical services % & iR 7% 1035 5326 38751
Staff attitude 8% 8 28 /E 379 4 868 17 367
Administrative procedure 1TIEIZ 252 4161 766
Overall performance B &K% 74 2108 458
Others H At 12 988 1100
Total number of complaint / feedback / appreciation received 1752 17 451 58 442

&k BB / BEAY

Complaint / Appreciation Rate 1% 3f / #i5 =&

Rate per 10 000 Discharge & Death / Attendance
210 000 PR AX R FET A B/ BiE2 ARG

Service Type Complaint Appreciation
PR 7% %851 ’iF Ei5
Inpatient and Day Patient Services 1Bz & B E{ERT IRTE 33 174.0
Specialist Outpatient Services ERIPIZ 2 T 05 48
General Outpatient Services L @RIFI2 2 AT 02 77

*General outpatient clinics
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Statistics of the Controlling Officer's Report
EHAERELREF

The Hospital Authority (HA) generally achieved its performance targets BhrEER(
in 2024-25, with full service resumption of public healthcare services.
The volume of patient care activities across the full range of services in

2024-25 is higher than the level in 2023-24.

The key activity data in respect of the HA are:

BER

VARBEEE 2024-25 FE
HREXRIBEE  WER2ERELALERER
7 0 2024-25 FERER AN B EREHZER
TEEE 2023-24 EE A o

BERBERRENEIESENT

2023-24 2024-25
(I) Access to services AT HY A K9 BR 7%
inpatient services 1£5% R 7%
no. of hospital beds (as at 31 March) BE&fTRRE B (BlZ2=HA=+—AH)
general (acute and convalescent) & % (20E & FE1E) 24 325 24 478
mentally iLl #51R} 3710 3710
mentally handicapped & &R} 675 675
infirmary &%} 1961 1961
overall &5t 30671 30 824
ambulatory and outreach services H &R SNEIRH
accident and emergency (A&E) services =i = AR TS
percentage of A&E patient attendances seen within target waiting time
T ERREFEANERENSERARKZARBD X
triage | (critical cases - 0 minute) (%) 55 | $85I(EFA1EZ — 0 58 ) (%) 100 100
triage Il (emergency cases - 15 minutes) (%) & Il 85| (fE&EZ — 15 D) (%) 96 97
triage Il (urgent cases - 30 minutes) (%) 2 Il 85 (B2E%R — 30 D) (%) 71 79

specialist outpatient services Z&IFI2 RS
median waiting time for first appointment at specialist outpatient clinics
ERIPIR2 HAE SR (R IR B R A1 2K
priority 1 cases 28 — (&L fA Bl EZ
priority 2 cases % —{B i RIEZ
rehabilitation and geriatric services (as at 31 March)

FRERZABRE(EHEZE=A=1+—A8)

<1 week £ Hf
5 weeks £ Hi

<1 week 2 Hf
5 weeks £ Hi

no. of geriatric day places & Al H &l 458 787 787
psychiatric services (as at 31 March) &R (BEZ=A=+—8)
no. of psychiatric day places #5148 %} B 28T & 58 909 909
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2023-24 2024-25
(I) Delivery of services FTi2 LAY AR
inpatient services 15z iR 7§
overall 251
no. of patient days i A{EFT B IX 8750456 8773115
bed occupancy rate (%) ERER R (%) 88 87
no. of discharges and deaths B A HBT A X RILT- AE 1146 494 1152078
general (acute and convalescent) i@} (ZE MFRE)
no. of patient days & A{EFE HIX 7137219 7149251
bed occupancy rate (%) FRIR{EA X (%) 91 90
no. of discharges and deaths {E5E/% A HBT A X RILT- AE 1123107 1128072
average length of stay (days)* F9{EBR R (B )* 6.3 6.3
mentally ill #5485}
no. of patient days fm AEFt B X 995316 1005879
bed occupancy rate (%) FRIR{EA X (%) 76 76
no. of discharges and deaths {EBTH A BT AR RILT- AZK 19161 19 964
average length of stay (days)* F9{EBRREfE (B )* 55 54
mentally handicapped & &R}
no. of patient days & A{Efz H X 166 121 165 421
bed occupancy rate (%) FEIRIEFRE (%) 67 68
infirmary BE&#&
no. of patient days & AEFE HIX 451 800 452 564
bed occupancy rate (%) BRIEF R (%) 84 84
ambulatory and outreach services H &R IMNERT
day inpatient services B B{EFTE A RIS
no. of discharges and deaths T AR RIET- AR 809 505 863 855
A&E services £ = RS
no. of A&E attendances 2JEE L AR 2142830 2024269
no. of A&E first attendances =fE = B X2 AR
triage | 55 | $87 28138 26 311
triage Il 25 11 85 56 566 56 287
triage Il 35 111 #8571 820 353 798 811
specialist outpatient services BEIFI2 B 7%
no. of specialist outpatient (clinical) first attendances 878 903 907 233
HRIFIZ (BBR) X2 AR
no. of specialist outpatient (clinical) follow-up attendances 7489204 7781520
ERFIZ (RR)BZ AR
total no. of specialist outpatient (clinical) attendances 8368107 8688753
ERFIZ (BRIR) 2 B AR
primary care services £[Z & & iR 7%
no. of general outpatient attendances E3@EIFIZ L2 AR 6008083 6249089
no. of family medicine specialist clinic attendances K FEEEHERIPIL T2 Al 351 698 375 437
total no. of primary care attendances £ [E B2 4 AKX 6359781 6624526
rehabilitation and palliative care services BE18 & 4F 45 &3 RS
no. of rehabilitation day and palliative care day attendances 100 987 110 418
FRIE R AT 45432 HRRS B2 AR
no. of community nurse attendances % < 1t B ARG AR 916 504 949199
no. of allied health (community) attendances Z 8 E& & (1@ ) gt AKX 32268 37255
no. of allied health (outpatient) attendances Z8E& (F932) gt AR 3301186 3611278
geriatric services 2 ARHIRTE
no. of geriatric outreach attendances &5 % ARMMNEIRFE AR 785239 801 455
no. of geriatric elderly persons assessed for infirmary care service 1767 1630
BEREERBTZNRSE AR
no. of geriatric day attendances & A%} B Bt AX 168 425 181978
psychiatric services #&18 R IRT%
no. of psychiatric outreach attendances % < #5189 IRIE AR 330549 365149
no. of psychiatric day attendances 1518 % AR ER L2 AR 194 070 234197
no. of psychogeriatric outreach attendances #& 5 AR INE BRFS A X 113 386 115253
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2023-24 2024-25

(I) Quality of services BRIEE &
no. of hospital deaths per 1 000 population® &F A A AEERTSET AZN
unplanned readmission rate within 28 days for general inpatients (%)

i
=]

DERHERT R ATELBLR 28 RAARKLBOBALRE (%)

(IV) Cost of services BRIE A A
cost distribution 75 #

cost distribution by service types (%) IZARFELERIBI DB AD B D E (%)
inpatient R AR
ambulatory and outreach H & IMNE R

cost of services for persons aged 65 or above 655% 8% A = A -H IR TSR A
share of cost of services (%) ARFSFTIE B AR B DK (%)

cost of services per 1 000 population (HK$Mn) &F A ABIBRFE KA (BE T EIT)

unit costs B XK
inpatient services 1£Bz IR 7§

cost per patient day (HKS) IS A& BRA (BIT)
general (acute and convalescent) & @R (20E M FEE)
mentally ill #& &7
mentally handicapped £ FE %}
infirmary BE&&}

ambulatory and outreach services H R SMNE IR

cost per A&E attendance (HKS) £iE =& X ZAE R AR (B 7T)
cost per specialist outpatient attendance (HKS) ERIFIZ G X2 AERR A (GE7T)
cost per general outpatient attendance (HK$) ZBRIFIZ B NZIERNK A (BTT)
cost per family medicine specialist clinic attendance (HKS)
REBESERFIDBRADENKA(ET)
cost per community nurse attendance (HK$) 1B &R RSB A B IT)

/

cost per psychiatric outreach attendance (HKS) #5188 RIMNE RISEX MR (BIT)

cost per geriatric day attendance (HK$) # A%} H B BB &R IRIGHIRK A (FBIT)

fee waivers & # %

total amount of waived fees (HK$Mn) B 2 I E 258 (B EETT)

2.7
109

531
46.9

54.4
30.4

6,920
3,580
2,430
2,310

2,070
1610

730
1,450

765
1,990
2,670

25
110

52.3
47.7

55.0
30.3

7,060
3,670
2,530
2,300

2,150
1,630

670
1,420

775
1,980
2,540

11584 1185.7

percentage of Comprehensive Social Security Assistance (CSSA) fee waiver (%) - 14.0 137
A SREEDKEREED (%)

percentage of Old Age Living Allowance (OALA) fee waiver (%) 15.2 159
REEEZUMREBRRADE(%)

percentage of other fee waiver (%) - R EFHEE DX (%) 6.8 6.6

Notes: B

*  Derived by dividing the sum of length of stay of inpatients by the corresponding * RERTR AT R A B R AR R (BT R
number of inpatients discharged and treated. AL RS AR ARGTE -

n  Refers to the age-standardised hospital death rate covering inpatient and v R FEREEETRETERER AR
day inpatient deaths in HA hospitals in a particular year. The standardised FRRAFRT ABMFRIZEMIETEF
rate, as a standard statistical technique to facilitate comparison over years, BAIZEC TR B EEREZFESET
is calculated by applying the HA age-specific hospital death rate in that AR BB BTR AL TR - EF 2001 F 4
particular year to the "standard” population in mid-2001. e [ME2E] AQMmETE HRE - &2 —EF

BERFE % BB RFH R R
~  Refers to the amount waived as percentage to total charge. ~ BREFELANENEDK-
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APPENDIX 9
Ft$% 9

Statistics on Number of Beds, Inpatient, Accident & Emergency and
Outpatient Services in 2024-25

2024-25 FERKEE - FRERE

Inpatient
average
length
of stay (days) Family
Total IP & DP -general Medicine  Total Allied
No.of hospital  discharges (acute & Total SOP Specialist Health
beds (asat3l  anddeaths  Inpatient bed convalescent) (clinical) Clinic ~ (Qutpatient) General
March2005!  EFRRER  occupancy  Inatent E%/\W Total AGE  attendances’®  attendances? attendances’  Qutpatient
o ERRREE  EREA rate(W  patientdays E%EH% atendances  FRFY  ZEEE  ERER atendances”
Institution (HEZ0nE  ERARR  BRRA O EREA H SEZE nﬂi ERFY (P2 E@HF?
s SRR RCAR ARCASN  GRAR (S0REM GBAAT HBAAR  EOAR BBRARC  gBAR
Hong Kong East Cluster 7& &5 5 88 P B 43
Cheshire Home, Chung Hom Kok 240 309 695 60876 - - 228
G AERERR
Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern 1929 159837 814 518914 52 112407 620965 62202 253322 368033
Hospital
RRLBRAIITRER
Ruttonjee & Tang Shiu Kin Hospitals 658 32185 858 186156 60 67698 156192 9381 112929 125016
IR LR
St. John Hospital &iMEHT 87 4371 382 2090 58 8845 - 10079 38696
Tung Wah Eastern Hospital R 5z 262 10486 941 76760 189 - 140984 45963 28470
Wong Chuk Hang Hospital =171 26t 160 180 878 51217 - - - - -
Sub-total /)&t 3336 207368 824 896073 59 188950 918141 71583 421821 560215
Hong Kong West Cluster & & 75 & b B 48
Grantham Hospital & =%k 389 18823 801 111988 124 - 140082 43082
MacLehose Medical Rehabilitation 110 1168 692 26948 227 - 1735 27302
Centre
SENE IR
Queen Mary Hospital 358 2t 1639 166330 756 394979 42 114325 704583 27350 154870 365145
The Duchess of Kent Children's Hospital 136 3638 469 17682 6.9 - 21766 - 48191 -
at Sandy Bay
AARBEABRARERR
Tsan Yuk Hospital 25 252 1 141 - - - - 13752 4693
Tung Wah Group of Hosp|tals 272 3481 642 58780 122 - 290 350
Fung Yiu King Hospital
RE=[r5EHER
Tung Wah Hospital =867 532 32868 716 76271 98 - 5783 12819 325%
Sub-total /N5t 3079 226449 73.3 686648 57 114325 940044 27350 291307 397671
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APPENDIX 9
4% 9

Inpatient
average
length
of stay (days) Famiy
Total IP & DP - general Medicine  Total Allied
No. of hospital ~ discharges and (acute & TotalSOP  Specialist Health
beds (as at 31 deaths  Inpatient bed convalesent) (clinical) Clinic  (Outpatient) General
March2025!  filRBE  ocoupancy Inpanent EW )\W Total AGE attendances™®  attendances? attendances  Qutpatient
o LG FREA  rate(W)  patientdays EK* attendances ~ ERFY  ZFEBZ EEREE attendances®
Institution (EZOBE  ERARR  fRRA E%A SEE (BF) B (B2)  LENFY
Hig 3A3A) RUAE mRERZW  ERER éf &ﬁ E RPEAR HPEARE  RIANR BPEAR EPAR
Kowloon Central Cluster J1.3E #1855 B 48
Hong Kong Buddhist Hospital 376 14330 915 148894 132 15336 - 30451 57496
BARYER
Hong Kong Children's Hospital 278 19478 653 54793 84 66 169 - 16144
BEREER
Hong Kong Eye Hospital &8 iR EHERT 45 9020 299 2293 39 285335 - 48772
Kowloon Hospital J1EE22fr 1363 18640 860 435049 184 - 106564 - 137966 -
Kwong Wah Hospital =27 1245 110152 818 326364 43 134389 365087 7185 182162 179947
Our Lady of Maryknoll Hospital 236 - - - - - 66835 4680 37328 391468
ERE
Queen E izabeth Hospital FF) A% 2019 212930 934 620005 53 191524 693872 13366 277274 560578
Tung Wah Group of Hospitals 531 11409 858 182896 138 1594 - 1856 -
Wong Tai Sin Hospital
RE=FrE LBk
Sub-total /N5t 6093 395959 86.9 1770294 6.6 325913 1600792 25231 729953 1189489
Kowloon East Cluster 152 3R BBz B 48
Haven of Hope Hospital 2 & £ 601 11590 993 245788 191 12025 - 9328 -
Tseung Kwan O Hospital 15 Z R &t 847 91929 962 253553 55 118366 420621 4716 241259 329695
United Christian Hospital 1584 123266 898 425368 58 150556 585207 65378 295309 624 986
EEABARE
Sub-total /N5t 3032 226785 939 924709 6.8 268922 1017853 70094 545896 954681
Kowloon West Cluster J15e 74 B8 P Bt 48
Caritas Medical Centre FA & Efr 1298 79596 884 356908 61 102250 467269 5112 154659 342013
Kwai Chung Hospital 228265t 955 5187 863 283179 - - 263649 - 48238 -
North Lantau Hospital 3t KU 1L BB 180 11906 873 51012 6.7 82476 28992 3342 50149 106878
Princess Margaret Hospital 35 522U B 1846 163266 959 558636 57 110410 476870 20860 131531 391967
Yan Chai Hospital 1= & & F5 811 66 555 980 265375 56 117793 274363 6058 161653 291666
Sub-total /N5t 5090 326510 92.2 1515110 58 412929 1511143 35372 546230 1132524
New Territories East Cluster 3757 5 28 b B 49
Alice Ho Miu Ling Nethersole Hospital 640 73796 831 167348 46 92703 329074 6763 162943 250225
TERRAYERITRE
Bradoury Hospice B EIEZEH 1) 26 592 939 8907 151 84 - 884
Cheshire Home, Shatin » FIZ& [ 2t 304 764 658 72969 343 - - - 185 -
North District Hospital 1b[& 2t 724 62 224 101.8 247072 54 93090 241122 13908 129657 290642
Prince of Wales Hospital 1917 208256 892 523970 55 157051 887753 57187 289185 504798
AR
Shatin Hospital /> &5 601 9769 952 196635 199 306 - 3338
Tai Po Hospital A% Zbr 1054 9818 987 323064 234 2113 - 1007
Sub-total /N5t 5266 365219 91.3 1539965 6.7 342844 1460452 77858 587199 1045665
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APPENDIX 9
Ft$% 9

Inpatient
average
length
of stay (days) Family
Total IP & DP -general Medicine  Total Allied
No.of hospital ~ discharges (acute & TotalSOP  Specialist Health
beds(asat3l  anddeaths Inpatient bed convalescent) (clinical) Clinic ~ (Outpatient) General
March2025)  fERRBRE  occupancy Inpanent Em%)\?f’] Total AGE  attendances™®  attendances?  attendances  Qutpatient
. BRAREE  GRRA  rate(W) patentdays HRE Fi E | attendances  ERFY  ZEEZ  ERER attendances”
Institution (EZNBE  BRARR  HhkRA Eﬁmm SEE BF) M (B  LaMw
Hig JRAAN  RUAE mRGEAZEN  ERAR ’%E&ﬁ@ BEAR AYEART  EOAR gPEAT BBAR
New Territories West Cluster 757 74 2 fx B 48
Castle Peak Hospital F111 2 1156 3289 628 262078 - 162258 - 28684
Pok Oi Hospital 5% 27 822 60763 959 250077 56 92950 211728 18078 111735
Siu Lam Hospital /ME2fr 520 546 769 145942 - - - - -
Tin Shui Wai Hospital &7k &5t 300 33010 935 82891 55 111932 38516 21929 36410 -
Tuen Mun Hospital F7925x 2130 170035 984 699328 6.8 165504 827826 27942 312043 968844
Sub-total Nzt 4928 267643 86.4 1440316 6.4 370386 1240328 67949 488872 968844
GRAND TOTAL #5t 30824 2015933 874 8773115 6.3 2024269 8688753 375437 3611278 6249089

Notes:

1

Number of hospital beds as at 31 March 2025 is based on the Annual Survey
on Hospital Beds in Public Hospitals 2024-25.

Outpatient attendances for different clinics are grouped under respective
hospital management.

Specialist Outpatient (SOP) (clinical) attendances also include attendances
from nurse clinics in SOP setting.

Total Allied Health (Outpatient) attendances exclude
consultations provided by the Medical Social Services Units.

follow-up

General Outpatient (GOP) attendances also include attendances from
nurse clinics in GOP setting and attendances in related healthcare reform
initiative programmes in primary care.

Abbreviations:

IP
DP

- Inpatient
- Day inpatient

A&E - Accident & Emergency
SOP - Specialist Outpatient
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APPENDIX 10
Bfi$% 10

Statistics on Community and Rehabilitation Services in 2024-25

2024-25 FEHEREERBEHETHF

Rehabilitation

Psychogeriatric Community day & palliative Psychiatric
Community Psychiatric outreach Gerfatric ~ Allied Health careday  Geriatric day day
nurse outreach  attendances’  Assessment  (Community) attendances  attendances®  attendances
o attendances  attendances’ BXZA Service®  attendances’  FERFS : Ehh
Institution ERMEET  EXERR BEM HEEATE ZEBE(ME)  EEDERH HEER BRak
B RBAR  MREHBAR  MEREAL Rie HPAR HIAR AV HIAR
Hong Kong East Cluster & & R B fx B 48
Cheshire Home, Chung Hom Kok 6 -
Bl ARERR
Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital 93757 39738 12933 61267 1077 850 19672 30321
RRLEBRAIITRER
Ruttonjee & Tang Shiu Kin Hospitals 51020 609 9044 16857
BIAREER R
St. John Hospital &M Ex 4532 558 - -
Tung Wah Eastern Hospital RZE5 5T - - 90 35297 -
Wong Chuk Hang Hospital =171 26t - - 1416
Sub-total /N5t 98289 39738 12933 112 845 1782 45191 37945 30321
Hong Kong West Cluster 7% & 78 5557 B 48
Grantham Hospital B =180k 32 5738
MacLehose Medical Rehabilitation Centre 117 9716
EREERN
Queen Mary Hospital 3528 26t 57091 25121 18625 989 548 17190
The Duchess of Kent Children's Hospital at - - - 24 - -
Sandy Bay
RORRERERATERNR
Tsan Yuk Hospital 25 26t - - - - 2852
Tung Wah Group of Hospitals 72834 370 - 5883 -
Fung Yiu King Hospital
RE=frSEHRR
Tung Wah Hospital REEER 63 8519 6172
Sub-total /N5t 57091 25121 18625 72834 1595 24521 12055 20042
Kowloon Central Cluster J1.58 7 28 B B 49
Hong Kong Buddhist Hospital Z &G4 144 202
Hong Kong Children's Hospital % & 572 & 20 - - - - 69 - - -
Kowloon Hospital J1EEE 0t 78 427 22568 10648 43943 1195 4111 3217 13013
Kwong Wah Hospital EZ= 25t 47025 - - 85822 1051 - 9175 -
Qur Lady of Maryknoll Hospital 22} 56793 5318 59 158 -
Queen Elizabeth Hospital 7R & 8939 37872 2727 5779 11819
Tung Wah Group of Hospitals - - 86 324 16155
Wong Tai Sin Hospital
RE=ENIER
Sub-total /)5t 191184 22568 10648 172955 5331 12 396 40 426 13013
Kowloon East Cluster J1.52 5 B8 fx B 49
Haven of Hope Hospital & £fx 40411 - 9094 152 2251 5652
Tseung Kwan O Hospital 15 =R &kt - - 1473 - 138 3237 499 -
United Christian Hospital ZE %4 Ex 143507 38913 10 346 53936 771 1734 18703 34437
Sub-total /N5t 183918 38913 11819 63030 1061 7222 24 854 34437
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Rehahilitation

Community day & palliative Psychiatric
Geriatric  Allied Health careday  Geriatric day day
Assessment  (Community) ~ attendances  attendances®  attendances
Sevce' attendances'  FARRGE ZAY il
i i Ki[%}\uﬁ iﬂﬁx ABHE)  EEDERE Fﬁgﬁ AEER
BHE FEINA HPAR TM N HPAR

46919 412 1216 13172 -

2796 - - 65672

3742 961 - 6905 -
53025 1801 3937 14368
52773 590 - 7996

Psychageriatric
Community Psychiatric Outreach
nurse Outreach  attendances’
Lo attendances  attendances’ BREN
Institution BXMREL  BYEER
g BEAR NBRBAR ABRBAR
Kowloon West Cluster 138 7 28 P B 48
Caritas Medical Centre BB 22fx 65871 - -
Kwai Chung Hospital 2525z - 107932 31166
North Lantau Hospital £ AU 1L B 12127 3253 -
Princess Margaret Hospital 5527120z 53168 -
Yan Chai Hospital {2z 36231
Sub-total /)Mzt 167 397 111185 31166

156 459 6 560 5153 42 441 65672

New Territories East Cluster ¥ 5% 5% &8 5 B 49

Alice Ho Miu Ling Nethersole Hospital 40395 - 604
TR ERINT =Bk

Bradbury Hospice A &R EZ .0

Cheshire Home, Shatin ’J\EHEE E5h - - -
North District Hospital 1t 2 40401 14515 8847

35370 2961 881 - 12056
35 308
- %5 - - -
34245 4950 2817 10194 11716
30629 4344

669 6051 20458 17570
54 - 12178 8915

Prince of Wales Hospital FXEﬁHﬁ RTER 62357 - 2302
Shatin Hospital )2 & - 26196 3499
Tai Po Hospital A% - 12896 -
Sub-total /}Nzt 143153 53607 15252

100 244 13038 10 057 42830 50 257

New Territories West Cluster 3752 75 28 [ Bt 48

Castle Peak Hospital B1L - 74017 14810 2769 - - 13122
Pok Oi Hospital 5% & 31853 - - 59516 484 1293 8712 -
Siu Lam Hospital /J* F‘: Eg"ﬁ - - - - -

Tin Shui Wai Hospital K7k &5t 9259 413 - - -
Tuen Mun Hospital #1925 67055 65202 4222 4585 19007 7333
Sub-total Nzt 108167 74017 14810 124718 7888 5878 27719 20 455
GRAND TOTAL #&&t 949199 365149 115253 803 085 37 255 110 418 228 270 234197
Notes: 5

1. Figures alsoinclude home visits and crisis interventions.
2. Figures also include home visits.

3. For Community Geriatric Assessment Service, the activity refers to total
number of geriatric outreach attendances and geriatric elderly persons
assessed for infirmary care service. Starting from 2020-21, the overall service
model for Community Geriatric Assessment Team and Visiting Medical Officer
in the Hospital Authority has been streamlined and the number of geriatric
outreach attendances also includes attendances from Visiting Medical
Officer. Therefore, the service activity is not directly comparable with figures
published in the past editions of this report.

4, Allied Health (Community) attendances exclude follow-up consultations
provided by the Medical Social Services Units.

5. Geriatric day attendances also include attendances under Integrated
Discharge Support Programme for Elderly Patients (IDSP).

The activity performed in different centres and teams are grouped under
respective hospital management.
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APPENDIX 11(a)
Bié% 11(a)

Manpower Position — by Cluster and Institution

AFRR — REBRREB DX

No. of Full-time Equivalent (FTE) Staff (as at 31.3.2025) 1.2:3:4
ERZBABEE (2025 F 3 A 31 HEF)L234

Allied

Institution Medical Nursing Health Others Total
g BE EIE HREER Hh #Et
Hong Kong East Cluster 7% & 5 8B B 49 789 3059 1012 4 679 9538
Cheshire Home, Chung Hom Kok &) B 28 X & R 3 66 10 131 210
Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital 625 2094 706 3059 6 484
RELBRABITEER
Ruttonjee & Tang Shiu Kin Hospitals 109 623 197 878 1806
IR R EER R
St. John Hospital &M &t 5 35 8 83 130
Tung Wah Eastern Hospital 3 #= 53 46 194 86 384 710
Wong Chuk Hang Hospital E 1731 2865 2 47 4 145 198
Hong Kong West Cluster & & 75 85 B B 48 821 2953 1095 3859 8728
The Duchess of Kent Children's Hospital at Sandy Bay 17 93 53 170 332
RARBEBABRARERR
Grantham Hospital & & 2&p5 49 293 85 369 796
Maclehose Medical Rehabilitation Centre 2538 18 Bz 2 42 45 97 186
Queen Mary Hospital 3578 Z&p5x 690 2147 791 2664 6 292
TWGHSs Fung Yiu King Hospital 3R = /5 Z2 4 B Pt 19 80 35 148 282
Tung Wah Hospital 3 = 85F5 45 297 87 411 839
Kowloon Central Cluster J1.38 1 B8P B 48 1621 5993 2069 9516 19199
HK Red Cross Blood Transfusion Service 7 79 90 347 524
BB T FERMARBEH O
Hong Kong Buddhist Hospital & /&2 25653 22 238 61 354 675
Hong Kong Children's Hospital &% 52 2 &b 196 418 251 851 1715
Hong Kong Eye Hospital & &R Fl 885 48 88 32 199 367
Kowloon Hospital JLAEZ&B7 83 898 219 1143 2343
Kwong Wah Hospital &= 2253 406 1308 399 1807 3920
Our Lady of Maryknoll Hospital 28 &5} 28t 67 278 90 362 797
Queen Elizabeth Hospital A2 761 2413 854 4023 8 050
TWGHSs Wong Tai Sin Hospital 52 =7 &= K1 E&PT 32 274 72 431 809
Kowloon East Cluster J15E REEBR B 48 930 3645 1087 5014 10677
Haven of Hope Hospital % & 253 33 424 111 641 1210
Tseung Kwan O Hospital #5 & R &t 272 1073 305 1317 2966
United Christian Hospital £ & #t & &bt 625 2148 671 3056 6 501
Kowloon West Cluster 1158 75 & Bz Bt 48 1263 4963 1604 7 055 14 884
Caritas Medical Centre FAE it 271 1067 344 1525 3207
Kwai Chung Hospital %% 28 83 850 177 784 1893
North Lantau Hospital 35 < U | 1| B8 B 59 204 104 403 770
Princess Margaret Hospital 3532 21 28F% 530 1902 702 2954 6 088
Yan Chai Hospital 1= 75 &5 319 940 278 1390 2926
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Fffé% 11(a)

No. of Full-time Equivalent (FTE) Staff (as at 31.3.2025) 123
ZRIZMABEHE (2025 F 3 A 31 AHF)L234

Allied

Institution Medical Nursing Health Others Total
B B HE EREE At HEt
New Territories East Cluster $ 5 51 & P B 48 1239 4906 1628 7178 14 951
Alice Ho Miu Ling Nethersole Hospital 206 783 308 1129 2 427
HERE () i ABHT KB

Bradbury Hospice B ZIEE & H ) 2 35 7 30 74
Cheshire Home, Shatin /> HZ& K E 3 97 13 157 269
North District Hospital 1t [@ Fx 228 932 291 1200 2 650
Prince of Wales Hospital & 8 238 T 2 Fx 706 2231 802 3344 7 082
Shatin Hospital %> FH 2&B5% 45 373 108 668 1194
Tai Po Hospital AIHEERT 50 455 99 650 1254
New Territories West Cluster ¥ 5% 75 B& bz B 48 1036 4122 1278 6 744 13181
Castle Peak Hospital & 11 Z&p5z 85 637 116 754 1592
Pok Oi Hospital 18 % B&Ft 164 716 226 1085 2191
Siu Lam Hospital /\M&Z&f5 6 150 13 342 511
Tuen Mun Hospital 5 F7%&Fx 715 2326 801 3913 7756
Tin Shui Wai Hospital KK E Ef5z 64 294 123 650 1130
Total #&35t 7 698 29 641 9773 44 046 91157
Notes: s

1. This figure excludes 3238 staff in the Hospital Authority (HA) Head
Office.

2. Manpower on full-time equivalent (FTE) basis includes all full-time
and part-time staff in HA's workforce i.e. permanent, contract and
temporary.

3. Individual figures may not add up to the total due to rounding.

4. Manpower figures of individual hospitals / institutions include management
staff providing hospital and cluster-wide services.
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APPENDIX 11(b)
Bifé% 11(b)

Manpower Position — by Staff Group

AFRR — BBEHER 78

No. of Full-time Equivalent (FTE) Staff 2020-21 - 2024-25*

LRZBABHE!
2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24% 2024/252

Medical &
Consultant /&8 5 28 1057 1123 1222 1305 1387
Senior Medical Officer / Associate Consultant 2076 2015 2011 1991 1963
AL/ BIBRIEAE
Medical Officer / Resident (excluding Visiting Medical Officer) 3310 3332 3296 3499 3812
BE/ HRBE(TEIENGHELE)
Visiting Medical Officer ZI|55 & 15 14 12 12 14
Intern SIft EE B4 436 445 499 530 524
Senior Dental Officer / Dental Officer 13 12 14 13 15
BARTRIEE / FRIE
Medical Staff Total BEA S485t : 6 906 6 941 7 055 7 350 7716
Nursing EIE
Senior Nursing Officer / Nurse Consultant and above 243 268 291 328 343
SAETR / BAREEAMSA L
Department Operations Manager 38 P9:& {E45 32 202 202 208 206 206
Temporary Pupil Nurse / 1548 1686 2028 962 1136
Temporary Undergraduate Nursing Student
BRETEE  #EEEsL
General ZiEF —

Ward Manager / Nurse Specialist / Nursing Officer/ 5510 5848 6 105 6 389 6 605

Advanced Practice Nurse / Associate Nurse Consultant

REEIE / SRlEL / #EL R/ E5ER / 3R

Registered Nurse 7Effis&E L 17127 16 807 16 146 16 209 16 661

Enrolled Nurse & &0 &+ 2336 2166 1981 1825 1727
Psychiatric #&1# %} —

Ward Manager / Nurse Specialist / Nursing Officer / 682 704 746 775 790

Advanced Practice Nurse / Associate Nurse Consultant

REIE / HRlEL / #EL R/ E5ER / 3R

Registered Nurse 7Effis&E L 1604 1662 1686 1766 1825

Enrolled Nurse & &0 &+ 486 448 409 406 391
Nursing Staff Total B A S48t : 29736 29793 29599 28 865 29 684
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APPENDIX 11(b)
B 11(b)

No. of Full-time Equivalent (FTE) Staff 2020-21 - 2024-25"

ZREHMAEEA!

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24% 2024/252
Allied Health EHB g &
Audiology Technician 5 /7 21 i1 8 6 6 6 5 5
Bioinformatician® £ ¥1{= 8253 - - - - 7
Clinical Psychologist E& /R /02 E 5K 202 213 211 221 225
Dietitian & 2 Al 192 196 205 204 208
Dispenser fg# 8 1482 1487 1524 1560 1587
Genetic Counsellor® (& (BEE 53 - - - - 14
Medical Technologist / Medical Laboratory Technician 1732 1797 1810 1883 1949
BIS(LERAD / BEESLERE
Mould Technologist / Mould Laboratory Technician 20 16 12 9 9
EEBRERA / WEERERMNE
Optometrist 13 ¢ b 75 74 75 78 83
Orthoptist 17 & 48 [E Al 17 19 24 23 22
Occupational Therapist 8 3 54 B Al 975 982 996 1043 1084
Pharmacist Z£7 & 780 782 813 852 882
Physicist #7318 2253 89 97 95 101 102
Physiotherapist #7325 & Al 1248 1202 1239 1341 1431
Podiatrist /& 7R 2D 53 53 57 58 57
Prosthetist-Orthotist 25 5 55 26l 160 160 168 167 168
Diagnostic Radiographer / Radiation Therapist JETHT / JET 4 AT 1216 1186 1194 1214 1276
Scientific Officer (Medical) #1223 (T (E575) 107 124 139 144 138
Speech Therapist & &8 &Rl 134 141 146 145 150
Medical Social Worker 74+ T 393 402 414 445 453
Dental Technician 7 BH% i1 & 4 4 4 4 4
Allied Health Staff Total ERE&E A S48 5 : 8 886 8941 9131 9 497 9 855
Supporting (Care-related) 2 X &
Health Care Assistant f&EZR TS BhIE 726 491 409 330 258
Ward Attendant /%% R % 8 73 60 44 28 16
Patient Care Assistant & Other Supporting (Care-related) Staff 16 434 17 342 17 547 18 024 18778
RARBYEREMEETEAR
Supporting (Care-related) Staff Total EEXEAS&5T : 17 233 17 893 18 000 18 382 19 052
Direct Patient Care Manpower Total B #25 A GBI A F4E5 : 62 761 63 569 63 786 64 094 66 307
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No. of Full-time Equivalent (FTE) Staff 2020-21 - 2024-25"

TRZMARBE
2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/242 2024/25?
Others Hfth
Chief Executive / Director / Deputy Director / Head 8 8 8 9 9
TERARE / A% / BIAREE / £ %8
Cluster Chief Executive / Hospital Chief Executive 20 19 20 19 21
BbEAEREs / B TR
Chief Manager / Senior Manager / Cluster General Manager / 110 110 107 112 121
General Manager
BITIASIR /| SARITEBUSIR / BB AT / R45TR
Other Professionals / Administrator, System Manager, 3362 3468 3593 3842 4095
Analyst Programmer etc
HMhEX /1TRAR  ZHEIE  ZRRFONGRE TS
Other Supporting Staff - Clerks, Secretaries, Workmen, 22 428 22638 22526 22709 23843
Operation Assistants, Executive Assistants etc
HEhBAE—XE - WE - TA - EEPE  THYES
Non-direct Patient Care Manpower Total : 25929 26 244 26 254 26 691 28 089
FEEHAEBEAFEST
HA Manpower Total B & B A F &5 : 88 690 89 812 90 040 90 785 94 396

Notes:

1. ManpoweronFTE includes all full-time and part-time staffin HA's workforce
i.e. permanent, contract and temporary. Individual figures may not add up to

the total due to rounding.

2. FTE for temporary part-time staff is calculated based on their actual

working hours starting from January 2024.

3. The HA has established the new grade “Bioinformatician” and “Genetic

Counsellor” with effect from April 2024.

1 AT [SR2BAE] &t BEEE

RREE

BN FRBAEE  ANREREE - AREET
ARIBR - SEEBFHEIME AN FRER -

2. B 2024 F1 AR TEREBAR] OERR
BETAFEARRMMERS TEREGHHE -

3. B2024F4 AR BERIER [EMERER]
K NEEHES | B -

Appendices [}

277



APPENDIX 12(a)
Bf% 12(a)

Operating Expenditure! in 2024-25
2024-25 FEEER X!

Cluster

Lk

2024-25 (HK$Mn)
2024-25 FE(EB¥EET)

Hong Kong East Cluster /& 5 5 BB 49

Hong Kong West Cluster /& & 75 88 B B 48

Kowloon Central Cluster j‘LﬁE‘:F' & Bre B 4

Kowloon East Cluster J1BE 58 22 Bt 48

Kowloon West Cluster J1.BE75 %8 Emaﬁ‘ #8

New Territories East Cluster #7157 53R & Fr Bt 4

New Territories West Cluster 7578 52 Bt 43

Hospital Authority Head Office, and Others? B8 B 12 B 4a 9 F i + K E A 2

Total 5t

9,067
9,156
18,608
10,098
14,568
14,360
12,602
4,902

93,361

Notes:

1. Operating expenditure refers to the expenditure to run Hospital Authority
(HA)'s day-to-day services. It covers manpower, drug, consumables and
daily maintenance of equipment and facilities, etc. but is separated from
expenditure for capital works projects, major equipment acquisition, major
corporate-wide information technology (IT) development and transactions
of self-financed items paid by patients.

The operating expenditure of a cluster depends not only on the size and
demographics of the population residing within its catchment districts, but
also on other factors such as service demand generated from cross-cluster
movement of patients and the provision of designated services (such as
liver transplantation). As such, the scope of hospital facilities and expertise
available in different clusters also vary. Therefore, operating expenditure of
individual clusters is not directly comparable.

2. Includes corporate-wide expenditures processed by Head Office (such as
insurance premium, legal costs, claims paid and salary of medical interns)
and on IT, as well as recurrent expenditure for supporting the Government'’s
IT projects (such as eHealth).
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Training and Development Expenditure'in 2024-25

2024-25 FEREEII R B RAX!

Cluster

Ba

2024-25 (HK$Mn)
2024-25 FE (B¥BETT)

Hong Kong East Cluster /& 5 3R 2Bt 48 41.2
Hong Kong West Cluster & & 70 B b B 48 487
Kowloon Central Cluster 15" E&Fz B 49 100.7
Kowloon East Cluster J152 5 & B Bt 49 34.7
Kowloon West Cluster J1.5E 78 28 B B 48 56.5
New Territories East Cluster %ﬁﬁ?%ﬁﬂﬁ% 465
New Territories West Cluster 3757 75 28 B B 48 55.4
Hospital Authority Head Office 2 & |375 BRENER? 186.7
Total #&5t 570.4
Notes: o

1. Expenditure in providing training and development for HA workforce with 1. ABERBEREEIIRFROMS BIEEER

items including payroll cost of personnel with primary duties in providing or
supporting training activities in designated training units, course / conference
fees, passages and travel, teaching aids and devices, venue, publications,
trainer fees, examination fee and other relevant charges.

2. Expenditure includes a number of corporate-wide training programmes and 2.
initiatives centrally coordinated by HA Head Office.

ERIEMRER S FFRIEDNREZTE
KA B8 | @RBR IRERBE - BV NS
53 T BRER  EHAE R EMAER
Fs<

X BIEEERERERTRASNZIIRER
EE)
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Five-year Financial Highlights
BERAFNHHEE

Financial Results

MBS R
2024-25 2023-24 2022-23 2021-22 2020-21
HK$Mn HKS$Mn HK$Mn HK$Mn HK$Mn
BYEHET B¥EET BEEER BYRER BYEER
Income YA
Government subvention (recurrent and capital) 91,409 89,194 87,964 81,585 78,597
T HB) (B R EAMN)
Medical fee income (net of waivers) 6,255 5,866 5,236 5,251 4,837
ERERWA (0RRAER)
Non-medical fee income F & /& & It A\ 3,322 3,073 1,782 1,162 1,263
Designated donations 15 & 18 i 125 93 269 159 361
Capital donations & AN 8% 138 153 156 154 166

101,249 98,379 95,407 88,311 85,224

Expenditure X

Staff costs B TAKA (65,823) (62,414) (59,419) (58,118) (57,665)
Drugs 24 (12,750) (13127) (12,451) (9,642) (8,685)
Medical supplies and equipment Z&& %) 5 &% (5,896) (5,388) (6,325) (5,969) (4,9586)
Other operating expenses (include depreciation and (16,256) (16,464) (16,734) (14,091) (13,383)

amortisation)

Hib' & ER X (BIETE M)

(100,725) (97,393) (94,929) (87,820) (84,689)

Results for the year FE &R 524 986 478 491 535

Income by Source (in % of Total Income)

FREBARFR(ERKRABT D)

100%

90%
80%
70%
Others
60% 4
50%
40% m Medical fee income
ERERIA
30%
20% m Government subvention
10% T B
0%

2024-25 2023-24 2022-23 2021-22 2020-21
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Key Financial Indicators

FENBIER
2024-25 2023-24 2022-23 2021-22 2020-21
HK$Mn HK$Mn HK$Mn HK$Mn HK$Mn
AYEET B¥EER B¥aEn BYEExT BYEER
Medical fee income (Note 1) & & AU A (5£ 1)
Inpatient fees {FFt U & 1,286 1,305 1,095 1133 1,093
Outpatient fees PI2 I E 2,047 1979 1,805 1814 1,688
ltemised charges DT8R E 4,052 3,683 3,333 3,264 2,936
Other medical fees H i E&E & 56 57 115 121 113
7,441 7,024 6,348 6,332 5,830
Less: Waivers (Note 2) 1B} : H%® (5 2) (1,186) (1,158) (1112 (1,081) (993)
Medical fee income (net of waivers) 6,255 5,866 5,236 5,251 4,837
BREARAKRER)
Additional allowance for expected credit losses charged to 48 48 29 32 56

the Statement of Income and Expenditure (Note 3)

WX EERAB MO AREABRBHE(GE3)

Expenditure by Category (in % of Total Expenditure)
BEXH(LBEZHBESE)

80%

70%

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

100%

0%

90%
2024-25 2023-24 2022-23 2021-22

2020-21

Other operating expenses

H &M%

Medical supplies and equipment

W smans

Drugs
zy)

Staff costs
e

=
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Notes:

L

282

Medical fee income

Fees for hospital services are governed by the Hospital Authority (HA)
Ordinance. There are three categories of charges: (i) public charges for
Eligible Persons (EP); (ii) public charges for Non-eligible Persons (NEP);
and (iii) private charges. The definition of EP and NEP can be found in HA
website whilst the fees and charges schedules are listed in the Gazette and
HA website.

Waivers

Under the Government policy, recipients of Comprehensive Social Security
Assistance (CSSA), Level 0 Voucher Holders of the Residential Care Service
Voucher for the Elderly (renamed since 1 April 2023) and Old Age Living
Allowance (OALA) recipients aged 75 or above (the merging of Normal and
Higher OALA was effective from 1 September 2022) can obtain free medical
treatment at HA's hospitals and clinics. Other persons with financial
difficulties in paying the medical fees and charges can apply for medical fee
waivers. The granting of waivers is subject to meeting the criteria under the
established waiving mechanism.

The waivers granted to EP and NEP for the year ended 31 March 2025 are
HK$1,043,000,000 and HK$143,000,000 respectively (for the year ended
31 March 2024 are HK$1,009,000,000 and HK$149,000,000 respectively).

Additional allowance for expected credit losses charged to the
Statement of Income and Expenditure

Each year, HA would make assessment on the collectability of outstanding
hospital fees and charges (accounts receivable). As a result of the
assessment, additional allowance (or reversal of allowance) would be
charged to the Statement of Income and Expenditure for the year.
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Financial Position (at 31 March)

BBOGRR (REF 3 A31H)

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
HK$Mn HK$Mn HK$Mn HK$Mn HK$Mn
BEEET BYEERT BYEERT BAYEER BYEER

Non-current assets FER BN & &= 11,399 23,633 28,808 27,621 29,190
Current assets JREV & E 84,406 66,641 52,963 46,598 38,163
Total assets EEHAHE 95,805 90,274 81,771 74,219 67,353
Designated fund 38 €& & 5077 5077 5077 5077 5077
Revenue reserve YA & 9,896 9,288 8,358 7812 7,243
Total funds E &4 51 14,973 14,365 13,435 12,889 12,320
Current liabilities BN & & 59,841 47,203 34,450 33,233 22,902
Non-current liahilities FERBI & & 20,991 28,706 33,886 28,097 32,131
Total liabilities & &% 80,832 75,909 68,336 61,330 55,033
Total funds and total liabilities E€ R B &4 95,805 90,274 81,771 74,219 67,353

Total Assets (in HK$ millions)

REE(E®AER)
110,000
100,000
Placements with the Exchange Fund "°te
90,000 HNEEDIFR

80,000

u Cash & bank
Re RIBITHRR

70,000
60,000 m Fixed income instruments
BEEARTLEA
50,000
Receivables, deposits & prepayments
40,000 FEUGR ~ ke RIBFKIA
30,000 m Inventories
A
20,000

10,000 I I I I
0

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021

Fixed, intangible & right-of-use assets

Ll

Note: As at 31 March 2025, the placement with the Exchange Fund did not 5 HZE 2025 F 3 A 31 A NEESTFRIEHE
comprise any balance held by HA on behalf of the Samaritan Fund (2024: EERRRHBIBHEESFHERRIA(2024 F: B
$5,875,000,000) 5,875,000,000 JT) °
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Key Financial Indicators (at 31 March)
FEHMBEE(RSFE3 A31A)

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
HK$Mn HKS$Mn HKS$Mn HK$Mn HK$Mn
BEEEL BYEERT BAYEErT B¥EER BY¥EER

Inventories &

Drugs (Note 1) 47 (3 1) 1,954 1,935 3,350 3,515 1,484
Other medical and general consumables (Note 2) 990 1497 1790 957 1,058
HmBmk—isfEmGGE 2)
2,944 3,432 5,140 4,472 2,542
Notes: i
1. Theincrease in inventory balance as at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022 1. #HZE2023F 3 A 31 HK 2022 3 A 31 HiE
was mainly due to the oral antiviral drugs for treatment of patient infected MNEFEEHREZERANAERE 2019 EikkE
with COVID-19. SHBENORMASEY
2. For enhanced infection control measures to protect staff and patients, a 2. BREET NIRRT HIFE M AR

steady supply of Personal Protective Equipment of six months in general

has been maintained.

The average stock holding period for meeting daily operations use, other than

BT S EARER RSN EANHRER -

BREE 1 MNGE 2 Prattsh - AR B BEEN TEFERE

those mentioned in note 1 and note 2, is shown below: [N
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
Average stock holding period (weeks) for meeting daily
operations
ARBREEFNTEUEERBERB(ER)
Drugs %% 7.7 75 82 8.4 8.5
Other medical and general consumables 7.5 7.5 7.7 10.2 91

HAb BBk — B
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